DIABETES AND HEART FAILURE: PATHOGENESIS AND NOVEL THERAPEUTIC APPROACHES

EDITED BY: Celestino Sardu, Claudio de Lucia, Laurent Metzinger and Coert J. Zuurbier PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Physiology







Frontiers Copyright Statement

© Copyright 2007-2019 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved. All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, wherever published, as well as the compilation of all other content on this site, is the exclusive property of Frontiers. For the conditions for downloading and copying of e-books from Frontiers' website, please see the Terms for Website Use. If purchasing Frontiers e-books from other websites or sources, the conditions of the website concerned apply.

Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Individual articles may be downloaded and reproduced in accordance with the principles of the CC-BY licence subject to any copyright or other notices. They may not be re-sold as an e-book.

As author or other contributor you grant a CC-BY licence to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use. ISSN 1664-8714

ISBN 978-2-88945-851-6 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88945-851-6

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

DIABETES AND HEART FAILURE: PATHOGENESIS AND NOVEL THERAPEUTIC APPROACHES

Topic Editors:

Celestino Sardu, Second University of Naples, Italy **Claudio de Lucia,** Temple University Philadelphia, United States **Laurent Metzinger,** University of Picardie Jules Verne, France **Coert J. Zuurbier,** Academic Medical Center (AMC), Netherlands

Citation: Sardu, C., de Lucia, C., Metzinger, L., Zuurbier, C. J., eds. (2019). Diabetes and Heart Failure: Pathogenesis and Novel Therapeutic Approaches. Lausanne: Frontiers Media. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88945-851-6

Table of Contents

04 Editorial: Diabetes and Heart Failure: Pathogenesis and Novel Therapeutic Approaches

Claudio de Lucia, Celestino Sardu, Laurent Metzinger and Coert J. Zuurbier

06 Diabetes and Arrhythmias: Pathophysiology, Mechanisms and Therapeutic Outcomes

Laurel A. Grisanti

21 Direct Cardiac Actions of Sodium Glucose Cotransporter 2 Inhibitors Target Pathogenic Mechanisms Underlying Heart Failure in Diabetic Patients

Laween Uthman, Antonius Baartscheer, Cees A. Schumacher, Jan W. T. Fiolet, Marius C. Kuschma, Markus W. Hollmann, Ruben Coronel, Nina C. Weber and Coert J. Zuurbier

35 Saxagliptin but not Sitagliptin Inhibits CaMKII and PKC via DPP9 Inhibition in Cardiomyocytes

Chintan N. Koyani, Christopher Trummer, Niroj Shrestha, Susanne Scheruebel, Benjamin Bourgeois, Ioanna Plastira, Sandra Kickmaier, Harald Sourij, Peter P. Rainer, Tobias Madl, Wolfgang Sattler, Brigitte Pelzmann, Ernst Malle and Dirk von Lewinski

- **47** *The Role of Leukocytes in Diabetic Cardiomyopathy* Anamika Bajpai and Douglas G. Tilley
- 59 Black Garlic Improves Heart Function in Patients With Coronary Heart Disease by Improving Circulating Antioxidant Levels Jingbo Liu, Guangwei Zhang, Xiaogiang Cong and Chengfei Wen
- 70 Diabetic Cardiomyopathy: Current and Future Therapies. Beyond Glycemic Control

Giulia Borghetti, Dirk von Lewinski, Deborah M. Eaton, Harald Sourij, Steven R. Houser and Markus Wallner

- 85 The Melanocortin MC5R as a New Target for Treatment of High Glucose-Induced Hypertrophy of the Cardiac H9c2 Cells
 Maria Consiglia Trotta, Rosa Maisto, Nicola Alessio, Anca Hermenean, Michele D'Amico and Clara Di Filippo
- 99 The Role of Sodium in Diabetic Cardiomyopathy Nicolai M. Doliba, Andriy M. Babsky and Mary D. Osbakken
- **113** Myocyte [Na+]i Dysregulation in Heart Failure and Diabetic Cardiomyopathy Sanda Despa





Editorial: Diabetes and Heart Failure: Pathogenesis and Novel Therapeutic Approaches

Claudio de Lucia¹, Celestino Sardu^{2*}, Laurent Metzinger³ and Coert J. Zuurbier⁴

¹ Center for Translational Medicine, Lewis Katz School of Medicine, Temple University, Philadelphia, PA, United States, ² Department of Advanced Medical and Surgical Sciences, University of Campania "Luigi Vanvitelli", Naples, Italy, ³ EA4666 HEMATIM, CURS, University of Picardie Jules Verne, Amiens, France, ⁴ Laboratory of Experimental Intensive Care and Anesthesiology, Anesthesiology, Amsterdam Cardiovascular Sciences, Amsterdam Infection & Immunity, Amsterdam UMC, University of Amsterdam, Metherlands

Keywords: diabetes, heart failure, diastolic dysfunction, arrhythmia, SGLT2 (sodium-glucose cotransporter 2) inhibitor, GLP-1-glucagon-like peptide-1

Editorial on the Research Topic

Diabetes and Heart Failure: Pathogenesis and Novel Therapeutic Approaches

Type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) and Heart Failure (HF) are two complex multifactorial diseases that can coexist and strongly amplify each other, suggesting overlapping mechanisms contributing to disease state. T2DM patients with HF have a higher risk of mortality and hospitalization for HF than HF patients without T2DM. Therefore, there is an increasing necessity to find new diagnostic instruments and treatments to improve clinical outcomes in T2DM subjects with HF (Maack et al., 2018). Several complex pathological mechanisms such as altered cardiac ionic homeostasis, oxidative stress, hyperglycemia-induced cellular damage, and mitochondrial dysfunction are implicated. Importantly, altered cardiac ionic homeostasis is an established signature and driver of HF pathology (Pogwizd et al., 2003), but has been largely neglected in T2DM pathology. Insulin resistance and disturbances in glucose and fatty acid metabolism are currently viewed as major instigators of T2DM (Jia et al., 2018). However, older and recent researches indicate that cardiac ionic disturbances may actually provide an important common ground for both diseases and explain, at least in part, why they mutually amplify each other. Intriguingly, these changes may lead to electrical and mechanical alterations in systolic and diastolic electrical phases. Therefore, in this Research Topic we have tried to bring the two major diseases together by creating a collection of articles written by authors that have focused on common molecular pathways and mechanisms, electrical/mechanical alterations, and subsequently on clinical outcomes in both T2DM and HF.

In the first review by Borghetti et al. emphasis is placed on focusing of diabetic therapies beyond glucose control. Although anti-hyperglycemic drugs are crucial in the management of diabetes by effectively reducing microvascular complications, preventing renal failure, retinopathy, and nerve damage, they have little effect on diabetic cardiomyopathy. Interestingly, several novel drugs have now shown cardiovascular beneficial effects beyond their ability to control glycemia, such as GLP-1 receptor agonists and sodium-glucose co-transporter 2 inhibitors. In addition, the recent development of modulating the expression of specific cardiac genes or non-coding RNAs *in vivo* for therapeutic purpose, has opened up the possibility to regulate the expression of key players in the development/progression of diabetic cardiomyopathy.

The review by Bajpai and Tilley discusses the roles of leukocytes and particularly neutrophils, macrophages, and lymphocytes in the appearance of myocardial infarction and heart failure during diabetes. Cardiac injury in diabetes, a chronic inflammatory disease, is linked to increased leukocyte mobilization and the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines and appearance of oxidative stress. The lessons learned from experimental diabetes models in rodents, including the popular

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by:

Ruben Coronel, University of Amsterdam, Netherlands

> *Correspondence: Celestino Sardu drsarducele@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cardiac Electrophysiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 05 February 2019 Accepted: 25 February 2019 Published: 19 March 2019

Citation:

de Lucia C, Sardu C, Metzinger L and Zuurbier CJ (2019) Editorial: Diabetes and Heart Failure: Pathogenesis and Novel Therapeutic Approaches. Front. Physiol. 10:253. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.00253

4

streptozotocin-induced Type I diabetes rodent model, are implemented to human patients, and the authors conclude that further studies are necessary to fully apprehend the potential alterations in leukocyte phenotypes and the molecular mechanisms responsible for diabetes.

The review by Grisanti highlights the impact of diabetes on the electrical conduction system in the heart, resulting in atrial fibrillation and ventricular arrhythmias, with a focus on molecular mechanisms, cardiac alterations and therapeutic ameliorations, with a particular emphasis on the contribution of oxidative stress to the pathogenesis of cardiac arrhythmias. The author states that modifications induced by diabetes within the heart change the electrical signaling and conduction in turn altering ion channels and gap junctions' expression and function. Still, antiarrhythmic drugs are effective in the course of diabetes but their mode of action remains to be better characterized.

Uthman et al. dive into direct cardiovascular effects of the novel drug class of SGLT2 inhibitors, the first antidiabetic drugs that were able to reduce hospitalization of heart failure. Although SGLT2 inhibitors were develop to specifically target the kidney (SGLT2 mainly present in kidney), current research demonstrate many additional important and possibly beneficial direct effects of these drugs on endothelial cells and cardiomyocytes. SGLT2 inhibitors can normalize elevated sodium and calcium levels in cardiomyocytes through inhibition of the cardiac sodiumhydrogen exchanger, improve vascular function and activate anti-oxidant systems and intracellular stress signals such as AMPK and reduce inflammatory pathways. Further research will have to demonstrate to what extent these cellular cardiac mechanisms contribute to the large beneficial effects of SGLT2i's in clinical trials. Despa then goes on to describe that sodium is often increased in the failing and diabetic cardiac cell. Elevated intracellular sodium can then cause oxidative stress and augments the sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺ leak, thus amplifying the risk for arrhythmias and promoting heart dysfunction. Alterations in Na⁺ extrusion and/or Na⁺ uptake that underlie the $[Na^+]_i$ increase in heart failure and diabetes are discussed, and emphasis is placed on the emerging role of Na⁺ -glucose cotransporters in the diabetic heart. Doliba et al. subsequently demonstrate the functional and energetics consequences of elevated sodium in the diabetic cardiomyocyte in their pioneering studies in this field. Their work clearly indicates that raising sodium in the cardiac cell will directly result

REFERENCES

- Jia, G., Hill, M. A., and Sowers, J. R. (2018). Diabetic cardiomyopathy: an update of mechanisms contributing to this clinical entity. *Circ. Res.* 122, 624–638. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117. 311586
- Maack, C., Lehrke, M., Backs, J., Heinzel, F. R., Hulot, J. S., Marx, N., et al. (2018). Heart failure and diabetes: metabolic alterations and therapeutic interventions: a state-of-the-art review from the Translational Research Committee of the Heart Failure Association-European Society of Cardiology. *Eur. Heart J.* 39, 4243–4254. doi: 10.1093/ eurheartj/ehy596
- Pogwizd, S. M., Sipido, K. R., Verdonck, F., and Bers, D. M. (2003). Intracellular Na in animal models of hypertrophy and heart failure:contractile

in impaired mitochondrial function, possibly explaining the often observed energetic problems in the diabetic heart. These reviews all point to the importance of ionic homeostasis and disturbances in the setting of diabetic cardiomyopathy, cardiac arrhythmias, and the elevated incidence of heart failure in T2DM patients.

The article by Liu et al. evaluated the clinical effects of Black garlic in patients with ischemic heart failure. They found that black garlic treatment improved cardiac function in terms of left ventricular ejection fraction and the scores of quality of life (QOL) and decreased circulating BNP precursor N-terminal (Nt-proBNP) by increasing antioxidant levels.

Koyani et al. studied the effects of saxagliptin and sitagliptin (anti-hyperglycemic drugs that have been shown to inhibit dipeptidyl peptidase 4 -DPP4) in mouse ventricular cardiomyocytes. The authors showed that saxagliptin (but not sitagliptin) impaired Ca^{2+} transient relaxation and prolonged action potential duration in cardiomyocytes. They suggested that these results are linked to saxagliptin-DPP9 interaction and following impairment in Ca^{2+} /calmodulin- dependent protein kinase II (CaMKII)- phospholamban (PLB) and protein kinase C (PKC) signaling.

Trotta et al. investigated the anti-hypertrophic effect of the melanocortin receptor 5 (MC5R) stimulation in cardiomyocytes exposed to high glucose. The authors showed that MC5R agonists increased viability and reduced total protein in cell stimulated with high glucose via reduced GLUT1/GLUT4 ratio at the plasma membrane and increased intracellular phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) activity. In addition, MC5R stimulation showed beneficial effects on cardiac function and hypertrophy paralleled by significantly reduced blood glucose levels in a rat model of diabetes (streptozotocin-induced).

We have arrived at exciting times in the world of diabetes and heart failure. At last, several novel antidiabetic drugs have shown large cardiovascular benefits in T2DM patients. Understanding the causal mechanism of these effects are now crucial in order to further our understanding of the interaction between diabetes and heart failure, possibly also offering new therapeutic strategies to combat heart failure in the absence of diabetes.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

function and arrhythmogenesis. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 57, 887–896. doi: 10.1016/S0008-6363(02)00735-6

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 de Lucia, Sardu, Metzinger and Zuurbier. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Diabetes and Arrhythmias: Pathophysiology, Mechanisms and Therapeutic Outcomes

Laurel A. Grisanti*

Department of Biomedical Sciences, College of Veterinary Medicine, University of Missouri, Columbia, MO, United States

The prevalence of diabetes is rapidly increasing and closely associated with cardiovascular morbidity and mortality. While the major cardiovascular complication associated with diabetes is coronary artery disease, it is becoming increasingly apparent that diabetes impacts the electrical conduction system in the heart, resulting in atrial fibrillation, and ventricular arrhythmias. The relationship between diabetes and arrhythmias is complex and multifactorial including autonomic dysfunction, atrial and ventricular remodeling and molecular alterations. This review will provide a comprehensive overview of the link between diabetes and arrhythmias with insight into the common molecular mechanisms, structural alterations and therapeutic outcomes.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Laurent Metzinger, University of Picardie Jules Verne, France

Reviewed by:

Firdos Ahmad, University of Sharjah, United Arab Emirates Martin Bishop, King's College London, United Kingdom

*Correspondence:

Laurel A. Grisanti grisantil@missouri.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cardiac Electrophysiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 19 June 2018 Accepted: 06 November 2018 Published: 26 November 2018

Citation:

Grisanti LA (2018) Diabetes and Arrhythmias: Pathophysiology, Mechanisms and Therapeutic Outcomes. Front. Physiol. 9:1669. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01669 Keywords: diabetes mellitus, arrhythmia, atrial fibrillation, cardiac fibrosis, autonomic dysregulation

INTRODUCTION

Diabetes mellitus is a group of metabolic disorders where there are high blood sugar levels over time. Prolonged elevations in sugar levels lead to a number of health complications including cardiovascular disease and kidney disease (Forbes and Cooper, 2013). There are two main forms of diabetes mellitus including type 1, which has an unknown etiology and is characterized by a loss of insulin-producing β -cells in the pancreas resulting in the inability of the pancreas to produce enough insulin (van Belle et al., 2011). Type 1 diabetes is often juvenile in onset, insulin dependent, and comprises roughly 10% of the diabetic patient population. Type 2 diabetes results from insulin resistance and the body's inability to respond to insulin (Kahn et al., 2014). It is generally adult-onset and is a result of genetics and lifestyle choices including excessive body weight, lack of exercise and poor diet. Type 2 diabetes is rapidly increasing in incidence (Centers for Disease C and Prevention, 2008). As of 2015 there were an estimated 415 million people with diabetes worldwide (Federation, 2014).

Cardiac arrhythmia is a group of conditions where the heart beats too fast (tachycardia), too slow (bradycardia) or irregularly (Roberts-Thomson et al., 2011). While most arrhythmias are not serious acutely, prolonged arrhythmic episodes increase an individual's likelihood of stroke, heart failure and cardiac arrest (Nattel et al., 2014). Arrhythmias arise due to a problem in the electrical conduction of the heart however, the cause of these complications is not fully defined. Atrial fibrillation is the most common type of arrhythmia and is associated with significant morbidity and mortality (Kannel et al., 1983). It is becoming increasingly apparent that diabetes mellitus is a significant promoter of cardiac arrhythmias (Kannel et al., 1998).

While diabetes likely contributes to multiple types of cardiac arrhythmias, the connection between diabetes and atrial fibrillation has been the most extensively studied to date. Observational studies looking at the association between diabetes mellitus and atrial fibrillation have been

6

inconclusive and inconsistent (Benjamin et al., 1994; Psaty et al., 1997; Wilhelmsen et al., 2001; Nichols et al., 2009; Pallisgaard et al., 2016; Dahlqvist et al., 2017). The incidence of diabetes is most commonly associated with coronary artery disease however, electrical conduction complications are also an important cardiovascular problem associated with both type 1 and type 2 diabetes (Huxley et al., 2011; Dahlqvist et al., 2017). In a 38 year follow up of Framingham heart study patients, diabetes mellitus was identified as an independent risk factor of atrial fibrillation (Benjamin et al., 1994). However, other studies failed to see a connection between atrial fibrillation and diabetes (Wilhelmsen et al., 2001). Discrepancies in these studies may be a result of the populations examined since differences in the association of diabetes and atrial fibrillation appear to be variable depending on age (Pallisgaard et al., 2016), gender (Nichols et al., 2009; Dahlqvist et al., 2017) and ethnicity (Lipworth et al., 2012; Dewland et al., 2013; Rodriguez et al., 2016; O'Neal et al., 2017). In a comprehensive meta-analysis, diabetic patients were found to have an \sim 40% greater risk for developing atrial fibrillation compared to non-diabetic patients (Huxley et al., 2011) and a more recent meta-analysis, identified a 20% increase in the risk of developing atrial fibrillation for prediabetic patients whereas in patients with diabetes, this number was elevated to 28% greater change of atrial fibrillation development (Aune et al., 2018). Furthermore, this meta-analysis identified a dose dependent relationship between increased blood glucose levels and atrial fibrillation suggesting that rises in glucose may be an important contributor to atrial fibrillation. In a large study, over 845,000 patients, diabetes was found to be a strong, independent risk factor for atrial fibrillation and other cardiovascular diseases mellitus (Movahed et al., 2005). However, obesity, which is common in patients with diabetes mellitus is independently associated with atrial fibrillation and might also be a contributing factor (Grundvold et al., 2015; Baek et al., 2017). Levels of pericardial fat have been linked to atrial fibrillation in humans (Al Chekakie et al., 2010). Though not as extensively characterized, diabetes likely also contributes to ventricular arrhythmias since there is electrocardiographic evidence of this in humans and the underlying mechanisms linking diabetes with atrial fibrillation would apply to other types of arrhythmias (Cardoso et al., 2003). Table 1 summarizes the clinical studies examining the correlation between diabetes and arrhythmias. While there is a clear link between diabetes and cardiac arrhythmias, the mechanisms underlying these changes are not fully elucidated. Potential causes include changes in glucose levels, the autonomic nervous system, structural and electrical remodeling, mitochondrial alterations and inflammation will be reviewed herein (Figure 1).

BLOOD GLUCOSE LEVELS

Meta-analysis of clinical populations suggests a dose-dependent relationship between blood glucose levels and atrial fibrillation, implying that glucose levels may be an important contributor to atrial fibrillation onset (Aune et al., 2018). However, this may not be the case since intensive glucose control has not been shown to be beneficial in reducing death from cardiovascular causes or all-cause death in multiple large trials (Group et al., 2008; Duckworth et al., 2009) and has been associated with increased mortality in another (Action to Control Cardiovascular Risk in Diabetes Study et al., 2008). Duration of pharmacological treatment (Dublin et al., 2010) and poorly controlled diabetes have also been linked to increased incidence of atrial fibrillation (Huxley et al., 2012). However, in a prospective study of the Action to Control Cardiovascular Risk in Diabetes (ACCORD) trial cohort of patients, intensive glycemic control did not impact the rate of new-onset atrial fibrillation (Fatemi et al., 2014). Animal studies investigating the involvement diabetes in atrial fibrillation suggest it may be due to glucose fluctuations rather than hyperglycemia (Saito et al., 2014). In a streptozotocininduced rat model, glucose fluctuations increased incidence of atrial fibrillation, atrial fibrosis, and reactive oxygen species (Saito et al., 2014).

There is increasing evidence that hypoglycemic states may contribute to atrial fibrillation. Several reports of hypoglycemic triggered atrial fibrillations have been reported clinically (Odeh et al., 1990; Celebi et al., 2011; Ko et al., 2018) and information gathered from the Framingham Heart Study suggests insulin resistance does not play a role (Fontes et al., 2012). Severe hypoglycemia in type 2 diabetics was associated with a range of adverse clinical outcomes including death from cardiovascular cause (Chow et al., 2014) and in patients from the Outcomes Reduction with an Initial Glargine Intervention (ORIGIN) trial, severe hypoglycemia was associated with greater risk for all-cause mortality and arrhythmic death (Investigators et al., 2013). In a study using 30 patients with type 2 diabetes and known cardiovascular disease, glucose monitoring in conjunction with electrocardiograms showed patients taking insulin and/or sulfonylurea had a high incidence of severe (<3.1 mmol/L) but asymptomatic hypoglycemia whereas patients taking metformin and/or dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitors did not and patients with severe hypoglycemia had more ventricular arrhythmias (Stahn et al., 2014). In a separate but similar study, type 2 diabetic patients with a history or risk of cardiovascular disease were monitored for interstitial glucose and ambulatory electrocardiogram simultaneously (Chow et al., 2014). Bradycardia and atrial and ventricular ectopic counts were higher during episodes of nocturnal hypoglycemia further suggesting a role for hypoglycemia in arrhythmic events.

AUTONOMIC DYSFUNCTION

The autonomic nervous system is an important regulator of heart rhythm through innervation by sympathetic and parasympathetic nerves. Dysfunction of the autonomic nervous system is recognized as a risk for development of atrial fibrillation and a contributing factor to disease progression (Agarwal et al., 2017). A link between type 2 diabetes and autonomic dysfunction has also been well established and is recognized as a complication that damages multiple organs including the heart (Mäkimattila et al., 1997; Oberhauser et al., 2001). While the etiology of diabetic autonomic neuropathy is not fully understood, it is thought that metabolic insult, neurovascular insufficiency, autoimmune TABLE 1 | Characterization of studies evaluating the correlation between diabetes and arrhythmias. Statistics are reported as [risk ratio (95% confidence interval)].

Study	Location	Duration	Population characteristics	Findings
Benjamin et al., 1994	United States	38 years	2090 males 2641 females 55-94 years old	Follow-up from the Framingham Heart Study, diabetes was significantly associated with the development of atrial fibrillation (1.4 for men, 1.6 for women)
Dahlqvist et al., 2017	Sweden	10.2 years (non-diabetics) 9.7 years (diabetics)	179,980 non-diabetics 35.4 \pm 14.5 years old 36,253 type 1 diabetics 35.6 \pm 14.6 years old	Slight increased risk in males [1.13 (1.01–1.25)] and greater increased risk [1.50 (1.30–1.72)] in females
Dublin et al., 2010	United States	N/A	2203 control 68 years median age 1410 atrial fibrillation 74 years median age	Increased risk of developing atrial fibrillation in pharmacologically treated diabetic patients [1.40 (1.15–1.71)] compared with contro (1.00) whereas non-treated diabetics had no difference [1.04 (0.75–1.45)]
Fatemi et al., 2014	United States and Canada	4.68 years	5042 diabetic-standard glycemic control 5040 diabetic-intensive glycemic control	Intensive glycemic control had no impact on atrial fibrillation incidence compared with standard therapy in diabetic patients
Fontes et al., 2012	United States	~ 10 years	3023 59.2±6.9 years old	Insulin resistance was no associated with risk of atrial fibrillation
Huxley et al., 2011	Multiple Countries	N/A	1,686,097	Meta-analysis associated diabetes with atrial fibrillation [1.39 (1.10–1.75)]
Huxley et al., 2012	United States	N/A	13,025	Pre-diabetic and untreated diabetes were not associated with increased risk for atrial fibrillation. Type 2 diabetics had an increased risk of atrial fibrillation [1.35 (1.14–1.60)]. No association was observed between fasting glucose or insulin and atrial fibrillation but there was a positive association between HbA1c levels and atrial fibrillation in both diabetic and non-diabetic subjects.
Ko et al., 2018	Korea	8.5 years	1,509,280 30-75 years old	Severe hypoglycemia was associated with increased risk of atrial fibrillation [1.10 (1.01–1.19)]
Lipworth et al., 2012	United States	9 years	3026 white 5810 black >65 years old	Diabetes was associated with an increased risk for atrial fibrillation in both white [1.38 (1.15–1.66)] and black [1.25 (0.98–1.59)] subjects with an elevated incidence in white subjects.
Movahed et al., 2005	United States	10 years	552,624 non-diabetic 293,124 diabetic Primarily male 65 year old average	There was a significant association between type 2 diabetes and development of atrial fibrillation [2.13 (2.10–2.16)] and atrial flutter [2.20 (2.15–2.26)]
Nichols et al., 2009	United States	7.2 years	7159 non-diabetics 10,213 diabetics 58.4±11.5 years old	Positive association of diabetes with atrial fibrillation among women [1.26 (1.08–1.46)] but not men [1.09 (0.96–1.24)]
O'Neal et al., 2017	United States	10 years	8611 white 5077 black 63 year old average	Diabetes was associated with a slightly elevated risk for atrial fibrillation in white subjects [1.21 (1.01–1.45)] but not black subjects [1.06 (0.79–1.43)]
Psaty et al., 1997	United States	3.28 years	4844 combined gender >65 years old	Elevated blood glucose was associated with atrial fibrillation [1.10 (1.04–1.17)]
Pallisgaard et al., 2016	Denmark	16 years	4,827,713 non-diabetics 253,374 diabetics	Diabetes is associated with incidence of atrial fibrillation, particularly in young patients 2.34 relative risk with a 1.52–3.60 (95% confidence level) in 18–39 year olds, 1.52 (1.47–1.56) in 40–64 year olds, 1.20 (1.19–1.23) in 65–74 year olds and 0.99 (0.97–1.01) in 75–100 year olds
Investigators et al., 2013	Multiple Countries	6.2 year median	12,537 50+ years old	Severe hypoglycemia was associated with risk of arrhythmic death [1.77 (1.17–2.67)]
Rodriguez et al., 2016	United States	13.7 years	114,083 non-Hispanic white 11,876 African American 5174 Hispanic 3803 Asian 63 year old average age Females	Diabetes was associated with a slightly elevated risk for atrial fibrillation in women (1.33 for non-Hispanic whites, 1.42 for Africar American, 1.25 for Hispanic, 1.42 for Asian) with no notable difference dependent on ethnicity
Wilhelmsen et al., 2001	Sweden	25.2 years	7495 males 47-55 years old	No association



damage and deficiency in neurohormonal growth factors may be contributing factors to the damage or loss of nerves (Vinik et al., 2003). Despite the fact that cardiovascular autonomic neuropathy has been extensively studied, it remains largely overlooked and serious complication of diabetes (Vinik et al., 2003).

In a study of nearly 2,000 men and women from the Framingham Offspring Study, heart rate variability, an indicator of autonomic nervous system function, was associated with plasma glucose levels and reduced in diabetic and patients with impaired fasting glucose levels (Singh et al., 2000). In healthy, non-diabetic adults, impaired heart rate recovery, another measure of autonomic dysfunction, and a predictor of all cause death in diabetic patients (Wheeler et al., 2002; Cheng et al., 2003), was more common in participants with abnormal fasting plasma glucose levels, which was also true in diabetic patients (Panzer et al., 2002). A closer examination of the link between diabetes and autonomic neuropathy using heart rate recovery as measure of autonomic dysfunction also associated diabetes and autonomic dysfunction with new-onset atrial fibrillation and heart failure independent of other cardiovascular risk factors (Negishi et al., 2013). Interestingly, this study demonstrated an incremental and predictive association between diabetes, heart rate recovery and new-onset atrial fibrillation. There is some evidence that the presence of cardiac autonomic neuropathy in asymptomatic type 1 and type 2 diabetes patients could predict

major cardiovascular events including arrhythmias (Valensi et al., 2001). The recurrence of atrial fibrillation is increased in diabetic patients with autonomic neuropathy, which was determined by Ewing's test. Electrocardiographic measurements from diabetic patients with autonomic neuropathy had a longer P-wave duration and dispersion compared to control patients or diabetic patients, suggesting that autonomic neuropathy is causing inhomogeneous atrial depolarization to trigger atrial fibrillation (Bissinger et al., 2011). In a study investigating the changes in autonomic function and repolarization that occurring during prolonged hypoglycemia in type 2 diabetic patients, twelve type 2 diabetic patients and eleven age and body mass index-matched control patients had their glucose levels maintained by hyperinsulinemic clamps at euglycemia (6 mmol/L) or hypoglycemia (2.5 mmol/L; Chow et al., 2017). Differences in autonomic regulation during periods of hypoglycemia, as indicated by heart rate, heart rate variability and blood pressure, occurred between patients with type 2 diabetes and controls during hypoglycemia, suggesting that changes in cardiac autonomic regulation in diabetic patients may occur during hypoglycemic episodes and may contribute to arrhythmias (Chow et al., 2017).

Animal models of diabetes show alterations in cardiac innervation (Gando et al., 1993; Otake et al., 2009; Švíglerová et al., 2011; Thaung et al., 2015). In a streptozotocin-induced

diabetic rat model, diabetic rats had increased heterogeneity of sympathetic nerves as measure by immunohistochemistry tyrosine hydroxylase (sympathetic for nerves) and acetylcholinesterase (parasympathetic nerves; Otake et al., 2009). This study also found that sympathetic nerve stimulation increased incidence of atrial fibrillation in diabetic rats. Zucker diabetic fatty rats have elevated resting cardiac sympathetic nerve activity (Thaung et al., 2015). Signs of chronic β-adrenergic stimulation were observed in hearts from these rats including impaired responses to dobutamine stimulation, downregulation of *β*1-adrenergic receptors and increases in Gαi proteins. These studies demonstrate dysfunction of the autonomic nervous system in diabetes, confirming the findings from human studies.

STRUCTURAL REMODELING

Structural remodeling likely plays a large role in which diabetes mellitus and obesity promote cardiac arrhythmias. Atrial hypertrophy, fibrosis and fat deposits are observed in the hearts of obese and type II diabetes patients (Tadic and Cuspidi, 2015). Extensive atrial fibrosis is a hallmark of atrial fibrillation and is thought to play a role in both initiating and perpetuation the arrhythmia. Fibrotic tissue in the myocardium disrupts the geometry of the heart and alters the mechanical, electrical and chemical composition (Figure 2). There is extensive evidence of cardiac fibrosis in both type 1 Sutherland et al., 1989 and type 2 diabetes (Regan et al., 1977; Fischer et al., 1984; Nunoda et al., 1985; van Hoeven and Factor, 1990; Shimizu et al., 1993; Kawaguchi et al., 1997) however, the contribution of fibrosis to atrial fibrillation is not fully understood in the context of diabetes. Structural remodeling is particularly relevant in diabetic cardiomyopathy where architectural changes including fibrosis and cardiomyocyte length changes as a result of cardiac dilation increased axial resistance in cardiomyocytes which exasperates conduction dysfunction (Aromolaran and Boutjdir, 2017).

Animal models of diabetes also exhibit signs of increased cardiac fibrosis (Kato et al., 2006; Liu et al., 2012). In Goto-Kakizaki rats, a genetic non-overweight type 2 diabetes model with slight impairments of glucose tolerance, Goto-Kakizaki rats had significantly greater atrial arrhythmogenicity and increased atrial fibrosis compared with control rats (Kato et al., 2006). However, this study did not examine the progression of the disease making it difficult to determine if arrhythmias arose due to atrial fibrosis or if fibrosis is a contributing factor to atrial fibrillation. In a rabbit alloxan-induced diabetic model, diabetic rabbits had increased atrial interstitial fibrosis and electrophysiological changes including a prolonged inter-atrial conduction time and increased atrial effective refractory period which increased the inducibility of atrial fibrillation (Liu et al., 2012).

Advanced glycation end products (AGEs) are proteins or lipids that become glycated as a result of sugar exposure and have become recognized as a major contributor to complications from diabetes (Ramasamy et al., 2011). AGEs and AGE receptors (RAGEs) may contribute to the structural remodeling seen in the



diabetic heart. AGEs and RAGEs are increased in streptozotocininduced diabetic rat atrial and inhibition of AGE formation significantly reduced elevated levels of connective tissue growth factor and atrial fibrosis observed in the diabetic rats (Kato et al., 2008). Elevated RAGE has been associated with atrial fibrillation in humans, however the link between RAGE and diabetes was not observed in this study (Lancefield et al., 2016). However, other mechanisms likely also contribute to the fibrosis seen in the diabetic heart. Studies using fasudil, a Rho-kinase (ROCK) inhibitor, and a high-fat/low dose streptozotocin rat model of diabetes, implemented the RhoA/ROCK pathway in cardiac fibrosis through decreasing RhoA, ROCK and collagen expression (Chen et al., 2014).

While not as extensively investigated as fibrosis, increases in epicardial and pericardial fat is associated with type 2 diabetes (Rosito et al., 2008; Noyes et al., 2014; Levelt et al., 2016) and are correlated with left atrial enlargement, cardiac structural changes, and has been associated with increased atrial fibrillation risk (Al Chekakie et al., 2010; Batal et al., 2010; Wong et al., 2011). Increased epicardial fat is associated with adipocyte infiltration into the myocardium, which contributes to changes in the electrical conduction between cardiomyocytes due to physical disruption and slowing of the conduction time (Friedman et al., 2014; Mahajan et al., 2015; Haemers et al., 2017). Epicardial and pericardial fat is also an abundant source of adipokines and cytokines which have pro-fibrotic and pro-inflammatory effects on the heart. Studies have shown that the secretome from human epicardial fat, including TGF-β family members and matrix metalloproteinases, produces a pro-fibrotic response in rat atrial myocardium (Venteclef et al., 2015). Additionally, pericardial and epicardial fat have increased markers of inflammation including C-reactive protein, IL-6, IL-1 β , and TNF- α , which are associated with increased incidence, severity and reoccurrence of atrial fibrillation (Abe et al., 2018). Furthermore, inflammatory mediator production is not reversed by standard therapies including angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors or angiotensin II receptor blockers (Mazurek et al., 2003).

ROLE OF ELECTRICAL CONDUCTION

Studies consistently demonstrate prolonged action potentials in diabetic patients and animal models. Type 1 (Sivieri et al., 1993) and type 2 (Jermendy et al., 1990; Veglio et al., 2002; Ramirez et al., 2011) diabetic patients have been identified as having slowed conduction velocity and an increased prevalence of prolonged QT interval. In some cases, this has been linked with autonomic neuropathy (Ewing and Neilson, 1990). This is also observed in numerous animal models of type 1 and type 2 diabetes (Xu et al., 2002; Lengyel et al., 2007; Huang et al., 2013). Studies in Goto-Kakizaki (Howarth et al., 2008) and Zucker Diabetic Fatty rats (VanHoose et al., 2010) also identified prolonged QT intervals with additional changes in the R wave amplitudes and signs of autonomic neuropathy. While prolongation of action potentials consistently occurs throughout studies, the mechanisms responsible are less clear. Potassium channels have been the most widely identified change leading to slowed action potentials in diabetic hearts. Prolongation of the QT interval is observed in diet-induced obese mice, which was attributed to a protein kinase D-dependent reduction in voltage gated potassium channel expression (Huang et al., 2013). Oxidative stress-induced alterations in GsH redox state, which will be discussed in more detail in subsequent sections, may regulate K+ channels, that have been shown to be decreased in myocytes isolated from diabetic rats and be reversed by insulin application (Xu et al., 2002). This has also been further supported in follow-up studies, corroborating the involvement of glucose metabolism in these changes (Xu et al., 1996). Changes in outward K+ currents are observed early after streptozotocin injection and corresponded with increases in glucose levels, which were prevented by blocking hyperglycemia (Shimoni et al., 1994). Periodic changes in K+ ion current have been linked to oscillations in energy metabolism in cardiomyocytes, which could be modulated by changing glucose metabolism (O'Rourke et al., 1994). Studies have shown that in cardiomyocytes, glycolysis is more effective than oxidative phosphorylation at regulating K+ channel opening (Weiss and Lamp, 1987). These changes in K+ channels observed in small animals appear to also hold true in larger, more human relevant animal species. In a type 1 diabetes model in dogs, while only slight lengthening in ventricular repolarization was observed, there were decreases in transient outward K+ and slow delayed rectifier potassium currents (Lengyel et al., 2007). In a streptozotocin-induce type 1 diabetes mouse model, prolongation of the QT interval were observed along with increased susceptibility to arrhythmia and decreased K+ currents (Meo et al., 2016). Many of these studies make it difficult to determine the mechanisms responsible for changes in electrical conduction since animal models often have a number of alterations in metabolism including hyperglycemia and hyperlipidemia. However, studies using a cardiac-specific insulin receptor knockout mouse model, several K+ channel components that are important for ventricle repolarization were identified as being decreased, in particular components of the transient outward K+ current fast component, which were also associated with a reduction in the current (Lopez-Izquierdo et al., 2014). Similar with what is seen in other diabetic models and human patients, cardiac-specific insulin receptor knockout mice also had a longer ventricular action potential duration due to a prolonged QT interval, substantiating the role of insulin signaling in diabetes-induced arrhythmias.

Contrarily, not all research implicates K+ currents in action potential changes with diabetes. In a fructose-fat fed rat model of pre-diabetes, QRS prolongation was present, slower conduction velocity, and increased propensity for ventricular fibrillation (Axelsen et al., 2015). There were no changes in Na+ or K+ currents, fibrosis or gap junctions, suggesting another mechanism for dysfunction. In an alloxan-induced diabetic rabbit model, no changes in action potential duration were observed, but there was a reduction in conduction velocity (Stables et al., 2014). A reduction in cell capacitance and Na+ channel density were present in diabetic hearts however, no changes in gap junctions or fibrosis were observed. In obesityinduced QT interval prolongation, there is extensive literature connecting abnormal calcium conduction with arrhythmias (Aromolaran and Boutjdir, 2017). However, this mechanism of arrhythmogenesis is not clear in diabetes and if Na+ or Ca+ channels play an important role in diabetes-induced arrthymias remains to be determined. Energy in the form of ATP is necessary for maintaining membrane potential and generating action potentials, which is mainly supplied by oxidative phosphorylation in the mitochondria, and oxidative phosphorylation to a lesser extent (Barth and Tomaselli, 2009). It is likely that metabolic activity and arrhythmias are interdependent since changes in the cellular energy promotes arrhythmias however arrhythmias also influence metabolic activity. Whole transcriptome analysis of human atrial tissue revealed an upregulation of metabolic process related genes with atrial fibrillation (Barth et al., 2005). This was confirmed in a study using human atrial appendages where metabolomics and proteomics were performed comparing patients with sinus rhythm compared to patients that developed persistent atrial fibrillation following cardiac surgery (Mayr et al., 2008). Patients with atrial fibrillation had an elevation in substrates and enzymes for ketogenic metabolism and other metabolic processes. Additionally, mutantion or knockout of important ion channel genes cause both prolonged ventricular repolarization as well as diabetes (Hu et al., 2014). Hypoglycaemia is also associated with hypokalemia, which could contribute to delayed repolarization (Petersen et al., 1982; Heller and Robinson, 2000; Christensen et al., 2009). As mentioned above, there is extensive clinical and experimental evidence to suggest that structural alterations contribute to the occurrence and persistence of atrial fibrillation (Nattel and Harada, 2014). Changes in gap junctions, which are important for the electrical

impulse propagation and synchronization in the heart, are observed with fibrosis and hypertrophy and affect the electrical conduction of the heart (Spach et al., 1988; Saffitz and Kléber, 2004; Ten Tusscher and Panfilov, 2007; dos Santos et al., 2016). In the adult heart, connexin-43 is the main cardiac gap junction component and changes in expression, distribution or post-translational modifications contribute to heart rhythm disturbances (Boengler et al., 2006). Therapies to restore connexin levels are capable of improving conduction disturbances in atrial fibrillation models, further supporting the importance of connexins in the pathogenesis of atrial fibrillation (Igarashi et al., 2012).

There may be alterations in gap junctions in the heart with diabetes. Decreases in phosphorylated and overall connexin-43 levels, a major gap junction protein which has been linked with atrial fibrillation, have been shown in a streptozotocininduced diabetes model (Mitasíková et al., 2009) which may occur through protein kinase Ce-dependent mechanisms (Lin et al., 2006). These changes were associated with a decreased in connexin-43 phosphorylation and ventricular conduction abnormalities. However, in a different study that also used a streptozotocin-induced diabetes model, connexin-43 levels were elevated and distribution changes were evident (Hage et al., 2017). Other studies using diabetic (db/db) mice show decreased connexin-43 expression that can be reversed with exercise (Veeranki et al., 2016). In this study, exercise resulted in improvements in mitochondrial oxygen consumption rate, tissue ATP levels and reduced cardiac fibrosis with diabetes. Further convoluting the involvement of cardiac connexin-43 in diabetesinduced arrhythmias, an obese diabetic (db/db) mouse model of diabetes showed was atrial hypertrophy and fibrosis without alterations in connexin-43 staining (Hanif et al., 2017). No alterations in connexin-43 levels were also observed in a Zucker Diabetic Fatty rat model of type 2 diabetes, where the conduction velocity was significantly slower in diabetic rats, but levels of connexin-43 were unchanged (Olsen et al., 2013). However, this study did observe distribution changes in connexin-43, which may contribute to functional changes.

Changes in other connexins may also contribute to the pathogenesis of cardiac arrhythmia with diabetes. In a streptozotocin-induced diabetic rat model where connexin-40, 43, and 45 mRNA expression was measured in the sinoatrial node, right ventricle and right atrium, connexin-45 expression was significantly elevated in the sinoatrial node with no changes seen in the atrial or ventricles (Howarth et al., 2007). Using a streptozotocin-induced diabetic rat model, the duration of atrial tachyarrhythmia induced by atrial stimulation was extended in diabetic rats while the conduction velocity was decreased (Watanabe et al., 2012). Increased atrial fibrosis was also observed in diabetic rats compared with controls and had decreased connexin 40 expression with no significant differences in connexin 43. A separate study examining mRNA changes in sinoatrial node of streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats failed to see differences in connexin 40 expression but identified increased transcript expression for connexin 45 among changes in numerous other ion channels including transient receptor potential channel (TRPC) 1, TRPC6, voltage gated calcium channel (Ca_v) 3.1, Ca_v β 3, ryanodine receptor 3 and Ca_v γ 4 (Ferdous et al., 2016). This same group identified a unique profile of ion channel alterations in the atrioventricular node with no changes in connexins (Howarth et al., 2017).

ROLE OF MITOCHONDRIA AND OXIDATIVE STRESS

The contribution of oxidative stress to the pathogenesis of cardiac arrhythmias is becoming increasingly recognized (Yang and Dudley, 2013; Samman Tahhan et al., 2017). There are a number of signs of oxidative stress with atrial fibrillation including increased levels of superoxide and hydrogen peroxide (Dudley et al., 2005; Kim et al., 2005; Reilly et al., 2011; Zhang et al., 2012), decreased nitric oxide bioavailability (Cai et al., 2002; Bonilla et al., 2012), changes in the ratio of oxidized glutathione disulfide to reduced glutathione and differences in the ratio of oxidized cysteine to reduced cysteine (Neuman et al., 2007). There is also known to be increased oxidative stress in diabetes, which contributes to the damage of multiple tissue types throughout the body including the heart (Giacco and Brownlee, 2010; Rochette et al., 2014). In diabetes, there is a known increase in superoxide production, which contributes to a reduction in vascular nitric oxide bioactivity through increased NADPH oxidases and dysfunction endothelial nitric oxide synthase (Guzik et al., 2002) which is similar decreases in endothelial nitric oxide synthase and nitric oxide bioavailability are associated with atrial fibrillation (Cai et al., 2002).

Changes in oxidative stress that are present in the heart during diabetes are likely mitochondrial in origin since in diabetic human atrial tissue, where mitochrondrial changes in metabolism of multiple substrates are observed (Anderson et al., 2009). Hydrogen peroxide emissions are increased regardless of the substrate, suggesting alterations in the electron transport system or antioxidant capacity (Anderson et al., 2009). In permeabilized myofibers from right atrial appendages obtained from non-diabetic and type 2 diabetic patients, mitochondria from diabetic patients had a decreased capacity for glutamate and fatty acid-supported respiration, increased content of myocardial triglycerides and increased mitochondrial hydrogen peroxide emission during oxidation of carbohydrate and lipid based substrates (Anderson et al., 2009). There is some evidence that oxidative stress contributes to the atrial remodeling and inflammation seen with atrial fibrillation. In a rabbit alloxaninduced diabetes model, Langendorff perfused diabetic hearts had greater induction of atrial fibrillation following burst pacing, which was decreased with use of the antioxidant probucol (Fu et al., 2015). Antioxidant administration also attenuated atrial interstitial fibrosis and signs of decreased oxidative stress including reductions in serum and tissue malonaldehyde, NF- κ B, TGF- β , and TNF- α . However, several studies in humans have shown little or no cardiovascular benefits from antioxidant supplementation demonstrating the need for better understanding of the mechanisms that oxidative stress contributes to atrial fibrillation in the context of diabetes (Sesso et al., 2008; Violi et al., 2014).

There has been limited investigation into the mechanisms linking oxidative stress, diabetes and arrhythmias. One of the most extensively studied mechanisms is Ca²⁺/calmodulindependent protein kinase II (CaMKII). CaMKII is a serinethreonine kinase that has emerged as an important nodal point to allow cardiomyocytes to respond to perturbances in calcium and reactive oxygen species through the activation of a diverse group of downstream targets to regulate membrane excitability and calcium cycling (Voigt et al., 2012; Mesubi and Anderson, 2016). CaMKII is increased in atria of atrial fibrillation patients and in mouse models of susceptible to atrial fibrillation (Purohit et al., 2013). CaMKII has been shown to influence calcium dynamics through several different mechanisms in the diabetic heart. In obese Zucker rats and high-fat-fed rodents, there is increased muscle mitochondrial content and CaMKII activation (Jain et al., 2014). Increases in mitochondrial reactive oxygen species and S-nitrosylation of the ryanodine receptor lead to increased SR calcium leak and activation of CAMKII. CaMKII may also contribute to connexin alterations and electrical conduction changes observed in diabetes (Zhong et al., 2017). In ApoE knockout mice fed a high fat diet, downregulation of the ion channels, connexin-43 upregulation and ventricular remodeling could be prevented by administration of a CaMKII antagonist.

Post-translational modifications of CamKII may contribute to its role in diabetes-induced arrhythmias. Animal studies show that mitochondria isolated from streptazocin treated rat hearts have increased total O-linked N-acetylglucosamine (O-GlcNAc) and O-GlcNAc transferase levels, with O-GlcNAc transferase being localized in the mitochondrial matrix as opposed to an inner membrane localization in control rats (Banerjee et al., 2015). Mislocalization of O-GlcNAc transferase results in decreased interactions with complex IV of the electron transport chain, resulting in impairments of its activity. Acute hyperglycemia in cardiomyocytes has been shown to result in covalent and persisting modifications of Ca²⁺/calmodulindependent protein kinase II (CaMKII) by O-GlcNAc, which can also be observed in the heart and brain of diabetic humans and rats (Erickson et al., 2013). O-GlcNAc modification of CaMKII leads to increased activation of spontaneous sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺ release resulting in arrhythmias (Erickson et al., 2013). In diabetic humans and mouse models of diabetes, there are increased levels of oxidized CaMKII (Luo et al., 2013). Oxidized CaMKII has been linked with ventricular arrhythmia (Wang et al., 2018) and atrial fibrillation (Purohit et al., 2013) however, how oxidized CaMKII contributes to atrial fibrillation with diabetes is not currently defined. In addition to changes in CaMKII, abnormal calcium handling has been observed in diabetic hearts however, how this relates to arrhythmogenesis has no yet been investigated (Belke and Dillmann, 2004; Lacombe et al., 2007).

ROLE OF INFLAMMATION

Inflammation has been identified as a risk factor for cardiac arrhythmias due to the increased frequency of incidence following cardiac surgery (Bruins et al., 1997), genetic studies (Gaudino et al., 2003) and increased occurrence during myocarditis (Spodick, 1976). In human patients, C-reactive protein (Aviles et al., 2003) has been associated with incidence of atrial fibrillation and was able to predict future development and polymorphisms in the interleukin-1 family affect risk for atrial fibrillation (Cauci et al., 2010; Gungor et al., 2013). Inflammation has also been suggested as an underlying pathogenic mediator for diabetes. Since it was identified that TNF- α secretion by adipocytes played a role in the body's update of glucose and response to insulin which contributes to the development of diabetes (Hotamisligil et al., 1993), extensive research has been done looking at the role of inflammation in diabetes (Wellen and Hotamisligil, 2005; Calle and Fernandez, 2012).

The connection between inflammation, arrhythmias and diabetes is not currently well characterized and an ongoing area of research however, hypoglycemia, which has been suggested to trigger atrial fibrillation (Odeh et al., 1990; Celebi et al., 2011; Ko et al., 2018), increases markers of inflammation (Investigators et al., 2013). In a recent study, toll-like receptor (TLR) 2 knockout mice have decreased incidence of arrhythmias compared to wild-type mice in a streptozotcin model of diabetes mellitus (Monnerat et al., 2016). This is thought to occur through IL-1β production by macrophages since macrophages from TLR2 knockout animals had lower levels of MCHII^{high} macrophages and NLRP3 inflammasome. IL-1ß was decreased in the hearts of TLR2 knockout animals and IL-1ß could decreased potassium current and increase calcium sparks in isolated cardiomyocytes. Furthermore, inhibition of the NLRP3 inflammasome or IL-1β reversed diabetes-induced arrhythmias.

THE IMPACT OF DIABETES THERAPIES ON ARRHYTHMIAS

Current type 2 diabetes therapies aim to treat hyperglycemia to reduce and maintain glucose concentration to normal levels in an effort to prevent the development of complications (Kahn et al., 2014). Since the process through which diabetes causes arrhythmias is not currently know, the impact of current therapies is just beginning to be understood. Studies suggest that merely controlling glucose levels is not beneficial (Group et al., 2008; Duckworth et al., 2009) and potentially detrimental (Action to Control Cardiovascular Risk in Diabetes Study et al., 2008) in controlling cardiovascular complications. This lack of benefit from intense glycemic control includes the rate impact the rate of new-onset atrial fibrillation (Fatemi et al., 2014). However, poorly controlled diabetes has also been linked to increased incidence of atrial fibrillation showing that the role of glycemic control is not fully understood at this time (Huxley et al., 2012).

Metformin is currently the most widely used medication to treat type 2 diabetes and acts to suppress gluconeogenesis thus lowering glucose levels. Metformin has been associated with decreased atrial fibrillation risk compared with diabetic patients not taking medication (Chang et al., 2014). *In vitro* studies using an atrial cell line demonstrated that metformin decreased reactive oxygen species in response to pacing and prevented cardiomyocyte remodeling (Chang et al., 2014). In diabetic Goto-Kakizaki rats, metformin treatment decreased cardiac fibrosis and arrhythmias (Fu et al., 2018). Alterations in small conductance calcium-activated potassium channels were observed in the atria of these animals, which was corrected with metformin treatment, suggesting that metformin may restore the atrial electrophysiology. Metformin has also been shown to prevent high glucose induction of apoptosis, autophagy and connexin-43 downregulation in H9C2 cells, a ventricular myoblast cell line (Wang et al., 2017). However, there have been reported incidences of onset of atrial fibrillation with metformin use in diabetic patients (Boolani et al., 2011), which may be attributed to lactic acidosis, which occurs rarely with metformin treatment (Salpeter et al., 2010).

Thiazolinediones are peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor- γ agonists, which decrease glucose levels by increasing storage of fatty acids in adipocytes, also decrease incidences of atrial fibrillation onset, which might also be influenced by their anti-inflammatory actions (Chao et al., 2012; Pallisgaard et al., 2017; Zhang Z. et al., 2017). However, other studies have shown in patients with coronary disease, thiazolinediones have no improvements in atrial fibrillation compared with other diabetes treatments including metformin, insulin, sulfonylurea or meglitinides, suggesting that the anti-inflammatory effects of thiazolinediones does not further improve anti-arrhythmia effects of controlling glucose levels (Pallisgaard et al., 2018).

Dipeptidyl peptidase-4 (DPP-4) inhibitors, such as alogliptin, which increases incretin levels to inhibit glucagon release leading to increased insulin secretion are also a common treatment for type 2 diabetes. In an alloxan-induced rabbit model of diabetes mellitus, diabetic rabbits had increased left ventricular hypertrophy and left atrial dilation (Zhang X. et al., 2017). Diabetic hearts had a higher level of atrial fibrillation inducibility and treatment with alogliptin prevented morphological changes and increased propensity for atrial fibrillation. Additionally reactive oxygen species, mitochondrial membrane depolariazation and mitochondrial biogenesis were improved with alogliptin. In a Taiwanese population, DPP-4 inhibitors, in conjunction with metformin, decreased the onset of atrial fibrillation compared to diabetics taking metformin and other second-line therapies (Chang et al., 2017). Other standard diabetes therapies may also have beneficial effects on cardiac arrhythmias. Retrospective studies suggest that there may be differences in sudden cardiac arrest and ventricular arrhythmias between types of sulonylurea medications, where glyburide was found to have lower risk for sudden cardiac arrest and ventricular arrhythmias compared with glipizide (Leonard et al., 2018).

ARRHYTHMIA THERAPIES IN DIABETIC PATIENTS

Pharmacological therapies for arrhythmia include agents that control rate and rhythm. Currently, there has been no research examining the efficacy of anti-arrhythmic medications in patients with diabetes (Dobbin et al., 2018). Surgically, catheter ablation is an established therapeutic option for heart rhythm control in drug resistant patients. Catheter ablation has been shown in a large study composed of 1,464 patients to have the same efficacy and safety in diabetes patients as the general population (Anselmino et al., 2015). However, due to the presence of other atrial fibrillation recurrence predictors such as alterations in the electrical and anatomical composition of the atrial myocytes, metabolic alterations and other comorbidities (D'Ascenzo et al., 2013), the need to redo ablation is more common (Chao et al., 2010; Anselmino et al., 2015). However, smaller studies have shown that while ablation is equally effective in diabetic patients, there are increased numbers of thrombotic or hemorrhagic complications (Tang et al., 2006).

Thromboprophylaxis therapies are also commonly used in patients with atrial fibrillation to decrease risk of stroke and other complications. A number of clinical trials investigating the effectiveness of various theromboprophylaxis therapies have included diabetic subpopulations. In the Rivaroxaban Once Daily Oral Direct Factor Xa Inhibition Compared with Vitamin K Antagonism for Prevention of Stroke and Embolism Trial in Atrial Fibrillation (ROCKET-AF) trial, 40% of the patients had diabetes (Patel et al., 2011). The Randomized Evaluation of Long-Term Anticoagulation Therapy (RE-LY) trial comparing warfarin and high dose dibagatran was composed of about 23% diabetic patients (Connolly et al., 2009). The Effective Anticoagulation with Factor Xa Next Generation in Atrial Fibrillation-Thrombolysis in Myocardial Infarction (ENGAGE AF-TIMI) trial had ~36% diabetic participants (Giugliano et al., 2013). No differences were observed between diabetic and non-diabetic patients in any of these studies. The Apixaban for Reduction in Stroke and Other Thromoembolic Events in Atrial Fibrillation (ARISTOTLE) trail, composed of ~25% diabetic patients, found no difference in the primary outcome of decreased stroke and thromboembolic events between diabetic and non-diabetic patients (Granger et al., 2011). However, diabetic patients had an increased risk of bleeding compared with non-diabetic participants. Taken together, these studies suggest that anti-arrhythmic and anti-thromboprophylaxis therapies are effective in diabetic patients with few adverse effects.

The renin-angiotensin system is involved in the genesis of arrhythmias through its impact on structural and electrical remodeling (Iravanian and Dudley, 2008). Therapies targeting this pathway including angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors and angiotensin-II receptor blockers (ARB) have been hypothesized to be beneficial in preventing atrial fibrillation occurrence and are currently the focus of numerous studies (Iravanian and Dudley, 2008). Activation of the reninangiotensin system is often associated with diabetes where it is thought to impact the initiation and progression of the disease (Giacchetti et al., 2005). While there have not been direct studies linking the renin-angiotensin system and diabetesinduced arrhythmias, it is likely that they are intertwined since the renin-angiotensin system impacts nearly all contributing factors including cardiac remodeling, electrical remodeling and inflammation (Iravanian and Dudley, 2008). Inhibitors of the renin-angiotensin system have been shown to reduce cardiovascular events, decrease diabetic complications and can reduce incidence of new onset diabetes (Hansson et al.,

1999; Heart Outcomes Prevention Evaluation Study, 2000; Brenner et al., 2001; Dahlof, 2002; Bangalore et al., 2011). This has been confirmed in a large clinical trial investigating the effects of the ARB valsartan on diabetes development in patients with impaired glucose tolerance where valsartan was found to reduce incidence of diabetes but did not reduce the rate of cardiovascular events (Group et al., 2010). However, in patients with impaired fasting glucose or impaired glucose tolerance, the ACE inhibitor Ramipril was not able to reduce new incidence of diabetes in patients with impaired fasting glucose but did promote normoglycemia (Investigators et al., 2006). While renin-angiotensin system targeted therapies show promise in reducing incidence of cardiac arrhythmias and diabetes, additional research is necessary to further understand the mechanisms involved and confirm studies performed in small patient populations.

CONCLUSIONS

The impact of diabetes on the electrical conduction of the heart and development of cardiac arrhythmias is becoming increasingly apparent. Due to the complex, multifactorial nature of diabetes, the relationship between diabetes and cardiac arrhythmias is not yet fully understood however, correlations between increased blood glucose levels, glucose fluctuation and hypoglycemia, and arrhythmias have been observed and are a likely initiator of the disease. Autonomic dysfunction, which is known to contribute to diabetic complications in other

REFERENCES

- Abe, I., Teshima, Y., Kondo, H., Kaku, H., Kira, S., Ikebe, Y., et al. (2018). Association of fibrotic remodeling and cytokines/chemokines content in epicardial adipose tissue with atrial myocardial fibrosis in patients with atrial fibrillation. *Heart Rhythm.* 15, 1717–27. doi: 10.1016/j.hrthm.2018. 06.025
- Action to Control Cardiovascular Risk in Diabetes Study, G., Gerstein, H. C., Miller, M. E., Byington, R. P., Goff, D. C., Bigger, J. T., et al. (2008). Effects of intensive glucose lowering in type 2 diabetes. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 358, 2545–2559. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0802743
- Agarwal, S. K., Norby, F. L., Whitsel, E. A., Soliman, E. Z., Chen, L. Y., Loehr, L. R., et al. (2017). Cardiac autonomic dysfunction and incidence of atrial fibrillation: results from 20 years follow-up. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 69, 291–299. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2016.10.059
- Al Chekakie, M. O., Welles, C. C., Metoyer, R., Ibrahim, A., Shapira, A. R., Cytron, J., et al. (2010). Pericardial fat is independently associated with human atrial fibrillation. *J. Am. Coll. Cardiol.* 56, 784–788. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2010. 03.071
- Anderson, E. J., Kypson, A. P., Rodriguez, E., Anderson, C. A., Lehr, E. J., and Neufer, P. D. (2009). Substrate-specific derangements in mitochondrial metabolism and redox balance in the atrium of the type 2 diabetic human heart. *J. Am. Coll. Cardiol.* 54, 1891–1898. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2009.07.031
- Anselmino, M., Matta, M., D'ascenzo, F., Pappone, C., Santinelli, V., Bunch, T. J., et al. (2015). Catheter ablation of atrial fibrillation in patients with diabetes mellitus: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Europace* 17, 1518–1525. doi: 10.1093/europace/euv214
- Aromolaran, A. S., and Boutjdir, M. (2017). Cardiac ion channel regulation in obesity and the metabolic syndrome: relevance to long qt syndrome and atrial fibrillation. *Front. Physiol.* 8:431. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2017.00431

tissues potentiates disease progression through changes in the heart's energy needs, the production of paracrine signaling factors and alterations in receptors that influence ion channel activity in the heart. Alterations in the architecture of the heart including fibrosis, fat deposition and hypertrophy change the electrical conduction of the heart and disrupt the pattern of the electrical signal. They are also an important source of paracrine factors that enhance disease progression. Taken together, these alterations within the heart change the electrical conduction by regulating ion channels and gap junctions between cardiomyocytes changing the electrical signaling. While antiarrhythmic therapies appear to be effective in diabetic patients, the effectiveness of diabetes therapeutics on prevention of cardiac arrhythmias is unclear. Due to the complex nature of diabetes and cardiac arrhythmias, further experimental and clinical research is necessary to fully elucidate the relationship between diabetes and arrhythmias in the hope of developing improved therapeutic strategies in the future.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

The author confirms being the sole contributor of this work and has approved it for publication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by an American Heart Association Scientific Development Grant 17SDG33400114 (LG).

- Aune, D., Feng, T., Schlesinger, S., Janszky, I., Norat, T., and Riboli, E. (2018). Diabetes mellitus, blood glucose and the risk of atrial fibrillation: A systematic review and meta-analysis of cohort studies. *J. Diabetes Complicat.* 32, 501–511. doi: 10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2018.02.004
- Aviles, R. J., Martin, D. O., Apperson-Hansen, C., Houghtaling, P. L., Rautaharju, P., Kronmal, R. A., et al. (2003). Inflammation as a risk factor for atrial fibrillation. *Circulation* 108, 3006–3010. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000103131.70301.4F
- Axelsen, L. N., Calloe, K., Braunstein, T. H., Riemann, M., Hofgaard, J. P., Liang, B., et al. (2015). Diet-induced pre-diabetes slows cardiac conductance and promotes arrhythmogenesis. *Cardiovasc. Diabetol.* 14:87. doi: 10.1186/s12933-015-0246-8
- Baek, Y. S., Yang, P. S., Kim, T. H., Uhm, J. S., Park, J., Pak, H. N., et al. (2017). Associations of Abdominal Obesity and New-Onset Atrial Fibrillation in the General Population. J. Am. Heart Assoc. 6:e004705. doi:10.1161/JAHA.116.004705
- Banerjee, P. S., Ma, J., and Hart, G. W. (2015). Diabetes-associated dysregulation of O-GlcNAcylation in rat cardiac mitochondria. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 112, 6050–6055. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1424017112
- Bangalore, S., Kumar, S., Wetterslev, J., and Messerli, F. H. (2011). Angiotensin receptor blockers and risk of myocardial infarction: meta-analyses and trial sequential analyses of 147 020 patients from randomised trials. *BMJ* 342:d2234. doi: 10.1136/bmj.d2234
- Barth, A. S., Merk, S., Arnoldi, E., Zwermann, L., Kloos, P., Gebauer, M., et al. (2005). Reprogramming of the human atrial transcriptome in permanent atrial fibrillation: expression of a ventricular-like genomic signature. *Circ. Res.* 96, 1022–1029. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.0000165480.82737.33
- Barth, A. S., and Tomaselli, G. F. (2009). Cardiac metabolism and arrhythmias. *Circ. Arrhythm. Electrophysiol.* 2, 327–335. doi: 10.1161/CIRCEP.108. 817320

- Batal, O., Schoenhagen, P., Shao, M., Ayyad, A. E., Van Wagoner, D. R., Halliburton, S. S., et al. (2010). Left atrial epicardial adiposity and atrial fibrillation. *Circ. Arrhythm. Electrophysiol.* 3, 230–236. doi: 10.1161/CIRCEP.110.957241
- Belke, D. D., and Dillmann, W. H. (2004). Altered cardiac calcium handling in diabetes. Curr. Hypertens. Rep. 6, 424–429. doi: 10.1007/s11906-004-0035-3
- Benjamin, E. J., Levy, D., Vaziri, S. M., D'Agostino, R. B., Belanger, A. J., and Wolf, P. A. (1994). Independent risk factors for atrial fibrillation in a population-based cohort. *Framingham Heart Study. JAMA* 271, 840–844. doi: 10.1001/jama.1994.03510350050036
- Bissinger, A., Grycewicz, T., Grabowicz, W., and Lubinski, A. (2011). The effect of diabetic autonomic neuropathy on P-wave duration, dispersion and atrial fibrillation. Arch. Med. Sci. 7, 806–812. doi: 10.5114/aoms.2011.25555
- Boengler, K., Schulz, R., and Heusch, G. (2006). Connexin 43 signalling and cardioprotection. *Heart* 92, 1724–1727. doi: 10.1136/hrt.2005.066878
- Bonilla, I. M., Sridhar, A., Gyorke, S., Cardounel, A. J., and Carnes, C. A. (2012). Nitric oxide synthases and atrial fibrillation. *Front. Physiol.* 3:105. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2012.00105
- Boolani, H., Shanberg, D., Chikkam, V., and Lakkireddy, D. (2011). Metformin associated atrial fibrillation - a case report. J. Atr. Fibrillation 4, 411. doi: 10.4022/jafib.411
- Brenner, B. M., Cooper, M. E., de Zeeuw, D., Keane, W. F., Mitch, W. E., Parving, H. H., et al. (2001). Effects of losartan on renal and cardiovascular outcomes in patients with type 2 diabetes and nephropathy. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 345, 861–869. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa011161
- Bruins, P., te Velthuis, H., Yazdanbakhsh, A. P., Jansen, P. G., van Hardevelt, F. W., de Beaumont, E. M., et al. (1997). Activation of the complement system during and after cardiopulmonary bypass surgery: postsurgery activation involves Creactive protein and is associated with postoperative arrhythmia. *Circulation* 96, 3542–3548. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.96.10.3542
- Cai, H., Li, Z., Goette, A., Mera, F., Honeycutt, C., Feterik, K., et al. (2002). Downregulation of endocardial nitric oxide synthase expression and nitric oxide production in atrial fibrillation: potential mechanisms for atrial thrombosis and stroke. *Circulation* 106, 2854–2858. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000039327.11661.16
- Calle, M. C., and Fernandez, M. L. (2012). Inflammation and type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Metab.* 38, 183–191. doi: 10.1016/j.diabet.2011.11.006
- Cardoso, C. R., Salles, G. F., and Deccache, W. (2003). Prognostic value of QT interval parameters in type 2 diabetes mellitus: results of a longterm follow-up prospective study. *J. Diabetes Complicat.* 17, 169–178. doi: 10.1016/S1056-8727(02)00206-4
- Cauci, S., Di Santolo, M., Ryckman, K. K., Williams, S. M., and Banfi, G. (2010). Variable number of tandem repeat polymorphisms of the interleukin-1 receptor antagonist gene IL-1RN: a novel association with the athlete status. *BMC Med. Genet.* 11:29. doi: 10.1186/1471-2350-11-29
- Celebi, S., Celebi, O. O., Aydogdu, S., and Diker, E. (2011). A peculiar medical cardioversion of atrial fibrillation with glucose infusion-a rare cause of atrial fibrillation: hypoglycemia. Am. J. Emerg. Med. 29, 134.e1–134.e3. doi: 10.1016/j.ajem.2010.02.012
- Centers for Disease C and Prevention (2008). State-specific incidence of diabetes among adults-participating states, 1995-1997 and 2005-2007. *MMWR Morb. Mortal. Wkly. Rep.* 57, 1169–1173. Available online at: http://www.cdc.gov/ mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/mm5743a2.htm
- Chang, C. Y., Yeh, Y. H., Chan, Y. H., Liu, J. R., Chang, S. H., Lee, H. F., et al. (2017). Dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitor decreases the risk of atrial fibrillation in patients with type 2 diabetes: a nationwide cohort study in Taiwan. *Cardiovasc. Diabetol.* 16, 159. doi: 10.1186/s12933-017-0640-5
- Chang, S. H., Wu, L. S., Chiou, M. J., Liu, J. R., Yu, K. H., Kuo, C. F., et al. (2014). Association of metformin with lower atrial fibrillation risk among patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: a population-based dynamic cohort and *in vitro* studies. *Cardiovasc. Diabetol.* 13:123. doi: 10.1186/s12933-014-0123-x
- Chao, T. F., Leu, H. B., Huang, C. C., Chen, J. W., Chan, W. L., Lin, S. J., et al. (2012). Thiazolidinediones can prevent new onset atrial fibrillation in patients with non-insulin dependent diabetes. *Int. J. Cardiol.* 156, 199–202. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2011.08.081
- Chao, T. F., Suenari, K., Chang, S. L., Lin, Y. J., Lo, L. W., Hu, Y. F., et al. (2010). Atrial substrate properties and outcome of catheter ablation

in patients with paroxysmal atrial fibrillation associated with diabetes mellitus or impaired fasting glucose. *Am. J. Cardiol.* 106, 1615–1620. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2010.07.038

- Chen, J., Li, Q., Dong, R., Gao, H., Peng, H., and Wu, Y. (2014). The effect of the Ras homolog gene family, (Rho), member A/Rho associated coiled-coil forming protein kinase pathway in atrial fibrosis of type 2 diabetes in rats. *Exp. Ther. Med.* 8, 836–840. doi: 10.3892/etm.2014.1843
- Cheng, Y. J., Lauer, M. S., Earnest, C. P., Church, T. S., Kampert, J. B., Gibbons, L. W., et al. (2003). Heart rate recovery following maximal exercise testing as a predictor of cardiovascular disease and all-cause mortality in men with diabetes. *Diabetes Care* 26, 2052–2057. doi: 10.2337/diacare.26.7.2052
- Chow, E., Bernjak, A., Walkinshaw, E., Lubina-Solomon, A., Freeman, J., Macdonald, I. A., et al. (2017). Cardiac autonomic regulation and repolarization during acute experimental hypoglycemia in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes* 66, 1322–1333. doi: 10.2337/db16-1310
- Chow, E., Bernjak, A., Williams, S., Fawdry, R. A., Hibbert, S., Freeman, J., et al. (2014). Risk of cardiac arrhythmias during hypoglycemia in patients with type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular risk. *Diabetes* 63, 1738–1747. doi: 10.2337/db13-0468
- Christensen, T. F., Baekgaard, M., Dideriksen, J. L., Steimle, K. L., Mogensen, M. L., Kildegaard, J., et al. (2009). A physiological model of the effect of hypoglycemia on plasma potassium. J. Diabetes Sci. Technol. 3, 887–894. doi: 10.1177/193229680900300436
- Connolly, S. J., Ezekowitz, M. D., Yusuf, S., Eikelboom, J., Oldgren, J., Parekh, A., et al. (2009). Dabigatran versus warfarin in patients with atrial fibrillation. N. Engl. J. Med. 361, 1139–1151. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0905561
- Dahlof, B., et al. (2002). Cardiovascular morbidity and mortality in the Losartan Intervention For Endpoint reduction in hypertension study, (LIFE): a randomised trial against atenolol. *Lancet* 359, 995–1003. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(02)08089-3
- Dahlqvist, S., Rosengren, A., Gudbjörnsdottir, S., Pivodic, A., Wedel, H., Kosiborod, M., et al. (2017). Risk of atrial fibrillation in people with type 1 diabetes compared with matched controls from the general population: a prospective case-control study. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol.* 5, 799–807. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(17)30262-0
- D'Ascenzo, F., Corleto, A., Biondi-Zoccai, G., Anselmino, M., Ferraris, F., di Biase, L., et al. (2013). Which are the most reliable predictors of recurrence of atrial fibrillation after transcatheter ablation?: a meta-analysis. *Int. J. Cardiol.* 167, 1984–1989. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2012.05.008
- Dewland, T. A., Olgin, J. E., Vittinghoff, E., and Marcus, G. M. (2013). Incident atrial fibrillation among Asians, Hispanics, blacks, and whites. *Circulation* 128, 2470–2477. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.113.002449
- Dobbin, S., Fisher, M., and McKay, G. (2018). Management of atrial fibrillation in diabetes. *Pract Diabetes* 35, 27–31. doi: 10.1002/pdi.2155
- dos Santos, D. O., Blefari, V., Prado, F. P., Silva, C. A., Fazan, R., Salgado, H. C., et al. (2016). Reduced expression of adherens and gap junction proteins can have a fundamental role in the development of heart failure following cardiac hypertrophy in rats. *Exp. Mol. Pathol.* 100, 167–176. doi: 10.1016/j.yexmp.2015.12.009
- Dublin, S., Glazer, N. L., Smith, N. L., Psaty, B. M., Lumley, T., Wiggins, K. L., et al. (2010). Diabetes mellitus, glycemic control, and risk of atrial fibrillation. J. Gen. Intern. Med. 25, 853–858. doi: 10.1007/s11606-010-1340-y
- Duckworth, W., Abraira, C., Moritz, T., Reda, D., Emanuele, N., Reaven, P. D., et al. (2009). Glucose control and vascular complications in veterans with type 2 diabetes. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 360, 129–139. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0808431
- Dudley, S. C., Hoch, N. E., McCann, L. A., Honeycutt, C., Diamandopoulos, L., Fukai, T., et al. (2005). Atrial fibrillation increases production of superoxide by the left atrium and left atrial appendage: role of the NADPH and xanthine oxidases. *Circulation* 112, 1266–1273. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.105.538108
- Erickson, J. R., Pereira, L., Wang, L., Han, G., Ferguson, A., Dao, K., et al. (2013). Diabetic hyperglycaemia activates CaMKII and arrhythmias by Olinked glycosylation. *Nature* 502, 372–376. doi: 10.1038/nature12537
- Ewing, D. J., and Neilson, J. M. (1990). QT interval length and diabetic autonomic neuropathy. *Diabet. Med.* 7, 23–26. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.1990.tb 01301.x
- Fatemi, O., Yuriditsky, E., Tsioufis, C., Tsachris, D., Morgan, T., Basile, J., et al. (2014). Impact of intensive glycemic control on the incidence of atrial

fibrillation and associated cardiovascular outcomes in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus, (from the Action to Control Cardiovascular Risk in Diabetes Study). *Am. J. Cardiol.* 114, 1217–1222. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2014.07.045

- Federation, I. D. (2014). IDF Diabetes Atlas. Epidemiology and Morbidity. International Diabetes Federation. Available online at: http://www.idf.org
- Ferdous, Z., Qureshi, M. A., Jayaprakash, P., Parekh, K., John, A., Oz, M., et al. (2016). Different profile of mRNA Expression in sinoatrial node from streptozotocin-induced diabetic rat. *PLoS ONE* 11:e0153934. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0153934
- Fischer, V. W., Barner, H. B., and Larose, L. S. (1984). Pathomorphologic aspects of muscular tissue in diabetes mellitus. *Hum. Pathol.* 15, 1127–1136. doi: 10.1016/S0046-8177(84)80307-X
- Fontes, J. D., Lyass, A., Massaro, J. M., Rienstra, M., Dallmeier, D., Schnabel, R. B., et al. (2012). Insulin resistance and atrial fibrillation, (from the Framingham Heart Study). *Am. J. Cardiol.* 109, 87–90. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2011.08.008
- Forbes, J. M., and Cooper, M. E. (2013). Mechanisms of diabetic complications. *Physiol. Rev.* 93, 137–188. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00045.2011
- Friedman, D. J., Wang, N., Meigs, J. B., Hoffmann, U., Massaro, J. M., Fox, C. S., et al. (2014). Pericardial fat is associated with atrial conduction: the Framingham Heart Study. J. Am. Heart Assoc. 3:e000477. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.113.000477
- Fu, H., Li, G., Liu, C., Li, J., Wang, X., Cheng, L., et al. (2015). Probucol prevents atrial remodeling by inhibiting oxidative stress and TNF-alpha/NFkappaB/TGF-beta signal transduction pathway in alloxan-induced diabetic rabbits. J. Cardiovasc. Electrophysiol. 26, 211–222. doi: 10.1111/jce.12540
- Fu, X., Pan, Y., Cao, Q., Li, B., Wang, S., Du, H., et al. (2018). Metformin restores electrophysiology of small conductance calcium-activated potassium channels in the atrium of GK diabetic rats. *BMC Cardiovasc. Disord.* 18, 63. doi: 10.1186/s12872-018-0805-5
- Gando, S., Hattori, Y., and Kanno, M. (1993). Altered cardiac adrenergic neurotransmission in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. Br. J. Pharmacol. 109, 1276–1281. doi: 10.1111/j.1476-5381.1993.tb13761.x
- Gaudino, M., Andreotti, F., Zamparelli, R., Di Castelnuovo, A., Nasso, G., Burzotta, F., et al. (2003). The–174G/C interleukin-6 polymorphism influences postoperative interleukin-6 levels and postoperative atrial fibrillation. Is atrial fibrillation an inflammatory complication? *Circulation* 108 (Suppl. 1):II195–199. doi: 10.1161/01.cir.0000087441.48566.0d
- Giacchetti, G., Sechi, L. A., Rilli, S., and Carey, R. M. (2005). The reninangiotensin-aldosterone system, glucose metabolism and diabetes. *Trends Endocrinol. Metab.* 16, 120–126. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2005.02.003
- Giacco, F., and Brownlee, M. (2010). Oxidative stress and diabetic complications. *Circ. Res.* 107, 1058–1070. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.110.223545
- Giugliano, R. P., Ruff, C. T., Braunwald, E., Murphy, S. A., Wiviott, S. D., Halperin, J. L., et al. (2013). Edoxaban versus warfarin in patients with atrial fibrillation. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 369, 2093–2104. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1310907
- Granger, C. B., Alexander, J. H., McMurray, J. J., Lopes, R. D., Hylek, E. M., Hanna, M., et al. (2011). Apixaban versus warfarin in patients with atrial fibrillation. N. Engl. J. Med. 365, 981–992. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1107039
- Group, A. C., Patel, A., MacMahon, S., Chalmers, J., Neal, B., Billot, L., et al. (2008). Intensive blood glucose control and vascular outcomes in patients with type 2 diabetes. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 358, 2560–2572. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa08 02987
- Group, N. S., McMurray, J. J., Holman, R. R., Haffner, S. M., Bethel, M. A., Holzhauer, B., et al. (2010). Effect of valsartan on the incidence of diabetes and cardiovascular events. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 362, 1477–1490. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1001121
- Grundvold, I., Bodegard, J., Nilsson, P. M., Svennblad, B., Johansson, G., Östgren, C. J., et al. (2015). Body weight and risk of atrial fibrillation in 7,169 patients with newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes; an observational study. *Cardiovasc. Diabetol.* 14:5. doi: 10.1186/s12933-014-0170-3
- Gungor, B., Ekmekci, A., Arman, A., Ozcan, K. S., Ucer, E., Alper, A. T., et al. (2013). Assessment of interleukin-1 gene cluster polymorphisms in lone atrial fibrillation: new insight into the role of inflammation in atrial fibrillation. *Pacing Clin. Electrophysiol.* 36, 1220–1227. doi: 10.1111/pace.12182
- Guzik, T. J., Mussa, S., Gastaldi, D., Sadowski, J., Ratnatunga, C., Pillai, R., et al. (2002). Mechanisms of increased vascular superoxide production in human diabetes mellitus: role of NAD(P)H oxidase

and endothelial nitric oxide synthase. *Circulation* 105, 1656–1662. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000012748.58444.08

- Haemers, P., Hamdi, H., Guedj, K., Suffee, N., Farahmand, P., Popovic, N., et al. (2017). Atrial fibrillation is associated with the fibrotic remodelling of adipose tissue in the subepicardium of human and sheep atria. *Eur. Heart J.* 38, 53–61. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehv625
- Hage, C., Michaëlsson, E., Linde, C., Donal, E., Daubert, J. C., Gan, L. M., et al. (2017). Inflammatory biomarkers predict heart failure severity and prognosis in patients with heart failure with preserved ejection fraction: a holistic proteomic approach. *Circ. Cardiovasc. Genet.* 10:e001633. doi: 10.1161/CIRCGENETICS.116.001633
- Hanif, W., Alex, L., Su, Y., Shinde, A. V., Russo, I., Li, N., et al. (2017). Left atrial remodeling, hypertrophy, and fibrosis in mouse models of heart failure. *Cardiovasc. Pathol.* 30:27–37. doi: 10.1016/j.carpath.2017.06.003
- Hansson, L., Lindholm, L. H., Niskanen, L., Lanke, J., Hedner, T., Niklason, A., et al. (1999). Effect of angiotensin-converting-enzyme inhibition compared with conventional therapy on cardiovascular morbidity and mortality in hypertension: the Captopril Prevention Project, (CAPPP) randomised trial. *Lancet* 353, 611–616. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(98)05012-0
- Heart Outcomes Prevention Evaluation Study, I., et al. (2000). Effects of an angiotensin-converting-enzyme inhibitor, ramipril, on cardiovascular events in high-risk patients. N. Engl. J. Med. 342, 145–153. doi: 10.1056/NEJM200001203420301
- Heller, S. R., and Robinson, R. T. (2000). Hypoglycaemia and associated hypokalaemia in diabetes: mechanisms, clinical implications and prevention. *Diabetes Obes. Metab.* 2, 75–82. doi: 10.1046/j.1463-1326.2000.00050.x
- Hotamisligil, G. S., Shargill, N. S., and Spiegelman, B. M. (1993). Adipose expression of tumor necrosis factor-alpha: direct role in obesity-linked insulin resistance. *Science* 259, 87–91. doi: 10.1126/science.7678183
- Howarth, F. C., Jacobson, M., Shafiullah, M., and Adeghate, E. (2008). Long-term effects of type 2 diabetes mellitus on heart rhythm in the Goto-Kakizaki rat. *Exp. Physiol.* 93, 362–369. doi: 10.1113/expphysiol.2007.040055
- Howarth, F. C., Nowotny, N., Zilahi, E., El Haj, M. A., and Lei, M. (2007). Altered expression of gap junction connexin proteins may partly underlie heart rhythm disturbances in the streptozotocin-induced diabetic rat heart. *Mol. Cell. Biochem.* 305(1-2):145–151. doi: 10.1007/s11010-007-9537-z
- Howarth, F. C., Parekh, K., Jayaprakash, P., Inbaraj, E. S., Oz, M., Dobrzynski, H., et al. (2017). Altered profile of mRNA expression in atrioventricular node of streptozotocininduced diabetic rats. *Mol. Med. Rep.* 16, 3720–3730. doi: 10.3892/mmr.2017.7038
- Hu, Z., Kant, R., Anand, M., King, E. C., Krogh-Madsen, T., Christini, D. J., et al. (2014). Kcne2 deletion creates a multisystem syndrome predisposing to sudden cardiac death. *Circ. Cardiovasc. Genet.* 7, 33–42. doi: 10.1161/CIRCGENETICS.113.000315
- Huang, H., Amin, V., Gurin, M., Wan, E., Thorp, E., Homma, S., et al. (2013). Diet-induced obesity causes long QT and reduces transcription of voltage-gated potassium channels. *J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol.* 59:151–158. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2013.03.007
- Huxley, R. R., Alonso, A., Lopez, F. L., Filion, K. B., Agarwal, S. K., Loehr, L. R., et al. (2012). Type 2 diabetes, glucose homeostasis and incident atrial fibrillation: the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities study. *Heart* 98, 133–138. doi: 10.1136/heartjnl-2011-300503
- Huxley, R. R., Filion, K. B., Konety, S., and Alonso, A. (2011). Meta-analysis of cohort and case-control studies of type 2 diabetes mellitus and risk of atrial fibrillation. *Am. J. Cardiol.* 108, 56–62. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2011. 03.004
- Igarashi, T., Finet, J. E., Takeuchi, A., Fujino, Y., Strom, M., Greener, I. D., et al. (2012). Connexin gene transfer preserves conduction velocity and prevents atrial fibrillation. *Circulation* 125, 216–225. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.111.053272
- Investigators, D. T., Bosch, J., Yusuf, S., Gerstein, H. C., Pogue, J., Sheridan, P., et al. (2006). Effect of ramipril on the incidence of diabetes. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 355, 1551–1562. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa065061
- Investigators, O. T., Mellbin, L. G., Rydén, L., Riddle, M. C., Probstfield, J., Rosenstock, J., et al. (2013). Does hypoglycaemia increase the risk of cardiovascular events? A report from the ORIGIN trial. *Eur. Heart J.* 34, 3137–3144. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/eht332

- Iravanian, S., and Dudley, S. C. Jr. (2008). The renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system, (RAAS) and cardiac arrhythmias. *Heart Rhythm* 5(Suppl. 6), S12–17. doi: 10.1016/j.hrthm.2008.02.025
- Jain, S. S., Paglialunga, S., Vigna, C., Ludzki, A., Herbst, E. A., Lally, J. S., et al. (2014). High-fat diet-induced mitochondrial biogenesis is regulated by mitochondrial-derived reactive oxygen species activation of CaMKII. *Diabetes* 63, 1907–1913. doi: 10.2337/db13-0816
- Jermendy, G., Koltai, M. Z., and Pogatsa, G. (1990). QT interval prolongation in type 2, (non-insulin-dependent) diabetic patients with cardiac autonomic neuropathy. Acta Diabetol. Lat. 27, 295–301. doi: 10.1007/BF02580933
- Kahn, S. E., Cooper, M. E., and Del Prato, S. (2014). Pathophysiology and treatment of type 2 diabetes: perspectives on the past, present, and future. *Lancet* 383, 1068–1083. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(13)62154-6
- Kannel, W. B., Abbott, R. D., Savage, D. D., and McNamara, P. M. (1983). Coronary heart disease and atrial fibrillation: the Framingham Study. Am. Heart J. 106, 389–396. doi: 10.1016/0002-8703(83)90208-9
- Kannel, W. B., Wolf, P. A., Benjamin, E. J., and Levy, D. (1998). Prevalence, incidence, prognosis, and predisposing conditions for atrial fibrillation: population-based estimates. Am. J. Cardiol. 82, 2N–9N.
- Kato, T., Yamashita, T., Sekiguchi, A., Sagara, K., Takamura, M., Takata, S., et al. (2006). What are arrhythmogenic substrates in diabetic rat atria? *J. Cardiovasc. Electrophysiol*. 17, 890–894. doi: 10.1111/j.1540-8167.2006.00528.x
- Kato, T., Yamashita, T., Sekiguchi, A., Tsuneda, T., Sagara, K., Takamura, M., et al. (2008). AGEs-RAGE system mediates atrial structural remodeling in the diabetic rat. J. Cardiovasc. Electrophysiol. 19, 415–420. doi: 10.1111/j.1540-8167.2007.01037.x
- Kawaguchi, M., Techigawara, M., Ishihata, T., Asakura, T., Saito, F., Maehara, K., et al. (1997). A comparison of ultrastructural changes on endomyocardial biopsy specimens obtained from patients with diabetes mellitus with and without hypertension. *Heart Vessels* 12, 267–274. doi: 10.1007/BF02766802
- Kim, Y. M., Guzik, T. J., Zhang, Y. H., Zhang, M. H., Kattach, H., Ratnatunga, C., et al. (2005). A myocardial Nox2 containing NAD(P)H oxidase contributes to oxidative stress in human atrial fibrillation. *Circ. Res.* 97, 629–636. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.0000183735.09871.61
- Ko, S. H., Park, Y. M., Yun, J. S., Cha, S. A., Choi, E. K., Han, K., et al. (2018). Severe hypoglycemia is a risk factor for atrial fibrillation in type 2 diabetes mellitus: Nationwide population-based cohort study. *J. Diabetes Complicat.* 32, 157–163. doi: 10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2017.09.009
- Lacombe, V. A., Viatchenko-Karpinski, S., Terentyev, D., Sridhar, A., Emani, S., Bonagura, J. D., et al. (2007). Mechanisms of impaired calcium handling underlying subclinical diastolic dysfunction in diabetes. *Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol.* 293, R1787–1797. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00059.2007
- Lancefield, T. F., Patel, S. K., Freeman, M., Velkoska, E., Wai, B., Srivastava, P. M., et al. (2016). The Receptor for Advanced Glycation End Products, (RAGE) Is Associated with Persistent Atrial Fibrillation. *PLoS ONE* 11:e0161715. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0161715
- Lengyel, C., Virág, L., Bíró, T., Jost, N., Magyar, J., Biliczki, P., et al. (2007). Diabetes mellitus attenuates the repolarization reserve in mammalian heart. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 73, 512–520. doi: 10.1016/j.cardiores.2006.11.010
- Leonard, C. E., Brensinger, C. M., Aquilante, C. L., Bilker, W. B., Boudreau, D. M., Deo, R., et al. (2018). Comparative safety of sulfonylureas and the risk of sudden cardiac arrest and ventricular arrhythmia. *Diabetes Care* 41, 713–722. doi: 10.2337/dc17-0294
- Levelt, E., Pavlides, M., Banerjee, R., Mahmod, M., Kelly, C., Sellwood, J., et al. (2016). Ectopic and visceral fat deposition in lean and obese patients with type 2 diabetes. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 68, 53–63. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2016.03.597
- Lin, H., Ogawa, K., Imanaga, I., and Tribulova, N. (2006). Remodeling of connexin 43 in the diabetic rat heart. *Mol. Cell. Biochem.* 290, 69–78. doi: 10.1007/s11010-006-9166-y
- Lipworth, L., Okafor, H., Mumma, M. T., Edwards, T. L., Roden, D. M., Blot, W. J., et al. (2012). Race-specific impact of atrial fibrillation risk factors in blacks and whites in the southern community cohort study. *Am. J. Cardiol.* 110, 1637–1642. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2012.07.032
- Liu, C., Fu, H., Li, J., Yang, W., Cheng, L., Liu, T., et al. (2012). Hyperglycemia aggravates atrial interstitial fibrosis, ionic remodeling and vulnerability to atrial fibrillation in diabetic rabbits. *Anadolu Kardiyol. Derg.* 12, 543–550. doi: 10.5152/akd.2012.188

- Lopez-Izquierdo, A., Pereira, R. O., Wende, A. R., Punske, B. B., Abel, E. D., and Tristani-Firouzi, M. (2014). The absence of insulin signaling in the heart induces changes in potassium channel expression and ventricular repolarization. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circulat. Physiol. 306, H747–754. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00849.2013
- Luo, M., Guan, X., Luczak, E. D., Lang, D., Kutschke, W., Gao, Z., et al. (2013). Diabetes increases mortality after myocardial infarction by oxidizing CaMKII. *J. Clin. Invest.* 123, 1262–1274. doi: 10.1172/JCI65268
- Mahajan, R., Lau, D. H., Brooks, A. G., Shipp, N. J., Manavis, J., Wood, J. P., et al. (2015). Electrophysiological, electroanatomical, and structural remodeling of the atria as consequences of sustained obesity. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 66, 1–11. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2015.04.058
- Mäkimattila, S., Mäntysaari, M., Groop, P. H., Summanen, P., Virkamäki, A., Schlenzka, A., et al. (1997). Hyperreactivity to nitrovasodilators in forearm vasculature is related to autonomic dysfunction in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *Circulation* 95, 618–625. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.95.3.618
- Mayr, M., Yusuf, S., Weir, G., Chung, Y. L., Mayr, U., Yin, X., et al. (2008). Combined metabolomic and proteomic analysis of human atrial fibrillation. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 51, 585–594. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2007.09.055
- Mazurek, T., Zhang, L., Zalewski, A., Mannion, J. D., Diehl, J. T., Arafat, H., et al. (2003). Human epicardial adipose tissue is a source of inflammatory mediators. *Circulation* 108, 2460–2466. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000099542.57313.C5
- Meo, M., Meste, O., Signore, S., Sorrentino, A., Cannata, A., Zhou, Y., et al. (2016). Reduction in Kv current enhances the temporal dispersion of the action potential in diabetic myocytes: insights from a novel repolarization algorithm. *J. Am. Heart Assoc.* 5:e003078. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.115.003078
- Mesubi, O. O., and Anderson, M. E. (2016). Atrial remodelling in atrial fibrillation: CaMKII as a nodal proarrhythmic signal. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 109, 542–557. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvw002
- Mitasíková, M., Lin, H., Soukup, T., Imanaga, I., and Tribulova, N. (2009). Diabetes and thyroid hormones affect connexin-43 and PKC-epsilon expression in rat heart atria. *Physiol. Res.* 58, 211–217.
- Monnerat, G., Alarcón, M. L., Vasconcellos, L. R., Hochman-Mendez, C., Brasil, G., Bassani, R. A., et al. (2016). Macrophage-dependent IL-1beta production induces cardiac arrhythmias in diabetic mice. *Nat. Commun.* 7:13344. doi: 10.1038/ncomms13344
- Movahed, M. R., Hashemzadeh, M., and Jamal, M. M. (2005). Diabetes mellitus is a strong, independent risk for atrial fibrillation and flutter in addition to other cardiovascular disease. *Int. J. Cardiol.* 105, 315–318. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2005.02.050
- Nattel, S., Guasch, E., Savelieva, I., Cosio, F. G., Valverde, I., Halperin, J. L., et al. (2014). Early management of atrial fibrillation to prevent cardiovascular complications. *Eur. Heart J.* 35, 1448–1456. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehu028
- Nattel, S., and Harada, M. (2014). Atrial remodeling and atrial fibrillation: recent advances and translational perspectives. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 63, 2335–2345. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2014.02.555
- Negishi, K., Seicean, S., Negishi, T., Yingchoncharoen, T., Aljaroudi, W., and Marwick, T. H. (2013). Relation of heart-rate recovery to new onset heart failure and atrial fibrillation in patients with diabetes mellitus and preserved ejection fraction. *Am. J. Cardiol.* 111, 748–753. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2012.11.028
- Neuman, R. B., Bloom, H. L., Shukrullah, I., Darrow, L. A., Kleinbaum, D., Jones, D. P., et al. (2007). Oxidative stress markers are associated with persistent atrial fibrillation. *Clin. Chem.* 53, 1652–1657. doi: 10.1373/clinchem.2006.083923
- Nichols, G. A., Reinier, K., and Chugh, S. S. (2009). Independent contribution of diabetes to increased prevalence and incidence of atrial fibrillation. *Diabetes Care* 32, 1851–1856. doi: 10.2337/dc09-0939
- Noyes, A. M., Dua, K., Devadoss, R., and Chhabra, L. (2014). Cardiac adipose tissue and its relationship to diabetes mellitus and cardiovascular disease. World J. Diabetes 5, 868–876. doi: 10.4239/wjd.v5.i6.868
- Nunoda, S., Genda, A., Sugihara, N., Nakayama, A., Mizuno, S., and Takeda, R. (1985). Quantitative approach to the histopathology of the biopsied right ventricular myocardium in patients with diabetes mellitus. *Heart Vessels* 1, 43–47. doi: 10.1007/BF02066486
- Oberhauser, V., Schwertfeger, E., Rutz, T., Beyersdorf, F., and Rump, L. C. (2001). Acetylcholine release in human heart atrium: influence of muscarinic autoreceptors, diabetes, and age. *Circulation* 103, 1638–1643. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.103.12.1638

- Odeh, M., Oliven, A., and Bassan, H. (1990). Transient atrial fibrillation precipitated by hypoglycemia. *Ann. Emerg. Med.* 19, 565–567. doi: 10.1016/S0196-0644(05)82191-2
- Olsen, K. B., Axelsen, L. N., Braunstein, T. H., Sørensen, C. M., Andersen, C. B., Ploug, T., et al. (2013). Myocardial impulse propagation is impaired in right ventricular tissue of Zucker diabetic fatty, (ZDF) rats. *Cardiovasc. Diabetol.* 12:19. doi: 10.1186/1475-2840-12-19
- O'Neal, W. T., Judd, S. E., Limdi, N. A., McIntyre, W. F., Kleindorfer, D. O., Cushman, M., et al. (2017). Differential Impact of Risk Factors in Blacks and Whites in the Development of Atrial Fibrillation: the Reasons for Geographic And Racial Differences in Stroke, (REGARDS) Study. *J. Racial Ethn. Health Disparit.* 4, 718–724. doi: 10.1007/s40615-016-0275-3
- O'Rourke, B., Ramza, B. M., and Marban, E. (1994). Oscillations of membrane current and excitability driven by metabolic oscillations in heart cells. *Science* 265, 962–966. doi: 10.1126/science.8052856
- Otake, H., Suzuki, H., Honda, T., and Maruyama, Y. (2009). Influences of autonomic nervous system on atrial arrhythmogenic substrates and the incidence of atrial fibrillation in diabetic heart. *Int. Heart J.* 50, 627–641. doi: 10.1536/ihj.50.627
- Pallisgaard, J. L., Brooks, M. M., Chaitman, B. R., Boothroyd, D. B., Perez, M., Hlatky, M. A., et al. (2018). Thiazolidinediones and risk of atrial fibrillation among patients with diabetes and coronary disease. *Am. J. Med.* 131, 805–812. doi: 10.1016/j.amjmed.2018.02.026
- Pallisgaard, J. L., Lindhardt, T. B., Staerk, L., Olesen, J. B., Torp-Pedersen, C., Hansen, M. L., et al. (2017). Thiazolidinediones are associated with a decreased risk of atrial fibrillation compared with other antidiabetic treatment: a nationwide cohort study. *Eur. Heart J. Cardiovasc Pharmacother*. 3, 140–146. doi: 10.1093/ehjcvp/pvw036
- Pallisgaard, J. L., Schjerning, A. M., Lindhardt, T. B., Procida, K., Hansen, M. L., Torp-Pedersen, C., et al. (2016). Risk of atrial fibrillation in diabetes mellitus: A nationwide cohort study. *Eur. J. Prev. Cardiol.* 23, 621–627. doi: 10.1177/2047487315599892
- Panzer, C., Lauer, M. S., Brieke, A., Blackstone, E., and Hoogwerf, B. (2002). Association of fasting plasma glucose with heart rate recovery in healthy adults: a population-based study. *Diabetes* 51, 803–807. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.51.3.803
- Patel, M. R., Mahaffey, K. W., Garg, J., Pan, G., Singer, D. E., Hacke, W., et al. (2011). Rivaroxaban versus warfarin in nonvalvular atrial fibrillation. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 365, 883–891. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1009638
- Petersen, K. G., Schluter, K. J., and Kerp, L. (1982). Regulation of serum potassium during insulin-induced hypoglycemia. *Diabetes* 31, 615–617. doi: 10.2337/diab.31.7.615
- Psaty, B. M., Manolio, T. A., Kuller, L. H., Kronmal, R. A., Cushman, M., Fried, L. P., et al. (1997). Incidence of and risk factors for atrial fibrillation in older adults. *Circulation* 96, 2455–2461. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.96.7.2455
- Purohit, A., Rokita, A. G., Guan, X., Chen, B., Koval, O. M., Voigt, N., et al. (2013). Oxidized Ca(2+)/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II triggers atrial fibrillation. *Circulation* 128, 1748–1757. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.113.003313
- Ramasamy, R., Yan, S. F., and Schmidt, A. M. (2011). Receptor for AGE, (RAGE): signaling mechanisms in the pathogenesis of diabetes and its complications. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* 1243:88–102. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2011. 06320.x
- Ramirez, A. H., Schildcrout, J. S., Blakemore, D. L., Masys, D. R., Pulley, J. M., Basford, M. A., et al. (2011). Modulators of normal electrocardiographic intervals identified in a large electronic medical record. *Heart Rhythm* 8, 271–277. doi: 10.1016/j.hrthm.2010.10.034
- Regan, T. J., Lyons, M. M., Ahmed, S. S., Levinson, G. E., Oldewurtel, H. A., Ahmad, M. R., et al. (1977). Evidence for cardiomyopathy in familial diabetes mellitus. *J. Clin. Invest.* 60, 884–899. doi: 10.1172/JCI1 08843
- Reilly, S. N., Jayaram, R., Nahar, K., Antoniades, C., Verheule, S., Channon, K. M., et al. (2011). Atrial sources of reactive oxygen species vary with the duration and substrate of atrial fibrillation: implications for the antiarrhythmic effect of statins. *Circulation* 124, 1107–1117. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.111.029223
- Roberts-Thomson, K. C., Lau, D. H., and Sanders, P. (2011). The diagnosis and management of ventricular arrhythmias. *Nat. Rev. Cardiol.* 8, 311–321. doi: 10.1038/nrcardio.2011.15

- Rochette, L., Zeller, M., Cottin, Y., and Vergely, C. (2014). Diabetes, oxidative stress and therapeutic strategies. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1840, 2709–2729. doi: 10.1016/j.bbagen.2014.05.017
- Rodriguez, F., Stefanick, M. L., Greenland, P., Soliman, E. Z., Manson, J. E., Parikh, N., et al. (2016). Racial and ethnic differences in atrial fibrillation risk factors and predictors in women: Findings from the Women's Health Initiative. Am. Heart J. 176:70–77. doi: 10.1016/j.ahj.2016.03.004
- Rosito, G. A., Massaro, J. M., Hoffmann, U., Ruberg, F. L., Mahabadi, A. A., Vasan, R. S., et al. (2008). Pericardial fat, visceral abdominal fat, cardiovascular disease risk factors, and vascular calcification in a community-based sample: the Framingham Heart Study. *Circulation* 117, 605–613. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.107.743062
- Saffitz, J. E., and Kléber, A. G. (2004). Effects of mechanical forces and mediators of hypertrophy on remodeling of gap junctions in the heart. *Circ. Res.* 94, 585–591. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.0000121575.34653.50
- Saito, S., Teshima, Y., Fukui, A., Kondo, H., Nishio, S., Nakagawa, M., et al. (2014). Glucose fluctuations increase the incidence of atrial fibrillation in diabetic rats. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 104, 5–14. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvu176
- Salpeter, S. R., Greyber, E., Pasternak, G. A., and Salpeter, E. E. (2010). Risk of fatal and nonfatal lactic acidosis with metformin use in type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Cochrane Database Syst. Rev.* 20:CD002967. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD002967.pub3
- Samman Tahhan, A., Sandesara, P. B., Hayek, S. S., Alkhoder, A., Chivukula, K., Hammadah, M., et al. (2017). Association between oxidative stress and atrial fibrillation. *Heart Rhythm* 14, 1849–1855. doi: 10.1016/j.hrthm.2017.07.028
- Sesso, H. D., Buring, J. E., Christen, W. G., Kurth, T., Belanger, C., MacFadyen, J., et al. (2008). Vitamins, E., and C in the prevention of cardiovascular disease in men: the Physicians' Health Study II randomized controlled trial. *JAMA* 300, 2123–2133. doi: 10.1001/jama.2008.600
- Shimizu, M., Umeda, K., Sugihara, N., Yoshio, H., Ino, H., Takeda, R., et al. (1993). Collagen remodelling in myocardia of patients with diabetes. J. Clin. Pathol. 46, 32–36. doi: 10.1136/jcp.46.1.32
- Shimoni, Y., Firek, L., Severson, D., and Giles, W. (1994). Short-term diabetes alters K+ currents in rat ventricular myocytes. *Circ. Res.* 74, 620–628. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.74.4.620
- Singh, J. P., Larson, M. G., O'Donnell, C. J., Wilson, P. F., Tsuji, H., Lloyd-Jones, D. M., et al. (2000). Association of hyperglycemia with reduced heart rate variability, (The Framingham Heart Study). Am. J. Cardiol. 86, 309–312. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9149(00)00920-6
- Sivieri, R., Veglio, M., Chinaglia, A., Scaglione, P., and Cavallo-Perin, P. (1993). Prevalence of QT prolongation in a type 1 diabetic population and its association with autonomic neuropathy. The neuropathy study group of the italian society for the study of diabetes. *Diabet Med* 10, 920–924. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.1993.tb00007.x
- Spach, M. S., Dolber, P. C., and Heidlage, J. F. (1988). Influence of the passive anisotropic properties on directional differences in propagation following modification of the sodium conductance in human atrial muscle. A model of reentry based on anisotropic discontinuous propagation. *Circ Res* 62, 811–832. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.62.4.811
- Spodick, D. H. (1976). Arrhythmias during acute pericarditis. A prospective study of 100 consecutive cases. JAMA 235, 39–41. doi: 10.1001/jama.1976.03260270025020
- Stables, C. L., Musa, H., Mitra, A., Bhushal, S., Deo, M., Guerrero-Serna, G., et al. (2014). Reduced Na(+) current density underlies impaired propagation in the diabetic rabbit ventricle. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 69:24–31. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2013.12.031
- Stahn, A., Pistrosch, F., Ganz, X., Teige, M., Koehler, C., Bornstein, S., et al. (2014). Relationship between hypoglycemic episodes and ventricular arrhythmias in patients with type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular diseases: silent hypoglycemias and silent arrhythmias. *Diabetes Care* 37, 516–520. doi: 10.2337/dc 13-0600
- Sutherland, C. G., Fisher, B. M., Frier, B. M., Dargie, H. J., More, I. A., and Lindop, G. B. (1989). Endomyocardial biopsy pathology in insulin-dependent diabetic patients with abnormal ventricular function. *Histopathology* 14, 593–602. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2559.1989.tb02200.x
- Švíglerová, J., Mudra, J., Tonar, Z., Slavikova, J., and Kuncova, J. (2011). Alteration of the cardiac sympathetic innervation is modulated by duration of diabetes in female rats. *Exp. Diabetes Res.* 2011:835932. doi: 10.1155/2011/835932

- Tadic, M., and Cuspidi, C. (2015). The influence of type 2 diabetes on left atrial remodeling. Clin. Cardiol. 38, 48–55. doi: 10.1002/clc.22334
- Tang, R. B., Dong, J. Z., Liu, X. P., Fang, D. P., Long, D. Y., Liu, X. H., et al. (2006). Safety and efficacy of catheter ablation of atrial fibrillation in patients with diabetes mellitus–single center experience. *J. Interv. Card. Electrophysiol.* 17, 41–46. doi: 10.1007/s10840-006-9049-x
- Ten Tusscher, K. H., and Panfilov, A. V. (2007). Influence of diffuse fibrosis on wave propagation in human ventricular tissue. *Europace* 9 Suppl 6:vi38-45. doi: 10.1093/europace/eum206
- Thaung, H. P., Baldi, J. C., Wang, H. Y., Hughes, G., Cook, R. F., Bussey, C. T., et al. (2015). Increased efferent cardiac sympathetic nerve activity and defective intrinsic heart rate regulation in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes* 64, 2944–2956. doi: 10.2337/db14-0955
- Valensi, P., Sachs, R. N., Harfouche, B., Lormeau, B., Paries, J., Cosson, E., et al. (2001). Predictive value of cardiac autonomic neuropathy in diabetic patients with or without silent myocardial ischemia. *Diabetes Care* 24, 339–343. doi: 10.2337/diacare.24.2.339
- van Belle, T. L., Coppieters, K. T., and von Herrath, M. G. (2011). Type 1 diabetes: etiology, immunology, and therapeutic strategies. *Physiol. Rev.* 91, 79–118. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00003.2010
- van Hoeven, K. H., and Factor, S. M. (1990). A comparison of the pathological spectrum of hypertensive, diabetic, and hypertensive-diabetic heart disease. *Circulation* 82, 848–855. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.82.3.848
- VanHoose, L., Sawers, Y., Loganathan, R., Vacek, J. L., Stehno-Bittel, L., Novikova, L., et al. (2010). Electrocardiographic changes with the onset of diabetes and the impact of aerobic exercise training in the Zucker Diabetic Fatty, (ZDF) rat. *Cardiovasc. Diabetol.* 9:56. doi: 10.1186/1475-2840-9-56
- Veeranki, S., Givvimani, S., Kundu, S., Metreveli, N., Pushpakumar, S., and Tyagi, S. C. (2016). Moderate intensity exercise prevents diabetic cardiomyopathy associated contractile dysfunction through restoration of mitochondrial function and connexin 43 levels in db/db mice. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 92:163–173. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2016.01.023
- Veglio, M., Bruno, G., Borra, M., Macchia, G., Bargero, G., D'Errico, N., et al. (2002). Prevalence of increased QT interval duration and dispersion in type 2 diabetic patients and its relationship with coronary heart disease: a population-based cohort. J. Intern. Med. 251, 317–324. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2796.2002.00955.x
- Venteclef, N., Guglielmi, V., Balse, E., Gaborit, B., Cotillard, A., Atassi, F., et al. (2015). Human epicardial adipose tissue induces fibrosis of the atrial myocardium through the secretion of adipo-fibrokines. *Eur. Heart J.* 36, 795–805a. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/eht099
- Vinik, A. I., Maser, R. E., Mitchell, B. D., and Freeman, R. (2003). Diabetic autonomic neuropathy. *Diabetes Care* 26, 1553–1579. doi: 10.2337/diacare.26.5.1553
- Violi, F., Pastori, D., Pignatelli, P., and Loffredo, L. (2014). Antioxidants for prevention of atrial fibrillation: a potentially useful future therapeutic approach? A review of the literature and meta-analysis. Europace 16, 1107–1116. doi: 10.1093/europace/euu040
- Voigt, N., Li, N., Wang, Q., Wang, W., Trafford, A. W., Abu-Taha, I., et al. (2012). Enhanced sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca2+ leak and increased Na+-Ca2+ exchanger function underlie delayed afterdepolarizations in patients with chronic atrial fibrillation. *Circulation* 125, 2059–2070. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.111.067306
- Wang, G. Y., Bi, Y. G., Liu, X. D., Zhao, Y., Han, J. F., Wei, M., et al. (2017). Autophagy was involved in the protective effect of metformin on hyperglycemia-induced cardiomyocyte apoptosis and Connexin43 downregulation in H9c2 cells. *Int. J. Med. Sci.* 14, 698–704. doi: 10.7150/ijms.19800

- Wang, Q., Quick, A. P., Cao, S., Reynolds, J., Chiang, D. Y., Beavers, D., et al. (2018). Oxidized CaMKII, (Ca(2+)/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II) is essential for ventricular arrhythmia in a mouse model of duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Circ. Arrhythm. Electrophysiol.* 11:e005682. doi: 10.1161/CIRCEP.117.005682
- Watanabe, M., Yokoshiki, H., Mitsuyama, H., Mizukami, K., Ono, T., and Tsutsui, H. (2012). Conduction and refractory disorders in the diabetic atrium. *Am. J Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 303, H86–95. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00010.2012
- Weiss, J. N., and Lamp, S. T. (1987). Glycolysis preferentially inhibits ATP-sensitive K+ channels in isolated guinea pig cardiac myocytes. *Science* 238, 67–69. doi: 10.1126/science.2443972
- Wellen, K. E., and Hotamisligil, G. S. (2005). Inflammation, stress, and diabetes. J. Clin. Invest. 115, 1111–1119. doi: 10.1172/JCI25102
- Wheeler, S. G., Ahroni, J. H., and Boyko, E. J. (2002). Prospective study of autonomic neuropathy as a predictor of mortality in patients with diabetes. *Diabetes Res. Clin. Pract.* 58, 131–138. doi: 10.1016/S0168-8227(02)00128-6
- Wilhelmsen, L., Rosengren, A., and Lappas, G. (2001). Hospitalizations for atrial fibrillation in the general male population: morbidity and risk factors. J. Intern. Med. 250, 382–389. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2796.2001.00902.x
- Wong, C. X., Abed, H. S., Molaee, P., Nelson, A. J., Brooks, A. G., Sharma, G., et al. (2011). Pericardial fat is associated with atrial fibrillation severity and ablation outcome. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 57, 1745–1751. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2010.11.045
- Xu, Z., Patel, K. P., Lou, M. F., and Rozanski, G. J. (2002). Up-regulation of K(+) channels in diabetic rat ventricular myocytes by insulin and glutathione. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 53, 80–88. doi: 10.1016/S0008-6363(01)00446-1
- Xu, Z., Patel, K. P., and Rozanski, G. J. (1996). Metabolic basis of decreased transient outward K+ current in ventricular myocytes from diabetic rats. Am. J. Physiol. 271(5 Pt 2):H2190–2196. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.1996.271.5.H2190
- Yang, K. C., and Dudley, S. C. Jr. (2013). Oxidative stress and atrial fibrillation: finding a missing piece to the puzzle. *Circulation* 128, 1724–1726. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.113.005837
- Zhang, J., Youn, J. Y., Kim, A. Y., Ramirez, R. J., Gao, L., Ngo, D., et al. (2012). NOX4-Dependent hydrogen peroxide overproduction in human atrial fibrillation and hl-1 atrial cells: relationship to hypertension. *Front. Physiol.* 3:140. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2012.00140
- Zhang, X., Zhang, Z., Zhao, Y., Jiang, N., Qiu, J., Yang, Y., et al. (2017). Alogliptin, a dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitor, alleviates atrial remodeling and improves mitochondrial function and biogenesis in diabetic rabbits. *J. Am. Heart Assoc.* 6:e005945. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.117.005945
- Zhang, Z., Zhang, X., Korantzopoulos, P., Letsas, K. P., Tse, G., Gong, M., et al. (2017). Thiazolidinedione use and atrial fibrillation in diabetic patients: a meta-analysis. *BMC Cardiovasc. Disord.* 17:96. doi: 10.1186/s12872-017-0531-4
- Zhong, P., Quan, D., Huang, Y., and Huang, H. (2017). CaMKII Activation promotes cardiac electrical remodeling and increases the susceptibility to arrhythmia induction in high-fat diet-fed mice with hyperlipidemia conditions. *J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol.* 70, 245–254. doi: 10.1097/FJC.000000000000512

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Grisanti. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Direct Cardiac Actions of Sodium Glucose Cotransporter 2 Inhibitors Target Pathogenic Mechanisms Underlying Heart Failure in Diabetic Patients

Laween Uthman¹, Antonius Baartscheer², Cees A. Schumacher², Jan W. T. Fiolet², Marius C. Kuschma¹, Markus W. Hollmann¹, Ruben Coronel^{2,3}, Nina C. Weber¹ and Coert J. Zuurbier^{1*}

¹ Laboratory of Experimental Intensive Care and Anesthesiology, Amsterdam UMC, University of Amsterdam, Meibergdreef, Amsterdam, Netherlands, ² Clinical and Experimental Cardiology, Amsterdam UMC, University of Amsterdam, Meibergdreef, Amsterdam, Netherlands, ³ IHU Liryc, Electrophysiology and Heart Modeling Institute, Fondation Bordeaux Université, Bordeaux, France

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Gaetano Santulli, Columbia University, United States

Reviewed by:

Xiaoqiang Tang, Sichuan University, China Wayne Rodney Giles, University of Calgary, Canada

> *Correspondence: Coert J. Zuurbier c.j.zuurbier@amc.uva.nl

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cardiac Electrophysiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 31 July 2018 Accepted: 22 October 2018 Published: 21 November 2018

Citation:

Uthman L, Baartscheer A, Schumacher CA, Fiolet JWT, Kuschma MC, Hollmann MW, Coronel R, Weber NC and Zuurbier CJ (2018) Direct Cardiac Actions of Sodium Glucose Cotransporter 2 Inhibitors Target Pathogenic Mechanisms Underlying Heart Failure in Diabetic Patients. Front. Physiol. 9:1575. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01575 Sodium glucose cotransporter 2 inhibitors (SGLT2i) are the first antidiabetic compounds that effectively reduce heart failure hospitalization and cardiovascular death in type 2 diabetics. Being explicitly designed to inhibit SGLT2 in the kidney, SGLT2i have lately been investigated for their off-target cardiac actions. Here, we review the direct effects of SGLT2i Empagliflozin (Empa), Dapagliflozin (Dapa), and Canagliflozin (Cana) on various cardiac cell types and cardiac function, and how these may contribute to the cardiovascular benefits observed in large clinical trials. SGLT2i impaired the Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger 1 (NHE-1), reduced cytosolic [Ca²⁺] and [Na⁺] and increased mitochondrial [Ca²⁺] in healthy cardiomyocytes. Empa, one of the best studied SGLT2i, maintained cell viability and ATP content following hypoxia/reoxygenation in cardiomyocytes and endothelial cells. SGLT2i recovered vasoreactivity of hyperglycemic and TNFa-stimulated aortic rings and of hyperglycemic endothelial cells. Anti-inflammatory actions of Cana in IL-1β-treated HUVEC and of Dapa in LPS-treated cardiofibroblast were mediated by AMPK activation. In isolated mouse hearts, Empa and Cana, but not Dapa, induced vasodilation. In ischemia-reperfusion studies of the isolated heart, Empa delayed contracture development during ischemia and increased mitochondrial respiration post-ischemia. Direct cardiac effects of SGLT2i target well-known drivers of diabetes and heart failure (elevated cardiac cytosolic [Ca²⁺] and [Na⁺], activated NHE-1, elevated inflammation, impaired vasorelaxation, and reduced AMPK activity). These cardiac effects may contribute to the large beneficial clinical effects of these antidiabetic drugs.

Keywords: SGLT2 inhibitors, cardiomyocyte, endothelial cell, smooth muscle cell, cardiac fibroblast, isolated heart, 2 type diabetes, heart failure

SGLT2 INHIBITORS IN DIABETES AND HEART FAILURE: EXPLORING DIRECT CARDIAC EFFECTS

Sodium glucose cotransporter 2 (SGLT2) inhibitors (SGLT2i) are kidney-targeted anti-diabetic agents that have exhibited marked reductions in cardiovascular events and mortality of type 2 diabetes (T2D) patients. In two large clinical trials, Empa, (Zinman et al., 2015) and Cana, (Neal et al., 2017) reduced the risk of heart failure related hospitalization by 35 and 33%, respectively. These trials demonstrate that SGLT2i may serve as an effective treatment strategy against heart failure in a T2D setting. SGLT2i were designed to inhibit the kidney-specific SGLT2 and to induce glycosuria. SGLT2 is part of a family of proteins facilitating glucose translocation in a variety of tissues. SGLT2 is mainly expressed in the kidney, with some expression in the pancreatic alpha cells. In the kidney, SGLT2 is located in the first part of the proximal tubule, where it enables \sim 90% of glucose reabsorption from the urine; the other 10% reabsorption is through SGLT1, which is located in the distal part of the proximal tubule. SGLT2i use is associated with \sim 50 g/day of glucose loss, which corresponds with ~200 kcal/day (Ferrannini et al., 2015). Indeed, administration of a SGLT2i on top of standard glucose lowering therapy (metformin, insulin and sulfonylureas) modestly reduced (~0.4%) glycated hemoglobin plasma levels and was associated with small decreases in body weight, plasma insulin and blood pressure (Zinman et al., 2015 Neal et al., 2017). However, it is unlikely that the small changes in these parameters can explain the large beneficial actions of SGLT2i, and thus preclinical studies were sought to explore possible underlying mechanisms.

In vivo preclinical studies have shown decreased ROS levels, inflammatory cytokines and vascular dysfunction after SGLT2i

administration in animals with diabetes (Oelze et al., 2014; Andreadou et al., 2017; Tanajak et al., 2018). Moreover, preserved cardiac function has been observed with administration of SGLT2i Empa in a non-diabetic model of chronic heart failure (Byrne et al., 2017). In microvascular coronary endothelial cells of mice with STZ-induced diabetes, Empa administration resulted in activation of AMPK, improved mitochondrial function through inhibition of Drp1-mediated fission, restoration of vascular barrier function, eNOS phosphorylation, adhesion molecules expression and reduced mitochondrial ROS levels (Zhou et al., 2018). However, the in vivo animal studies cannot discern whether the cardiovascular beneficial effects of Empa and other SGLT2i are due to kidney-related systemic alterations or due to direct cardiovascular effects, or both. To examine whether SGLT2i operate directly on cardiac specific pathophysiological mechanisms without interference of other mediating factors, including plasma circulating glucose and insulin, isolated cardiac cell and organ studies are required. In this review we summarize the results of these studies and discuss how these direct cardiac effects of the inhibitors may contribute to the effects seen on heart failure. We restrict ourselves to cardiac cellular studies using clinically relevant SGLT2i concentrations ($\leq 10 \,\mu$ M).

PATHOGENESIS LINKING DIABETES AND HEART FAILURE

T2D is associated with a two to five fold higher risk of developing heart failure (Kannel et al., 1974; Cavender et al., 2015). Vice versa, chronic heart failure patients have an increased risk of developing T2D and metabolic abnormalities, including increased insulin resistance (Riehle and Abel, 2016). Thus, the presence of one disease impacts the development or progression of the other. Patients with heart failure and T2D have a worse prognosis than those with either one of the diseases (Cubbon et al., 2013).

Heart failure is a syndrome characterized by fatigue, dyspnea and the inability to exercise. It often develops after MI, valvular disease, chronic tachycardia, hypertension, diabetic cardiomyopathy, or in the setting of various genetic or acquired cardiomyopathies. The initial remodeling process associated with heart failure primarily includes left ventricular hypertrophy, fibrosis and diastolic dysfunction. Although the exact causes of T2D are still debated, hyperinsulinemia, insulin resistance, hyperglycemia and dyslipidemia are considered early contributors to the development of T2D (Jia et al., 2018). In T2D patients, insulin resistance and increased salt sensitivity lead to hypertension by increased sodium retention, activation of sympathetic nervous system and atherosclerosis (Feldstein, 2002; Lastra et al., 2010). Atherosclerosis in turn may cause MI and heart failure. Furthermore, the T2D heart is considered to be in a state of metabolic overload, with elevated glycogen and lipid stores within the heart (Varma et al., 2018). T2D is only one of several diseases that can develop into heart failure (see above). Early on in the development of heart failure, there are several key mechanisms that instigate functional and structural cardiac impairments, which are shared among heart failure and

Abbreviations: ΔG_{ATP} , Gibbs free energy of ATP hydrolysis; $[\text{Ca}^{2+}]_c$, cytoplasmatic calcium; [Na⁺]_c, cytoplasmatic sodium; 2-NBDG, 2-(N-(7-Nitrobenz-2-oxa-1,3-diazol-4-yl)Amino)-2-Deoxyglucose; AGE. advanced glycation end-product(s); Akt, protein kinase B; AMP/ADP, adenosine monophosphate/adenosine diphosphate; AMPK, 5' adenosine monophosphateactivated protein kinase; ASC, apoptosis-associated speck-like protein containing a caspase recruitment domain; CABG, coronary artery bypass graft; Cana, Canagliflozin; Cmax, maximal serum concentration; Dapa, Dapagliflozin; Drp1, dynamin-related protein; Empa, Empagliflozin; eNOS, endothelial nitric oxide synthase; ETC, electron transport chain; HAEC, human aortic endothelial cells; HbA1c, hemoglobin A1c; HFpEF, heart failure with preserved ejection fraction; HUVEC, human umbilical cord vein endothelial cells; ICAM-1, intercellular Adhesion Molecule 1; IL-1β, interleukin 1β; IL-10, interleukin 10; IL-6, interleukin 6; IR, ischemia-reperfusion; IRS-1, insulin receptor substrate 1; JNK, c-Jun N-terminal kinases; LPS, lipopolysaccharides; LTCC, L-type calcium channel; MCP-1, monocyte chemoattractant protein 1; MI, myocardial infarction; Na⁺/K⁺, ATPase sodium-potassium ATPase; NCX, Na⁺/Ca²⁺-exchanger; NFκB, nuclear factor-kappa B; NHE, sodium hydrogen exchanger; NLRP3, NACHT, LRR and PYD domains-containing protein 3; NO-cGMP-PKG, nitric oxide - cyclic guanosine monophosphate - protein kinase G; NOX2, NADPH oxidase 2; PA, palmitic acid; PCr/ATP, phosphocreatine/adenosine triphosphate; PTCA, percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty; ROS, reactive oxygen species; SGLT1, sodium glucose cotransporter 1; SGLT2, sodium glucose cotransporter 2; SGLT2i, sodium glucose cotransporter 2 inhibitor(s); SMC, smooth muscle cell(s); SMIT-1, sodium-myo-inositol co-transporter 1; SR, sarcoplasmic reticulum; STAT3, signal transducer and activator of transcription 3; STZ, streptozotocin; T2D, type 2 diabetes; TNF-α, tumor necrosis factor α; VCAM-1, vascular cell adhesion protein 1.

all these diseases, including T2D (Bugger and Abel, 2014; Packer, 2017). Therefore, targeting these early overlapping mechanisms is a promising strategy to treat heart failure. Several of these mechanisms with potential relevance to direct myocardial effects of SGLT2i are summarized in **Figure 1**.

First, elevated cytosolic [Na⁺] and [Ca²⁺] ([Na⁺]_c and $[Ca^{2+}]_c$) are observed in cardiomyocytes from failing and T2D hearts (Despa et al., 2002; Lambert et al., 2015; Despa, 2018). Elevations in $[Na^+]_c$ and $[Ca^{2+}]_c$ are coupled to reduced mitochondrial $[Ca^{2+}]$ ($[Ca^{2+}]_m$) in cardiomyocytes, which will decrease the energetic and redox function of mitochondria (Murphy and Eisner, 2009; Bay et al., 2013). Elevated [Ca²⁺]_c is perceived in hyperglycemia- and LPS-induced endothelial dysfunction (Wang et al., 2008; Cui et al., 2013), atrial fibrillation (Neef et al., 2010) and in myocytes during IR injury (Garcia-Dorado et al., 2012). Increases in $[Na^+]_c$ and $[Ca^{2+}]_c$ are caused by perturbed ion fluxes due to altered activity of ion channels and/or transporters, including the sodium-calcium exchanger (NCX), the sodium-hydrogen exchanger 1 (NHE-1), the ryanodine receptor regulating SR-calcium release and the sodium-potassium ATPase (Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase), and targeting these ion regulating transporters has been proposed to improve cardiovascular function (Baartscheer et al., 2003a; Despa et al., 2012; Karmazyn, 2013; Luo et al., 2013; Sasahara et al., 2013).

Second, the development of an energy crisis, best reflected by decreases in cardiac PCr/ATP, is present in both heart failure and diabetic cardiomyopathy. As a consequence, the cellular energy sensor AMPK is altered. AMPK activity is increased in failing myocytes (Tian et al., 2001), whereas in T2D divergent AMPK alterations have been found (Varma et al., 2018). AMPK acts as an energy sensor, and activates catabolic actions such as increasing glucose uptake and glycolysis, and impairing anabolic reactions (Beauloye et al., 2011). Targeting the AMPK pathway by increasing its activity have been shown to combat cardiac hypertrophy and heart failure (Gélinas et al., 2018). Besides,

AMPK activity is relevant in non-metabolic cellular processes, including the regulation of vascular tone and the suppression of inflammation (Beauloye et al., 2011; He et al., 2015; Cordero et al., 2018). Metformin, the first-line drug in the treatment of T2D for the last two decades, is known to increase AMPK (Foretz et al., 2014), an effect that can also be observed in the human non-diabetic heart tissue (El Messaoudi et al., 2015).

Third, early increased oxidative stress figures prominently in both heart failure (Dey et al., 2018) and T2D pathogenesis (Shah and Brownlee, 2017). The highly reactive ROS can oxidize many proteins in its vicinity, with consequently altered function of that protein. ROS is also an upstream driver of endothelial dysfunction associated with heart failure, by the increase of nitric oxide synthase (NOS) uncoupling, switching the production of NO into that of peroxynitrite (Paulus and Tschöpe, 2013; Joshi et al., 2014; Münzel et al., 2015). Reducing ROS therefore will normalize the function of many proteins of cardiac cells and may so undermine the development of heart failure.

Fourth a chronic low-grade state of inflammation is present in both heart failure and diabetes. Cellular ion dysregulation, AMPK inactivity and ROS production are relevant factors in the development of inflammation (Frati et al., 2017). Other mechanisms that underlie the progression of inflammation in diabetes may include increased O-GlcNAcylation, formation of AGEs, activation of the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system, damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) and the production of cytokines and adipokines (Frati et al., 2017). Inflammation may lead to fibrosis, cell death (pyroptosis) and cardiac remodeling, and its suppression may therefore be a relevant mechanism in the prevention and treatment of diabetes-associated heart failure.

These four mechanisms are not separate entities but are all intrinsically interrelated, and together may induce contractile, vascular and mitochondrial dysfunction, and cell death in the heart, which may evolve into left ventricular concentric or





eccentric hypertrophy and heart failure (Boudina et al., 2007; Van Heerebeek et al., 2008; Miki et al., 2013; Sena et al., 2013; Cassidy et al., 2015; Munasinghe et al., 2016). In the subsequent paragraphs, SGLT2i effects in the major cardiac cell types will be discussed in relation to these four early signatures (ion homeostasis, energy balance, oxidative stress and inflammation) of both heart failure development and diabetic cardiomyopathy.

SGLT2 INHIBITORS IN CARDIOMYOCYTES

Intracellular Ion Regulation

Several reports have documented that SGLT2i modify ionic homeostasis in cardiomyocytes. Hamouda et al. (2014) showed that 1-10 µM Dapa reduced the amplitudes of cell shortening and L-type Ca²⁺ current in ventricular cardiomyocytes from STZtreated and control rats. Dapa only lowered systolic $[Ca^{2+}]_c$, but not diastolic [Ca²⁺]_c, in STZ-treated rat cardiomyocytes, however, this effect was absent in control rat cardiomyocytes. These changes were observed at $t = 5 \min$ and were absent after 1-3 h of incubation with 1 µM Dapa (Hamouda et al., 2014). These data suggest that Dapa may confer acute negative inotropic effects in the diabetic cardiomyocyte. In support of this, Empa (0.25–1 μ M) reduced [Na⁺]_c, diastolic and systolic [Ca²⁺]_c, and impaired the NHE-1 activity in healthy rabbit cardiomyocytes (Baartscheer et al., 2017). In that study, Empa also increased $[Ca^{2+}]_m$ in rat cardiomyocytes. This finding may reflect improved mitochondrial capacity to synthesize ATP and target oxidants, which would be beneficial to restore the energetic state of myocytes that is known to be decreased in heart failure. The lowering of [Na⁺]_c by Empa was observed at 5 mM and 11 mM glucose incubations and inhibition of NHE-1 occurred in the presence and absence of extracellular glucose, supporting the notion that glucose and SGLT's were not involved in these direct Empa effects. In addition, we recently showed that Dapa (1 μ M) and Cana (3 μ M) also reduced [Na⁺]_c and impaired NHE-1 activity in mouse cardiomyocytes (Uthman et al., 2018a). Further prove for SGLT2i interaction with NHE-1 was obtained by molecular binding studies, showing SGLT2i to exhibit high binding affinities with the extracellular Na⁺-binding site of the NHE (Uthman et al., 2018a). These data indicate that the SGLT2i exert an off-target effect on the NHE-1.

Mitochondrial Function

Empa increased cell viability and preserved ATP levels following hypoxia/reoxygenation in cultured H9C2 embryonic heartderived cells (Andreadou et al., 2017). These effects were equally present in myocytes stimulated by AGE, and Empa did not change the expression level of RAGE (receptor for AGE), suggesting that these pro-survival mechanisms of Empa were not mediated through AGE/RAGE signaling. In mitochondria derived from cardiac muscle fibers obtained from isolated IR rat hearts, Empa increased complex II respiration, and permeabilized and uncoupled the inner mitochondrial membrane (Jespersen et al., 2017). The authors discuss that these mitochondrial changes may improve remodeling following IR conditions.

Expression of SGLT's

Although the SGLT2 has not been detected in cardiomyocytes and the heart, SGLT1 appears to be highly expressed in human, rat and mouse hearts and cardiomyocytes, and may even be upregulated in ischemic, hypertrophic, failing and diabetic hearts (Banerjee et al., 2009; Kashiwagi et al., 2015; Lambert et al., 2015; Vrhovac et al., 2015; Di Franco et al., 2017; Van Steenbergen et al., 2017). Currently, the relationship between SGLT2i and SGLT1 in failing and diabetic hearts has not been investigated.

Overall, SGLT2i directly affect cardiomyocytes by reducing $[Na^+]_c$ and $[Ca^{2+}]_c$, by inhibition of NHE-1, and by increasing mitochondrial function and cell viability (**Figure 2**). The exact membrane receptors/transporters mediating these effects in cardiomyocytes have not yet been identified, with the exemption of NHE-1 and LTCC.

SGLT2 INHIBITORS IN VASCULAR CELLS

Vascular function may be directly affected by SGLT2i through the changing of endothelial or vascular smooth muscle cell (SMC) function. Various reports have investigated SGLT2i effects on AMPK activity, mitochondrial function, vasodilation and on the expression of adhesion molecules in hyperglycemic and inflamed vascular cells (**Figure 3**).

AMPK Activity

Cell studies with SGLT2i in various disease models have generally shown that SGLT2i improve vascular function and/or reduce markers of atherogenesis, by directly acting on vascular cells. Increased AMPK activity was observed in intact HUVEC and HAEC, after 15–30 min treatment with Cana (\geq 10 µM) but not with Empa or Dapa (Mancini et al., 2018). Similarly, phosphorylation of ACC as an indicator of AMPK activation was increased acutely with 10 µM Cana in cultured human aortic vascular SMC (Mancini et al., 2018).

Cell Viability and Mitochondrial Function

In HUVEC subjected to hypoxia/reoxygenation, Empa increased cell viability and preserved ATP levels in the presence and absence of AGE (Andreadou et al., 2017). In healthy cells, viability remained unaltered with 24 h Empa or Dapa treatment, but was modestly reduced with Cana treatment, which is suggested to be caused by reduced glucose uptake causing compromised ATP synthesis (Mancini et al., 2018). Empa (1 μ M) did prevent mitochondrial dysfunction in hyperglycemic mouse aortic rings, i.e., increased oxygen consumption rates and reduced proton leakage (El-daly et al., 2018). It is uncertain, however, whether Empa would affect the vasculature at physiologically more relevant hyperglycemic glucose concentrations (<20 mM). Together, these data suggest that SGLT2i directly improve cell viability under conditions of high glucose, and that this may be due to mitochondrial alterations.

Vasodilation

The effects of Dapa on endothelial cell- and SMC- dependent vascular tone in various models have been studied. Acute Dapa



administration (1 nM-100 µM) increased vasorelaxation in an endothelial cell-independent manner in healthy mouse aortic rings, while in a hyperglycemic setting (44 mM glucose) 1 h pre-incubation with 1 µM Dapa restored relaxation without influencing SMC vasoreactivity (Gaspari et al., 2017). Acute treatment with high dose Cana (10 µM) caused vascular relaxation in pulmonary, but not coronary artery rings from single STZ-injected mice (Han et al., 2015), indicating vascular bed specific effects of SGLT2i. Pre-treatment with 0.5-1 µM Empa, 50 nM Dapa or 50 nM Cana for 24 h resulted in a stronger vasorelaxation response in hyperglycemic (25 mM glucose) mice aortic rings following application of acetylcholine or a proteinaseactivated receptors 2 agonist (El-daly et al., 2018). Likewise, exposure of 1 µM Empa for 3 days promoted eNOS activity (nitrite formation) in hyperglycemic HUVEC, yet cell density was not restored at this physiologically relevant Empa dosage (Steven et al., 2017), suggesting that the functional improvement by Empa did not directly correlate to increased cell viability.

Cell Adhesion

In IL-1 β -stimulated HUVEC and HAEC, 10 μ M Cana attenuated secretion of MCP-1 and IL-6, which was at least partly associated with increased AMPK activity (Mancini et al., 2018). Dapa treatment (1–1000 nM) resulted in lower ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 protein levels and NF κ B mRNA expression in HUVEC subjected to TNF- α or to a hyperglycemic insult. However, low dose Dapa (\leq 10 nM), but not 100 nM and 1 μ M Dapa, seemed to reduce the inflammatory responses from hyperglycemia or TNF- α (Gaspari et al., 2017). Knowing that the maximal plasma concentrations of Dapa healthy volunteers taking 10 mg Dapa fluctuates between \sim 6–300 nM (Kasichayanula et al., 2011), it raises the possibility

of Dapa having anti-inflammatory actions in the T2D and/or heart failure patient. Contrary to Dapa application, Mancini et al. (2018) reported that adhesion molecule expression, JNK and NF κ B signaling of LPS-stimulated HAEC were not altered after Cana administration (Mancini et al., 2018), although adhesion to pro-monocytic cells was reduced. Our own results indicated that SGLT2i pre-incubation does not prevent ICAM and VCAM expression and the increase in permeability in TNF- α stimulated HUVEC and human coronary artery endothelial cells [HCAEC, (Uthman et al., 2018b)].

Expression of SGLT's

As several studies reported absence of SGLT2 expression in the heart (Han et al., 2015; Vrhovac et al., 2015; Di Franco et al., 2017; Van Steenbergen et al., 2017), SGLT2 may be excluded as a possible explanation for the direct vascular effects of SGLT2i. However, others have proposed that the SGLT2 mRNA is ubiquitously expressed in most human tissue (Zhou et al., 2003) and that the SGLT2 protein is also present in endothelial cells (El-daly et al., 2018; Li et al., 2018). In HUVEC, both SGLT1 and SGLT2 expressions were demonstrated at the protein and mRNA level and their quantities were elevated in the presence of PA, which also resulted in reduced Akt, IRS-1 and eNOS phosphorylation and nitric oxide concentration (Li et al., 2018). PA-induced endothelial dysfunction was partially restored with administration of the classic SGLT inhibitor phlorizin, and knockdown of SGLT1 or SGLT2. Additionally, Empa reduced glucose uptake in cultured endothelial cells similar to SGLT1/2 inhibitor sotagliflozin, measured by reduced glucose analog 2-NBDG uptake (El-daly et al., 2018). So far, no direct target of SGLT2i on endothelial cells has been identified, although the



presence of SGLT1 and SGLT2 in endothelial cells might be connected to the direct vascular effects summarized above.

SGLT2 INHIBITORS IN CARDIAC FIBROBLASTS

Cardiac fibroblasts are valuable targets for the rapeutic applications due to their role in cardiac remodeling after MI. Ye et al. (2017) studied SGLT2i effects in mouse cardiac fibroblasts stimulated with LPS. Pre-incubation with Dapa (0.3–0.5 μ M) showed attenuation of LPS-induced up regulation of NLRP3, ASC, IL-1 β and caspase-1 mRNA levels (Ye et al., 2017). Administration of phlorizin (100 μ M) did not exhibit similar reponses as Dapa and this indicates that SGLT-independent mechanisms were affected by Dapa. Effects of Dapa on NLRP3, TNF- α and caspase-1 were similar to A769662, an AMPK activator, while co-administration of Dapa with Compound C, an AMPK inhibitor, abrograted the anti-inflammatory effects, including phosphorylation of AMPK α at Thr172. Thus, Dapa induces anti-inflammatory responses in myofibroblasts, mediated through increased AMPK activation without the involvement of SGLT (**Figure 4**).

SGLT2 INHIBITORS IN ISOLATED HEARTS

Data retrieved from isolated heart studies indicate that SGLT2i have direct cardiac effects at organ level, i.e., acute vasodilation, delayed ischemic contracture onset and increased post-ischemic P-STAT3 expression. The degree of IR injury and vasodilation, however, relies upon the concentration administered as well as the type of SGLT2i.



Vasodilation

Several studies have addressed the effects of SGLT2i in the isolated perfused heart. Acute coronary vasodilation occurs in intact mouse hearts following Empa (1 μM) or Cana (3 μM), but not after Dapa (1 μM) (Uthman et al., 2018a). These findings may reflect the differences in drug efficacy since Dapa did show a trend toward vasodilation, which may suggest that a higher concentration of Dapa could induce vasodilation in the healthy heart.

Ischemia-Reperfusion

Empa ($4.75 \,\mu$ M) administration prior to ischemia did not change infarct size after 40 min ischemia and 30 min reperfusion in the isolated rat heart (Jespersen et al., 2017). However, during a 25 min ischemia and 2 h reperfusion protocol in isolated mouse hearts, Empa (1–10 μ M) delayed ischemic contracture development similar to the effects of a classic NHE-1 inhibitor Cariporide. Reperfusion injury remained unaltered or even worsened for the Empa-treated hearts under these conditions (Uthman et al., 2018c). These effects may indicate an ATPsparing effect of SGLT2i that is caused by inhibition of NHE-1 during ischemia, although NHE-1 inhibition during reperfusion may differ between Empa and Cariporide. Furthermore, the detrimental outcomes of high-dosage Empa (higher than the maximal concentration observed in clinical trials), may possibly refer to potential cell toxic effects of this drug used at a higher concentration during IR injury. Furthermore, Empa did not change mitochondrial calcium retention capacity in mitochondria isolated from mouse hearts (Andreadou et al., 2017). This suggests that Empa does not directly affect the mitochondrial permeability transition pore, which is in line with findings reflecting that Empa does not protect the isolated heart against IR injury (Jespersen et al., 2017; Uthman et al., 2018c).

Fibrosis

Perfusion with a high dose of Dapa (10 μ M) for 60 min increased STAT3 phosphorylation in the remote area of post-ischemic rat hearts (Lee et al., 2017). Increased p-STAT3 levels were associated with higher IL-10 levels in Dapa treated hearts, which is suggested to facilitate the conversion of macrophages from an inflammatory M1 to anti-inflammatory M2 phenotype and therefore inhibit myofibroblast differentiation and extracellular matrix formation.

DISCUSSION

This review provides an overview of the direct effects of SGLT2i in the heart and in the most prominent cell types present in the heart, including cardiomyocytes, endothelial cells, vascular SMC and cardiofibroblasts. Figures 2–4 graphically summarize the described effects of SGLT2i in these cardiac cell types. They show that SGLT2i positively affect the Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ homeostasis, inhibit NHE-1 activity, improve mitochondrial

respiration, and increase post-hypoxic ATP levels and cell viability in cardiomyocytes. In vascular cells, SGLT2i can directly improve vasorelaxation, increase AMPK activity, eNOS phosphorylation and, although inconsistently, adhesion molecule expression in hyperglycemic and/or inflamed conditions. In LPStreated cardiofibroblasts, SGLT2i exert anti-inflammatory actions similar to AMPK activation pathways. Finally, in isolated hearts SGLT2i improved vasodilation, delayed ischemic contracture and increased post-ischemic STAT3 phosphorylation. These preclinical cell/organ studies clearly show that there are direct cardiac effects of SGLT2i, offering several off-target, cardioprotective mechanisms that may contribute to the beneficial effects observed in the clinical trials.

Ionic Homeostasis in Diabetes and Heart Failure

A growing number of pre-clinical studies have demonstrated beneficial cardiovascular effects of SGLT2i independent of their systemic glucose-lowering actions (Andreadou et al., 2017; Baartscheer et al., 2017; Byrne et al., 2017; Ye et al., 2017; Uthman et al., 2018a). In light of these results, the direct lowering of $[Na^+]_c$ by SGLT2i may constitute part of the beneficial effects of SGLT2i through attenuation of inflammation, endothelial dysfunction, oxidative stress and cardiac remodeling.

To reduce the global cardiovascular risk, the World Health Organization advises to lower daily salt intake within the population to <5 g (WHO, 2012). High salt (i.e., Na⁺) intake evidently predicts the development of heart failure and diabetes (He and MacGregor, 2018) as well as an increased incidence of T2D in individuals with high caloric intake (Lanaspa et al., 2018). Na⁺ loading contributes to elevated oxidative stress and activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome (inflammation), consequently leading to the development of diabetes in humans (Wan et al., 2018). In endothelial cells, a mild increase of extracellular Na⁺ led to elevated levels of adhesion molecules and the transmigration of peripheral blood mononuclear cells (Dmitrieva and Burg, 2015). An exact molecular mechanism of Na⁺ loading that causes inflammation has not been experimentally determined, although it has been reported that the efflux of K^+ via the Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase is a necessary step that triggers NLRP3 activation (Muñoz-Planillo et al., 2013). Increased Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase through elevated extracellular Na⁺ may therefore cause K⁺ efflux and activate NLRP3. Notably, increased extracellular Na⁺ also led to activation of NLRP3 independent of K⁺ efflux (Muñoz-Planillo et al., 2013). Taken together, extracellular Na⁺ is an important determinant of inflammation and may therefore be relevant in targeting cardiovascular disorders.

A modest increase in extracellular glucose (from 5.5 to 11 mM) acutely elevated $[Na^+]_c$ in isolated cardiomyocytes (Baartscheer et al., 2017). Chronic hyperglycemia, as occurring in T2D and heart failure, may thus at least partly be accountable for the increase in cardiac $[Na^+]_c$. Increased $[Na^+]_c$ at a steady extracellular glucose concentration was recently observed in T2D rat cardiomyocytes, which could be ascribed to elevated Na^+ -glucose cotransport through increased expression of SGLT1

(Lambert et al., 2015). Cardiac SGLT1 expression is increased in conditions of T2D and heart failure, in both animal and man (Banerjee et al., 2009; Lambert et al., 2015; Di Franco et al., 2017). Thus, $[Na^+]_c$ in cardiomyocytes can be increased due to increased extracellular glucose levels as well as increased SGLT1 expression.

Elevation of $[Na^+]_c$ results in a secondary rise of $[Ca^{2+}]_c$ via the Na⁺/Ca²⁺-exchanger (NCX) (Baartscheer et al., 2003a). Studies support the contention that increases in $[Na^+]_c$ and $[Ca^{2+}]_c$ induce signaling cascades that lead to dysregulation of mitochondrial homeostasis, including impaired energetics and elevated ROS production, and as such reduced cardiac hypertrophy and remodeling [reviewed in detail elsewhere: (Bay et al., 2013)].

The reduction in $[Ca^{2+}]_c$ by SGLT2i appears to be directly correlated to the lowering of [Na⁺]_c. The [Na⁺]_c lowering effects of SGLT2i can be explained by inhibition of NHE-1. Cardiomyocytes express high amounts of NHE-1 (Yokoyama et al., 2000), which is also of paramount importance for pH regulation during pathological conditions, including diabetes, IR injury and heart failure (ten Hove et al., 2003; Packer, 2017). Preclinical studies have shown that pharmacological interventions targeting sarcolemmal sodium ion transporters proved effective in ameliorating heart failure (Kusumoto et al., 2001; Engelhardt, 2002; Baartscheer et al., 2003b, 2005, 2008; Baartscheer and Van Borren, 2008). However, these promising preclinical studies in the setting of HF on the use of NHE-1 inhibition never translated into clinical testing for HF, because of negative results obtained with the use of these inhibitors in the setting of acute cardiac ischemia. Clinical trials on the short-term use (<7 days) of NHE-1 inhibitors in the setting of acute MI in CABG and PTCA patients showed a reduction in the incident of non-fatal MI without an overall benefit on cardiovascular mortality. These clinical studies were halted due to the occurrence of an increased incidence in cerebrovascular events in these acute cardiovascular conditions following treatment with the NHE-1 inhibitors [Control vs. NHE inhibitor; EXPEDITION 3.0% vs. 5.2% (p < 0.001); GUARDIAN-trial 1.0% vs. 1.5%; ESCAMI-trial 0.2 vs. 2.2% (not significant)] (Théroux et al., 2000; Zeymer et al., 2001; Mentzer et al., 2008). In addition, the optimal dosage, timing and duration of the intervention and the patient populations that could most likely benefit from NHE-1 inhibitors were insufficiently investigated by phase 2 clinical trials, which may explain the divergence between the highly promising preclinical results of NHE-1 inhibitors and the ambiguity hereof in the known clinical trials. Furthermore, it is known that mild acidosis, but not severe acidosis, may be protective against ischemia in neuronal tissue (Vornov et al., 1996). Most importantly, to date no clinical trial has investigated the effects of using NHE-1 inhibitors as chronic therapy for the treatment of heart failure. Possibly, the risk of stroke may be less pronounced or even absent if NHE-1 inhibitors are used chronically, not immediately halted, used at milder dosages and in combination with platelet inhibitors. Therefore, the clinical efficacy of inhibiting NHE-1 and lowering [Na⁺]_c in different chronic cardiac disorders remains to be tested.

Previous experiments with Empa have shown that NHE-1 inhibition also occurred in glucose-free conditions, thus eliminating SGLT's as mediators for the lowering of $[Na^+]_c$ (Baartscheer et al., 2017). Whether SGLT2i also inhibit NHE-1 activity in diabetic cardiomyocytes has not yet been investigated, although increased activity of NHE-1, accompanied by higher $[Ca^{2+}]_c$ and hypertrophy has been observed in the diabetic myocardium (Darmellah et al., 2007). Others have reported elevated NHE-1 expression in glucose-induced hypertrophy in isolated rat cardiomyocytes, which may be prevented by treatment with Cariporide (Chen et al., 2007).

In diabetic and failing hearts, the cellular energetics (PCr/ATP) are impaired (Beer et al., 2002; Levelt et al., 2016). ATP generation is directly linked to $[Ca^{2+}]_m$ as it determines the regulation of dehydrogenases, generation of reducing equivalents for oxidative phosphorylation, ΔG_{ATP} and the inner mitochondrial membrane potential (Glancy and Balaban, 2012). It has been demonstrated that $[Ca^{2+}]_m$ is reduced when [Na⁺]_c is elevated from 5 to 15 mM as the exchange of $[Ca^{2+}]_m$ and $[Na^+]_c$ through the mitochondrial NCX is raised (Liu and Rourke, 2008). Conversely, Empa led to elevated [Ca²⁺]_m in myocytes (Baartscheer et al., 2017), probably because of reduced exchange of $[Na^+]_c$ for $[Ca^{2+}]_m$ due to lower $[Na^+]_c$. The increased $[Ca^{2+}]_m$ is likely to increase cardiac energetics resulting in an increased PCr/ATP ratio (Bertero and Maack, 2018). Although in healthy hearts SGLT2i were without effect on PCr/ATP levels (Uthman et al., 2018a), it cannot be excluded that SGLT2i will increase PCr/ATP levels in diabetic and failing myocytes, especially since it is already observed that ATP levels are preserved in cultured cardiomyocytes subjected to hypoxia/reoxygenation (Andreadou et al., 2017).

AMPK Activation to Improve Energetics and Prevent Inflammation

5' AMPK is a regulator of cardiac energy metabolism. Given that myocardial energetic status is severely compromised in failing (Neubauer, 2007; Ingwall, 2009) and diabetic (Levelt et al., 2016) hearts, AMPK activation could enhance cardiac energy metabolism and hence restore myocardial energy levels (Beauloye et al., 2011). Furthermore, activation of AMPK reduced inflammation and oxidative stress levels in PAstimulated endothelial cells (Li et al., 2015). Cana in endothelial cells and Dapa in myofibroblasts activated AMPK, resulting in reduced inflammatory responses in these cells (Ye et al., 2017; Mancini et al., 2018). A possible mechanism by which SGLT2i change AMPK activity is through complex I inhibition and increased AMP/ADP ratio, which was examined in mouse hepatocytes (Hawley et al., 2016). However, this effect was only observed with high doses of Cana, and not with Empa or Dapa. One may also postulate that the inhibition of glucose uptake by SGLT2 inhibition may activate AMPK as a compensatory feedback mechanism to restore cell metabolism. Limited data are available as of yet that explains how SGLT2i could activate AMPK. Further research with, e.g., knock-down models of SGLT2 could elaborate on the cellular mechanism of SGLT2i to directly activate AMPK.

Whether the SGLT2i convey through similar AMPK activation pathways in cardiac cells needs further investigation. Based on the existing research, lower dosages of Dapa ($\leq 0.5~\mu M$) seemed to be most effective for AMPK activation and the suppression of inflammation, while higher Cana concentrations activated AMPK and reduced inflammatory responses in AMPK-dependent and -independent manners. These results imply that the different SGLT2i activate AMPK at different concentrations.

Inflammation and Oxidative Stress

Inflammation is considered an essential driving factor of cardiovascular disease in diabetes, whereas elevated levels of extracellular glucose alone is insufficient to induce a pro-atherogenic state (Sharma et al., 2018). Instead, the combination of glucotoxic and inflammatory stimuli are needed to establish an environment prone to developing atherosclerosis (Azcutia et al., 2010). Current understandings of the pathophysiology of heart failure, in particular with preserved ejection fraction (HFpEF) postulate that the presence of comorbidities cause microvascular inflammation that ultimately leads to the development of heart failure (Paulus and Tschöpe, 2013). Importantly, vascular inflammation can be induced by reduced AMPK activity (He et al., 2015) as well as high Na⁺ loading, the latter resulting in elevation of fasting blood glucose levels, oxidative stress and insulin resistance (Wan et al., 2018). Endothelial inflammation then leads to perturbed NO-cGMP-PKG signaling and increased leukocyte trafficking, which subsequently induces cardiomyocyte hypertrophy and myofibroblast differentiation, and as such cardiac remodeling. Since SGLT2i have demonstrated direct anti-inflammatory actions in vascular cells, targeting this new paradigm may potentially and at least partly explain the positive results observed in the clinical trials and may identify novel therapeutic implications for SGLT2i.

A Window for SGLT2i as Anti-arrhythmic Therapy

In heart failure, cardiac arrhythmias primarily depend on triggered activity (Coronel et al., 2013). Elevated levels of diastolic [Ca²⁺]_c increase the open probability of the Ryanodine receptor resulting in spontaneous release of calcium from the SR. This in turn activates the NCX, leading to the transient inward current responsible for delayed after depolarizations (Baartscheer et al., 2003c). In addition, it has been shown that the number of after-transients measured in isolated myocytes is related to the occurrence of ventricular tachycardia in vivo (Janse et al., 2001). No data are available on the effects of SGLT2i on arrhythmogenesis. However, under pathologic conditions where myocardial [Na⁺]_c is increased, such as in heart failure, a reduction of $[Na^+]_c$ is associated with a reduction of $[Ca^{2+}]_c$, the number and amplitude of Ca2+ after-transients and the associated arrhythmias (Despa et al., 2002; Pogwizd et al., 2003; Bers, 2014). In the same vein of thought, we speculate that the inhibitory effect of SGLT2i on Na⁺ influx during heart failure is antiarrhythmic.

Erickson et al. (2013) have documented that $Ca^{2+}/calmodulin$ dependent kinase II (CaMKII) is elevated in diabetes and that it is associated with increased Ca^{2+} -release events from the SR. Thus, diabetes directly impacts arrhythmogenesis. Recent work by Mustroph et al. (2018) has demonstrated that Empa reduced CAMKII activity and CaMKII-dependent SR Ca^{2+} leak. Thus, Empa is likely to directly reduce Ca^{2+} -release and arrhythmias. In addition, indirect effects of SGLT2i on arrhythmogenesis can be mediated through attenuation of the cardiac remodeling and hypertrophic phase known to occur in diabetes (Byrne et al., 2017).

The Presence of SGLT2 in Endothelial Cells?

Given that several studies have reported that SGLT2i directly reduced glucose uptake in endothelial cells, it may be possible that this occurred as a result of SGLT2 inhibition. Conflicting results regarding the expression of SGLT2 in the coronary vasculature have been reported. While SGLT2 has not been detected at all in the heart (Van Steenbergen et al., 2017), increasing evidence demonstrate the existence of SGLT2 in non-cardiac endothelial cells (El-daly et al., 2018; Li et al., 2018). Existing data that suggested the absence of SGLT2 in the endothelium had only attempted to detect SGLT2 at mRNA levels. However, more recent studies have postulated the presence of SGLT2 in endothelial cells at protein level and that its expression levels are amendable by exposure to SGLT2-specific siRNA or PA (El-daly et al., 2018; Li et al., 2018), providing further support for a novel mechanism of SGLT2 and its inhibitors in vascular cells. A major limitation for the identification of SGLT2 at protein level is the lack of knowledge on the quality and specificity of the antibodies used. Therefore, further development of these techniques are highly warranted. Whether diabetic or failing conditions may evoke SGLT2 expression in cardiac endothelial cells has so far not been investigated.

SMIT-1 as Potential Target for SGLT2i

Another possible target for SGLT2i is the sodium-myoinositol cotransporter 1 (SMIT-1), a member of the SGLT receptor family. Overexpression of SMIT-1 leads to activation of NOX2, ROS production and increased glucose sensitivity in cardiomyocytes, and its deletion triggered opposite effects (Van Steenbergen et al., 2017). The effects of increased SMIT-1 expression were not associated with increased glucose uptake with higher extracellular glucose concentration, and the authors suggest that SMIT-1 effects relate to extended glucose sensitization that could alter downward signaling events related to [Na⁺]_c and [Ca²⁺]_c. Considering the [Na⁺]_c lowering effect of SGLT2i, SGLT2i targeting SMIT-1 during hyperglycemic condition to attenuate hyperglycemia-induced damage might be assumed. However, Baartscheer et al. (2017) showed Na⁺-lowering with Empa, even in the absence of glucose. Furthermore, the IC50 of Empa and Cana for SMIT-1 were estimated at 8.3 μ M and 5.6 μ M, respectively, which is far off the

 C_{max} for Empa (0.6 μ M) (Suzuki et al., 2012; Scheen, 2014).

Future Directions

Our current understanding is that cardiac [Na⁺]_c is raised in conditions of heart failure and diabetes, while SGLT2i cause the reduction of [Na⁺]_c, through inhibition of NHE-1. Studies considering the impact of SGLT2i on NHE-1 activity, [Na⁺]_c, $[Ca^{2+}]_{c}$, $[Ca^{2+}]_{m}$ and mitochondrial energetics in diabetic and failing cardiomyocytes are warranted. Furthermore, whether the reduction of inflammation observed with SGLT2i is a direct consequence of Na⁺ lowering is as of yet unknown. It remains uncertain whether the SGLT2 is expressed in cardiac endothelial cells and, if so, is involved in the cardiac effects of SGLT2i. Likewise, since SGLT1 expression in cardiomyocytes is increased in diabetic, heart failure and hypertrophic conditions, the effect of SGLT2i on SGLT1 under these circumstances should be investigated. The identification of SGLT2 in the endothelium with existing techniques requires accurate validation. Moreover, SMIT-1 might be a valuable target to study in the field of heart failure and SGLT2i.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, increased intracellular sodium concentration is an early hallmark and driver in the pathogenesis of heart failure and T2D. Besides other mechanisms, SGLT2i lower $[Na^+]_c$ in cardiomyocytes, activate AMPK in endothelial cells and cardiofibroblasts, and inhibit cellular glucose uptake in endothelial cells, to favorably interfere with $[Ca^{2+}]_c$ homeostasis, improve mitochondrial function, reduce inflammation and ROS production and restore nitric oxide formation. These effects may explain the beneficial effects of SGLT2i to prevent heart failure and other related cardiac complications in the diabetic as well as the non-diabetic heart.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LU conducted the literature review, drafted the article, provided critical revision of the article, and final approval of the version to be published. AB, CS, JF, MK, MH, RC, and NW provided critical revision of the article and final approval of the version to be published. CZ drafted the article, provided critical revision of the article, and final approval of the version to be published.

FUNDING

RC received funding from Leducq Transatlantic Network of Excellence, RHYTHM, 16CVD02.

REFERENCES

Andreadou, I., Efentakis, P., Balafas, E., Togliatto, G., Davos, C. H., Varela, A., et al. (2017). Empagliflozin limits myocardial infarction in vivo and cell death in vitro: role of STAT3, mitochondria, and redox aspects. *Front. Physiol.* 8:1077. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2017.01077

- Azcutia, V., Abu-Taha, M., Romacho, T., Vázquez-Bella, M., Matesanz, N., Luscinskas, F. W., et al. (2010). Inflammation determines the pro-adhesive properties of high extracellular D-glucose in human endothelial cells in vitro and rat microvessels in vivo. *PLoS One* 5:e10091. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0010091
- Baartscheer, A., Hardziyenka, M., Schumacher, C. A., Belterman, C. N. W., Van Borren, M. M., Verkerk, A. O., et al. (2008). Chronic inhibition of the Na⁺/H⁺-exchanger causes regression of hypertrophy, heart failure, and ionic and electrophysiological remodelling. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 154, 1266–1275. doi: 10.1038/bjp.2008.189
- Baartscheer, A., Schumacher, C. A., Belterman, C. N. W., Coronel, R., and Fiolet, J. W. T. (2003a). [Na⁺]I and the driving force of the Na⁺/Ca₂⁺-exchanger in heart. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 57, 986–995. doi: 10.1016/S0008-6363(02)00 848-9
- Baartscheer, A., Schumacher, C. A., Van Belterman, M. M., Borren, C. N., Coronel, R., and Fiolet, J. W. (2003b). Increased Na⁺/H⁺-exchange activity is the cause of increased [Na⁺]I and underlies disturbed calcium handling in the rabbit pressure and volume overload heart failure model. *Heart Fail.* 57, 1015–1024. doi: 10.1016/S0008-6363(02)00809-X
- Baartscheer, A., Schumacher, C. A., Belterman, C. N. W., Coronel, R., and Fiolet, J. W. T. (2003c). S R calcium handling and calcium after-transients in a rabbit model of heart failure. *Heart Fail.* 58, 99–108. doi: 10.1016/S0008-6363(02) 00854-4
- Baartscheer, A., Schumacher, C. A., Van Borren, M. M. G., Belterman, C. N. W., Coronel, R., Opthof, T., et al. (2005). Chronic inhibition of Na⁺/H⁺-exchanger attenuates cardiac hypertrophy and prevents cellular remodeling in heart failure. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 65, 83–92. doi: 10.1016/j.cardiores.2004.09.024
- Baartscheer, A., Schumacher, C. A., Wüst, R. C. I., Fiolet, J. W. T., Stienen, G. J. M., Coronel, R., et al. (2017). Empagliflozin decreases myocardial cytoplasmic Na⁺ through inhibition of the cardiac Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger in rats and rabbits. *Diabetologia* 60, 568–573. doi: 10.1007/s00125-016-4134-x
- Baartscheer, A., and Van Borren, M. M. (2008). Sodium ion transporters as new therapeutic targets in heart failure. *Cardiovasc. Hematol. Agents Med. Chem.* 6, 229–236. doi: 10.2174/187152508785909546
- Banerjee, S. K., McGaffin, K. R., Pastor-Soler, N. M., and Ahmad, F. (2009). SGLT1 is a novel cardiac glucose transporter that is perturbed in disease states. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 84, 111–118. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvp190
- Bay, J., Kohlhaas, M., and Maack, C. (2013). Intracellular Na⁺ and cardiac metabolism. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 61, 20–27. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2013.05.010
- Beauloye, C., Bertrand, L., Horman, S., and Hue, L. (2011). AMPK activation, a preventive therapeutic target in the transition from cardiac injury to heart failure. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 90, 224–233. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvr034
- Beer, M., Seyfarth, T., Sandstede, J., Landschütz, W., Lipke, C., Köstler, H., et al. (2002). Absolute concentrations of high-energy phosphate metabolites in normal, hypertrophied, and failing human myocardium measured noninvasively with 31P-SLOOP magnetic resonance spectroscopy. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 40, 1267–1274. doi: 10.1016/S0735-1097(02)02160-5
- Bers, D. M. (2014). Cardiac sarcoplasmic reticulum calcium leak: basis and roles in cardiac dysfunction. Annu. Rev. Physiol. 76, 107–127. doi: 10.1146/annurevphysiol-020911-153308
- Bertero, E., and Maack, C. (2018). Calcium signaling and reactive oxygen species in Mitochondria. *Circ. Res.* 122, 1460–1478. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.118. 310082
- Boudina, S., Sena, S., Theobald, H., Sheng, X., Wright, J. J., Hu, X. X., et al. (2007). Mitochondrial energetics in the heart in obesity-related. *Diabetes* 56, 2457–2466. doi: 10.2337/db07-0481.Additional
- Bugger, H., and Abel, E. D. (2014). Molecular mechanisms of diabetic cardiomyopathy. *Diabetologia* 57, 660–671. doi: 10.1007/s00125-014-3171-6
- Byrne, N. J., Parajuli, N., Levasseur, J. L., Boisvenue, J., Beker, D. L., Masson, G., et al. (2017). Empagliflozin prevents worsening of cardiac function in an

experimental model of pressure overload-induced heart failure. JACC Basic Transl. Sci. 2, 347–354. doi: 10.1016/j.jacbts.2017.07.003

- Cassidy, S., Hallsworth, K., Thoma, C., MacGowan, G. A., Hollingsworth, K. G., Day, C. P., et al. (2015). Cardiac structure and function are altered in type 2 diabetes and Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease and associate with glycemic control. *Cardiovasc. Diabetol.* 14:23. doi: 10.1186/s12933-015-0187-2
- Cavender, M. A., Steg, P. G., Smith, S. C., Eagle, K., Ohman, E. M., Goto, S., et al. (2015). Impact of diabetes mellitus on hospitalization for heart failure, cardiovascular events, and death: outcomes at 4 years from the reduction of atherothrombosis for continued health (REACH) registry. *Circulation* 132, 923–931. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.114.014796
- Chen, S., Khan, Z. A., Karmazyn, M., and Chakrabarti, S. (2007). Role of endothelin-1, sodium hydrogen exchanger-1 and mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK) activation in glucose-induced cardiomyocyte hypertrophy. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 23, 356–367. doi: 10.1002/dmrr.689
- Cordero, M. D., Williams, M. R., and Ryffel, B. (2018). AMP-activated protein kinase regulation of the NLRP3 inflammasome during aging. *Trends Endocrinol. Metab.* 29, 8–17. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2017.10.009
- Coronel, R., Wilders, R., Verkerk, A. O., Wiegerinck, R. F., Benoist, D., and Bernus, O. (2013). Electrophysiological changes in heart failure and their implications for arrhythmogenesis. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1832, 2432–2441. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2013.04.002
- Cubbon, R. M., Adams, B., Rajwani, A., Mercer, B. N., Patel, P. A., Gherardi, G., et al. (2013). Diabetes mellitus is associated with adverse prognosis in chronic heart failure of ischaemic and non-ischaemic aetiology. *Diabetes Vasc. Dis. Res.* 10, 330–336. doi: 10.1177/1479164112471064
- Cui, G. M., Zhao, Y. X., Zhang, N. N., Liu, Z. S., Sun, W. C., and Peng, Q. S. (2013). Amiloride attenuates lipopolysaccharide-accelerated atherosclerosis via inhibition of NHE1-dependent endothelial cell apoptosis. *Acta Pharmacol. Sin.* 34, 231–238. doi: 10.1038/aps.2012.155
- Darmellah, A., Baetz, D., Prunier, F., Tamareille, S., Rücker-Martin, C., and Feuvray, D. (2007). Enhanced activity of the myocardial Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger contributes to left ventricular hypertrophy in the Goto-Kakizaki rat model of type 2 diabetes: critical role of Akt. *Diabetologia* 50, 1335–1344. doi: 10.1007/ s00125-007-0628-x
- Despa, S. (2018). Myocyte [Na⁺]I dysregulation in heart failure and diabetic cardiomyopathy. *Front. Physiol.* 9:1303. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01303
- Despa, S., Islam, M. A., Weber, C. R., Pogwizd, S. M., and Bers, D. M. (2002). Intracellular Na⁺ concentration is elevated in heart failure but Na/K pump function is unchanged. *Circulation* 105, 2543–2548. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR. 0000016701.85760.97
- Despa, S., Lingrel, J. B., and Bers, D. M. (2012). Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase 2-isoform preferentially modulates Ca₂⁺ transients and sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca₂⁺ release in cardiac myocytes. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 95, 480–486. doi: 10.1093/cvr/ cvs213
- Dey, S., DeMazumder, D., Sidor, A., Foster, D. B., and O'Rourke, B. (2018). Mitochondrial ROS drive sudden cardiac death and chronic proteome remodeling in heart failurenovelty and significance. *Circ. Res.* 123, 356–371. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.118.312708
- Di Franco, A., Cantini, G., Tani, A., Coppini, R., Zecchi-Orlandini, S., Raimondi, L., et al. (2017). Sodium-dependent glucose transporters (SGLT) in human ischemic heart: a new potential pharmacological target. *Int. J. Cardiol.* 243, 86–90. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2017.05.032
- Dmitrieva, N. I., and Burg, M. B. (2015). Elevated sodium and dehydration stimulate inflammatory signaling in endothelial cells and promote atherosclerosis. *PLoS One* 10:e0128870. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0128870
- El Messaoudi, S., Nederlof, R., Zuurbier, C. J., van Swieten, H. A., Pickkers, P., Noyez, L., et al. (2015). Effect of metformin pretreatment on myocardial injury during coronary artery bypass surgery in patients without diabetes (MetCAB): a double-blind, randomised controlled trial. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol.* 3, 615–623. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(15)00121-7
- El-daly, M., Krishna, V., Venu, P., Mihara, K., Kang, S., Fedak, P. W. M., et al. (2018). Hyperglycaemic impairment of PAR2-mediated vasodilation: prevention by inhibition of aortic endothelial sodium-glucose-co- Transporter-2 and minimizing oxidative stress. *Vascul. Pharmacol.* 109, 56–71. doi: 10.1016/ j.vph.2018.06.006

- Engelhardt, S. (2002). Inhibition of Na⁺-H⁺ exchange prevents hypertrophy, fibrosis, and heart failure in beta1-adrenergic receptor transgenic mice. *Circ. Res.* 90, 814–819. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.0000014966.97486.C0
- Erickson, J. R., Pereira, L., Wang, L., Han, G., Ferguson, A., Dao, K., et al. (2013). Diabetic hyperglycemia activates CaMKII and arrhythmias by O linked glycosylation. *Nature* 502, 372–376. doi: 10.1038/nature12537.Diabetic
- Feldstein, C. A. (2002). Salt intake and hypertension therapy. J. Hum. Hypertens. 16, 48–51. doi: 10.1038/sj/jhh/1001342
- Ferrannini, G., Hach, T., Crowe, S., Sanghvi, A., Hall, K. D., and Ferrannini, E. (2015). Energy balance after sodium-glucose cotransporter 2 inhibition. *Diabetes Care* 38, 1730–1735. doi: 10.2337/dc15-0355
- Foretz, M., Guigas, B., Berbrand, L., Pollak, M., and Viollet, B. (2014). Metformin: from mechanisms of action to therapies. *Cell Metab.* 20, 953–966. doi: 10.1016/ j.cmet.2014.09.018
- Frati, G., Schirone, L., Chimenti, I., Yee, D., Biondi-Zoccai, G., Volpe, M., et al. (2017). An overview of the inflammatory signalling mechanisms in themyocardiumunderlying the development of diabetic cardiomyopathy. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 113, 378–388. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvx011
- Garcia-Dorado, D., Ruiz-Meana, M., Inserte, J., Rodriguez-Sinovas, A., and Piper, H. M. (2012). Calcium-mediated cell death during myocardial reperfusion. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 94, 168–180. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvs116
- Gaspari, T., Spizzo, I., Liu, H., Hu, Y., Simpson, R. W., Widdop, R. E., et al. (2017). Dapagliflozin attenuates human vascular endothelial cell activation and induces vasorelaxation: a potential mechanism for inhibition of atherogenesis. *Diabetes Vasc. Dis. Res.* 15, 64–73. doi: 10.1177/1479164117733626
- Gélinas, R., Mailleux, F., Dontaine, J., Bultot, L., Demeulder, B., Ginion, A., et al. (2018). AMPK activation counteracts cardiac hypertrophy by reducing O-GlcNAcylation. *Nat. Commun.* 9:374. doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-02795-4
- Glancy, B., and Balaban, R. S. (2012). Role of mitochondrial Ca₂⁺ in the regulation of cellular energetics. *Biochemistry* 51, 2959–2973. doi: 10.1021/bi2018909
- Hamouda, N. N., Sydorenko, V., Qureshi, M. A., Alkaabi, J. M., Oz, M., and Howarth, F. C. (2014). Dapagliflozin reduces the amplitude of shortening and Ca₂⁺ transient in ventricular myocytes from streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. *Mol. Cell. Biochem.* 400, 57–68. doi: 10.1007/s11010-014-2262-5
- Han, Y., Cho, Y.-E., Ayon, R., Guo, R., Youssef, K. D., Pan, M., et al. (2015). SGLT inhibitors attenuate NO-dependent vascular relaxation in the pulmonary artery but not in the coronary artery. *Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell. Mol. Physiol.* 309, L1027–L1036. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00167.2015
- Hawley, S. A., Ford, R. J., Smith, B. K., Gowans, G. J., Mancini, S. J., Pitt, R. D., et al. (2016). The Na⁺/glucose cotransporter inhibitor canagliflozin activates AMPK by inhibiting mitochondrial function and increasing cellular AMP levels. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 65, 2784–2794. doi: 10.2337/db16-0058
- He, C., Li, H., Viollet, B., Zou, M. H., and Xie, Z. (2015). AMPK suppresses vascular inflammation in vivo by inhibiting signal transducer and activator of transcription-1. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 64, 4285–4297. doi: 10.2337/db15-0107
- He, F. J., and MacGregor, G. A. (2018). Role of salt intake in prevention of cardiovascular disease: controversies and challenges. *Nat. Rev. Cardiol.* 15, 371–377. doi: 10.1038/s41569-018-0004-1
- Ingwall, J. S. (2009). Energy metabolism in heart failure and remodelling. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 81, 412–419. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvn301
- Janse, M. J., Vermeulen, J. T., Opthof, T., Coronel, R., Wilms-Schopman, F. J., Rademaker, H. M. E., et al. (2001). Arrhythmogenesis in heart failure. *J. Cardiovasc. Electrophysiol.* 12, 496–499. doi: 10.1046/j.1540-8167.2001.00 496.x
- Jespersen, N. R., Lassen, T. R., Hjortbak, M. V., Stottrup, N. B., and Botker, H. E. (2017). Sodium glucose transporter 2 (SGLT2) inhibition does not protect the myocardium from acute ischemic reperfusion injury but modulates postischemic mitochondrial function. *Cardiovasc. Pharmacol. Open Access.* 6, 2–4. doi: 10.4172/2329-6607.1000210
- Jia, G., Hill, M. A., and Sowers, J. R. (2018). Diabetic cardiomyopathy: an update of mechanisms contributing to this clinical entity. *Circ. Res.* 122, 624–638. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117.311586
- Joshi, M., Kotha, S. R., Malireddy, S., Selvaraju, V., Satoskar, A. R., Palesty, A., et al. (2014). Conundrum of pathogenesis of diabetic cardiomyopathy: role of vascular endothelial dysfunction, reactive oxygen species, and mitochondria. *Mol. Cell. Biochem.* 386, 233–249. doi: 10.1007/s11010-013-1861-x

- Kannel, W. B., Hjortland, M., and Castelli, W. P. (1974). Role of diabetes in congestive heart failure: the Framingham study. Am. J. Cardiol. 34, 29–34. doi: 10.1016/0002-9149(74)90089-7
- Karmazyn, M. (2013). NHE-1: still a viable therapeutic target. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 61, 77–82. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2013.02.006
- Kashiwagi, Y., Nagoshi, T., Yoshino, T., Tanaka, T. D., Ito, K., Harada, T., et al. (2015). Expression of SGLT1 in human hearts and impairment of cardiac glucose uptake by phlorizin during ischemia-reperfusion injury in mice. *PLoS One* 10:e0130605. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0130605
- Kasichayanula, S., Liu, X., Zhang, W., Pfister, M., Reele, S. B., Aubry, A. F., et al. (2011). Effect of a high-fat meal on the pharmacokinetics of dapagliflozin, a selective SGLT2 inhibitor, in healthy subjects. *Diabetes Obes. Metab.* 13, 770–773. doi: 10.1111/j.1463-1326.2011.01397.x
- Kusumoto, K., Haist, J. V., and Karmazyn, M. (2001). Na⁺/H⁺ exchange inhibition reduces hypertrophy and heart failure after myocardial infarction in rats. *Am. J. Physiol. Hear. Circ. Physiol.* 280, H738–H745. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.2001.280.2. H738
- Lambert, R., Srodulskic, S., Peng, X., Margulies, K. B., Despa, F., and Despa, S. (2015). Intracellular Na⁺ concentration ([Na⁺]I) is elevated in diabetic hearts due to enhanced Na⁺-glucose cotransport. *J. Am. Heart Assoc.* 4, 1–11. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.115.002183
- Lanaspa, M. A., Kuwabara, M., Andres-Hernando, A., Li, N., Cicerchi, C., Jensen, T., et al. (2018). High salt intake causes leptin resistance and obesity in mice by stimulating endogenous fructose production and metabolism. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 115:201713837. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1713837115
- Lastra, G., Dhuper, S., Johnson, M. S., and Sowers, J. R. (2010). Salt, aldosterone, and insulin resistance: impact on the cardiovascular system. *Nat. Rev. Cardiol.* 7, 577–584. doi: 10.1038/nrcardio.2010.123
- Lee, T. M., Chang, N. C., and Lin, S. Z. (2017). Dapagliflozin, a selective SGLT2 Inhibitor, attenuated cardiac fibrosis by regulating the macrophage polarization via STAT3 signaling in infarcted rat hearts. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 104, 298–310. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2017.01.035
- Levelt, E., Rodgers, C. T., Clarke, W. T., Mahmod, M., Ariga, R., Francis, J. M., et al. (2016). Cardiac energetics, oxygenation, and perfusion during increased workload in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Eur. Heart J.* 37, 3461–3469. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehv442
- Li, C.-Y., Wang, L.-X., Dong, S.-S., Hong, Y., Zhou, X.-H., Zheng, W.-W., et al. (2018). Phlorizin exerts direct protective effects on palmitic acid (PA)-induced endothelial dysfunction by activating the PI3K/AKT/eNOS signaling pathway and increasing the levels of nitric oxide (NO). *Med. Sci. Monit. Basic Res.* 24, 1–9. doi: 10.12659/MSMBR.907775
- Li, J., Wang, Y., Wang, Y., Wen, X., Ma, X. N., Chen, W., et al. (2015). Pharmacological activation of AMPK prevents Drp1-mediated mitochondrial fission and alleviates endoplasmic reticulum stress-associated endothelial dysfunction. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 86, 62–74. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2015.07.010
- Liu, T., and Rourke, B. O. (2008). Enhancing mitochondrial Ca₂⁺ uptake in myocytes from failing hearts restores energy supply and demand matching. *Circ. Res.* 103, 279–288. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.108.175919
- Luo, M., Guan, X., Luczak, E. D., Lang, D., Kutschke, W., Gao, Z., et al. (2013). Diabetes increases mortality after myocardial infarction by oxidizing CaMKII. *J. Clin. Invest.* 123, 1262–1274. doi: 10.1172/JCI65268
- Mancini, S. J., Boyd, D., Katwan, O. J., Strembitska, A., Almabrouk, T. A., Kennedy, S., et al. (2018). Canagliflozin inhibits interleukin-1β-stimulated cytokine and chemokine secretion in vascular endothelial cells by AMPactivated protein kinase-dependent and -independent mechanisms. *Sci. Rep.* 8:5276. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-23420-4
- Mentzer, R. M., Bartels, C., Bolli, R., Boyce, S., Buckberg, G. D., Chaitman, B., et al. (2008). Sodium-hydrogen exchange inhibition by cariporide to reduce the risk of ischemic cardiac events in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass grafting: results of the EXPEDITION study. *Ann. Thorac. Surg.* 85, 1261–1270. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2007.10.054
- Miki, T., Yuda, S., Kouzu, H., and Miura, T. (2013). Diabetic cardiomyopathy: pathophysiology and clinical features. *Heart Fail. Rev.* 18, 149–166. doi: 10. 1007/s10741-012-9313-3
- Munasinghe, P. E., Riu, F., Dixit, P., Edamatsu, M., Saxena, P., Hamer, N. S. J., et al. (2016). Type-2 diabetes increases autophagy in the human heart through promotion of Beclin-1 mediated pathway. *Int. J. Cardiol.* 202, 13–20. doi: 10. 1016/j.ijcard.2015.08.111

- Muñoz-Planillo, R., Kuffa, P., Martínez-Colón, G., Smith, B., Rajendiran, T., and Núñez, G. (2013). K⁺ efflux is the common trigger of NLRP3 inflammasome activation by bacterial toxins and particulate matter. *Immunity* 38, 1142–1153. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2013.05.016
- Münzel, T., Gori, T., Keaney, J. F., Maack, C., and Daiber, A. (2015). Pathophysiological role of oxidative stress in systolic and diastolic heart failure and its therapeutic implications. *Eur. Heart J.* 36, 2555–2564. doi: 10.1093/ eurheartj/ehv305
- Murphy, E., and Eisner, D. A. (2009). Regulation of intracellular and mitochondrial sodium in health and disease. *Circ. Res.* 104, 292–303. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCRESAHA.108.189050
- Mustroph, J., Wagemann, O., Lücht, C. M., Trum, M., Hammer, K. P., Martin, C., et al. (2018). Empagliflozin reduces Ca/calmodulin-dependent kinase II activity in isolated ventricular cardiomyocytes. *ESC Hear. Fail.* 5, 642–648. doi: 10.1002/ ehf2.12336
- Neal, B., Perkovic, V., Mahaffey, K. W., de Zeeuw, D., Fulcher, G., Erondu, N., et al. (2017). Canagliflozin and cardiovascular and renal events in type 2 diabetes. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 377, 644–657. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1611925
- Neef, S., Dybkova, N., Sossalla, S., Ort, K. R., Fluschnik, N., Neumann, K., et al. (2010). CaMKII-dependent diastolic SR Ca_2^+ leak and elevated diastolic Ca_2^+ levels in right atrial myocardium of patients with atrial fibrillation. *Circ. Res.* 106, 1134–1144. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.109.203836
- Neubauer, S. (2007). The failing heart an engine out of fuel. N. Engl. J. Med. 356, 1140–1151. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra063052
- Oelze, M., Kröller-Schön, S., Welschof, P., Jansen, T., Hausding, M., Mikhed, Y., et al. (2014). The sodium-glucose co-transporter 2 inhibitor empagliflozin improves diabetes-induced vascular dysfunction in the streptozotocin diabetes rat model by interfering with oxidative stress and glucotoxicity. *PLoS One* 9:e112394. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0112394
- Packer, M. (2017). Activation and inhibition of sodium-hydrogen exchanger is a mechanism that links the pathophysiology and treatment of diabetes mellitus with that of heart failure. *Circulation* 136, 1548–1559. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.117.030418
- Paulus, W. J., and Tschöpe, C. (2013). A novel paradigm for heart failure with preserved ejection fraction: comorbidities drive myocardial dysfunction and remodeling through coronary microvascular endothelial inflammation. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 62, 263–271. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2013.02.092
- Pogwizd, S. M., Sipido, K. R., Verdonck, F., and Bers, D. M. (2003). Intracellular Na in animal models of hypertrophy and heart failure: contractile function and arrhythmogenesis. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 57, 887–896. doi: 10.1016/S0008-6363(02) 00735-6
- Riehle, C., and Abel, E. (2016). Insulin signaling and heart failure. *Circ. Res.* 118, 1151–1169. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.306206
- Sasahara, T., Yayama, K., Matsuzaki, T., Tsutsui, M., and Okamoto, H. (2013). Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger inhibitor induces vasorelaxation through nitric oxide production in endothelial cells via intracellular acidification-associated Ca₂⁺ mobilization. Vascul. Pharmacol. 58, 319–325. doi: 10.1016/j.vph.2012.11.004
- Scheen, A. J. (2014). Evaluating SGLT2 inhibitors for type 2 diabetes: pharmacokinetic and toxicological considerations. *Expert Opin. Drug Metab. Toxicol.* 10, 647–663. doi: 10.1517/17425255.2014.873788
- Sena, C. M., Pereira, A. M., and Seiça, R. (2013). Endothelial dysfunction A major mediator of diabetic vascular disease. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1832, 2216–2231. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2013.08.006
- Shah, M. S., and Brownlee, M. (2017). Molecular and cellular mechanisms of cardiovascular disorders in diabetes. *Circ. Res.* 118, 1808–1829. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCRESAHA.116.306923.Molecular
- Sharma, A., Tate, M., Mathew, G., Vince, J. E., Ritchie, R. H., and De Haan, J. B. (2018). Oxidative stress and NLRP3-inflammasome activity as significant drivers of diabetic cardiovascular complications: therapeutic implications. *Front. Physiol.* 9:114. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.00114
- Steven, S., Oelze, M., Hanf, A., Kröller-Schön, S., Kashani, F., Roohani, S., et al. (2017). The SGLT2 inhibitor empagliflozin improves the primary diabetic complications in ZDF rats. *Redox Biol.* 13, 370–385. doi: 10.1016/j.redox.2017. 06.009
- Suzuki, M., Honda, K., Fukazawa, M., Ozawa, K., Hagita, H., Kawai, T., et al. (2012). Tofogliflozin, a potent and highly specific sodium/glucose cotransporter 2 inhibitor, improves glycemic control in diabetic rats and mice. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 341, 692–701. doi: 10.1124/jpet.112.191593

- Tanajak, P., Sa-nguanmoo, P., Sivasinprasasn, S., Thummasorn, S., Siri-Angkul, N., Chattipakorn, S. C., et al. (2018). Cardioprotection of dapagliflozin and vildagliptin in rats with cardiac ischemia-reperfusion injury. *J. Endocrinol.* 236, 69–84. doi: 10.1530/JOE-17-0457
- ten Hove, M., van Emous, J. G., and van Echteld, C. J. A. (2003). Na⁺ overload during ischemia and reperfusion in rat hearts: comparison of the Na⁺/H⁺ exchange blockers EIPA, cariporide and eniporide. *Mol. Cell. Biochem.* 250, 47–54. doi: 10.1023/A:1024985931797
- Théroux, P., Chaitman, B. R., Danchin, N., Erhardt, L., Meinertz, T., Schroeder, J. S., et al. (2000). Inhibition of the sodium-hydrogen exchanger with cariporide to prevent myocardial infarction in high-risk ischemic situations. main results of the GUARDIAN trial. *Circulation* 102, 3032–3038. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.102. 25.3032
- Tian, R., Musi, N., D'Agostino, J., Hirshman, M. F., and Goodyear, L. J. (2001). Increased adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase activity in rat hearts with pressure-overload hypertrophy. *Circulation* 104, 1664–1669. doi: 10.1161/hc4001.097183
- Uthman, L., Baartscheer, A., Bleijlevens, B., Schumacher, C. A., Fiolet, J. W. T., Koeman, A., et al. (2018a). Class effects of SGLT2 inhibitors in mouse cardiomyocytes and hearts: inhibition of Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger, lowering of cytosolic Na⁺ and vasodilation. *Diabetologia* 61, 722–726. doi: 10.1007/s00125-017-4509-7
- Uthman, L., Homayr, A., Hollmann, M. W., Zuurbier, C. J., and Weber, N. C. (2018b). Administration of SGLT2 inhibitor empagliflozin against TNF- α induced endothelial dysfunction in human venous and arterial endothelial cells. *FASEB J.* 32:569.4.
- Uthman, L., Nederlof, R., Eerbeek, O., Baartscheer, A., Buchholtz, N., Coronel, R., et al. (2018c). Empagliflozin effects on ischemic contracture and I/R injury in isolated mouse hearts perfused with or without insulin. *FASEB J.* 32:1b292.
- Van Heerebeek, L., Hamdani, N., Handoko, M. L., Falcao-Pires, I., Musters, R. J., Kupreishvili, K., et al. (2008). Diastolic stiffness of the failing diabetic heart: importance of fibrosis, advanced glycation end products, and myocyte resting tension. *Circulation* 117, 43–51. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.107.72 8550
- Van Steenbergen, A., Balteau, M., Ginion, A., Ferté, L., Battault, S., Ravenstein, C. D., et al. (2017). Sodium-myoinositol cotransporter-1, SMIT1, mediates the production of reactive oxygen species induced by hyperglycemia in the heart. *Sci. Rep.* 7:41166. doi: 10.1038/srep41166
- Varma, U., Koutsifeli, P., Benson, V. L., Mellor, K. M., and Delbridge, L. M. D. (2018). Molecular mechanisms of cardiac pathology in diabetes – Experimental insights. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1864, 1949–1959. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2017. 10.035
- Vornov, J. J., Thomas, A. G., and Jo, D. (1996). Protective effects of extracellular acidosis and blockade of sodium/hydrogen ion exchange during recovery from metabolic inhibition in neuronal tissue culture. J. Neurochem. 67, 2379–2389. doi: 10.1046/j.1471-4159.1996.67062379.x
- Vrhovac, I., Eror, D. B., Klessen, D., Burger, C., Breljak, D., Kraus, O., et al. (2015). Localizations of Na⁺-D-glucose cotransporters SGLT1 and SGLT2 in human kidney and of SGLT1 in human small intestine, liver, lung, and heart. *Pflugers Arch. Eur. J. Physiol.* 467, 1881–1898. doi: 10.1007/s00424-014-1619-7
- Wan, Z., Wen, W., Ren, K., Zhou, D., Liu, J., Wu, Y., et al. (2018). Involvement of NLRP3 inflammasome in the impacts of sodium and potassium on insulin resistance in normotensive Asians. *Br. J. Nutr.* 119, 228–237. doi: 10.1017/ S0007114517002926
- Wang, S., Peng, Q., Zhang, J., and Liu, L. (2008). Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger is required for hyperglycaemia- induced endothelial dysfunction via calcium-dependent calpain. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 80, 255–262. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvn179
- WHO (2012). Guideline: Sodium Intake for Adults and Children. Geneva: World Health Organization.
- Ye, Y., Bajaj, M., Yang, H. C., Perez-Polo, J. R., and Birnbaum, Y. (2017). SGLT-2 inhibition with dapagliflozin reduces the activation of the Nlrp3/ASC inflammasome and attenuates the development of diabetic cardiomyopathy in mice with type 2 diabetes. further augmentation of the effects with saxagliptin, a DPP4 inhibitor. *Cardiovasc. Drugs Ther.* 31, 119–132. doi: 10.1007/s10557-017-6725-2
- Yokoyama, H., Gunasegaram, S., Harding, S. E., and Avkiran, M. (2000). Sarcolemmal Na^+/H^+ exchanger activity and expression in human ventricular

myocardium. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 36, 534–540. doi: 10.1016/S0735-1097(00) 00730-0

- Zeymer, U., Suryapranata, H., Monassier, J. P., Opolski, G., Davies, J., Rasmanis, G., et al. (2001). The Na⁺/H⁺ exchange inhibitor eniporide as an adjunct to early reperfusion therapy for acute myocardial infarction11This manuscript is dedicated to the memory of Karl-Ludwig Neuhaus (1944–2000). *J. Am. Coll. Cardiol.* 38, E1644–E1650. doi: 10.1016/S0735-1097(01)01608-4
- Zhou, H., Wang, S., Zhu, P., Hu, S., Chen, Y., and Ren, J. (2018). Empagliflozin rescues diabetic myocardial microvascular injury via AMPKmediated inhibition of mitochondrial fission. *Redox Biol.* 15, 335–346. doi: 10.1016/j.redox.2017.12.019
- Zhou, L., Cryan, E. V., D'Andrea, M. R., Belkowski, S., Conway, B. R., and Demarest, K. T. (2003). Human cardiomyocytes express high level of Na⁺/glucose cotransporter 1 (SGLT1). J. Cell. Biochem. 90, 339–346. doi: 10. 1002/jcb.10631
- Zinman, B., Wanner, C., Lachin, J. M., Fitchett, D., Bluhmki, E., Hantel, S., et al. (2015). Empagliflozin, cardiovascular outcomes, and mortality in type 2 diabetes. N. Engl. J. Med. 373, 2117–2128. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1504720

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Uthman, Baartscheer, Schumacher, Fiolet, Kuschma, Hollmann, Coronel, Weber and Zuurbier. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Saxagliptin but Not Sitagliptin Inhibits CaMKII and PKC via DPP9 Inhibition in Cardiomyocytes

Chintan N. Koyani^{1*†}, Christopher Trummer^{2†}, Niroj Shrestha³, Susanne Scheruebel³, Benjamin Bourgeois², Ioanna Plastira², Sandra Kickmaier², Harald Sourij^{4,5}, Peter P. Rainer¹, Tobias Madl^{2,6}, Wolfgang Sattler², Brigitte Pelzmann³, Ernst Malle^{2*} and Dirk von Lewinski¹

¹ Division of Cardiology, Medical University of Graz, Graz, Austria, ² Molecular Biology and Biochemistry, Gottfried Schatz Research Center, Medical University of Graz, Graz, Austria, ³ Biophysics, Gottfried Schatz Research Center, Medical University of Graz, Graz, Austria, ⁴ Division of Endocrinology and Diabetology, Department of Internal Medicine, Medical University of Graz, Graz, Austria, ⁵ Center for Biomarker Research in Medicine, Graz, Austria, ⁶ BioTechMed-Graz, Graz, Austria

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Claudio de Lucia, Temple University, United States

Reviewed by:

Ronald J. Vagnozzi, Cincinnati Children's Hospital Medical Center, United States Gianluigi Pironti, Karolinska Institutet (KI), Sweden

*Correspondence:

Chintan N. Koyani chintan.koyani@medunigraz.at; cnkoyani@yahoo.com Ernst Malle ernst.malle@medunigraz.at [†].loint first authors

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cardiac Electrophysiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 19 June 2018 Accepted: 26 October 2018 Published: 14 November 2018

Citation:

Koyani CN, Trummer C, Shrestha N, Scheruebel S, Bourgeois B, Plastira I, Kickmaier S, Sourij H, Rainer PP, Madl T, Sattler W, Pelzmann B, Malle E and von Lewinski D (2018) Saxagliptin but Not Sitagliptin Inhibits CaMKII and PKC via DPP9 Inhibition in Cardiomyocytes. Front. Physiol. 9:1622. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01622

Some oral anti-hyperglycemic drugs, including gliptins that inhibit dipeptidyl peptidase 4 (DPP4), have been linked to the increased risk of heart failure (HF) in type-2 diabetic patients. While the cardiovascular safety trial, TECOS, revealed no link between sitagliptin and the risk of HF, a substantial 27% increase in the hospitalization for HF was observed in type-2 diabetic patients treated with saxagliptin within the SAVOR-TIMI 53 trial. A previous in vitro study revealed that saxagliptin impairs the Ca²⁺/calmodulindependent protein kinase II (CaMKII)-phospholamban (PLB)-sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺-ATPase 2a axis and protein kinase C (PKC) activity in cardiomyocytes leading to impaired cardiac contractility and electrophysiological function. However, the link between saxagliptin and its target proteins (CaMKII and PKC) remains to be explored. Since DPP8 and DPP9 (but not DPP4) are expressed by cardiomyocytes and saxagliptin is internalized by cardiomyocytes, we investigated whether DPP8/9 contribute to saxagliptin-mediated inhibition of CaMKII and PKC activity. Structural analysis revealed that the DPP4-saxagliptin interaction motif (S630, Y547) for the cyanopyrrolidine group is conserved in DPP8 (S755, Y669) and DPP9 (S730, Y644). Conversely, F357 that facilitates binding of the anchor lock domain of sitagliptin in the S2 extensive subsite of DPP4 is not conserved in DPP8/9. In parallel, unlike saxagliptin, sitagliptin did not affect phosphorylation of CaMKII/PLB or activity of PKC in HL-1 cardiomyocytes. These findings were recapitulated by pharmacological inhibition (TC-E-5007, a DPP8/9 antagonist) and knock-down of DPP9 (but not DPP8). In primary mouse ventricular cardiomyocytes, saxagliptin (but not sitagliptin) impaired Ca²⁺ transient relaxation and prolonged action potential duration (APD). These results suggest that saxagliptin-DPP9 interaction impairs the CaMKII-PLB and PKC signaling in cardiomyocytes. We reveal a novel and potential role of DPP9 in cardiac signaling. The interaction of saxagliptin with DPP9 may represent an underlying mechanism for the link between saxagliptin and HF. Elucidation of saxagliptin-DPP9 interaction and downstream events may foster a better understanding of the role of gliptins as modulators of cardiac signaling.

Keywords: diabetes, heart failure, gliptins, Ca^{2+} transient, cardiac electrophysiology
INTRODUCTION

Prevalence of diabetes mellitus (DM) is increasing worldwide and about 90% of all DM patients suffer from type 2 DM (T2DM). Hyperglycemia induces micro- and macro-vascular complications resulting in cardiac, kidney, eye and vessel dysfunction (Peter et al., 2008). One of the major causes of T2DM-associated mortality is heart failure (HF) (McMurray et al., 2014), though the exact underlying pathophysiological events responsible for DM-induced HF are still not clearly understood.

Both, HF and DM are multifactorial diseases that share some common etiological and risk factors including imbalanced ionic homeostasis, ion channel dysfunction, oxidative stress and aberrant metabolic homeostasis (Miki et al., 2013; Kasznicki and Drzewoski, 2014). Diabetic cardiomyopathy leads to impaired cardiac relaxation and systolic and/or diastolic dysfunction that are observed also in failing hearts (Bleske, 2000; Mandinov et al., 2000). Moreover, prolongation of cardiac action potential duration (APD) is often observed during chronic DM and HF (Wang and Hill, 2010).

Apart from DM being a predisposing factor for the development of HF, therapeutic remedies of DM are linked to the risk of HF as well (Udell et al., 2015). Anti-diabetic drugs, including thiazolidinediones and gliptins, are reported to increase the rate of hospitalization for HF during clinical trials (Udell et al., 2015). Therefore, along with DM-HF pathophysiology, mechanistic insight into anti-diabetic drug-induced HF has become essential for cardiovascular safety management of DM patients.

Gliptins are inhibitors of dipeptidyl peptidase 4 (DPP4), a serine peptidase, that degrades glucagon like peptide-1 and in turn augments incretin effect by increasing prandial insulin and reducing glucagon secretion from pancreatic beta and alpha cells, respectively. During the cardiovascular safety trial, TECOS, sitagliptin did not show any effect on the hospitalization of HF in patients suffering from T2DM (Green et al., 2015). However, the SAVOR-TIMI 53 trial reported a 27% increase in the risk of HF in diabetes patients undergoing saxagliptin therapy (Scirica et al., 2013). This clinical observation is supported by our previous data that link saxagliptin to cardiac dysfunction and HF under in vitro and ex vivo conditions (Koyani et al., 2017). At molecular level, saxagliptin inhibited Ca²⁺/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II (CaMKII)-mediated phospholamban (PLB) phosphorylation as well as intracellular protein kinase C (PKC) activity in cardiomyocytes.

Apart from DPP4, the DPP4 gene family also includes DPP8 and DPP9 (Yu et al., 2010). DPP8 and DPP9, expressed in various tissues and cells are cytosolic enzymes that have the ability to cleave DPP4 substrates including glucagon-like peptide-1 (Yu et al., 2010). Given the fact that the gliptintarget, DPP4, is not expressed by cardiomyocytes, we set out to explore a potential role of the two cardiomyocyteresident DPP isoforms, DPP8 and DPP9, in gliptin-mediated signaling events. Despite structural homology to DPP4 (Yu et al., 2010), the role of DPP8/9 in cardiac function is yet unclear. Therefore, we aimed to examine and compare the effects of saxagliptin and sitagliptin on intracellular signaling that may lead to contractile/electrophysiological dysfunction and HF.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Cell Culture

HL-1 cells (a murine cardiomyocyte cell line, Sigma-Aldrich, Vienna, Austria) were cultured in fibronectin (0.5% [w/v])/gelatin (0.02% [w/v]) coated flasks and maintained in Claycomb medium (Sigma-Aldrich) (Claycomb et al., 1998) containing 10% (v/v) fetal bovine serum (FBS, Thermo Fisher Scientific, IL, United States), 0.1 mM norepinephrine, 2 mM L-glutamine, 100 IU/ml penicillin and 100 μ g/ml streptomycin (Sigma-Aldrich), and kept at 37°C under 5% CO₂, as previously described (Scheruebel et al., 2014).

Incubation Protocol

HL-1 cells were treated with indicated (in respective Figures and Figure legends) concentrations of saxagliptin or sitagliptin (Adooq Bioscience, CA, United States, dissolved in DMSO, final concentration of DMSO – 0.01% [v/v]) for indicated time periods.

Cardiomyocyte Isolation and Patch Clamp

Cardiomyocytes were isolated from adult mice (14–18 weeks old, either sex). The experimental procedure and number of used animals were approved by the ethics committee of the Federal Ministry of Science, Research and Economy of the Republic of Austria (BMWF-66.010/0038-V/3b/2018). Mice were euthanized (40 mg/kg ketamine and 10 mg/kg xylazine), hearts were quickly removed and cardiomyocytes were isolated as previously described (Ackers-Johnson et al., 2016) using collagenase 2 and 4 (Worthington Biochemical Corporation, NJ, United States). After isolation cardiomyocytes were kept in standard external solution (containing in mM: NaCl 137, KCl 5.4, CaCl₂ 1.8, MgCl₂ 1.1, NaHCO₃ 2.2, NaH₂PO₄ 0.4, HEPES/Na⁺ 10, D(+)-glucose 5.6, pH 7.4 adjusted with NaOH). All experiments were performed on the day of isolation.

Action potentials (APs) were recorded in the whole cell configuration of the patch clamp technique using Axopatch 200B amplifier (Molecular Devices, CA, United States) and the A/D – D/A converters Digidata 1322A (Molecular Devices). To record APs, cardiomyocytes were superfused with the standard external solution at 37°C and pipettes were filled with an internal solution (containing in mM: KCl 110, ATP/K⁺ 4.3, MgCl₂ 2, CaCl₂ 1, EGTA 11, HEPES/K⁺ 10, pH 7.4 adjusted with KOH, estimated free $[Ca^{2+}] < 10^{-8}$ M). For AP recordings cells were stimulated with minimal suprathreshold current pulses (5 ms) at a frequency of 1 Hz, as previously described (Koyani et al., 2017). In order to exclude any initial transient behavior, first 10 APs were excluded from analysis. Ten consecutive APs were analyzed using LabChart 7.0 (Cardiac action potential analysis module, ADInstruments Ltd., Oxford, United Kingdom).

Ca²⁺ Transient (CaT) Measurements

After incubation with saxagliptin, sitagliptin or TE-C 5007 at indicated concentration for 4 h, cells were washed twice with the standard external solution and incubated with standard external solution containing 1 µM Fura-2-AM and 1 µM Pluronic F-127 (Thermo Fisher Scientific) for 30 min at 25°C. CaT was assessed by field stimulation (platinum electrode distance: 1 cm; pulse duration: 5 ms; suprathreshold pulse amplitude: 4 V/cm) at a frequency of 1 Hz using a videobased sarcomere length detection system (IonOptix Corporation, MA, United States) at 37°C. Fluorescence intensities were measured at 340 and 380 nm of excitation and at 510 nm of emission wavelengths using a dual excitation light source. The F340/F380 ratio was used as an index of cytosolic Ca²⁺ concentration and to calculate CaT relaxation tau (τ_{CaT}). Data were analyzed using Clampfit 10.2 (Molecular Devices) and LabChart 7.0 (peak analysis module, ADInstruments Ltd., Oxford, United Kingdom).

Fluorescence Microscopy

Fluorescamine (50 mg/ml in acetone, Sigma-Aldrich) and saxagliptin/sitagliptin were mixed in borate buffer (pH 8.5) at indicated concentrations (at 25° C). The reaction mixture was evaporated to dryness and dissolved in the standard external solution (Koyani et al., 2017). HL-1 cells were incubated with saxagliptin/sitagliptin-fluorescamine adduct for 4 min and washed with the standard external solution (see above) at 37° C. Fluorescence images were captured at excitation/emission wavelengths of 390/470 nm.

Western Blot Analysis

HL-1 cells or mouse left ventricle (LV) were lysed in ice-cold lysis buffer (containing in mM: HEPES 50, NaCl 150, EDTA 1, Na₄P₂O₇ 10, Na₃VO₄ 2, NaF 10, 1% [v/v] Triton X-100, 10% [v/v] glycerol, pH 7.4, Sigma-Aldrich) containing a Protease Phosphatase Inhibitor Cocktail (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Pellets were separated by centrifugation at 13,000 rpm (4°C, 10 min). Protein estimation of whole cell was performed using BCA protein assay kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Whole cell protein lysates (50 μ g) were added to 10 μ l of NuPAGE LDS sample buffer (Invitrogen) containing 2 µl of NuPAGE sample reducing agent (Invitrogen). After heating for 10 min at 70°C, proteins were separated by electrophoresis on NuPAGE 4-12% Bis-Tris gel (Invitrogen) and transferred to nitrocellulose membranes (Invitrogen, 0.2 µm) (Jain et al., 2015). Membranes were blocked with 5% (w/v) non-fat milk in Tris-buffered saline containing Tween 20 (TBST, 25°C, 2 h) and incubated with primary antibodies overnight at 4°C. The following primary antibodies (diluted in 5% [w/v] BSA-TBST) were used: phospho-CaMKII (pCaMKII, T286, 1:1000, Abcam, ab32678), phospho-PLB (pPLB, T17, 1:5000, Badrilla, A010-13), DPP8 (1:500, Santa Cruz, sc-376399), DPP9 (1:500, Santa Cruz, sc-271634), CaMKII (1:500, Santa Cruz, sc-9035), and PLB (1:2000, Thermo Fisher Scientific, MA3-922). After washing, the membranes were incubated with HRP-conjugated goat

anti-mouse IgG (1:10,000, Cell Signaling, 7076) or goat anti-rabbit IgG (1:10,000, Cell Signaling, 7074) (25°C, 2 h). Immunoreactive bands were visualized using Immobilon Western Chemiluminescent HRP substrate (Merck Millipore, Vienna, Austria) and developed by Bio-Rad ChemiDoc MP Imaging System. For normalization, membranes were stripped with stripping buffer (58.4 g/l NaCl, 7.5 g/l glycine, pH 2.15), blocked and incubated with a primary antibody against glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH, 1:1000, Santa Cruz, sc-25778). Densitometric evaluation of immunoreactive bands was performed using Image Lab 4.1 software.

RNA Isolation and Quantitative Real-Time PCR (qPCR)

QIAshredder and RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) were used to isolate RNA from HL-1 cardiomyocytes according to the manufacturer's protocol. After determining RNA concentration, one μ g RNA was reverse transcribed using High-Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription Kit (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, United States) according to the supplier's manual. For gene quantification, six ng cDNA per template was used with GoTaq qPCR Master Mix (Promega, Vienna, Austria) and gene specific primers. The qPCR protocol was performed by LightCycler 480 system (Roche Diagnostics, Vienna, Austria). The following gene specific primers from Qiagen were used: GAPDH (QT01658692), DPP8 (QT00143388), and DPP9 (QT00144165). Relative gene expression levels were normalized to GAPDH and calculated using $\Delta\Delta$ CT method (Koyani et al., 2016).

Gene Silencing

HL-1 cells were transfected with siRNAs (four different constructs) specific for DPP8 or DPP9 (40 nM each, Qiagen), or scrambled negative control siRNA (40 nM si-scr; Allstars negative control siRNA, Qiagen) (Koyani et al., 2014). The siRNA transfection was performed using Lipofectamine 3000 (Invitrogen) according to the supplier's manual. Briefly, HL-1 (50% confluent) were transfected with 1 ml medium (composition of medium is given above, without FBS and antibiotics) containing 2 µl of Lipofectamine 3000 and the respective siRNA for 6 h at 37°C. Transfection medium was replaced with medium (containing FBS and antibiotics) and cells were grown for another 24 h. The mRNA expression levels of silenced genes were measured using qPCR (see above). In parallel, transfected cells were treated with saxagliptin or sitagliptin to follow protein expression using Western blot (see above) or PKC activity assay (see below).

PKC Activity Assay

After transfection and/or treatment with saxagliptin, sitagliptin or TC-E 5007, HL-1 cells were washed and lysed in lysis buffer containing Protease Phosphatase Inhibitor Cocktail. Estimation of active PKC was performed using a PKC kinase activity kit (ADI-EKS-420A, Enzo Life Sciences, NY, United States) according to the manufacturer's protocol.

Structural Analysis

The 3D structures of DPP4 bound to saxagliptin (PDB code: 3bjm) and sitagliptin (PDB code: 1×70) were aligned based on the 3D structure of DPP4 using pymol 1.8.2. As a result, theoretical models of DPP4 bound to both saxagliptin and sitagliptin were created allowing the direct comparison of the DPP4 amino acids involved in binding of gliptins. This 3D model was subsequently aligned with either the 3D structure of DPP8 (PDB code: 6eoo) or DDP9 (PDB code: 6eoq) based on structural similarity between DPP4 and DPP8/9 using pymol 1.8.2. As a result, theoretical models of DPP8 and DPP9 bound to both saxagliptin and sitagliptin were created. The amino acids of DPP8/9 present in the gliptin binding interface were then compared to those of DDP4 in order to access the potential for sitagliptin- and/or saxagliptin-binding to DPP8/9.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using IBM SPSS Statistics 23 software. Approximate normal distribution of data was assessed by visual (histograms and normal Q-Q plots) and numerical investigation (*z*-value of skewness and kurtosis; *p*-value of Shapiro–Wilk test). After checking homogeneity of variance by Levene's test, between groups comparisons were evaluated by unpaired Student's *t*-test, one-way ANOVA (followed by

Tukey's *post hoc* test) or ANCOVA to compare the effect of saxagliptin/sitagliptin vs. rundown by adjusting the matched control values (covariates). ANCOVA was only applied when covariates and regression slopes were not different between the compared groups. *P*-values \leq 0.05 were considered statistically significant. All tests were 2-sided.

RESULTS

Fluorescamine-Derivatives of Saxagliptin and Sitagliptin Are Internalized by Cardiomyocytes

As saxagliptin is internalized by cardiomyocytes (Koyani et al., 2017), we aimed to investigate whether sitagliptin is also internalized by cardiomyocytes. For these experiments, both compounds were coupled with fluorescamine (a non-fluorescent dye that yields fluorescence upon reaction with primary amines in a 1:1 stoichiometry) in order to visualize cellular uptake and localization.

Untreated (Figure 1A) or fluorescamine-treated (Figure 1B) HL-1 cells showed no fluorescence (unbound fluorescamine has a very short half-life (5–10 s) in an aqueous solution; Udenfriend et al., 1972), while incubation with the saxagliptin-fluorescamine



panels, **A-F**) of HL-1 cardiomyocytes treated with standard external solution (**A**) alone (control) or containing (**B**) fluorescamine (2 μ M), saxagliptin-fluorescamine adduct [(**C**) 2–2 μ M or (**E**) 20–2 μ M] or sitagliptin-fluorescamine adduct [(**D**) 2–2 μ M or (**F**) 20–2 μ M] for 5 min (n = 6, scale bar: 10 μ m). "n" represents the number of experiments.

 $(2-2 \ \mu M)$ complex showed pronounced fluorescence that is located exclusively in the cytosol (**Figure 1C**). A similar intracellular fluorescence pattern was observed in cells incubated with the sitagliptin-fluorescamine complex (**Figure 1D**). To determine specificity of drug uptake, we added a 10-fold molar excess $(20-2 \ \mu M)$ of unlabeled saxagliptin/sitagliptin to investigate competition between free and fluorescaminebound drugs. Under these conditions, fluorescence intensity was reduced almost to basal level (**Figures 1E,F**). These data indicate that sitagliptin is internalized by cardiomyocytes and localizes in the cytosol, similarly, as reported for saxagliptin (Koyani et al., 2017).

Saxagliptin but Not Sitagliptin Inhibits the CaMKII-PLB Axis

Since both gliptins are internalized by cardiomyocytes (**Figures 1C,D**) and saxagliptin was reported to attenuate phosphorylation of CaMKII and PLB, we aimed to evaluate whether sitagliptin displays similar pharmacological effects on the CaMKII-PLB axis. In line with our previous data (Koyani et al., 2017), incubation of HL-1 cells with 2 μ M saxagliptin resulted in reduced CaMKII phosphorylation (T286) starting from 2.5 min (**Figure 2A**). In contrast, 2 μ M sitagliptin failed to inhibit pCaMKII expression (**Figure 2B**). Concentration-dependent experiments demonstrate that saxagliptin (but not sitagliptin) inhibits CaMKII phosphorylation starting from

200 nM (Figures 2C,D, respectively). Additionally, sitagliptin treatment (up to 10 μ M) had no effect on the CaMKII phosphorylation (Figure 2D).

phosphorylation As of CaMKII promotes PLB phosphorylation (T17), we examined pPLB expression level. Treatment of HL-1 cardiomyocytes with saxagliptin resulted in reduced immunoreactive pPLB band starting from 15 min (Figure 2E). In parallel, concentration-dependent experiments show saxagliptin-reduced pPLB expression starting from 200 nM dose (Figure 2G). Conversely, neither time- (Figure 2F) nor concentration-dependent experiments (Figure 2H) showed an effect of sitagliptin on PLB phosphorylation levels. Moreover, total CaMKII or PLB levels did not change in response to gliptin treatment (Figure 2I). Densitometric evaluation of Western blots and statistical analysis is shown in Supplementary Figures 1-3.

Structural Analysis of Gliptins-DPP4/8/9 Interaction and Effect of DPP8/9 Inhibition

The primary target of gliptins, DPP4, is not expressed by cardiomyocytes (Shigeta et al., 2012; Koyani et al., 2017). However, cytosolic localization of gliptins (**Figures 1C,D**) may lead to their interaction with the cardiomyocyte resident DPP isoforms (DPP8 and DPP9) due to their structural homology with DPP4. To test this hypothesis, we first investigated the expression of DPP8/9 in HL-1 cells and mouse LV by Western blotting.



(I) CaMKII and PLB expression in HL-1 cardiomyocytes treated with saxagliptin (A,C,E,G) or sitagliptin (B,D,F,H) for the indicated time points (A,B,E,F,I, 2 μ M) and concentrations (C,D, 5 min; G,H, 30 min). GAPDH was used as a loading control. "n" represents the number of experiments.

Figure 3A confirms the presence of DPP8/9 in HL-1 cells and mouse LV.

Based on the three-dimensional structure of DPP4 bound to saxagliptin (PDB code: 3bjm; Metzler et al., 2008) and sitagliptin (PDB code: 1×70; Kim et al., 2005) we identified key amino acids of DPP4 that are involved in gliptin binding (Figures 3B,C). Close inspection of the interaction modes shows that DPP4-saxagliptin interaction motif (S630, Y547) is conserved in DPP8 (S755, Y669) and DPP9 (S730, Y644). However, the region around DPP4-sitagliptin binding comprises of amino acids (S209, F357) that are neither conserved in DPP8 nor in DPP9. Additionally, DPP8 and DPP9 harbor two charged amino-acids in the surrounding of F357 (D278/R524 for DPP8 and D251/R499 for DPP9) that might interfere with binding of sitagliptin to DPP8/9 either via steric clashes and/or charge repulsion. These structural analyses suggest that binding of saxagliptin is conserved in DPP8/9 whereas binding of sitagliptin is weakened or even abolished.

To investigate the role of DPP8/9 in saxagliptin-induced intracellular signaling, we used TC-E 5007, a DPP8/9 inhibitor with IC₅₀ of 145 and 242 nM, respectively (Lankas et al., 2005). Treatment of HL-1 cardiomyocytes with 2 μ M TC-E 5007 resulted in a time-dependent inhibition of pCaMKII

(T286) and pPLB (T17) expression starting from 30 and 60 min, respectively (**Figures 3D,E**). In contrast, TC-E 5007 did not affect total CaMKII and PLB protein levels (**Figure 3F**). Densitometric evaluation of blots and statistical analysis is shown in **Supplementary Figure 4**.

Saxagliptin Inhibits the CaMKII-PLB Axis Dependent on DPP9

To further clarify the individual role(s) of DPP8 and/or DPP9 in saxagliptin-reduced pCaMKII and pPLB expression in cardiomyocytes, a RNA interference approach was used. HL-1 cells were transfected with specific siRNA against DPP8 or DPP9. qPCR analyses revealed that siRNA transfection significantly reduced mRNA levels of the target DPP isoform (\sim 52% of DPP8 and \sim 58% of DPP9) without affecting expression of the non-target DPP isoform (**Figure 4A**). In contrast, at protein level we observed \sim 64 and 79% reduction of DPP8 and DPP9 expression, respectively (**Figure 4B**). There was no difference in the expression of DPP8/9 between non-transfected and si-scr transfected cells (**Figures 4A,B**).

Next, we evaluated the effect of DPP knock-down on phosphorylation of CaMKII and PLB. Treatment of control cardiomyocytes with saxagliptin (but not sitagliptin) reduced



FIGURE 3 Structural analysis of gliptins-DPP4/8/9 binding. (A) A representative Western blot (n = 3) showing expression of DPP8 and DPP9 in total protein lysate (50 µg) of HL-1 cardiomyocytes and mouse LV. (**B**) 3D structural alignment of saxagliptin bound to DPP4 (PDB code: 3bjm) and sitagliptin (PDB code: 1 × 70) aligned with the 3D structure of DPP8 (PDB code: 6eoo) using pymol. The 3D structure of DPP4 and DPP8 are shown as cartoon representation and colored in orange and gray, respectively. The DPP4-bound forms of saxagliptin and sitagliptin are shown in sticks and colored in magenta and green, respectively. The DPP4 and DPP8 amino-acids present in the gliptin-binding surface of DPP4 are shown in sticks and colored in orange and gray, respectively, if conserved in the structural model or, in red and cyan, if not. (**C**) 3D structural alignment as described in (**B**) but using DPP9 (PDB code: 6eoq, colored in yellow) in place of DPP8. Representative Western blots (n = 6) for (**D**) pCaMKII (T286), (**E**) pPLB (T17), and (**F**) CaMKII and PLB expression in HL-1 cardiomyocytes treated with TC-E 5007 (2 µM) for the indicated time points. GAPDH was used as a loading control. "n" represents the number of experiments.



pCaMKII expression (**Figure 4C**). Furthermore, silencing h of DPP9 (but not DPP8) resulted in reduction of CaMKII phosphorylation in a similar manner as observed with l saxagliptin alone. The efficacy of saxagliptin to inhibit CaMKII phosphorylation is blunted in cardiomyocytes transfected with si-DPP9. Conversely, saxagliptin effectively inhibited pCaMKII expression in DPP8 knocked down so cardiomyocytes.

Further, we tested these conditions for PLB phosphorylation. Similar to CaMKII phosphorylation, pPLB expression was dampened by saxagliptin (but not sitagliptin) and DPP9 (but not DPP8) knock-down (Figure 4D). In line, the efficacy of saxagliptin was abolished in DPP9 (but not DPP8) silenced cells (Figure 4D). Densitometric evaluation of blots and statistical analysis is shown in Supplementary Figure 5. These data demonstrate that saxagliptin targets DPP9 and thereby impairs the CaMKII-PLB axis in cardiomyocytes.

Saxagliptin Inhibits PKC Activity, Dependent on DPP9

As reported previously (Koyani et al., 2017) and here (**Figures 5A,B**), saxagliptin significantly reduced PKC activity in cardiomyocytes in a time- (from 2.5 min) and concentration-dependent manner (from 1 μ M). In contrast, our present data show that the treatment of cardiomyocytes with sitagliptin

had no effect on intracellular PKC activity (**Figures 5A,B**). In parallel, the DPP8/9 inhibitor TC-E 5007 reduced active PKC levels in a time-dependent manner starting from 10 min in HL-1 cardiomyocytes (**Figure 5C**).

Next, we silenced DPP8/9 expression to get an indication whether one or both DPP isoforms might play a role in saxagliptin-reduced PKC activity. Ablation of DPP9 resulted in decreased PKC activity, whereas si-DPP8 had no effect (**Figure 5D**). The efficacy of saxagliptin was significantly abolished in DPP9 (but not DPP8) silenced cardiomyocytes. These data reveal that DPP9 links saxagliptin with reduced PKC activity in cardiomyocytes.

Saxagliptin and TC-E 5007 Impairs CaT Relaxation and Prolongs APD

To evaluate the effects of saxagliptin- and TC-E 5007evoked intracellular signaling on cardiomyocyte function, we performed CaT and patch clamp analysis. Saxagliptin and TC-E 5007 impaired the CaMKII-PLB axis that regulates sarcoendoplasmic reticulum (SR) Ca²⁺-ATPase 2a (SERCA2a) function in Ca²⁺ removal during cardiac relaxation. Therefore, reciprocal of τ_{CaT} was analyzed to assess cardiac relaxation. Treatment of mouse ventricular cardiomyocytes with saxagliptin and TC-E 5007 resulted in impaired cardiac relaxation, whereby sitagliptin was ineffective (**Figures 6A,B**). In parallel, electrophysiological analysis showed prolongation



of APD upon treatment with saxagliptin but not sitagliptin (Figures 6C,D).

DISCUSSION

In the present study we identified DPP9 as a primary target of saxagliptin that in turn initiates intracellular signaling contributing to cardiac contractile and electrophysiological dysfunction (**Figure 7**). Both, saxagliptin and sitagliptin internalize into cardiomyocytes and localize exclusively in the cytosol. Basically, the primary target of gliptins, DPP4, is not expressed by cardiomyocytes. However, cardiomyocytes do express other DPP isoforms, namely DPP8 and DPP9. Structural analysis reveals favorable interaction of saxagliptin (but not sitagliptin) with both the DPP isoforms. Moreover, saxagliptin (but not sitagliptin) treatment resulted in reduced phosphorylation of CaMKII and PLB, and PKC activity. These results were recapitulated while using a DPP8/9 inhibitor, TC-E 5007. In contrast, these effects were observed only in DPP9 (but not DPP8) silenced cardiomyocytes. Furthermore, the efficacy of saxagliptin to inhibit the CaMKII-PLB axis and PKC was abolished in cardiomyocytes transfected with si-DPP9 (but not si-DPP8). At functional level, saxagliptin and TC-E 5007 impaired CaT relaxation and saxagliptin prolonged APD of mouse ventricular cardiomyocytes.

Although gliptins have high aqueous solubility, *in vitro* studies show a significant membrane permeability of saxagliptin (Koyani et al., 2017), sitagliptin (Lee et al., 2016) as well as vildagliptin (He et al., 2009). Lee et al. (2016) have reported that sitagliptin permeated endothelial membrane in a dose-dependent manner and activates the Src/VE-cadherin pathway. This intracellular cascade was directly linked to vascular leakage in the retina (Lee et al., 2016). Internalization of saxagliptin into cardiomyocytes was further reported to inhibit cardiac kinases including CaMKII and PKC that lead to cardiac dysfunction (Koyani et al., 2017). Like saxagliptin, we observed that fluorescamine-bound sitagliptin is internalized by cardiomyocytes and localized in the cytosol.



DPP8 and DPP9 are primarily localized in the cytosol and nucleus in T-cells (Ross et al., 2018). Despite structural similarities and cellular localization, increasing evidence suggests



distinct roles of both DPP isoforms. We report that both DPPs are expressed in HL-1 cardiomyocytes and mouse LV. A previous study showed high expression of DPP9 in human heart using Northern blot analysis (Olsen and Wagtmann, 2002). Although functions of these DPPs in cardiac signaling are largely unknown, both DPPs play a role in monocytes/macrophage pyroptosis (Okondo et al., 2017) as well as in leukemia (Spagnuolo et al., 2013). Overexpression of DPP9 correlates with poor 5-year overall survival in patients with non-small cell lung cancer (Tang et al., 2017).

Here, we show a specific role of DPP9 in cardiac signaling where knock-down of DPP9 resulted in inhibition of the CaMKII-PLB axis and PKC activity. Although the exact mechanism of DPP9-induced cardiac signaling remains to be elucidated, a previous report addresses a potential role of protein phosphatase 2A (PP2A) in the observed effects (Zhang et al., 2015). Zhang and coworkers have reported phosphatase 2A inhibitor (I2PP2A) as a substrate of DPP9 (Zhang et al., 2015). Moreover, PP2A is known to regulate both CaMKII (Erickson, 2014; Lubbers and Mohler, 2016) and PKC (Sontag et al., 1997; Boudreau et al., 2002). Therefore, one may predict a plausible role of PP2A in DPP9-mediated regulation of CaMKII and PKC in cardiac signaling. However, further studies are required to confirm these signaling events.

Although gliptins are developed in order to inhibit activity of DPP4 specifically, partial inhibition of DPP8/9 by gliptins occurs due to the structural homology of these DPP isoforms. Structural analysis reveals that amino acids involved in saxagliptin-DPP4 binding are also conserved in DPP8/9 (Figure 3B). Apparently, the triazolopyrazine moiety with the trifluoromethyl substituent of sitagliptin represents the "anchor lock domain" of this inhibitor. The anchor lock domain was shown to tightly bind to the S2 extensive subsite in DPP4 (Berger et al., 2018). Most importantly, the triazolopyrazine group binds to F357 in the S2 extensive subsite of DPP4 and this residue may apparently facilitate high affinity binding of sitagliptin. Additionally, two charged amino acids present in DPP8/9 (Figure 3C) may repel the binding of sitagliptin to DPP8/9. These observations obtained from molecular modeling in the present study are in line with in vitro inhibition of DPP8/9 by gliptins. The Ki values for inhibition of human DPP8/9 by saxagliptin are 508/98 nM and those for sitagliptin are 33,780/55,142 nM, respectively (Wang et al., 2012). Based on these data (Wang et al., 2012) and the present structural analysis, it is likely to assume an inhibition of DPP8/9 by saxagliptin (but not sitagliptin) under in vivo conditions. Moreover, the observed effects of saxagliptin on the CaMKII-PLB axis and PKC activity are dependent on DPP9. Saxagliptin inhibits DPP9 in vitro at Ki of 98 nM (Wang et al., 2012), a concentration that is relevant to the plasma C_{max} of saxagliptin following a 5 mg single dose (24 ng/ml, equivalent to ~76 nM) (Onglyza, 2016).

CaMKII is one of the major multifunctional protein kinases that contribute to the development and progression of HF. Increasing evidence suggests that aberrant CaMKII signaling is a core mechanism in HF and related arrhythmias (Hasegawa et al., 2016). CaMKII regulates function of ion channels involved in cardiac electrophysiology and Ca²⁺ homeostasis. The latter phenomenon includes PLB that is regulated by CaMKII-mediated phosphorylation. Upon dephosphorylation, PLB inhibits SERCA2a, which pumps \sim 70% of cytosolic Ca²⁺ into SR during cardiac relaxation (Bers, 2000). Saxagliptinreduced PLB phosphorylation resulted in reduced Ca²⁺ removal by SERCA2a as well as Na⁺-Ca²⁺ exchanger (Koyani et al., 2017). These effects were supported by elevated end-diastolic LV pressure and reduced end-systolic LV pressure. One or both of these parameters are observed in failing hearts. Our present data show that saxagliptin interferes with the CaMKII-PLB axis in a DPP9-dependent manner, while sitagliptin had no effect on these signaling events. Furthermore, saxagliptin (but not sitagliptin) and TC-E 5007 impaired τ_{CaT} in mouse ventricular cardiomyocytes.

Apart from contractile dysfunction, prolonged APD and QT interval are considered hallmarks of HF (Wang and Hill, 2010). In the present study, we observed prolongation of APD in mouse ventricular cardiomyocytes after superfusion with saxagliptin (but not sitagliptin). Reduced PKC activity, as observed with saxagliptin, was correlated to impaired delayed-rectifier K⁺ current, prolonged APD and QT interval (Koyani et al., 2017). In the present study, we further discovered that DPP9 is involved in saxagliptin-reduced PKC activity.

On the contrary, sitagliptin treatment had no effect on PKC activity in cardiomyocytes. This observation is in line with a previous study where sitagliptin was ineffective to PKC activity in human endothelial cells (Hasegawa et al., 2016). However, in THP-1 macrophages, saxagliptin inhibited oxidized low-density lipoprotein-induced pPKC levels (Dai et al., 2014), indicating a link between saxagliptin and PKC pathway.

Our *in vitro* data demonstrating ineffectiveness of sitagliptin on cardiac signaling, contractility and electrophysiology may provide a molecular mechanism for *in vivo* data showing no link between sitaglitpin treatment and risk of HF (Green et al., 2015). Moreover, this is the first study to reveal the role of DPP9 in cardiac signaling, contractility and electrophysiology. Our data reveal DPP9 as a novel saxagliptin-target that initiates intracellular signaling cascades leading cardiac contractile and electrophysiological dysfunction.

Limitations

The DPP8/9 inhibitor, TC-E 5007, has a slow onset of action on PKC inhibition (10 min, **Figure 5C**) that lead to prolongation of APD, and we have performed patch clamp experiments in a "before and after superfusion" setting. Therefore, we could not perform patch clamp experiments using TC-E 5007 according to our experimental setting. Moreover, adult primary mouse cardiomyocytes are notoriously hard to keep in culture for prolonged periods of time. This precluded silencing experiments with sufficient knockdown efficiency and cell viability.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CK, CT, SS, SK, and IP performed experiments and analyzed the data. BB and TM performed structural analysis. All authors interpreted and discussed data, and contributed to manuscript writing.

FUNDING

This work was partly supported by the President's International Fellowship Initiative of CAS (No. 2015VBB045), the National Natural Science Foundation of China (No. 31450110423), the Austrian Science Fund (FWF: P28854 and I3792), the Austrian Research Promotion Agency (FFG: 864690), the Integrative Metabolism Research Center Graz, the Austrian infrastructure program 2016/2017, BioTechMed/Graz, and the OMICS center Graz to TM. This work was partly supported by research grant from the Austrian National Bank (17600) to EM, and the FWF (MOLIN-W1241) to WS.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fphys.2018. 01622/full#supplementary-material

REFERENCES

- Ackers-Johnson, M., Li, P. Y., Holmes, A. P., O'brien, S. M., Pavlovic, D., and Foo, R. S. (2016). A simplified, langendorff-free method for concomitant isolation of viable cardiac myocytes and nonmyocytes from the adult mouse heart. *Circ. Res.* 119, 909–920. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.309202
- Berger, J. P., Sinharoy, R., Pocai, A., Kelly, T. M., Scapin, G., Gao, Y. D., et al. (2018). A comparative study of the binding properties, dipeptidyl peptidase-4 (DPP-4) inhibitory activity and glucose-lowering efficacy of the DPP-4 inhibitors alogliptin, linagliptin, satagliptin, sitagliptin and vildagliptin in mice. *Endocrinol. Diabetes Metab.* 1:e00002. doi: 10.1002/edm2.2
- Bers, D. M. (2000). Calcium fluxes involved in control of cardiac myocyte contraction. Circ. Res. 87, 275–281. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.87.4.275
- Bleske, B. E. (2000). Evolution and pathophysiology of chronic systolic heart failure. *Pharmacotherapy* 20, 349S–358S. doi: 10.1592/phco.20.18.349S.34605
- Boudreau, R. T., Garduno, R., and Lin, T. J. (2002). Protein phosphatase 2A and protein kinase Calpha are physically associated and are involved in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*-induced interleukin 6 production by mast cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* 277, 5322–5329. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M108623200
- Claycomb, W. C., Lanson, N. A. Jr., Stallworth, B. S., Egeland, D. B., Delcarpio, J. B., Bahinski, A., et al. (1998). HL-1 cells: a cardiac muscle cell line that contracts and retains phenotypic characteristics of the adult cardiomyocyte. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 95, 2979–2984. doi: 10.1073/pnas.95.6.2979
- Dai, Y., Wang, X., Ding, Z., Dai, D., and Mehta, J. L. (2014). DPP-4 inhibitors repress foam cell formation by inhibiting scavenger receptors through protein kinase C pathway. Acta Diabetol. 51, 471–478. doi: 10.1007/s00592-013-0541-3
- Erickson, J. R. (2014). Mechanisms of CaMKII activation in the heart. *Front. Pharmacol.* 5:59. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2014.00059
- Green, J. B., Bethel, M. A., Armstrong, P. W., Buse, J. B., Engel, S. S., Garg, J., et al. (2015). Effect of sitagliptin on cardiovascular outcomes in type 2 diabetes. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 373, 232–242. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1501352
- Hasegawa, H., Nakamura, Y., Tsuji, M., Ono, R., Oguchi, T., Oguchi, K., et al. (2016). Sitagliptin inhibits the lipopolysaccharide-induced inflammation. *J. Pharm. Drug Deliv. Res.* 5, 1–7. doi: 10.4172/2325-9604.1000148
- He, H., Tran, P., Yin, H., Smith, H., Flood, D., Kramp, R., et al. (2009). Disposition of vildagliptin, a novel dipeptidyl peptidase 4 inhibitor, in rats and dogs. *Drug Metab. Dispos.* 37, 545–554. doi: 10.1124/dmd.108.023002
- Jain, P., Hassan, A. M., Koyani, C. N., Mayerhofer, R., Reichmann, F., Farzi, A., et al. (2015). Behavioral and molecular processing of visceral pain in the brain of mice: impact of colitis and psychological stress. *Front. Behav. Neurosci.* 9:177. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2015.00177
- Kasznicki, J., and Drzewoski, J. (2014). Heart failure in the diabetic population - pathophysiology, diagnosis and management. Arch. Med. Sci. 10, 546–556. doi: 10.5114/aoms.2014.43748
- Kim, D., Wang, L., Beconi, M., Eiermann, G. J., Fisher, M. H., He, H., et al. (2005). (2R)-4-oxo-4-[3-(trifluoromethyl)-5,6-dihydro[1,2,4]triazolo[4,3-a]pyrazin-7(8H)-yl]-1-(2,4,5-trifluorophenyl)butan-2-amine: a potent, orally active dipeptidyl peptidase IV inhibitor for the treatment of type 2 diabetes. *J. Med. Chem.* 48, 141–151. doi: 10.1021/jm0493156
- Koyani, C. N., Kitz, K., Rossmann, C., Bernhart, E., Huber, E., Trummer, C., et al. (2016). Activation of the MAPK/Akt/Nrf2-Egr1/HO-1-GCLc axis protects MG-63 osteosarcoma cells against 15d-PGJ2-mediated cell death. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 104, 29–41. doi: 10.1016/j.bcp.2016.01.011
- Koyani, C. N., Kolesnik, E., Wolkart, G., Shrestha, N., Scheruebel, S., Trummer, C., et al. (2017). Dipeptidyl peptidase-4 independent cardiac dysfunction links saxagliptin to heart failure. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 145, 64–80. doi: 10.1016/j.bcp. 2017.08.021
- Koyani, C. N., Windischhofer, W., Rossmann, C., Jin, G., Kickmaier, S., Heinzel, F. R., et al. (2014). 15-deoxy-Delta(1)(2),(1)(4)-PGJ(2) promotes inflammation and apoptosis in cardiomyocytes via the DP2/MAPK/TNFalpha axis. *Int. J. Cardiol.* 173, 472–480. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2014.03.086
- Lankas, G. R., Leiting, B., Roy, R. S., Eiermann, G. J., Beconi, M. G., Biftu, T., et al. (2005). Dipeptidyl peptidase IV inhibition for the treatment of type 2 diabetes: potential importance of selectivity over dipeptidyl peptidases 8 and 9. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 54, 2988–2994. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.54.10.2988
- Lee, C. S., Kim, Y. G., Cho, H. J., Park, J., Jeong, H., Lee, S. E., et al. (2016). Dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitor increases vascular leakage in retina

through ve-cadherin phosphorylation. Sci. Rep. 6:29393. doi: 10.1038/ srep29393

- Lubbers, E. R., and Mohler, P. J. (2016). Roles and regulation of protein phosphatase 2A (PP2A) in the heart. J. Mol. Cell Cardiol. 101, 127–133. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2016.11.003
- Mandinov, L., Eberli, F. R., Seiler, C., and Hess, O. M. (2000). Diastolic heart failure. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 45, 813–825. doi: 10.1016/S0008-6363(99)00399-5
- McMurray, J. J., Gerstein, H. C., Holman, R. R., and Pfeffer, M. A. (2014). Heart failure: a cardiovascular outcome in diabetes that can no longer be ignored. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol.* 2, 843–851. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(14)70031-2
- Metzler, W. J., Yanchunas, J., Weigelt, C., Kish, K., Klei, H. E., Xie, D., et al. (2008). Involvement of DPP-IV catalytic residues in enzyme-saxagliptin complex formation. *Protein Sci.* 17, 240–250. doi: 10.1110/ps.073253208
- Miki, T., Yuda, S., Kouzu, H., and Miura, T. (2013). Diabetic cardiomyopathy: pathophysiology and clinical features. *Heart Fail. Rev.* 18, 149–166. doi: 10. 1007/s10741-012-9313-3
- Okondo, M. C., Johnson, D. C., Sridharan, R., Go, E. B., Chui, A. J., Wang, M. S., et al. (2017). DPP8 and DPP9 inhibition induces pro-caspase-1-dependent monocyte and macrophage pyroptosis. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* 13, 46–53. doi: 10.1038/ nchembio.2229
- Olsen, C., and Wagtmann, N. (2002). Identification and characterization of human DPP9, a novel homologue of dipeptidyl peptidase IV. *Gene* 299, 185–193. doi: 10.1016/S0378-1119(02)01059-4

Onglyza (2016). Onglyza (Saxagliptin). Wilmington, DE: AstraZeneca.

- Peter, R., Cox, A., and Evans, M. (2008). Management of diabetes in cardiovascular patients: diabetic heart disease. *Heart* 94, 369–375. doi: 10.1136/hrt.2006. 098210
- Ross, B., Krapp, S., Augustin, M., Kierfersauer, R., Arciniega, M., Geiss-Friedlander, R., et al. (2018). Structures and mechanism of dipeptidyl peptidases 8 and 9, important players in cellular homeostasis and cancer. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 115, E1437–E1445. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1717565115
- Scheruebel, S., Koyani, C. N., Hallstrom, S., Lang, P., Platzer, D., Machler, H., et al. (2014). I(f) blocking potency of ivabradine is preserved under elevated endotoxin levels in human atrial myocytes. *J. Mol. Cell Cardiol.* 72, 64–73. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2014.02.010
- Scirica, B. M., Bhatt, D. L., Braunwald, E., Steg, P. G., Davidson, J., Hirshberg, B., et al. (2013). Saxagliptin and cardiovascular outcomes in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 369, 1317–1326. doi: 10.1056/ NEJMoa1307684
- Shigeta, T., Aoyama, M., Bando, Y. K., Monji, A., Mitsui, T., Takatsu, M., et al. (2012). Dipeptidyl peptidase-4 modulates left ventricular dysfunction in chronic heart failure via angiogenesis-dependent and -independent actions. *Circulation* 126, 1838–1851. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.112.096479
- Sontag, E., Sontag, J. M., and Garcia, A. (1997). Protein phosphatase 2A is a critical regulator of protein kinase C zeta signaling targeted by SV40 small t to promote cell growth and NF-kappaB activation. *EMBO J.* 16, 5662–5671. doi: 10.1093/emboj/16.18.5662
- Spagnuolo, P. A., Hurren, R., Gronda, M., Maclean, N., Datti, A., Basheer, A., et al. (2013). Inhibition of intracellular dipeptidyl peptidases 8 and 9 enhances parthenolide's anti-leukemic activity. *Leukemia* 27, 1236–1244. doi: 10.1038/leu. 2013.9
- Tang, Z., Li, J., Shen, Q., Feng, J., Liu, H., Wang, W., et al. (2017). Contribution of upregulated dipeptidyl peptidase 9 (DPP9) in promoting tumoregenicity, metastasis and the prediction of poor prognosis in non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). *Int. J. Cancer* 140, 1620–1632. doi: 10.1002/ijc.30571
- Udell, J. A., Cavender, M. A., Bhatt, D. L., Chatterjee, S., Farkouh, M. E., and Scirica, B. M. (2015). Glucose-lowering drugs or strategies and cardiovascular outcomes in patients with or at risk for type 2 diabetes: a meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol.* 3, 356–366. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(15)00044-3
- Udenfriend, S., Stein, S., Bohlen, P., Dairman, W., Leimgruber, W., and Weigele, M. (1972). Fluorescamine: a reagent for assay of amino acids, peptides, proteins, and primary amines in the picomole range. *Science* 178, 871–872. doi: 10.1126/ science.178.4063.871
- Wang, A., Dorso, C., Kopcho, L., Locke, G., Langish, R., Harstad, E., et al. (2012). Potency, selectivity and prolonged binding of saxagliptin to DPP4: maintenance of DPP4 inhibition by saxagliptin *in vitro* and *ex vivo* when compared to a

rapidly-dissociating DPP4 inhibitor. *BMC Pharmacol.* 12:2. doi: 10.1186/1471-2210-12-2

- Wang, Y., and Hill, J. A. (2010). Electrophysiological remodeling in heart failure. J. Mol. Cell Cardiol. 48, 619–632. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2010. 01.009
- Yu, D. M., Yao, T. W., Chowdhury, S., Nadvi, N. A., Osborne, B., Church, W. B., et al. (2010). The dipeptidyl peptidase IV family in cancer and cell biology. *FEBS J.* 277, 1126–1144. doi: 10.1111/j.1742-4658.2009.07526.x
- Zhang, H., Maqsudi, S., Rainczuk, A., Duffield, N., Lawrence, J., Keane, F. M., et al. (2015). Identification of novel dipeptidyl peptidase 9 substrates by two-dimensional differential in-gel electrophoresis. *FEBS J.* 282, 3737–3757. doi: 10.1111/febs.13371

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Koyani, Trummer, Shrestha, Scheruebel, Bourgeois, Plastira, Kickmaier, Sourij, Rainer, Madl, Sattler, Pelzmann, Malle and von Lewinski. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Role of Leukocytes in Diabetic Cardiomyopathy

Anamika Bajpai and Douglas G. Tilley*

Center for Translational Medicine, Lewis Katz School of Medicine, Temple University, Philadelphia, PA, United States

Diabetes is predominant risk factor for cardiovascular diseases such as myocardial infarction and heart failure. Recently, leukocytes, particularly neutrophils, macrophages, and lymphocytes, have become targets of investigation for their potential role in a number of chronic inflammatory diseases such as diabetes and heart failure. While leukocytes contribute significantly to the progression of diabetes and heart failure individually, understanding their participation in the pathogenesis of diabetic heart failure is much less understood. The present review summarizes the role of leukocytes in the complex interplay between diabetes and heart failure, which is critical to the discovery of new targeted therapies for diabetic cardiomyopathy.

Keywords: diabetes, heart failure, leukocyte, lymphocyte, inflammation

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Laurent Metzinger, University of Picardie Jules Verne, France

Reviewed by:

Tong Liu, Tianjin Medical University, China Xiaoqiang Tang, Sichuan University, China

> *Correspondence: Douglas G. Tilley douglas.tilley@temple.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cardiac Electrophysiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 18 July 2018 Accepted: 16 October 2018 Published: 01 November 2018

Citation:

Bajpai A and Tilley DG (2018) The Role of Leukocytes in Diabetic Cardiomyopathy. Front. Physiol. 9:1547. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01547 INTRODUCTION

Diabetes is a metabolic syndrome that manifests a low grade of systemic inflammation, leads to an increase in all-cause mortality and contributes to the development of number of cardiovascular complications (Duncan et al., 2003). Cardiovascular diseases remain the leading cause of deaths in the United States and in many countries globally, including coronary heart disease, stroke, high blood pressure, and arterial diseases (Benjamin et al., 2018). Notably, death rates among adults with both heart disease and diabetes mellitus are 2–4 times higher than those with heart disease alone, and the mortality rate of patients with heart disease >65 years of age is \sim 68% in conjunction with diabetes (Benjamin et al., 2018). Clearly diabetes very negatively impacts the progression and outcome of heart disease, thus understanding the interplay between the two is an important endeavor for advancing treatment strategies of patients with diabetic cardiomyopathy (DCM).

The mechanisms contributing to diabetic cardiac dysfunction are complex and involve a number of molecular phenotypes including insulin resistance, oxidative/nitrative stress (Vita and Keaney, 2002; Creager et al., 2003; Widlansky et al., 2003), activation of mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) (Malek et al., 1999; Vita, 2002), pro-inflammatory, poly (adenosine diphosphate [ADP]ribose) polymerase (PARP) (Calles-Escandon and Cipolla, 2001), transcription factors (Kim et al., 2006; Bakker et al., 2009), as well as changes in the composition of extracellular matrix (Heil and Schaper, 2004) and inactivation of pro-survival pathways (Silver and Vita, 2006), eventually leading to cell death (Korshunov et al., 2007), which have been reviewed elsewhere (Jia et al., 2018). At a cellular level, high glucose levels negatively impact the function of several cell populations such as cardiac progenitor cells (Salabei et al., 2016), cardiomyocytes, adipocytes (Wang et al., 2006), fibroblasts (Russo and Frangogiannis, 2016) and leukocytes (Burke et al., 2004). For instance, higher levels of glucose and free fatty acids stress pancreatic islets and insulin-sensitive tissue such as adipose tissue, which leads to local production of the cytokines interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β), tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α) and chemokines CC-chemokine ligand 2 (CCL2), CCL3

47

and CXC-chemokine ligand 8 (CXCL8). Exposure to glucose also results in increased levels of advanced glycation (glycosylation or glycoxidation) end products (AGEs) that can directly regulate endothelial cell permeability, monocyte migration, and ultimately promotes inflammatory gene expression, contributing to microvascular and macrovascular complications (Goldin et al., 2006). Glucose levels also correlate with mitochondrial transmembrane potential in peripheral blood leukocytes attained from human Type I diabetics (Matteucci et al., 2011), an increase of which results in elevated superoxide production that may directly contribute to cell damage (Brownlee, 2001).

Numerous studies have shown that leukocytes and their subsets (neutrophils, monocytes, and lymphocytes) are involved in both the initiation and progression of cardiovascular diseases (Madjid et al., 2004; Hansson, 2005; Sarndahl et al., 2007). Diabetic cardiac injury is characterized by increased leukocyte mobilization and secreted pro-inflammatory cytokines, adhesion molecules, oxidative stress (Yu et al., 2011; Hernandez-Mijares et al., 2013) and stimulation of nuclear factor kappa-light-chainenhancer of activated B cells (NF- κ B) (Lorenzo et al., 2011). Higher leukocyte counts are associated with predicting the risk of cardiovascular disease in diabetic patients (Hong et al., 2014), suggesting a key role of these cells in worsening diabetesassociated cardiovascular disease.

A number of review articles have summarized the role of leukocytes in either diabetes or cardiovascular disease (for instance please refer to: Donath and Shoelson, 2011; Frangogiannis, 2014); however, increasing rates of heart failure in diabetic patients warrants an examination of the literature regarding the role of leukocytes in diabetic cardiovascular disease. Therefore, this review focuses on the role and behavior of leukocytes in the pathogenesis of diabetic heart failure.

LEUKOCYTES, INFLAMMATION, AND DIABETES

Leukocytes are essential mediators of the immune system that fight against foreign elements and maintain tissue homeostasis (Fearon and Locksley, 1996). Leukocytes work in an organized fashion with an impressive range of action (Odegaard and Chawla, 2008). They are derived from hematopoietic stem cells (progenitor cells) in the bone marrow. These pluripotent stem cells produce two distinct lineages: lymphoid progenitor cells and myeloid progenitor cells. Lymphoid progenitors are the precursors of T- and B- lymphocytes (Tand B-cells) and myeloid progenitors are the precursors of neutrophils, basophils, eosinophils, monocytes, macrophages, erythrocytes, dendritic cells, and platelets (Kondo, 2010). Monocytes/macrophages, neutrophils, and lymphocytes in particular have been demonstrated to both regulate and be impacted by the pathogenesis of diabetes (Hong et al., 2014).

Chronic inflammatory diseases, including diabetes, are characterized by dysfunctional and uncontrolled leukocyte behavior (Graves and Kayal, 2008; Swirski and Nahrendorf, 2013). Leukocyte recruitment is triggered by inflammation and they can produce a plethora of cytokines, chemokines, and reactive oxygen/nitrogen species to act systemically during diabetes (Naguib et al., 2004), and at local sites during myocardial infarction- or atherosclerosis-induced cardiac injury (Hansson and Libby, 2006; Eming et al., 2007), thereby contributing to sustained inflammation. Early inflammatory events in diabetes triggers the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines including TNF- α , IL-1 β , and IL-6 (Medzhitov and Janeway, 2000), which gradually increase as the disease progresses (Pickup et al., 1997). Several studies have demonstrated that initial elevated levels circulating IL-6, plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 (PAI-1), C-reactive protein (CRP) and fibrinogen, are associated with the manifestation of diabetes (Pradhan et al., 2001; Festa et al., 2002; Meigs et al., 2004). Pro-inflammatory cytokines downregulate the major anabolic cascades involved in insulin signaling and impair glucose homeostasis (Hotamisligil et al., 1995; Lumeng et al., 2007b). In response to pro-inflammatory mediators, the endothelial lining of the microvasculature will increase expression of intracellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1) and/or vascular cell adhesion molecule (VCAM-1) that interact with leukocyte-expressed integrins to capture them and allow their migration to the injured area (Chan et al., 2001; Henderson et al., 2001). These inflammatory cascades are tightly regulated by nuclear transcription factors including NF-κB, a master molecule of inflammation and tissue hemostasis (Lawrence, 2009). NFκB activation leads to or boosts the expression of cytokines, chemokines and adhesion molecules and more prominent leukocyte recruitment. Thus, the inflammatory cascades - from leukocyte activation to NF-KB stimulation - work in a positive feedback loop fashion (Monaco et al., 2004; Lawrence, 2009).

Many leukocyte subsets are involved in diabetes-associated chronic inflammation, in particular neutrophils, macrophages, and T-cells. Neutrophils react to and secrete higher levels of cytokines and growth factors in diabetic patients relative to healthy controls, including IL-8, IL-1 β , TNF- α , and IL-1ra, which contribute to further migration of neutrophils to inflammatory sites, phagocytic activity, release of lytic proteases, production of reactive oxygen species and apoptosis (Werner and Grose, 2003; Komesu et al., 2004; Baum and Arpey, 2005; Hatanaka et al., 2006). The excessive production of cytokines and exacerbation of neutrophil and macrophage activation may contribute to further tissue damage and increased susceptibility to invasive microorganisms (Tennenberg et al., 1999).

Macrophages are well-established phagocytic cells, which renders them effective at the clearance of apoptotic and necrotic cells (Gordon, 2003; Gordon and Martinez, 2010), but exist along a continuum of phenotypes that makes them difficult to definitively classify. As such, various classifications exist including classically activated macrophages (CAM φ s) vs. alternatively activated macrophages (CAM φ s) vs. alternatively activated macrophages (AAM φ s) (Gordon and Martinez, 2010), and the more broad pro-inflammatory (M1) vs. pro-reparative (M2) macrophages (Nahrendorf et al., 2007; Mosser and Edwards, 2008; Bajpai et al., 2018). Under diabetic conditions, macrophages are recruited into adipose tissue (AT) and activated via local cytokine secretion (TNF- α , IL-12, and IL-6) (Vachharajani and Granger, 2009), contributing to the establishment of an inflammatory profile and insulin resistance within the tissue. A deficiency of MCP-1 (CCL2) or CCR2 (CCL2 receptor) in mice results in the impairment of pro-inflammatory macrophage recruitment to adipose tissue, thus impeding the induction of insulin resistance (Kanda et al., 2006; Yu et al., 2006) and suggesting an important role for pro-inflammatory macrophages in the initiation and development of diabetes. Further, free fatty acids can be recognized by Toll-like receptors (TLRs), leading to the activation of macrophages, which release more TNF-α (Shi et al., 2006; Davis et al., 2008). TNF-α, one of the cytokines most abundantly secreted by CAMøs, has the ability to reduce the expression of important genes in the glucose regulation process, such as the glucose transporter GLUT-4 (Lumeng et al., 2007a); in fact, TNF-α receptor KO mice are resistant to diabetes stimulation (Uysal et al., 1997), suggesting the endocrine function of adipose tissue (AT) directly impacts the development of insulin resistance via recruitment and activation of CAM s. Secretion of cytokines by CAM s further activates the JNK and NF-KB signaling pathways in various leukocytes, thereby promoting the further production of IL-1 β , TNF- α , and MCP-1 and increasing the expression of iNOS, all of which contribute to insulin resistance in different tissues (Kaneto et al., 2005a,b; Andreasen et al., 2011). Myeloid-specific Ikk- β (an activator of NF-KB)-deficient mice have shown decreased NF-KB activation and pro-inflammatory cytokine production (IL-1β, IL-6, TNFα, and MCP-1), leading to inhibition of the development of insulin resistance (Arkan et al., 2005). Of note, it has been shown that IL-10 produced by AAMqs blocks the pathological effects of TNF-a in AT (Lumeng et al., 2007b; Prieur et al., 2011), suggesting that while CAM ϕ s have insulin resistanceinducing effects, AAM\u03c6s have a protector role within AT. Indeed, A-ZIP transgenic mice (that are insulin-resistant and hyperlipidemic), which have a deficiency in MCP-1, displayed decreased hyperglycemia, hyperinsulinemia, and hepatomegaly; moreover, these mice had increased levels of AAM ws markers, such as Arg1 and Chi313 (Nio et al., 2012). Notably, AAMq development is dependent on IL-4/IL-13 stimulation, which activates the transcription factor STAT-6, and STAT-6-deficient mice are more prone to obesity, oxidative stress in their AT and susceptibility to T2D development, which, in turn, is associated with the absence of AAM qs (Ricardo-Gonzalez et al., 2010).

Recent studies suggest adaptive immune cells, especially T lymphocytes, also play a pivotal role in diabetes. As with macrophages, CD4⁺ effector T cells can be divided into proinflammatory Th1, Th17, and anti-inflammatory Th2 and Foxp3⁺ regulatory T cell (Treg) subtypes based on their functionality and cytokine production (Raphael et al., 2015). Once activated, Th1 and Th2 cells show many significant signs of inflammation, such as cytokine release. For instance, Th1 cells produce interferon gamma- (IFN-y), interleukin-2 (IL-2), and tumor necrosis factor beta (TNF-β), triggering cellmediated immunity and phagocyte-dependent inflammation (Raphael et al., 2015). Th2 cells, in contrast, produce IL-4, IL-5, IL-6, IL-9, IL-10, and IL-13 to regulate antibody responses (Kahn et al., 2006). Studies have shown that Th1 and Th2 cells have key functional roles in regulating inflammatory processes, although they are activated later than macrophages during inflammation (Cintra et al., 2008; Martinez et al., 2008). Th17 cells, important pro-inflammatory CD4⁺ T cell subtypes that secrete IL-17 and

IL-22, have also been associated with diabetes (Zuniga et al., 2010; Zhang et al., 2014). It was shown that macrophages from AT express the IL-22 receptor (IL-22R) and respond to Th17-released IL-22 to secret more IL-1 β , thereby further promoting AT inflammation (Dalmas et al., 2014; Zhao R. et al., 2014). In all, leukocytes clearly contribute to the pathogenesis of diabetes, and herein we will discuss the impact of leukocyte regulation in diabetic cardiomyopathy.

LEUKOCYTES IN DIABETIC CARDIOMYOPATHY

Heart failure associated with diabetes, or DCM, is a common hallmark of diabetes progression. As discussed above, diabetes is associated with chronic systemic inflammation, which leads to leukocyte activation and recruitment to various organs and further inflammatory tissue remodeling over time. In general, this results in organ fibrosis as resident fibroblasts become activated in response to pathophysiologic conditions, which for the heart leads to wall stiffening and decreased contractility (Russo and Frangogiannis, 2016). Reduced cardiac output ultimately stimulates further cardiac inflammation and fibrosis, leading to dilation and established heart failure. Leukocytes are known to modulate cardiac fibroblasts by virtue of secreted mediators of fibrosis, including transforming growth factor-*β* (TGF-β) (Bugger and Abel, 2014; Russo and Frangogiannis, 2016), however, whether DCM-induced fibrosis is preceded by leukocyte infiltration and activation has not been reported.

Several factors contribute to DCM and the potential leukocyte responsiveness during its progression, including chronic hyperglycemia, which leads to obesity, high cholesterol levels, as well as high blood pressure and coronary artery diseases. Recent evidence suggests cross-talk between inflammation and insulin signaling, highlighting a strong relationship between insulin-resistant states, inflammation, and heart failure (Kim et al., 2005). For example, altered microvascular endothelial ICAM-1 expression in diabetic rats has been shown to be restored with insulin treatment (Anjos-Valotta et al., 2006). There are also multiple molecular pathways involved in the induction of diabetic heart failure including oxidative/nitrative stress (Vita and Keaney, 2002; Creager et al., 2003; Widlansky et al., 2003), activation of mitogenactivated protein kinase (MAPK) (Malek et al., 1999; Vita, 2002), pro-inflammatory, poly (adenosine diphosphate [ADP]ribose) polymerase (PARP) (Calles-Escandon and Cipolla, 2001) and transcription factors signaling pathways (Kim et al., 2006; Bakker et al., 2009), as well as changes in the composition of extracellular matrix (Heil and Schaper, 2004) and inactivation of pro-survival pathways (Silver and Vita, 2006).

In the early phase of inflammation, proinflammatory cytokines including TNF α , IL-6 (Dinh et al., 2009) IL-1 β (Masters et al., 2011), Interferon (IFN)- γ , TGF- β (Biernacka et al., 2015 are secreted by macrophages and/or lymphocytes and may cause or exacerbate cardiac injury. In addition, these locally produced cytokines have been found to possess autocrine

and paracrine properties that can influence neighboring tissues to enhance vascular permeability (Salt et al., 2003), recruitment of invasive leukocytes (Hokama et al., 2000; Pettersson et al., 2011) and reactive oxygen species (ROS) production (Giacco and Brownlee, 2010; Mann, 2015; Low Wang et al., 2016). Altogether, disturbances in metabolic and inflammatory signaling pathways during diabetes progression are associated with alterations in leukocyte activation and enhanced cardiac inflammation (**Figure 1**). Therefore, in this section of review, we will discuss the role of leukocytes subsets in DCM.

Neutrophils

Neutrophils often provide the first line of defense at sites of inflammation. These are considered short-lived effector cells, possessing limited capacity for biosynthetic activity and ROS generation, but have been shown to be crucially involved in cardiac repair by polarizing macrophages toward a reparative phenotype (Horckmans et al., 2017). In addition, they secrete a number of factors that regulate inflammation, including peroxidases, cytokines, microparticles (MPs), and neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs). The activity of myeloperoxidase (MPO), stored in azurophilic granules of neutrophils and released during inflammation (Anatoliotakis et al., 2013), has been shown to be increased in the plasma of patients with diabetes concomitant with coronary heart disease (Gorudko et al., 2012). Neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin (NGAL) is one of the cytokines solely produced by neutrophils and its expression is increased following acute myocardial infarction and during chronic heart failure (Yndestad et al., 2009; Villacorta et al., 2015). NGAL modulates the enzymatic activity of matrix metalloproteinase-9 (MMP-9) and is an important mediator of plaque instability in atherosclerosis, suggesting that it might play a role in thrombo-inflammation (Sivalingam et al., 2017). MPs are small vesicles $(0.1-1.0 \text{ }\mu\text{m})$ released from stimulated and/or apoptotic endothelial cells, platelets, and leukocytes (monocytes and neutrophils) (Boulanger et al., 2017). Neutrophil-derived MPs, which can be regulated by endothelium-derived MPs and depend on locally released nitric oxide (Muller, 2014), contain the functionally active anti-inflammatory protein annexin 1, which inhibits the interaction between leukocytes and endothelial cells in vitro and in vivo (Hayhoe et al., 2006; Sugimoto et al., 2016). The changes and roles of MPs in either diabetes, heart failure or DCM remains largely unknown.

A recently identified process involving NET formation, which involves the release of DNA and granule proteins of neutrophils that prime other immune cells to augment inflammation, may contribute to the development of DCM since studies have indicated that NET formation is enhanced in diabetic patients and ultimately contributes to impaired wound healing (Papayannopoulos, 2015; Wong et al., 2015). The release of NETs,



FIGURE 1 Schematic diagram depicting infiltration of leukocytes from the circulation and their role in the diabetic cardiomyopathy (DCM). In DCM, a number of local processes are activated by glucose metabolites, reactive oxygen species (ROS) and pro-inflammatory cytokines together with accumulation of neutrophils and macrophages into the lesion site. Upon infiltration, neutrophils release extracellular traps (NETs) which induce sustained inflammation. Activated macrophages phagocytose cellular debris and also release pro-inflammatory cytokines and growth factors which activates fibroblasts to induce fibrosis. Th1 cells secrete pro-inflammatory cytokines may predict the progression of DCM. Abbreviations: ap-NT, apoptotic neutrophils; B cells, B lymphocytes; CM, cardiomyocytes; End, endothelial cells; FB, Fibroblast; G-Mets, Glucose metabolites; In-CM, Injured cardiomyocytes; ICAM1, Intracellular adhesion molecule 1; IL6, Interleukin 6; IL1β, Interleukin 1 beta; IFNγ, Interferon gamma; M1, pro-inflammatory macrophages; Mo, monocytes; Mφ, activated macrophages; NETs, Neutrophils extracellular traps; NT, neutrophils; ROS, reactive oxygen species; Th1, T helper cells 1; Treg, T regulatory cells; VCAM1, vascular cell adhesion molecule 1.

termed NETosis, is a proposed cell death mechanism, which, if dysregulated, can contribute to pathogenesis (Fadini et al., 2016; Papayannopoulos, 2018). During NETosis, mitochondrial ROS, inflammatory cytokines and glucose metabolites may each participate in the activation of NF-κB to transcriptionally upregulate peptidyl arginine deiminase 4 (PAD-4), which acts to promote histone processing, an important event in NET formation (Azroyan et al., 2015; Wong et al., 2015). Subsequently the digestion products and granule proteins contents are released into the extracellular space, providing an extremely strong pro-inflammatory stimulus (Wong et al., 2015; Silk et al., 2017). Future studies will be required to determine the specific impact of NETosis in diabetes progression, and more specifically in DCM.

Macrophages

Macrophages have been implicated in the pathogenesis of diabetes, wherein they display impaired phagocytic activity (Tan et al., 1975; Khanna et al., 2010), reduced release of lysosomal enzymes (McManus et al., 2001), and reduced chemotactic activity (Khanna et al., 2010; Raj et al., 2018) in diabetic patients. These traits are significantly correlated with increased blood glucose levels (Jakelic et al., 1995) and reversed by decreasing blood glucose levels in both humans (Jakelic et al., 1995) and rats (Alba-Loureiro et al., 2006). Normally in injured tissue, macrophages engulf apoptotic cells and cellular debris to reduce inflammation, a phenomenon called efferocytosis (DeBerge et al., 2017). Several molecular processes contribute to this mechanism and in particular the metalloproteinase disintegrin and metalloproteinase domain-containing protein 9 (ADAM-9) was shown to be upregulated in macrophages under conditions of high glucose, secondary to decreased expression of miR-126, which increased MER proto-oncogene, tyrosine kinase (MerTK) cleavage to ultimately reduce efferocytosis (Suresh Babu et al., 2016). Importantly, human diabetic hearts displayed the same molecular signatures in terms of miR-126, ADAM9, and cleaved MerTK expression, suggesting this process may be involved in regulating human DCM progression. Thus, impaired efferocytosis would be expected to prolong cardiac inflammation as dead cardiomyocytes and debris would not be efficiently removed.

As discussed above, macrophages have been demonstrated to exist along a spectrum of phenotypes book-ended by either pro-inflammatory (M1) or pro-reparative (M2) descriptors, and certainly a regulated balance between the two subtypes is necessary for homeostasis of inflammation (Nahrendorf et al., 2007; Mosser and Edwards, 2008; Bajpai et al., 2018). During diabetes the balance favors the M1 phenotype, which acts to promote a low level of chronic tissue inflammation and insulin resistance (Rao et al., 2014). M1 macrophages have been shown to be upregulated in the myocardium prior to the onset of cardiac dysfunction (Nahrendorf et al., 2007) and early nonselective macrophage depletion with clodronate liposomes has been demonstrated to reduce cardiac inflammation (Schilling et al., 2012). Conversely, macrophages of the M2 phenotype are associated with reduced cardiac inflammation under conditions of experimental diabetes (Jadhav et al., 2013), however, further

investigation is required to elucidate the impact of phenotypespecific depletion or activation of macrophages in the context of DCM. Notably, the M1 and M2 classification system is now thought to be oversimplified, with recognition of a spectrum of multiple macrophage phenotypes (Xue et al., 2014) that have been recently identified and which have unknown impact on DCM.

T-Lymphocytes

Distinct T-lymphocytes subtypes, including T-helper subsets (Th) and T regulatory cells (Treg), regulate inflammation and insulin resistance. Increased frequency of Th1, Th17, and Th22 subsets were shown to contribute to coronary artery disease onset in diabetic patients after adjusting for age, sex, and duration of diabetes (Zhao R.X. et al., 2014). In another study, increased serum levels of Th1-associated cytokines (IL-12 and IFN- γ) with strong suppression of Th2-associated cytokines (IL-4, -5) were found to be correlated with diabetic coronary artery disease (Madhumitha et al., 2014). Several clinical studies have confirmed that Th1-associated cytokines are upregulated in the peripheral blood from pre-diabetic or T2DM (type 2 diabetes) patients (Zeng et al., 2012; McLaughlin et al., 2014), whereas the activation of Th2 cell-mediated immunity is delayed and impaired in diabetes (Wu et al., 2011). IL17- secreting Th17 cells are also increased in T2DM patients and may be associated with dysregulated lipid metabolism (Zuniga et al., 2010; Zhang et al., 2014; Garidou et al., 2015).

As their name suggests, Treg cells regulate inflammatory responses and tissue impairment (Sakaguchi et al., 2008; Nosbaum et al., 2016). In T2DM, Treg cells can suppress Th1, Th2, and Th17 responses by various pathways, such as the suppression of cytokine secretion, modulation of the microenvironment, and altering the expression of surface receptors to improve insulin resistance (Guzman-Flores et al., 2013; Bluestone et al., 2015). Foxp3⁺ Treg cells have been demonstrated effective in the control of autoimmune disease (Buckner, 2010), and in DCM patients, a significant reduction in peripheral TGF- β and IL-10 with decreased Foxp3 expression contributed to an imbalance in the Treg/Th17 ratio (Li et al., 2010, 2017; Tang et al., 2010). Given the decreased number of Treg cells (Jagannathan-Bogdan et al., 2011), as well as altered Treg/Th17 and Treg/Th1 ratios in patients with T2DM (Zeng et al., 2012), an appropriate balance between proinflammatory (Th17 or Th1) and regulatory (Treg) subsets of T cells may be required to maintain overall T cell homeostasis and prevent chronic inflammation. While it is evident that T cells play an important role in mediating cardiac injury (Bansal et al., 2017), and genetic depletion of T cells protects against cardiac fibrosis and decreased LV function (Laroumanie et al., 2014; Weirather et al., 2014; Nevers et al., 2015), further delineation of the role of each T-lymphocyte subset would be worthwhile exploring specifically in the context of diabetic heart failure.

B-Lymphocytes

B-lymphocytes are antigen-presenting cells and autoantibody secretors. B-lymphocyte-deficient mice demonstrated less inflammation and exhibited improved glucose tolerance (Winer

et al., 2011). Additionally, Nishimura et al. demonstrated that mice deficient of programmed cell death protein-1 (PD- $1^{-/-}$, a key factor for B-cell differentiation) expressed elevated levels of circulating autoantibodies that bound specifically to cardiomyocytes and were associated with progression of dilated cardiomyopathy (Nishimura et al., 2001). In another study, B cells from diabetes mellitus patients had elevated pro-inflammatory IL-8 levels but failed to secrete the antiinflammatory IL-10 under a variety of pro-inflammatory conditions (Jagannathan et al., 2011). In contrast, a recent study demonstrated that naturally occurring B-regulatory cells mediate protection against autoimmune destruction of pancreatic islets by selectively suppressing autoreactive T-cell responses (Kleffel et al., 2015). Given that B cells are the earliest cell type that infiltrate pancreatic islets in mice and directly regulate islet T cell infiltration, B cell-directed therapy could be effective to protect against diabetes, however, much more insight into their action under these conditions is required.

THERAPEUTIC STRATEGIES

Since numerous signaling pathways activated during DCM ultimately contribute to fibrosis, preclinical studies have focused on mitigating this effect via targeting of various fibrogenic aspects. Several studies by the Tschöpe group showed that pre-clinical streptozotocin-induced DCM rodent models are associated with increased pro-inflammatory cytokine and adhesion molecule expression in the heart, as well as leukocyte accumulation and fibrosis, effects that were sensitive to treatment with a variety of treatments, including statin, interleukin converting enzyme inhibitor and monoclonal antibody-mediated inhibition of TNFa (Van Linthout et al., 2007; Westermann et al., 2007a,b). In addition, another group previously demonstrated that the antifibrotic agent tranilast, and its derivatives FT011 and FT23, act to oppose TGF\beta-mediated fibrosis in a streptozotocin-induced transgenic (mRen-2)27 hypertensive rat model of DCM (Martin et al., 2005; Kelly et al., 2007; Tan et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2012). These compounds acted to attenuate diastolic cardiac dysfunction, which was associated with decreased fibrosis and, notably, macrophage accumulation within the myocardium. Since therapeutic strategies for the treatment of cardiac fibrosis have been reviewed elsewhere (Russo and Frangogiannis, 2016), here we focus more specifically on clinical and preclinical evidence for potential therapies that could mitigate DCM via regulation of leukocytes themselves. As discussed above, both neutrophils and B-lymphocytes may offer potential therapeutic targets for the treatment of DCM, however, more preclinical studies will be required to assess this concept. As such, the remainder of the discussion will focus on reported responses to therapeutic strategies involving modulation of macrophage and T cell activities.

Macrophages

Although inhibition of pro-fibrotic processes appears capable of decreasing the progression of DCM and cardiac leukocyte

accumulation, reduced leukocyte accumulation within the diabetic heart has conversely been demonstrated to decrease cardiac fibrosis during experimental diabetes in rodents. For instance, treatment of either streptozotocin-induced mice, as a model for Type I diabetes, or Israeli sand rats, as a model for Type II diabetic cardiomyopathy, with the CXCR4 antagonist AMD3100 was able to decrease fibrosis, suggesting that inhibition of leukocyte recruitment to the heart during development of DCM is sufficient to decrease pro-fibrotic signaling (Chu et al., 2015). Additionally, a recent study reported that β2adrenergic receptor (B2AR) stimulation of macrophages under conditions of high glucose inhibited pro-inflammatory NF-KBdependent production of TNFa and that long-term treatment of Zucker diabetic fatty (ZDF) rats with the B2AR agonist salbutamol decreased monocyte activation, cardiac macrophage, collagen and fibronectin accumulation, as well as preserved cardiac function compared to non-salbutamol-treated ZDF rats (Noh et al., 2017). Notably, B2AR stimulation-mediated inhibition of macrophage activation in vitro and cardiomyopathy progression in vivo was context-dependent, occurring only under hyperglycemic but not normal glucose conditions, while our own studies have shown that B2AR agonism increases, while antagonism or deletion decreases, leukocyte responsiveness (Grisanti et al., 2016a,b). Thus, disease-specific environmental factors may play a key role in determining the effectiveness of potential therapeutics.

Additional studies support the involvement of macrophages in DCM, wherein clodronate-liposome-mediated depletion of macrophages was demonstrated to reduce the expression of macrophage and inflammatory markers in the heart and partially preserve cardiac function in a transgenic mouse model of cardiac lipotoxity (Schilling et al., 2012). Further, in streptozotocin-treated mice, pro-inflammatory cytokine expression, oxidative stress, fibrosis and cardiac dysfunction were associated with enhanced monocyte accumulation within the heart, all of which were reduced by treatment with bone morphogenetic protein 7 (BMP7), the supposition being that this promoted monocyte conversion into anti-inflammatory macrophages favoring survival signaling (Urbina and Singla, 2014). Similarly, fibroblast growth factor-9 administration to infarcted db/db diabetic mice was shown to enhance M2 macrophage polarization, which was associated with decreased inflammatory cytokine expression, reduced cardiac remodeling and improved cardiac function (Singla et al., 2015). Further, activation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPARy), a ligand-activated transcription factor that controls the expression of key genes involved in lipid and glucose metabolism and inflammation (Blaschke et al., 2006), has been shown to reduce human monocyte chemotaxis (Kintscher et al., 2000) and suppress macrophage pro-atherosclerotic osteopontin expression (Oyama et al., 2002), suggesting that clinically used glitazones may be able to reduce the infiltration or phenotypic conversion of pro-inflammatory macrophages.

A more recent study similarly reported alterations in streptozotocin-treated mouse hearts, including enhanced pro-inflammatory cytokine expression, fibrosis and decreased function that was associated with macrophage accumulation, but notably highlighted the negative impact of estrogen deficiency on these processes through the use of ovariectomized female mice (Jia et al., 2017). These changes were also associated with increased expression of pro-M1/anti-M2 macrophage miR155. However, exacerbation of DCM in the absence of estrogen was prevented via either clodronat liposome-mediated macrophage depletion or treatment with gold nanoparticleconjugated antago-Mir155, which promoted M2 macrophage marker expression and improved cardiac structure and function. Finally, induction of heme oxygenase-1 (HO-1) was shown to enhance M2 macrophage polarization in vitro and in rodent models, including high fat diet-fed C57BL/6 mice and ZDF rats, which led to the amelioration of pro-inflammatory cytokine generation and cardiac dysfunction in the face of diabetic cardiomyopathy (Sierra-Filardi et al., 2010; Jadhav et al., 2013; Tu et al., 2014). Altogether, these studies suggest that a balance between M1 and M2 macrophage phenotypes within the heart may be an essential component of controlling DCM progression.

T-Lymphocytes

Similar to targeting macrophages, studies have highlighted the potential therapeutic effectiveness of targeting T lymphocytes for preventing the development of DCM. For instance, streptozotocin-treated mice displayed enhanced cardiac T cell infiltration associated with increased fibrosis and decreased cardiac function, each of which were augmented by T cell-specific deletion of hypoxia inducible factor 1a (HIF-1a) (Lin et al., 2016). Further, genetic depletion of T cell trafficking protected cardiac fibrosis and LV function by reducing S1P1 and TGFβ1 expression (Laroumanie et al., 2014; Weirather et al., 2014; Nevers et al., 2015). Additionally, Rag1KO mice, which lack mature T lymphocytes, are protected against streptozotocininduced cardiac fibrosis (Abdullah et al., 2016). The same group has also reported that T-cell-specific sphingosine 1phosphate receptor 1 (S1P1)-mediated signaling is essential for the streptozotocin-induced fibrosis as the S1PR1 antagonist FTY720 was able to attenuate this response, as was T cell-specific deletion of S1PR1 (Abdullah et al., 2016; Abdullah and Jin, 2018). Notably, while depletion of T cell-specific expression of S1PR1 exerted protection against cardiac fibrosis in the diabetic model, non-streptozotocin-treated T cell-specific S1PR1 knockout mice exhibited enhanced cardiac fibrosis, suggesting that S1P1Rdependent T lymphocyte signaling differentially alters cardiac remodeling outcomes in a pathologically contextual manner.

REFERENCES

- Abdullah, C. S., and Jin, Z. Q. (2018). Targeted deletion of T cell S1P receptor 1 ameliorates cardiac fibrosis in streptozotocin-induced diabetic mice. FASEB J. 32, 5426–5435. doi: 10.1096/fj.201800231R
- Abdullah, C. S., Li, Z., Wang, X., and Jin, Z. Q. (2016). Depletion of T lymphocytes ameliorates cardiac fibrosis in streptozotocininduced diabetic cardiomyopathy. *Int. Immunopharmacol.* 39, 251–264. 10.1016/j.intimp.2016.07.027
- Alba-Loureiro, T. C., Hirabara, S. M., Mendonca, J. R., Curi, R., and Pithon-Curi, T. C. (2006). Diabetes causes marked changes in function and metabolism of rat neutrophils. *J. Endocrinol.* 188, 295–303. doi: 10.1677/joe.1. 06438

FUTURE PERSPECTIVES AND UNANSWERED QUESTIONS

Although scientists have explored new phenotypes and functions of leukocytes in the context of heart failure, their role in diabetic cardiomyopathy is still developing and there remain several important avenues of research for the future. First, although the role(s) of leukocytes in regulating DCM in different experimental rodent models may overlay, the predominant use of the streptozotocin-induced Type I diabetes rodent model to investigate the leukocytes in the development and progression of DCM potentially leads to limited applicability to the clinically relevant and highly prevalent type II diabetes-associated DCM (Holscher et al., 2016). Thus, further studies are required to understand the potential differences in leukocyte phenotypes and their underlying mechanisms for promoting DCM using rodent models that better mimic conditions observed during the development of type II diabetes mellitus. Second, B-lymphocytes clearly contribute to cardiac remodeling during the development of heart failure since systemic B-lymphocyte depletion has been shown to reduce T cell-, macrophage- and neutrophil-induced tissue damage by reducing the systemic amplification of the inflammatory response after myocardial infarction (Zouggari et al., 2013). However, the role of B-lymphocytes specifically in the progression of DCM is unknown, therefore additional studies within this context are needed. Third, there are known differences between males and females in the progression of DCM (Natarajan et al., 2003; Laverty et al., 2017). It is evident that females are protected from cardiovascular diseases due to multiples factors including estrogen receptor signaling (Pare et al., 2002), reduced ROS production, and higher antioxidants (Barp et al., 2002; Ide et al., 2002). As such, future work would be immensely beneficial in understanding potential sex-specific leukocyte behaviors during the development and progression of DCM.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AB and DT wrote the manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by NIH grant R01 HL139522 (to DT).

- Anatoliotakis, N., Deftereos, S., Bouras, G., Giannopoulos, G., Tsounis, D., Angelidis, C., et al. (2013). Myeloperoxidase: expressing inflammation and oxidative stress in cardiovascular disease. *Curr. Top. Med. Chem.* 13, 115–138. doi: 10.2174/1568026611313020004
- Andreasen, A. S., Kelly, M., Berg, R. M., Moller, K., and Pedersen, B. K. (2011). Type 2 diabetes is associated with altered NF-kappaB DNA binding activity, JNK phosphorylation, and AMPK phosphorylation in skeletal muscle after LPS. *PLoS One* 6:e23999. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0023999 doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0023999
- Anjos-Valotta, E. A., Martins, J. O., Oliveira, M. A., Casolari, D. A., Britto, L. R., Tostes, R. C., et al. (2006). Inhibition of tumor necrosis factor-alpha-induced intercellular adhesion molecule-1 expression in diabetic rats: role of insulin. *Inflamm. Res.* 55, 16–22. doi: 10.1007/s00011-005-0003-7

- Arkan, M. C., Hevener, A. L., Greten, F. R., Maeda, S., Li, Z. W., Long, J. M., et al. (2005). IKK-beta links inflammation to obesity-induced insulin resistance. *Nat. Med.* 11, 191–198. doi: 10.1038/nm1185
- Azroyan, A., Cortez-Retamozo, V., Bouley, R., Liberman, R., Ruan, Y. C., Kiselev, E., et al. (2015). Renal intercalated cells sense and mediate inflammation via the P2Y14 receptor. *PLoS One* 10:e0121419. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0121419
- Bajpai, A., Nadkarni, S., Neidrauer, M., Weingarten, M. S., Lewin, P. A., and Spiller, K. L. (2018). Effects of non-thermal, non-cavitational ultrasound exposure on human diabetic ulcer healing and inflammatory gene expression in a pilot study. *Ultrasound Med. Biol.* 44, 2043–2049. doi: 10.1016/j.ultrasmedbio.2018.05.011
- Bakker, W., Eringa, E. C., Sipkema, P., and van Hinsbergh, V. W. (2009). Endothelial dysfunction and diabetes: roles of hyperglycemia, impaired insulin signaling and obesity. *Cell Tissue Res.* 335, 165–189. doi: 10.1007/s00441-008-0685-6
- Bansal, S. S., Ismahil, M. A., Goel, M., Patel, B., Hamid, T., Rokosh, G., et al. (2017). Activated T lymphocytes are essential drivers of pathological remodeling in ischemic heart failure. *Circ. Heart Fail.* 10:e003688. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCHEARTFAILURE.116.003688
- Barp, J., Araujo, A. S., Fernandes, T. R., Rigatto, K. V., Llesuy, S., Bello-Klein, A., et al. (2002). Myocardial antioxidant and oxidative stress changes due to sex hormones. *Braz. J. Med. Biol. Res.* 35, 1075–1081. doi: 10.1590/S0100-879X2002000900008
- Baum, C. L., and Arpey, C. J. (2005). Normal cutaneous wound healing: clinical correlation with cellular and molecular events. *Dermatol. Surg.* 31, 674–686; discussion 686. doi: 10.1097/00042728-200506000-00011
- Benjamin, E. J., Virani, S. S., Callaway, C. W., Chang, A. R., Cheng, S., Chiuve, S. E., et al. (2018). Heart disease and stroke statistics-2018 update: a report from the american heart association. *Circulation* 137, e67–e492. doi: 10.1161/CIR.00000000000558
- Biernacka, A., Cavalera, M., Wang, J., Russo, I., Shinde, A., Kong, P., et al. (2015). Smad3 signaling promotes fibrosis while preserving cardiac and aortic geometry in obese diabetic mice. *Circ. Heart Fail.* 8, 788–798. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCHEARTFAILURE.114.001963
- Blaschke, F., Takata, Y., Caglayan, E., Law, R. E., and Hsueh, W. A. (2006). Obesity, peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor, and atherosclerosis in type 2 diabetes. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 26, 28–40. doi: 10.1161/01.ATV. 0000191663.12164.77
- Bluestone, J. A., Buckner, J. H., Fitch, M., Gitelman, S. E., Gupta, S., Hellerstein, M. K., et al. (2015). Type 1 diabetes immunotherapy using polyclonal regulatory T cells. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 7:315ra189. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aad4134
- Boulanger, C. M., Loyer, X., Rautou, P. E., and Amabile, N. (2017). Extracellular vesicles in coronary artery disease. *Nat. Rev. Cardiol.* 14, 259–272. doi: 10.1038/ nrcardio.2017.7
- Brownlee, M. (2001). Biochemistry and molecular cell biology of diabetic complications. *Nature* 414, 813–820. doi: 10.1038/414813a
- Buckner, J. H. (2010). Mechanisms of impaired regulation by CD4(+)CD25(+)FOXP3(+) regulatory T cells in human autoimmune diseases. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 10, 849–859. doi: 10.1038/nri2889
- Bugger, H., and Abel, E. D. (2014). Molecular mechanisms of diabetic cardiomyopathy. *Diabetologia* 57, 660–671. doi: 10.1007/s00125-014-3171-6
- Burke, A. P., Kolodgie, F. D., Zieske, A., Fowler, D. R., Weber, D. K., Varghese, P. J., et al. (2004). Morphologic findings of coronary atherosclerotic plaques in diabetics: a postmortem study. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 24, 1266–1271. doi: 10.1161/01.ATV.0000131783.74034.97
- Calles-Escandon, J., and Cipolla, M. (2001). Diabetes and endothelial dysfunction: a clinical perspective. *Endocr. Rev.* 22, 36–52. doi: 10.1210/edrv.22.1.0417
- Chan, J. R., Hyduk, S. J., and Cybulsky, M. I. (2001). Chemoattractants induce a rapid and transient upregulation of monocyte alpha4 integrin affinity for vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 which mediates arrest: an early step in the process of emigration. *J. Exp. Med.* 193, 1149–1158. doi: 10.1084/jem.193.10. 1149
- Chu, P. Y., Walder, K., Horlock, D., Williams, D., Nelson, E., Byrne, M., et al. (2015). CXCR4 antagonism attenuates the development of diabetic cardiac fibrosis. *PLoS One* 10:e0133616. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0133616
- Cintra, D. E., Pauli, J. R., Araujo, E. P., Moraes, J. C., de Souza, C. T., Milanski, M., et al. (2008). Interleukin-10 is a protective factor against diet-induced insulin resistance in liver. J. Hepatol. 48, 628–637. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2007.12.017

- Creager, M. A., Luscher, T. F., Cosentino, F., and Beckman, J. A. (2003). Diabetes and vascular disease: pathophysiology, clinical consequences, and medical therapy: part I. *Circulation* 108, 1527–1532. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000091257. 27563.32
- Dalmas, E., Venteclef, N., Caer, C., Poitou, C., Cremer, I., Aron-Wisnewsky, J., et al. (2014). T cell-derived IL-22 amplifies IL-1beta-driven inflammation in human adipose tissue: relevance to obesity and type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 63, 1966–1977. doi: 10.2337/db13-1511
- Davis, J. E., Gabler, N. K., Walker-Daniels, J., and Spurlock, M. E. (2008). Tlr-4 deficiency selectively protects against obesity induced by diets high in saturated fat. Obesity 16, 1248–1255. doi: 10.1038/oby.2008.210
- DeBerge, M., Zhang, S., Glinton, K., Grigoryeva, L., Hussein, I., Vorovich, E., et al. (2017). Efferocytosis and outside-in signaling by cardiac phagocytes. links to repair, cellular programming, and intercellular crosstalk in heart. *Front. Immunol.* 8:1428. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01428
- Dinh, W., Futh, R., Nickl, W., Krahn, T., Ellinghaus, P., Scheffold, T., et al. (2009). Elevated plasma levels of TNF-alpha and interleukin-6 in patients with diastolic dysfunction and glucose metabolism disorders. *Cardiovasc. Diabetol.* 8:58. doi: 10.1186/1475-2840-8-58
- Donath, M. Y., and Shoelson, S. E. (2011). Type 2 diabetes as an inflammatory disease. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 11, 98–107. doi: 10.1038/nri2925
- Duncan, B. B., Schmidt, M. I., Pankow, J. S., Ballantyne, C. M., Couper, D., Vigo, A., et al. (2003). Low-grade systemic inflammation and the development of type 2 diabetes: the atherosclerosis risk in communities study. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 52, 1799–1805. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.52.7.1799
- Eming, S. A., Krieg, T., and Davidson, J. M. (2007). Inflammation in wound repair: molecular and cellular mechanisms. J. Invest. Dermatol. 127, 514–525. doi: 10.1038/sj.jid.5700701
- Fadini, G. P., Menegazzo, L., Scattolini, V., Gintoli, M., Albiero, M., and Avogaro, A. (2016). A perspective on NETosis in diabetes and cardiometabolic disorders. *Nutr. Metab. Cardiovasc. Dis.* 26, 1–8. doi: 10.1016/j.numecd.2015. 11.008
- Fearon, D. T., and Locksley, R. M. (1996). The instructive role of innate immunity in the acquired immune response. *Science* 272, 50–53. doi: 10.1126/science.272. 5258.50
- Festa, A., D'Agostino, R. Jr., Tracy, R. P., and Haffner, S. M. (2002). Elevated levels of acute-phase proteins and plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 predict the development of type 2 diabetes: the insulin resistance atherosclerosis study. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 51, 1131–1137. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.51.4.1131
- Frangogiannis, N. G. (2014). The inflammatory response in myocardial injury, repair, and remodelling. *Nat. Rev. Cardiol.* 11, 255–265. doi: 10.1038/nrcardio. 2014.28
- Garidou, L., Pomie, C., Klopp, P., Waget, A., Charpentier, J., Aloulou, M., et al. (2015). The gut microbiota regulates intestinal CD4 T cells expressing rorgammat and controls metabolic disease. *Cell Metab.* 22, 100–112. doi: 10. 1016/j.cmet.2015.06.001
- Giacco, F., and Brownlee, M. (2010). Oxidative stress and diabetic complications. *Circ. Res.* 107, 1058–1070. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.110.223545
- Goldin, A., Beckman, J. A., Schmidt, A. M., and Creager, M. A. (2006). Advanced glycation end products: sparking the development of diabetic vascular injury. *Circulation* 114, 597–605. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106. 621854
- Gordon, S. (2003). Alternative activation of macrophages. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 3, 23–35. doi: 10.1038/nri978
- Gordon, S., and Martinez, F. O. (2010). Alternative activation of macrophages: mechanism and functions. *Immunity* 32, 593–604. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2010. 05.007
- Gorudko, I. V., Kostevich, V. A., Sokolov, A. V., Shamova, E. V., Buko, I. V., Konstantinova, E. E., et al. (2012). Functional activity of neutrophils in diabetes mellitus and coronary heart disease: role of myeloperoxidase in the development of oxidative stress. *Bull. Exp. Biol. Med.* 154, 23–26. doi: 10.1007/ s10517-012-1865-7
- Graves, D. T., and Kayal, R. A. (2008). Diabetic complications and dysregulated innate immunity. *Front. Biosci.* 13, 1227–1239. doi: 10.2741/2757
- Grisanti, L. A., Gumpert, A. M., Traynham, C. J., Gorsky, J. E., Repas, A. A., Gao, E., et al. (2016a). Leukocyte-expressed beta2-adrenergic receptors are essential for survival after acute myocardial injury. *Circulation* 134, 153–167. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.116.022304

- Grisanti, L. A., Traynham, C. J., Repas, A. A., Gao, E., Koch, W. J., and Tilley, D. G. (2016b). beta2-Adrenergic receptor-dependent chemokine receptor 2 expression regulates leukocyte recruitment to the heart following acute injury. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 113, 15126–15131. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1611023114
- Guzman-Flores, J. M., and Portales-Perez, D. P. (2013). [Mechanisms of suppression of regulatory T-cells (Treg)]. Gac. Med. Mex. 149, 630–638.
- Hansson, G. K. (2005). Inflammation, atherosclerosis, and coronary artery disease. N. Engl. J. Med. 352, 1685–1695. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra043430
- Hansson, G. K., and Libby, P. (2006). The immune response in atherosclerosis: a double-edged sword. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 6, 508–519. doi: 10.1038/nri1882
- Hatanaka, E., Monteagudo, P. T., Marrocos, M. S., and Campa, A. (2006). Neutrophils and monocytes as potentially important sources of proinflammatory cytokines in diabetes. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 146, 443–447. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2249.2006.03229.x
- Hayhoe, R. P., Kamal, A. M., Solito, E., Flower, R. J., Cooper, D., and Perretti, M. (2006). Annexin 1 and its bioactive peptide inhibit neutrophil-endothelium interactions under flow: indication of distinct receptor involvement. *Blood* 107, 2123–2130. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-08-3099
- Heil, M., and Schaper, W. (2004). Influence of mechanical, cellular, and molecular factors on collateral artery growth (arteriogenesis). *Circ. Res.* 95, 449–458. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.0000141145.78900.44
- Henderson, R. B., Lim, L. H., Tessier, P. A., Gavins, F. N., Mathies, M., Perretti, M., et al. (2001). The use of lymphocyte function-associated antigen (LFA)-1deficient mice to determine the role of LFA-1, Mac-1, and alpha4 integrin in the inflammatory response of neutrophils. *J. Exp. Med.* 194, 219–226. doi: 10.1084/jem.194.2.219
- Hernandez-Mijares, A., Rocha, M., Rovira-Llopis, S., Banuls, C., Bellod, L., de Pablo, C., et al. (2013). Human leukocyte/endothelial cell interactions and mitochondrial dysfunction in type 2 diabetic patients and their association with silent myocardial ischemia. *Diabetes Care* 36, 1695–1702. doi: 10.2337/dc12-1224
- Hokama, J. Y., Ritter, L. S., Davis-Gorman, G., Cimetta, A. D., Copeland, J. G., and McDonagh, P. F. (2000). Diabetes enhances leukocyte accumulation in the coronary microcirculation early in reperfusion following ischemia. *J. Diabetes Complications* 14, 96–107. doi: 10.1016/S1056-8727(00)00068-4
- Holscher, M. E., Bode, C., and Bugger, H. (2016). Diabetic cardiomyopathy: does the type of diabetes matter? *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 17:2136. doi: 10.3390/ijms17122136
- Hong, L. F., Li, X. L., Luo, S. H., Guo, Y. L., Liu, J., Zhu, C. G., et al. (2014). Relation of leukocytes and its subsets counts with the severity of stable coronary artery disease in patients with diabetic mellitus. *PLoS One* 9:e90663. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0090663
- Horckmans, M., Ring, L., Duchene, J., Santovito, D., Schloss, M. J., Drechsler, M., et al. (2017). Neutrophils orchestrate post-myocardial infarction healing by polarizing macrophages towards a reparative phenotype. *Eur. Heart J.* 38, 187–197. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehw002
- Hotamisligil, G. S., Arner, P., Caro, J. F., Atkinson, R. L., and Spiegelman, B. M. (1995). Increased adipose tissue expression of tumor necrosis factor-alpha in human obesity and insulin resistance. *J. Clin. Invest.* 95, 2409–2415. doi: 10. 1172/JCI117936
- Ide, T., Tsutsui, H., Ohashi, N., Hayashidani, S., Suematsu, N., Tsuchihashi, M., et al. (2002). Greater oxidative stress in healthy young men compared with premenopausal women. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 22, 438–442. doi: 10. 1161/hq0302.104515
- Jadhav, A., Tiwari, S., Lee, P., and Ndisang, J. F. (2013). The heme oxygenase system selectively enhances the anti-inflammatory macrophage-M2 phenotype, reduces pericardial adiposity, and ameliorated cardiac injury in diabetic cardiomyopathy in Zucker diabetic fatty rats. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 345, 239–249. doi: 10.1124/jpet.112.200808
- Jagannathan, M., McDonnell, M., Liang, Y., Hasturk, H., Hetzel, J., Rubin, D., et al. (2011). Toll-like receptors regulate B cell cytokine production in patients with diabetes. *Diabetologia* 53, 1461–1471. doi: 10.1007/s00125-010-1730-z
- Jagannathan-Bogdan, M., McDonnell, M. E., Shin, H., Rehman, Q., Hasturk, H., Apovian, C. M., et al. (2011). Elevated proinflammatory cytokine production by a skewed T cell compartment requires monocytes and promotes inflammation in type 2 diabetes. J. Immunol. 186, 1162–1172. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1002615
- Jakelic, J., Kokic, S., Hozo, I., Maras, J., and Fabijanic, D. (1995). Nonspecific immunity in diabetes: hyperglycemia decreases phagocytic activity of leukocytes in diabetic patients. *Med. Arh.* 49, 9–12.

- Jia, C., Chen, H., Wei, M., Chen, X., Zhang, Y., Cao, L., et al. (2017). Gold nanoparticle-based miR155 antagonist macrophage delivery restores the cardiac function in ovariectomized diabetic mouse model. *Int. J. Nanomed.* 12, 4963–4979. doi: 10.2147/IJN.S138400
- Jia, G., Hill, M. A., and Sowers, J. R. (2018). Diabetic cardiomyopathy: an update of mechanisms contributing to this clinical entity. *Circ. Res.* 122, 624–638. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117.311586
- Kahn, S. E., Hull, R. L., and Utzschneider, K. M. (2006). Mechanisms linking obesity to insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes. *Nature* 444, 840–846. doi: 10.1038/nature05482
- Kanda, H., Tateya, S., Tamori, Y., Kotani, K., Hiasa, K., Kitazawa, R., et al. (2006). MCP-1 contributes to macrophage infiltration into adipose tissue, insulin resistance, and hepatic steatosis in obesity. *J. Clin. Invest.* 116, 1494–1505. doi: 10.1172/JCI26498
- Kaneto, H., Matsuoka, T. A., Nakatani, Y., Kawamori, D., Matsuhisa, M., and Yamasaki, Y. (2005a). Oxidative stress and the JNK pathway in diabetes. *Curr. Diabetes Rev.* 1, 65–72. doi: 10.2174/1573399052952613
- Kaneto, H., Matsuoka, T. A., Nakatani, Y., Kawamori, D., Miyatsuka, T., Matsuhisa, M., et al. (2005b). Oxidative stress, ER stress, and the JNK pathway in type 2 diabetes. J. Mol. Med. 83, 429–439. doi: 10.1007/s00109-005-0640-x
- Kelly, D. J., Zhang, Y., Connelly, K., Cox, A. J., Martin, J., Krum, H., et al. (2007). Tranilast attenuates diastolic dysfunction and structural injury in experimental diabetic cardiomyopathy. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 293, H2860– H2869. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.01167.2006
- Khanna, S., Biswas, S., Shang, Y., Collard, E., Azad, A., Kauh, C., et al. (2010). Macrophage dysfunction impairs resolution of inflammation in the wounds of diabetic mice. *PLoS One* 5:e9539. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0009539
- Kim, J. A., Koh, K. K., and Quon, M. J. (2005). The union of vascular and metabolic actions of insulin in sickness and in health. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 25, 889–891. doi: 10.1161/01.ATV.0000164044.42910.6b
- Kim, J. A., Montagnani, M., Koh, K. K., and Quon, M. J. (2006). Reciprocal relationships between insulin resistance and endothelial dysfunction: molecular and pathophysiological mechanisms. *Circulation* 113, 1888–1904. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.105.563213
- Kintscher, U., Goetze, S., Wakino, S., Kim, S., Nagpal, S., Chandraratna, R. A., et al. (2000). Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor and retinoid X receptor ligands inhibit monocyte chemotactic protein-1-directed migration of monocytes. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 401, 259–270. doi: 10.1016/S0014-2999(00) 00461-1
- Kleffel, S., Vergani, A., Tezza, S., Ben Nasr, M., Niewczas, M. A., Wong, S., et al. (2015). Interleukin-10 + regulatory B cells arise within antigen-experienced CD40 + B cells to maintain tolerance to islet autoantigens. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 64, 158–171. doi: 10.2337/db13-1639
- Komesu, M. C., Tanga, M. B., Buttros, K. R., and Nakao, C. (2004). Effects of acute diabetes on rat cutaneous wound healing. *Pathophysiology* 11, 63–67. doi: 10.1016/j.pathophys.2004.02.002
- Kondo, M. (2010). Lymphoid and myeloid lineage commitment in multipotent hematopoietic progenitors. *Immunol. Rev.* 238, 37–46. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.2010.00963.x
- Korshunov, V. A., Schwartz, S. M., and Berk, B. C. (2007). Vascular remodeling: hemodynamic and biochemical mechanisms underlying Glagov's phenomenon. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 27, 1722–1728. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.106. 129254
- Laroumanie, F., Douin-Echinard, V., Pozzo, J., Lairez, O., Tortosa, F., Vinel, C., et al. (2014). CD4 + T cells promote the transition from hypertrophy to heart failure during chronic pressure overload. *Circulation* 129, 2111–2124. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.113.007101
- Laverty, A. A., Bottle, A., Kim, S. H., Visani, B., Majeed, A., Millett, C., et al. (2017). Gender differences in hospital admissions for major cardiovascular events and procedures in people with and without diabetes in England: a nationwide study 2004-2014. *Cardiovasc. Diabetol.* 16:100. doi: 10.1186/s12933-017-0580-0
- Lawrence, T. (2009). The nuclear factor NF-kappaB pathway in inflammation. *Cold* Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 1:a001651. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a001651
- Li, B., Zhou, W., Tang, X., Wang, W., Pan, J., and Tan, M. (2017). Response gene to complement-32 promotes the imbalance of Treg/Th17 in patients with dilated cardiomyopathy. *Cell Physiol. Biochem.* 43, 1515–1525.doi: 10.1159/0004 81975

- Li, J., Wang, L., Wang, S., Zhu, H., Ye, P., Xie, A., et al. (2010). The Treg/Th17 imbalance in patients with idiopathic dilated cardiomyopathy. *Scand. J. Immunol.* 71, 298–303. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3083.2010.02374.x
- Lin, Y., Tang, Y., and Wang, F. (2016). The protective effect of HIF-1alpha in T lymphocytes on cardiac damage in diabetic mice. Ann. Clin. Lab. Sci. 46, 32–43.
- Lorenzo, O., Picatoste, B., Ares-Carrasco, S., Ramirez, E., Egido, J., and Tunon, J. (2011). Potential role of nuclear factor kappaB in diabetic cardiomyopathy. *Mediators Inflamm.* 2011:652097. doi: 10.1155/2011/652097
- Low Wang, C. C., Hess, C. N., Hiatt, W. R., and Goldfine, A. B. (2016). Clinical update: cardiovascular disease in diabetes mellitus: atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease and heart failure in type 2 diabetes mellitus mechanisms, management, and clinical considerations. *Circulation* 133, 2459– 2502. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.116.022194
- Lumeng, C. N., Bodzin, J. L., and Saltiel, A. R. (2007a). Obesity induces a phenotypic switch in adipose tissue macrophage polarization. J. Clin. Invest. 117, 175–184. doi: 10.1172/JCI29881
- Lumeng, C. N., Deyoung, S. M., Bodzin, J. L., and Saltiel, A. R. (2007b). Increased inflammatory properties of adipose tissue macrophages recruited during dietinduced obesity. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 56, 16–23. doi: 10.2337/db06-1076
- Madhumitha, H., Mohan, V., Deepa, M., Babu, S., and Aravindhan, V. (2014). Increased Th1 and suppressed Th2 serum cytokine levels in subjects with diabetic coronary artery disease. *Cardiovasc. Diabetol.* 13:1. doi: 10.1186/1475-2840-131
- Madjid, M., Awan, I., Willerson, J. T., and Casscells, S. W. (2004). Leukocyte count and coronary heart disease: implications for risk assessment. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 44, 1945–1956. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2004.07.056
- Malek, A. M., Alper, S. L., and Izumo, S. (1999). Hemodynamic shear stress and its role in atherosclerosis. JAMA 282, 2035–2042. doi: 10.1001/jama.282.21.2035
- Mann, D. L. (2015). Innate immunity and the failing heart: the cytokine hypothesis revisited. *Circ. Res.* 116, 1254–1268. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.302317
- Martin, J., Kelly, D. J., Mifsud, S. A., Zhang, Y., Cox, A. J., See, F., et al. (2005). Tranilast attenuates cardiac matrix deposition in experimental diabetes: role of transforming growth factor-beta. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 65, 694–701. doi: 10.1016/j. cardiores.2004.10.041
- Martinez, F. O., Sica, A., Mantovani, A., and Locati, M. (2008). Macrophage activation and polarization. *Front. Biosci.* 13, 453–461. doi: 10.2741/2692
- Masters, S. L., Latz, E., and O'Neill, L. A. (2011). The inflammasome in atherosclerosis and type 2 diabetes. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 3:81s17. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3001902
- Matteucci, E., Ghimenti, M., Consani, C., Masoni, M. C., and Giampietro, O. (2011). Exploring leukocyte mitochondrial membrane potential in type 1 diabetes families. *Cell Biochem. Biophys.* 59, 121–126. doi: 10.1007/s12013-010-9124-x
- McLaughlin, T., Liu, L. F., Lamendola, C., Shen, L., Morton, J., Rivas, H., et al. (2014). T-cell profile in adipose tissue is associated with insulin resistance and systemic inflammation in humans. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 34, 2637–2643. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.114.304636
- McManus, L. M., Bloodworth, R. C., Prihoda, T. J., Blodgett, J. L., and Pinckard,
 R. N. (2001). Agonist-dependent failure of neutrophil function in diabetes correlates with extent of hyperglycemia. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 70, 395–4040.
- Medzhitov, R., and Janeway, C. Jr. (2000). Innate immunity. N. Engl. J. Med. 343, 338–344. doi: 10.1056/NEJM200008033430506
- Meigs, J. B., Hu, F. B., Rifai, N., and Manson, J. E. (2004). Biomarkers of endothelial dysfunction and risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus. *JAMA* 291, 1978–1986. doi: 10.1001/jama.291.16.1978291/16/1978
- Monaco, C., Andreakos, E., Kiriakidis, S., Mauri, C., Bicknell, C., Foxwell, B., et al. (2004). Canonical pathway of nuclear factor kappa B activation selectively regulates proinflammatory and prothrombotic responses in human atherosclerosis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 101, 5634–5639. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 0401060101
- Mosser, D. M., and Edwards, J. P. (2008). Exploring the full spectrum of macrophage activation. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 8, 958–969. doi: 10.1038/nri2448 doi: 10.1038/nri2448
- Muller, W. A. (2014). How endothelial cells regulate transmigration of leukocytes in the inflammatory response. Am. J. Pathol. 184, 886–896. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath. 2013.12.033
- Naguib, G., Al-Mashat, H., Desta, T., and Graves, D. T. (2004). Diabetes prolongs the inflammatory response to a bacterial stimulus through cytokine

dysregulation. J. Invest. Dermatol. 123, 87–92. doi: 10.1111/j.0022-202X.2004. 22711.x

- Nahrendorf, M., Swirski, F. K., Aikawa, E., Stangenberg, L., Wurdinger, T., Figueiredo, J. L., et al. (2007). The healing myocardium sequentially mobilizes two monocyte subsets with divergent and complementary functions. J. Exp. Med. 204, 3037–3047. doi: 10.1084/jem.20070885
- Natarajan, S., Liao, Y., Cao, G., Lipsitz, S. R., and McGee, D. L. (2003). Sex differences in risk for coronary heart disease mortality associated with diabetes and established coronary heart disease. *Arch. Intern. Med.* 163, 1735–1740. doi: 10.1001/archinte.163.14.1735 doi: 10.1001/archinte.163.14.1735
- Nevers, T., Salvador, A. M., Grodecki-Pena, A., Knapp, A., Velazquez, F., Aronovitz, M., et al. (2015). Left ventricular T-Cell recruitment contributes to the pathogenesis of heart failure. *Circ. Heart Fail.* 8, 776–787. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCHEARTFAILURE.115.002225
- Nio, Y., Yamauchi, T., Iwabu, M., Okada-Iwabu, M., Funata, M., Yamaguchi, M., et al. (2012). Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1) deficiency enhances alternatively activated M2 macrophages and ameliorates insulin resistance and fatty liver in lipoatrophic diabetic A-ZIP transgenic mice. *Diabetologia* 55, 3350–3358. doi: 10.1007/s00125-012-2710-2
- Nishimura, H., Okazaki, T., Tanaka, Y., Nakatani, K., Hara, M., Matsumori, A., et al. (2001). Autoimmune dilated cardiomyopathy in PD-1 receptor-deficient mice. *Science* 291, 319–322. doi: 10.1126/science.291.5502.319
- Noh, H., Yu, M. R., Kim, H. J., Lee, J. H., Park, B. W., Wu, I. H., et al. (2017). Beta 2-adrenergic receptor agonists are novel regulators of macrophage activation in diabetic renal and cardiovascular complications. *Kidney Int.* 92, 101–113. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2017.02.013
- Nosbaum, A., Prevel, N., Truong, H. A., Mehta, P., Ettinger, M., Scharschmidt, T. C., et al. (2016). Cutting edge: regulatory T cells facilitate cutaneous wound healing. *J. Immunol.* 196, 2010–2014. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol. 1502139
- Odegaard, J. I., and Chawla, A. (2008). Mechanisms of macrophage activation in obesity-induced insulin resistance. *Nat. Clin. Pract. Endocrinol. Metab.* 4, 619–626. doi: 10.1038/ncpendmet0976
- Oyama, Y., Akuzawa, N., Nagai, R., and Kurabayashi, M. (2002). PPARgamma ligand inhibits osteopontin gene expression through interference with binding of nuclear factors to A/T-rich sequence in THP-1 cells. *Circ. Res.* 90, 348–355. doi: 10.1161/hh0302.105098
- Papayannopoulos, V. (2015). Sweet NETs, bitter wounds. *Immunity* 43, 223–225. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2015.08.002
- Papayannopoulos, V. (2018). Neutrophil extracellular traps in immunity and disease. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 18, 134–147. doi: 10.1038/nri.2017.105
- Pare, G., Krust, A., Karas, R. H., Dupont, S., Aronovitz, M., Chambon, P., et al. (2002). Estrogen receptor-alpha mediates the protective effects of estrogen against vascular injury. *Circ. Res.* 90, 1087–1092. doi: 10.1161/01.RES. 0000021114.92282.FA
- Pettersson, U. S., Christoffersson, G., Massena, S., Ahl, D., Jansson, L., Henriksnas, J., et al. (2011). Increased recruitment but impaired function of leukocytes during inflammation in mouse models of type 1 and type 2 diabetes. *PLoS One* 6:e22480. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0022480PONE-D-11-09047
- Pickup, J. C., Mattock, M. B., Chusney, G. D., and Burt, D. (1997). NIDDM as a disease of the innate immune system: association of acute-phase reactants and interleukin-6 with metabolic syndrome X. *Diabetologia* 40, 1286–1292. doi: 10.1007/s001250050822
- Pradhan, A. D., Manson, J. E., Rifai, N., Buring, J. E., and Ridker, P. M. (2001). C-reactive protein, interleukin 6, and risk of developing type 2 diabetes mellitus. *JAMA* 286, 327–334. doi: 10.1001/jama.286.3.327
- Prieur, X., Mok, C. Y., Velagapudi, V. R., Nunez, V., Fuentes, L., Montaner, D., et al. (2011). Differential lipid partitioning between adipocytes and tissue macrophages modulates macrophage lipotoxicity and M2/M1 polarization in obese mice. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 60, 797–809. doi: 10.2337/db10-0705 doi: 10.2337/db10-0705
- Raj, P. N., Shaji, B. V., Haritha, V. H., and Anie, Y. (2018). Neutrophil secretion modulates neutrophil and monocyte functions during hyperglucose and/or hyperinsulin conditions in vitro. J. Cell. Immunother.
- Rao, X., Zhong, J., and Sun, Q. (2014). The heterogenic properties of monocytes/macrophages and neutrophils in inflammatory response in diabetes. *Life Sci.* 116, 59–66. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2014.09.015

- Raphael, I., Nalawade, S., Eagar, T. N., and Forsthuber, T. G. (2015). T cell subsets and their signature cytokines in autoimmune and inflammatory diseases. *Cytokine* 74, 5–17. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2014.09.011
- Ricardo-Gonzalez, R. R., Red Eagle, A., Odegaard, J. I., Jouihan, H., Morel, C. R., Heredia, J. E., et al. (2010). IL-4/STAT6 immune axis regulates peripheral nutrient metabolism and insulin sensitivity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 22617–22622. doi: 10.1073/pnas.10091 52108
- Russo, I., and Frangogiannis, N. G. (2016). Diabetes-associated cardiac fibrosis: cellular effectors, molecular mechanisms and therapeutic opportunities. J. Mol. Cell Cardiol. 90, 84–93. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2015.12.011
- Sakaguchi, S., Yamaguchi, T., Nomura, T., and Ono, M. (2008). Regulatory T cells and immune tolerance. *Cell* 133, 775–787. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2008.05.009
- Salabei, J. K., Lorkiewicz, P. K., Mehra, P., Gibb, A. A., Haberzettl, P., Hong, K. U., et al. (2016). Type 2 diabetes dysregulates glucose metabolism in cardiac progenitor cells. J. Biol. Chem. 291, 13634–13648. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M116.722496
- Salt, I. P., Morrow, V. A., Brandie, F. M., Connell, J. M., and Petrie, J. R. (2003). High glucose inhibits insulin-stimulated nitric oxide production without reducing endothelial nitric-oxide synthase Ser1177 phosphorylation in human aortic endothelial cells. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 18791–18797. doi: 10.1074/jbc. M210618200M210618200
- Sarndahl, E., Bergstrom, I., Brodin, V. P., Nijm, J., Lundqvist Setterud, H., and Jonasson, L. (2007). Neutrophil activation status in stable coronary artery disease. *PLoS One* 2:e1056. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0001056
- Schilling, J. D., Machkovech, H. M., Kim, A. H., Schwendener, R., and Schaffer, J. E. (2012). Macrophages modulate cardiac function in lipotoxic cardiomyopathy. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 303, H1366–H1373. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart. 00111.2012
- Shi, H., Kokoeva, M. V., Inouye, K., Tzameli, I., Yin, H., and Flier, J. S. (2006). TLR4 links innate immunity and fatty acid-induced insulin resistance. J. Clin. Invest. 116, 3015–3025. doi: 10.1172/JCI28898
- Sierra-Filardi, E., Vega, M. A., Sanchez-Mateos, P., Corbi, A. L., and Puig-Kroger, A. (2010). Heme Oxygenase-1 expression in M-CSF-polarized M2 macrophages contributes to LPS-induced IL-10 release. *Immunobiology* 215, 788–795. doi: 10.1016/j.imbio.2010.05.020
- Silk, E., Zhao, H., Weng, H., and Ma, D. (2017). The role of extracellular histone in organ injury. *Cell Death Dis.* 8:e2812. doi: 10.1038/cddis. 2017.52
- Silver, A. E., and Vita, J. A. (2006). Shear-stress-mediated arterial remodeling in atherosclerosis: too much of a good thing? *Circulation* 113, 2787–2789. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106.634378
- Singla, D. K., Singla, R. D., Abdelli, L. S., and Glass, C. (2015). Fibroblast growth factor-9 enhances M2 macrophage differentiation and attenuates adverse cardiac remodeling in the infarcted diabetic heart. *PLoS One* 10:e0120739. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0120739
- Sivalingam, Z., Larsen, S. B., Grove, E. L., Hvas, A. M., Kristensen, S. D., and Magnusson, N. E. (2017). Neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin as a risk marker in cardiovascular disease. *Clin. Chem. Lab. Med.* 56, 5–18. doi: 10.1515/ cclm-2017-0120
- Sugimoto, M. A., Vago, J. P., Teixeira, M. M., and Sousa, L. P. (2016). Annexin A1 and the resolution of inflammation: modulation of neutrophil recruitment, apoptosis, and clearance. J. Immunol. Res. 2016:8239258. doi: 10.1155/2016/ 8239258
- Suresh Babu, S., Thandavarayan, R. A., Joladarashi, D., Jeyabal, P., Krishnamurthy, S., Bhimaraj, A., et al. (2016). MicroRNA-126 overexpression rescues diabetes-induced impairment in efferocytosis of apoptotic cardiomyocytes. *Sci. Rep.* 6:36207. doi: 10.1038/srep36207
- Swirski, F. K., and Nahrendorf, M. (2013). Leukocyte behavior in atherosclerosis, myocardial infarction, and heart failure. *Science* 339, 161–166. doi: 10.1126/ science.1230719
- Tan, J. S., Anderson, J. L., Watanakunakorn, C., and Phair, J. P. (1975). Neutrophil dysfunction in diabetes mellitus. J. Lab. Clin. Med. 85, 26–33.
- Tan, S. M., Zhang, Y., Wang, B., Tan, C. Y., Zammit, S. C., Williams, S. J., et al. (2012). FT23, an orally active antifibrotic compound, attenuates structural and functional abnormalities in an experimental model of diabetic cardiomyopathy. *Clin. Exp. Pharmacol. Physiol.* 39, 650–656. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1681.2012.05726.x

- Tang, H., Zhong, Y., Zhu, Y., Zhao, F., Cui, X., and Wang, Z. (2010). Low responder T cell susceptibility to the suppressive function of regulatory T cells in patients with dilated cardiomyopathy. *Heart* 96, 765–771. doi: 10.1136/hrt.2009.184945
- Tennenberg, S. D., Finkenauer, R., and Dwivedi, A. (1999). Absence of lipopolysaccharide-induced inhibition of neutrophil apoptosis in patients with diabetes. Arch. Surg. 134, 1229–1233; discussion 1233–1234. doi: 10.1001/ archsurg.134.11.1229
- Tu, T. H., Joe, Y., Choi, H. S., Chung, H. T., and Yu, R. (2014). Induction of heme oxygenase-1 with hemin reduces obesity-induced adipose tissue inflammation via adipose macrophage phenotype switching. *Mediators Inflamm.* 2014:290708. doi: 10.1155/2014/290708
- Urbina, P., and Singla, D. K. (2014). BMP-7 attenuates adverse cardiac remodeling mediated through M2 macrophages in prediabetic cardiomyopathy. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 307, H762–H772. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00367.2014
- Uysal, K. T., Wiesbrock, S. M., Marino, M. W., and Hotamisligil, G. S. (1997). Protection from obesity-induced insulin resistance in mice lacking TNF-alpha function. *Nature* 389, 610–614. doi: 10.1038/39335
- Vachharajani, V., and Granger, D. N. (2009). Adipose tissue: a motor for the inflammation associated with obesity. *IUBMB Life* 61, 424–430. doi: 10.1002/ iub.169
- Van Linthout, S., Riad, A., Dhayat, N., Spillmann, F., Du, J., Dhayat, S., et al. (2007). Anti-inflammatory effects of atorvastatin improve left ventricular function in experimental diabetic cardiomyopathy. *Diabetologia* 50, 1977–1986. doi: 10. 1007/s00125-007-0719-8
- Villacorta, H., Santos, R. A., Marroig, M. A., Pereira, G. P., Xavier, A. R., and Kanaan, S. (2015). Prognostic value of plasma neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin in patients with heart failure. *Rev. Port. Cardiol.* 34, 473–478. doi: 10.1016/j.repc.2015.02.003
- Vita, J. A. (2002). Nitric oxide-dependent vasodilation in human subjects. Methods Enzymol. 359, 186–200. doi: 10.1016/S0076-6879(02)59183-7
- Vita, J. A., and Keaney, J. F. Jr. (2002). Endothelial function: a barometer for cardiovascular risk? *Circulation* 106, 640–642. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000028581. 07992.56
- Wang, J., Song, Y., Wang, Q., Kralik, P. M., and Epstein, P. N. (2006). Causes and characteristics of diabetic cardiomyopathy. *Rev. Diabet. Stud.* 3, 108–117. doi: 10.1900/RDS.2006.3.108
- Weirather, J., Hofmann, U. D., Beyersdorf, N., Ramos, G. C., Vogel, B., Frey, A., et al. (2014). Foxp3 + CD4 + T cells improve healing after myocardial infarction by modulating monocyte/macrophage differentiation. *Circ. Res.* 115, 55–67. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.115.303895
- Werner, S., and Grose, R. (2003). Regulation of wound healing by growth factors and cytokines. *Physiol. Rev.* 83, 835–870. doi: 10.1152/physrev.2003.83.3.835
- Westermann, D., Van Linthout, S., Dhayat, S., Dhayat, N., Escher, F., Bucker-Gartner, C., et al. (2007a). Cardioprotective and anti-inflammatory effects of interleukin converting enzyme inhibition in experimental diabetic cardiomyopathy. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 56, 1834–1841. doi: 10.2337/db06-1662
- Westermann, D., Van Linthout, S., Dhayat, S., Dhayat, N., Schmidt, A., Noutsias, M., et al. (2007b). Tumor necrosis factor-alpha antagonism protects from myocardial inflammation and fibrosis in experimental diabetic cardiomyopathy. *Basic Res. Cardiol.* 102, 500–507. doi: 10.1007/s00395-007-0673-0
- Widlansky, M. E., Gokce, N., Keaney, J. F. Jr., and Vita, J. A. (2003). The clinical implications of endothelial dysfunction. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 42, 1149–1160. doi: 10.1016/S0735-1097(03)00994-X
- Winer, D. A., Winer, S., Shen, L., Wadia, P. P., Yantha, J., Paltser, G., et al. (2011). B cells promote insulin resistance through modulation of T cells and production of pathogenic IgG antibodies. *Nat. Med.* 17, 610–617. doi: 10.1038/nm.2353
- Wong, S. L., Demers, M., Martinod, K., Gallant, M., Wang, Y., Goldfine, A. B., et al. (2015). Diabetes primes neutrophils to undergo NETosis, which impairs wound healing. *Nat. Med.* 21, 815–819. doi: 10.1038/nm.3887
- Wu, D., Molofsky, A. B., Liang, H. E., Ricardo-Gonzalez, R. R., Jouihan, H. A., Bando, J. K., et al. (2011). Eosinophils sustain adipose alternatively activated macrophages associated with glucose homeostasis. *Science* 332, 243–247. doi: 10.1126/science.1201475
- Xue, J., Schmidt, S. V., Sander, J., Draffehn, A., Krebs, W., Quester, I., et al. (2014). Transcriptome-based network analysis reveals a spectrum model of human

macrophage activation. *Immunity* 40, 274–288. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2014.01. 006

- Yndestad, A., Landro, L., Ueland, T., Dahl, C. P., Flo, T. H., Vinge, L. E., et al. (2009). Increased systemic and myocardial expression of neutrophil gelatinaseassociated lipocalin in clinical and experimental heart failure. *Eur. Heart J.* 30, 1229–1236. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehp088
- Yu, R., Kim, C. S., Kwon, B. S., and Kawada, T. (2006). Mesenteric adipose tissuederived monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 plays a crucial role in adipose tissue macrophage migration and activation in obese mice. *Obesity* 14, 1353– 1362. doi: 10.1038/oby.2006.153
- Yu, X. Y., Chen, H. M., Liang, J. L., Lin, Q. X., Tan, H. H., Fu, Y. H., et al. (2011). Hyperglycemic myocardial damage is mediated by proinflammatory cytokine: macrophage migration inhibitory factor. *PLoS One* 6:e16239. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0016239
- Zeng, C., Shi, X., Zhang, B., Liu, H., Zhang, L., Ding, W., et al. (2012). The imbalance of Th17/Th1/Tregs in patients with type 2 diabetes: relationship with metabolic factors and complications. *J. Mol. Med.* 90, 175–186. doi: 10.1007/ s00109-011-0816-5
- Zhang, C., Xiao, C., Wang, P., Xu, W., Zhang, A., Li, Q., et al. (2014). The alteration of Th1/Th2/Th17/Treg paradigm in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: relationship with diabetic nephropathy. *Hum. Immunol.* 75, 289–296. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2014.02.007
- Zhang, Y., Edgley, A. J., Cox, A. J., Powell, A. K., Wang, B., Kompa, A. R., et al. (2012). FT011, a new anti-fibrotic drug, attenuates fibrosis and chronic heart failure in experimental diabetic cardiomyopathy. *Eur. J. Heart Fail*. 14, 549–562. doi: 10.1093/eurjhf/hfs011

- Zhao, R., Tang, D., Yi, S., Li, W., Wu, C., Lu, Y., et al. (2014). Elevated peripheral frequencies of Th22 cells: a novel potent participant in obesity and type 2 diabetes. *PLoS One* 9:e85770. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0085770
- Zhao, R. X., Li, W. J., Lu, Y. R., Qin, J., Wu, C. L., Tian, M., et al. (2014). Increased peripheral proinflammatory T helper subsets contribute to cardiovascular complications in diabetic patients. *Mediators Inflamm.* 2014:596967. doi: 10. 1155/2014/596967
- Zouggari, Y., Ait-Oufella, H., Bonnin, P., Simon, T., Sage, A. P., Guerin, C., et al. (2013). B lymphocytes trigger monocyte mobilization and impair heart function after acute myocardial infarction. *Nat. Med.* 19, 1273–1280. doi: 10.1038/nm. 3284
- Zuniga, L. A., Shen, W. J., Joyce-Shaikh, B., Pyatnova, E. A., Richards, A. G., Thom, C., et al. (2010). IL-17 regulates adipogenesis, glucose homeostasis, and obesity. *J. Immunol.* 185, 6947–6959. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1001269

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Bajpai and Tilley. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Black Garlic Improves Heart Function in Patients With Coronary Heart Disease by Improving Circulating Antioxidant Levels

Jingbo Liu, Guangwei Zhang, Xiaoqiang Cong and Chengfei Wen*

Department of Cardiovascular, The First Hospital of Jilin University, Changchun, China

Background: Black garlic (BG) has many health-promoting properties.

Objectives: We aimed to explore the clinical effects of BG on chronic heart failure (CHF) in patients with coronary heart disease (CHD).

Design: The main components of BG were measured by gas chromatography–mass spectrometry (GC–MS) and its antioxidant properties were determined by the clearance rate of free radicals. One hundred twenty CHF patients caused by CHD were randomly and evenly assigned into BG group and placebo group (CG). The duration of treatment was 6 months. Cardiac function was measured according to the New York Heart Association (NYHA) functional classification system. The following parameters were measured, including walking distance, BNP precursor N-terminal (Nt-proBNP), left-ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) value, and the scores of quality of life (QOL). The circulating antioxidant levels were compared between two groups.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Claudio de Lucia, Temple University, United States

Reviewed by:

Alberto Marra, Universitätsklinikum Heidelberg, Germany Maurizio Acampa, Azienda Ospedaliera Universitaria Senese, Italy

> *Correspondence: Chengfei Wen Wenchengfei00@126.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cardiac Electrophysiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 22 June 2018 Accepted: 20 September 2018 Published: 01 November 2018

Citation:

Liu J, Zhang G, Cong X and Wen C (2018) Black Garlic Improves Heart Function in Patients With Coronary Heart Disease by Improving Circulating Antioxidant Levels. Front. Physiol. 9:1435. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01435 **Results:** There are 27 main compounds in BG with strong antioxidant properties. BG treatment improved cardiac function when compared with controls (P < 0.05). The QOL scores and LVEF values were higher in the BG group than in the CG group while the concentration of Nt-proBNP was lower in the BG group than in the CG group (P < 0.05). Circulating antioxidant levels were higher in the BG group than in the CG group than in the CG group. Antioxidant levels had positive relation with QOL and LVEF values, and negative relation with Nt-proBNP values.

Conclusion: BG improves the QOL, Nt-proBNP, and LVEF in CHF patient with CHD by increasing antioxidant levels.

Keywords: coronary heart disease, congestive heart failure, quality of life, left-ventricular ejection fraction, black garlic

INTRODUCTION

Chronic heart failure (CHF) may be caused by myocardial abnormalities, which result in systolic and/or diastolic ventricular dysfunction, abnormalities of the valves, pericardium, endocardium, heart rhythm, a reduced cardiac output, or brain abnormalities (12). Vasomotor function cannot meet the needs of systemic metabolism, resulting in hemodynamic abnormalities and neurohormonal activation (Hammadah et al., 2017). There are 26 million CHF patients

59

worldwide and the prevalence of CHF is still increasing with population aging (Schmid et al., 2017). CHF is a common cause of death in the elderly (Andres et al., 2018; Clark, 2018). Fiveyear mortality rate of CHF is more than 20%, and seriously threatens human life (Nakajima et al., 2014). Considering its poor prognosis, it is critical to prevent the occurrence and development of CHF and to promote early rehabilitation of CHF patients.

Garlic is a kind of valuable atherosclerosis-preventing functional food (Alali et al., 2017). Many reports showed that garlic had lipid-lowering, plasma anticoagulant and antioxidant activities, and improves endothelial injuries (Gorinstein et al., 2007). The extract of garlic was effective to reduce blood pressure, arterial stiffness, inflammation, and other cardiovascular diseases (Ried et al., 2016). Garlic is a kind of feasible and promising functional food for individuals with cardiovascular disease (Aslani et al., 2016; Siddiqui et al., 2017).

Black garlic (BG) is a kind of deep-processed food made of fresh garlic under high temperatures and humidity. It can improve immune activity with fewer side effects (Nakasone et al., 2016). BG has many health-promoting properties: BG prevented the growth and induced apoptosis of HT29 colon cancer cells via phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K)/Akt pathway, suggesting that BG may be effective in the therapy of colon cancer (9); BG had potential beneficial effects in the treatment of diabetes by increasing in the numbers of monocytes and granulocytes, and decreasing lymphocyte proliferation (10); BG has anti-allergic actions and may be beneficial as functional food in the prevention of allergic disorders (11). BG has various biological functions, including antioxidant (Lu et al., 2017; Sun and Wang, 2018), anti-inflammatory (Jeong et al., 2016), anticancer (Dong et al., 2014), antidiabetic (Abel-Salam, 2012), anti-allergic action (Yoo et al., 2014), and the improvement of lipid metabolism (Ha et al., 2015), cardiac (Czompa et al., 2018), and hepatic protection (Kim et al., 2011; Figure 1). However, the effects of BG on the CHF patients and the related molecular mechanisms remain unknown.



Chronic heart failure is a complex, and dynamic development process. Neuro-hormones, inflammation, and cytokines play an important role in this process. A large number of studies have shown that brain natriuretic peptide (BNP) is involved in the pathophysiological process of the development of CHF (Du et al., 2012). BNP is a neuro-hormone secreted by ventricular myocytes. Under normal circumstances, there is little BNP in the atria and ventricle. In many pathological conditions, such as the ventricular volumetric load and pressure overload, BNP concentration will be increased in the blood (Kou et al., 2016). The higher severity of heart failure will result in higher concentration of BNP (Hahn et al., 2016; Feng et al., 2017). BNP shows good specificity in differential diagnosis of CHF (Jin et al., 2018), cardiogenic dyspnea (Golshani et al., 2016), and lung-derived respiratory distress (Sun et al., 2015).

After being stimulated by cardiomyocytes, BNP is cleaved by proteases into Nt-proBNP and active BNP. The clinical application of Nt-proBNP and bioactive hormone BNP to CHF is similar. However, BNP has a 20 min half-life and is poorly stable *in vitro*. Comparatively, the half-life of Nt-proBNP is 60– 120 min and stable *in vitro* (Mukherji et al., 2017). Therefore, the quantitative detection of plasma Nt-proBNP is more feasible. In this study, we explored the effects of BG on CHF patients with coronary heart disease (CHD). The improvement of quality of life (QOL) of CHF patients was compared with controls and the levels of Nt-proBNP were measured.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Measurement of the Component of Black Garlic

Raw garlic and BG were purchased from Shandong Sanjin Black Garlic Industry Co., Ltd. (Jinxiang, China). The difference for the main components between raw garlic and BG was listed in **Table 1**. BG was prepared from fresh garlic via the fermentation (60–80°C, 70–95% relative humidity) for 50 d. Thirty grams of raw garlic and BG was weighed, respectively, ground by a mortar, and placed in a 1000-mL round-bottomed flask. Thirty milliliters of sodium chloride and distilled water was added, and heated by temperature-controlled electric heating apparatus. After distillation, it was concentrated to 1.0 mL and transferred to a chromatography flask for gas chromatographymass spectrometry (GC–MS) analysis.

Agilent 7890 Gas Chromatograph and Agilent 7890 GC/5975CMS GC/MS were purchased from Agilent (Foster City, CA, United States). The following chromatographic conditions were used: Column: HP-5MS ($60 \text{ m} \times 0.25 \text{ mm} \times 0.25 \text{ }\mu\text{m}$); inlet temperature, 250°C; injection quantity, 10 μ L; split ratio, 4:1; carrier gas, He, 1.0 mL/min; temperature program, 50 (2 min) and 220°C (30 min) and heating rate, 4°C/min. The following mass spectrometry conditions were used: transmission line temperature, 240°C; EI source electron energy, 70 eV; electron multiplier voltage, 1635 V; mass scanning range, 0–450 amu; ion source temperature, 230°C; and quadrupole temperature, 150°C. GC–MS results were analyzed manually and compared

Ingredients	Raw garlic	BG
Moisture (g)	65.31 ± 1.75	37.12 ± 3.70
Total sugar (g)	27.23 ± 0.52	48.47 ± 1.75
Reducing sugar (g)	0.47 ± 0.03	39.49 ± 0.74
Protein (g)	5.32 ± 0.08	10.26 ± 0.76
Crude fat (g)	0.35 ± 0.06	0.16 ± 0.05
Acid value (g)	0.47 ± 0.06	2.13 ± 0.14
5-HMF (mg)	0	8.732 ± 0.17
Total phenols (mg)	184.35 ± 14.12	482.46 ± 20.04
Amino acid (mg)		
Aspartic acid	14.66 ± 0.81	30.81 ± 1.43
Glutamate	60.5 ± 0.27	38.52 ± 1.14
Serine	75.06 ± 0.5	41.28 ± 0.69
Glycine	102.58 ± 10.36	13.17 ± 0.75
Histidine	73.42 ± 1.07	14.8 ± 0.21
Threonine	131.47 ± 0.68	36.71 ± 0.82
Arginine	1079.88 ± 1.05	845.16 ± 20.29
Alanine	27.3 ± 1.02	108.59 ± 11.05
Valine	41.71 ± 0.39	13.84 ± 0.72
Tyrosine	96.68 ± 8.45	90.19 ± 10.67
Valine	40.89 ± 2.25	56.72 ± 0.33
Methionine	491.38 ± 78.84	3.48 ± 1.01
Cysteine	3.75 ± 0.27	18.08 ± 0.79
Isoleucine	14.08 ± 1.03	21.93 ± 0.29
Leucine	9.2 ± 0.8	28.72 ± 0.85
Phenylalanine	30.55 ± 0.16	62.86 ± 1.73
Tryptophan	23.51 ± 0.67	7.65 ± 0.54
Lysine	120.39 ± 13.45	61.83 ± 0.27
Total	1943.77 ± 161.22	1486.65 ± 112.62

with standard mass spectra to determine the chemical structure of each separated components.

The Measurement of Antioxidant Properties of Garlic

Preparation of Extracts of Black Garlic

The fresh raw garlic and BG were dried to a constant mass and pulverized. One gram of raw garlic and BG sample mechanical powder, and 20 mL of a 50% ethanol solution were added at a ratio of 1:20 to the stock solution. The main components were extracted via ultrasonic at 30°C for 30 min, centrifuged, filtered, and diluted with 50% ethanol to 20 mL as a sample solution.

Determination of Antioxidant Capacity of Black Garlic

One hundred microliters of raw garlic and BG extracts was added to the 96-well transparent plates with different concentrations (0.25, 0.50, 1.00, 2.00, 4.00, and 8.00 mg/mL) and 100 μ L of 0.2 mM 2,2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) solution was added. With the same method, the different concentrations of DPPH and methanol were mixed as a blank group, and solution and methanol were mixed as a control group. After being kept at room temperature for 30 min in the dark, the absorbance was measured at 517 nm and repeated three times. DPPH clearance = $(1-(D1-D2)/D3) \times 100\%$, where D1 was

Components	Molecular formula	Molecular weight	Retention time (min)	Percent components
Allyl alcohol	C3H6O	58.08	5.5	1.65
Allyl sulfide	C6H10S	114.21	6.4	0.83
Allyl methyl disulfide	C4H8S2	120.24	10.0	4.58
1,3-Dithiane	C4H8S2	120.24	10.2	1.12
Dimethyl trisulfide	C2H6S4	126.26	13.0	0.82
Tetrahydro-2H-1,4,6- oxodiazocine ring	C5H10N2OS	146.00	15.5	5.52
Diallyl disulfide	C8 H12O4	172.18	16.1	17.32
2-Vinyl-1,3-dithiane	C6H10S2	146.00	16.3	8.85
N,N-Dimethylthiourea	C3H8N2S	104.17	17.2	8.00
Ethylthiourea	C3H8N2OS	120.17	17.2	0.12
2-	C6H12S	116.22	19.2	13.24
Ethyltetrahydrothiophene		110.22	10.2	10.21
(Methylthio)acetonitrile	C3H5NS	87.14	19.3	1.40
H1-Propyl-1-(fringyl)- butane	C7H1S	118.00	20.8	1.35
5-Methyl-1,2,4-triazole- 3-decanol	C3H5N3S	115.16	23.0	0.50
3-Vinyl-3,4-dihydro- 1,2-dithiazolone	C6H8S2	144.26	23.2	3.88
2-Ethylene-1,3-dithiane	C6H10S2	146.00	23.9	0.67
3-Vinyl-3,4-dihydro- 1,2-dithiane	C6H8S2	144.26	24.8	17.42
3,5-Diethyl-1,2,4- tritetrahydrothiophene	C6H12S3	180.35	25.2	0.54
1,3,5-Trithiane	C3H6S3	138.27	25.8	0.29
(2-Arylthio)-acetonitrile	C5H7NS	113.00	25.9	0.19
Diallyl trisulfide	C6H10S3	178.34	26.1	2.98
1,3,5-Trithiane	C3H6S3	138.27	27.3	0.76
2-n-Propylthiophene	C7H10S	126.22	27.6	0.85
(2-Arylthio)-acetonitrile	C5H7NS	113.00	28.0	0.45
1,3,5-Trithiane	C3H6S3	138.27	29.9	0.36
1,2-Dithiocyclopentane	C3H6S2	106.21	30.7	0.39
2-Thiophene	C4H3NO ₂ S	129.14	34.5	1.34

TABLE 2 | The main component of polyphenols of BG.

the sum of the absorbance of the DPPH solution and the sample solution; D2 was the sum of the absorbance of the sample solution and the extraction solvent; D3 was the sum of the absorbance of the DPPH solution and the extraction solvent.

Determination of the Reducibility of Fe³⁺

Two hundred microliters of raw garlic and BG extract (0.625, 1.250, 2.500, 5.000, and 10.000 mg/mL) was placed in 5-mL centrifuge tubes, respectively, and 0.5-mL 0.2 mol/L phosphatebuffered saline (PBS), pH 6.6, and 0.5-mL 1% potassium ferricyanide solution were added. After being mixed, bath at 50°C for 20 min, and then 0.5 mL 10% ferric chloride solution (TCA) was added and centrifuged at 5000 r/min for 5 min. 0.5-mL supernatant was taken, and 0.5-mL distilled water and 0.1-mL 0.1% ferric chloride solution were added. The absorbance values were measured at 700 nm and repeated three times.

Clearance Rate of 2,2'-Azino-bis (3-ethylbenzothiazoline)-6-sulfonic acid (ABTS)-Free Radicals

Seven millimolar ABTS solution was prepared with PBS (pH = 7.4), and 7 mM ABTS and 2.45 mM potassium phosphate were mixed in equal volume. The solution was diluted with PBS until the absorbance reached 0.66 \pm 0.03 at 734 nm. Twenty microliters of different concentrations of raw garlic and BG extracts (0.25, 0.50, 1.00, 2.00, 4.00, and 8.00 mg/mL) was added to the 96-well plate, and 150 µL of 0.2 mmol/ABTS stock solution was used as a control. After the reaction was performed at room temperature for 10 min, and the absorbance was measured at 517 nm. ABTS clearance rate = $(D0-D)/D0 \times 100\%$, where *D*0 was the sum of absorbance of ABTS working solution and sample solution.

Determination of Oxygen Radical Absorption Capacity (ORAC)

With different concentrations of raw garlic, BG extract (0.25, 0.50, 1.00, 2.00, 4.00, and 8.00 mg/mL) and 20 μ L Trolox standard (diluted with 75 mmol/L PBS, pH = 7.4) was added to a 96-well plate, incubated at 37°C for 20 min, and then 20 μ L of 119 mM 2,2-azo-bis(2-amidino-propa) hydrochloride (ABAP) solution was added. The fluorescence intensity was measured with an excitation wavelength of 485 nm and an emission wavelength of 535 nm. The measurement time interval was 5 min and 35 measurements were continuously performed. The ORAC values were expressed in Trolox equivalents in mmol TE/gDW (Trolox equivalent per gram of dry weight).

Participants

All procedures were approved by the human research ethical committee of Jilin University (Changchun, China) (Approval No. 20160713F). This trial was registered at http://www.chictr.org. cn/searchprojen.aspx, Clinical number: ChiCTR18000179991. All patients agreed with consent form and signed their names. CHF patients were determined according to Framingham or modified Boston criteria for heart failure (Remes et al., 1992). The total scores of CHF were 8. Cardiac function was measured according to the New York Heart Association (NYHA) (Bredy et al., 2018). Grade I - the patients suffered from heart disease and physical activity was not limited. General physical activity would not cause fatigue, palpitations, dyspnea, or angina; Grade II - the patients suffered from heart disease, and physical activity was slightly limited. General physical activity could cause fatigue, heart palpitations, difficulty in breathing, or angina; Grade III - the patients had heart disease, and physical activity was significantly limited. Light physical labor could cause fatigue, heart palpitations, difficulty in breathing, or angina; Grade IV the patients suffered from heart disease, and physical activity was completely lost. There were the symptoms of heart failure or angina during rest. Any physical activity could make the symptoms worse.

Inclusion Criteria

At the same time Framingham's heart failure qualitative diagnostic criteria and Boston heart failure quantitative diagnostic criteria; age 35–75 years; CHD was measured by using Doppler echocardiography (GE, Fairfield, CT, United States); left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) \leq 50; heart function grades II–III.

Exclusion Criteria

The participants would be excluded if they had a history of knee surgery within past 3 months, a systemic arthritic condition, and any other muscular, joint, or neurological condition affecting lower limb function. The patients had acute coronary syndrome, severe valvular heart disease, combined shock, methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA) infections, planned extra-cardiac surgery, combined hepatorenal, and other systemic diseases.

Patients Grouping

From May 1, 2016 to June 30, 2017, a total of 489 CHF patients were screened. CHF patients caused by CHD were selected and evenly assigned into BG (received 20 g garlic daily) and placebo (CG) groups. Primary endpoints were based on the 1-month observation after randomization. The first primary endpoint consisted of mortality, stroke, and myocardial infarction to define the sample size 120. The duration of treatment was 6 months. The following parameters were measured: 6-min walking distance, BNP, EF value, scores of QOL, and blood lipid profiles. QOL was assessed by using the Minnesota Living with Heart Failure Questionnaire (MLHFQ) (Mogle et al., 2017). Routine treatment included oxygen inhalation, angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors (ACE-in), angiotensin receptor blockers (ARBS), beta-blockers, digitalis preparations (except digitalis contraindications), intermittent application of diuretics, cardiac resynchronization therapy (CRT), and implantable cardioverter defibrillator (ICD). All the CHF patients received a 30-min walking exercise for 5 days a week on a flat surface at their comfortable speed.

Lipid Profile Analysis

Triglycerides (TG), total cholesterol (TC), low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C), and high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C) is associated with CHF risk or progression (Jin et al., 2018). Serum TG was measured by using an immunometric assay (Immulite 2000 Thyroglobulin, Los Angeles, CA, United States). Serum TC, LDL-C, and HDL-C were analyzed by using an automated chemistry analyzer (Olympus, Japan).

Measurement of Circulating Antioxidant Levels

Five milliliters of blood was obtained from each patient. Circulating antioxidant levels were investigated by measuring the levels of malondialdehyde (MDA), and nitric oxide (NO), glutathione peroxidase (GSH-Px), and superoxide dismutase

¹http://www.chictr.org.cn/showprojen.aspx?proj=30330

(SOD) via ELISA kits (Beyotime Institute of Biotechnology, Beijing, China).

Clinical Examination of Therapeutic Results

Cardiac function was measured according to the functional classification system of the NYHA. Significantly effective: heart function was improved by two levels or more; Valid: heart function was improved by one level but less than two levels; Invalid: heart function was improved less than one level; Deterioration: heart function was reduced at one level or above. Total efficiency = (significant + effective)/total number of cases × 100%. Six minutes walking test was used to compare the patient's walk distance before and after garlic consumption between the two groups. LVEF was measured by radionuclide ventriculography with patients in the supine position (Naar et al., 2014).

Blood urea nitrogen (BUN) was measured on an automatic biochemistry analyzer (Beckman Coulter LX20, Beckman, CA, United States) by using a BUN kit (Beckman Coulter, Inc., Brea, CA, United States). Serum was isolated from blood sample via centrifugation. Serum creatinine was measured by a creatinine kit (Biovision, Milpitas, CA, United States). BUN and creatinine were assessed at before and after BG therapy.

Detection of BNP Precursor N-Terminal (Nt-proBNP)

Two milliliters of venous blood was collected in a standard tube containing an anticoagulant from all patients with an empty stomach. Roche Elecsys Nt-proBNP kit (Roche, Indianapolis, IN, United States) was used to measure the level of Nt-proBNP by using electrochemiluminescence immunoassay on Elecsys 1010/2010/modular analytics E170 immunoassay system (Roche Diagnostics GmbH, Mannheim, Germany).

Statistical Analysis

All data were statistically analyzed by using SPSS20.0 statistical software. The measurement data were first tested for normal distribution and homogeneity of variance. If there was a normal distribution and homogeneity of variance, paired *t*-tests were used before and after treatment between the two groups. *T*-test was used for the comparison between the two groups, and those that did not meet the homogeneity of variance. Count data were examined using the χ^2 -test. Continuous data were ranked using the rank sum test. *P* < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

The Main Components of Black Garlic

There are 27 kinds of volatile components in fermented BG (**Figure 1** and **Table 2**). Among them, higher volatile components are 3-vinyl 3,4-dihydro-1,2-dithiane and diallyl compounds, such as disulfide, 2-ethyltetrahydrothiophene, 2-vinyl-1,3-dithiane, N,N''-dimethyl thiourea, etc. BG has a high content of 2-ethyl tetrahydrothiophene, which gives fragrance.

The Antioxidant Properties of Black Garlic

Clearance Rate of DPPH-Free Radicals of Black Garlic

2,2-Diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl is a free radical with a single electron, stable nitrogen center, and is widely used for evaluating the antioxidant properties of plant extracts. When a free radical scavenger is present, the DPPH radical accepts an electron or hydrogen atom to form a stable compound that changes its solution from deep purple to pale yellow, and the degree of discoloration is quantitatively related to the number of electrons. In the present study, the absorbance value was measured with a microplate reader. As shown in **Figure 2A**, BG had DPPH-free radical scavenging ability, and as the concentration increasing, the DPPH scavenging ability increased. This may be due to the increase of polyphenols content in BG processing, and enhanced antioxidant capacity and free radical scavenging capacity.

Reduction Ability of Black Garlic

Reducing ability is a commonly used method for evaluating antioxidant activity. According to the reduction effect of the sample, electrons are scavenged free radicals. As shown in **Figure 2B**, the reducing ability of BG at the same concentration was significantly higher than that of raw garlic. In this experiment, the total phenol content of raw garlic was 0.49 mg GAeq/g (equivalents of gallic acid per gram of the sample), and the total phenol content of BG reached 2.60 mg GAeq/g, which was five times as much as raw garlic. The results suggested that BG had stronger reducing ability than raw garlic.

Clearance Rate of ABTS Radicals of Black Garlic

As shown in **Figure 2C**, ABTS clearance rate of BG was significantly higher than raw garlic. There was a significant difference in increase clearance rate. At 0.05 mg/mL, raw garlic and BG extracts had no scavenging effect on ABTS. With the increase of concentration, the clearance rate of ABTS was increased. Clearance rate of BG was stronger than that of raw garlic. Generally, the ABTS-free radical scavenging capacity of the BG extract was better than that of raw garlic. On the one hand, it might be related to the content of polyphenols.

Clearance Rate of Oxygen-Free Radicals of Black Garlic

The antioxidant principle of ORAC refers to the fact that free radicals can destroy the fluorescent probe and change the fluorescence intensity. The magnitude of its change reflects the degree of free radical damage. Antioxidants can inhibit the change of fluorescence caused by free radicals, and the degree of inhibition can reflect the magnitude of their antioxidant capacity against free radicals. As shown in **Figure 2D**, both raw garlic and BG could scavenge oxygen-free radicals, but BG had stronger scavenging ability than raw garlic. Raw garlic had an oxygen radical absorption capacity of 324.43 µmol TE/gDM. The absorption capacity of BG reached 984.56 µmol TE/gDM, and the difference was significant (P < 0.05). This was consistent with the results of DPPH and Fe³⁺ reducing ability, which was due to the



BG. (D) Clearance rate of oxygen-free radicals of BG. *Stands for P < 0.05 vs. white garlic.

fact that the polyphenol content in BG was significantly higher than that of raw garlic.

Clinical Characteristics

There was no significant statistical differences for clinical characteristics of CHF patients between BG and CG groups, including gender distribution, body mass index (BMI), age, diastolic blood pressure (DBP), and systolic blood pressure (SBP) (**Table 3**, P > 0.05). The cases for taking ACE-In, ARBS, betablockers, diuretics, and performing CRT and ICD therapies were comparable between two groups (P > 0.05, **Table 3**).

Therapeutic Results of Black Garlic

There was no significant difference (P > 0.05) in the mean values of BUN and before BG therapy (P < 0.05, **Table 4**). After therapy, the values of mean BUN and serum creatinine were significantly reduced in both groups (P < 0.05, **Table 4**). Meanwhile, the values of mean BUN and serum creatinine were significantly reduced when compared with placebo groups (P < 0.05, **Table 4**).

Comparison of Two Sets of Lee Scores

Before BG treatment, the statistical difference for Lee scores was insignificant between BG and CG groups (Table 5, P > 0.05).

After BG consumption, the statistical differences for Lee scores were significant in both BG and CG groups when compared with before treatments (**Table 5**, P < 0.05). BG reduced more Lee scores than CG (**Table 5**, P < 0.05).

The QOL Scores

Before BG consumption, the statistical difference for the QOL scores was insignificant between BG and CG groups (**Table 6**, P > 0.05). After 6-month BG consumption, the statistical differences for the QOL scores were significant in both BG and CG groups (**Table 6**, P < 0.05). BG increased more QOL scores than CG (**Table 6**, P < 0.05).

Comparison of 6-Min Walk Distance Between Two Groups

Before BG consumption, the statistical difference for 6-min walk distance was insignificant between BG and CG groups (**Table 7**, P > 0.05). After 6-month BG consumption, the statistical differences for 6-min walk distance were significant in both BG and CG groups (**Table 7**, P < 0.05). Meanwhile, BG increased more 6-min walk distance than CG (**Table 7**, P < 0.05).

Parameters	BG	Placebo	χ ² -and t-value	P-value
Gender (male/female)	32/28	34/26	0.135	0.714
Age (year)	39.89 ± 13.26	40.23 ± 12.78	-1.303	0.179
SBP (mm Hg)	126.21 ± 11.52	130.54 ± 12.76	-1.684	0.086
DBP (mm Hg)	87.23 ± 7.16	86.53 ± 7.48	-1.296	0.158
BMI	24.91 ± 1.74	24.52 ± 1.48	-1.563	0.098
TC (mmol/L)	5.52 ± 0.64	5.72 ± 0.87	-0.618	0.274
TG (mmol/L)	2.24 ± 0.81	2.32 ± 0.94	-2.158	0.109
LDL-C (mmol/L)	2.01 ± 0.64	2.35 ± 0.83	-1.864	0.187
HDL-C (mmol/L)	1.84 ± 0.46	1.65 ± 0.32	-2.619	0.074
Cr (µmol/L)	85.24 ± 13.58	87.04 ± 14.51	-1.244	0.136
HbA1C (%)	8.42 ± 0.73	8.72 ± 0.86	-0.654	0.246
ACE-In	6	5	3.07	0.38
ARBS	3	7		
Beta-blockers	4	3		
Diuretics	8	4		
CRT	6	9	0.68	0.41
ICD	2	4	0.18	0.68

Chi-square test and t-test were used to compare the significant difference between COG and CG groups. BMI, body mass index; ACE-In, angiotensin-converting enzyme; ARBS, angiotensin receptor blockers; CRT, cardiac resynchronization therapy; ICD, implantable cardioverter defibrillator. All data were presented as mean value \pm SD. There were significantly statistical differences between two groups if P < 0.05.

TABLE 4 | The therapeutic results of BG.

		Before treatment	After treatment	t-values	P-values
Blood urea nitrogen (mg/dL)	BG	19.03 ± 6.85	15.23 ± 5.24	6.41	0.01 ^a
	Placebo	18.71 ± 6.34	17.05 ± 5.98	2.16	0.03 ^a
	t-values	0.37	3.28		
	P-values	0.51	0.02		
Serum creatinine (mg/dL)	BG	1.41 ± 0.32	1.04 ± 0.27	8.65	0.01 ^a
	Placebo	1.36 ± 0.29	1.20 ± 0.19	2.39	0.04 ^a
	t-values	0.24	4.31		
	P-values	0.63	0.02		

^aStands for P < 0.05 vs. before treatment.

TABLE 5 | The comparison of Lee scores between two groups.

	Before treatment	After treatment	t-values	P-values
BG	4.02 ± 1.81	1.18 ± 0.40	11.38	0.01 ^a
Placebo	4.23 ± 1.76	2.19 ± 0.73	9.25	0.01 ^a
t-values	0.25	4.12		
P-values	0.68	0.02 ^b		

n=60 for each group. $^aP<0.05$ vs. before treatment and $^bP<0.05$ vs. a placebo group.

Comparison of Nt-proBNP Concentration Between Two Groups

Before BG consumption, the statistical difference for Nt-proBNP concentration was insignificant between BG and CG groups

TABLE 6 | The comparison of QOL between two groups.

	Before treatment	After treatment	t-values	P-values
BG	43.68 ± 3.38	21.76 ± 4.18	23.40	0.01 ^a
Placebo	42.55 ± 3.05	29.39 ± 4.16	14.85	0.01 ^a
t-values	0.34	2.19		
P-values	0.78	0.02 ^b		

n=60 for each group. $^aP<0.05$ vs. before treatment and $^bP<0.05$ vs. a placebo group.

TABLE 7 | The comparison of 6-min walk distance between two groups (m).

	Before treatment	After treatment	t-values	P-values
BG	356.22 ± 41.93	426.16 ± 29.96	8.47	0.01 ^a
Placebo	348.32 ± 36.79	372.83 ± 28.16	2.12	0.08
t-values	0.298	2.41		
P-values	0.649	0.02 ^b		

n=60 for each group. $^aP<0.05$ vs. before treatment and $^bP<0.05$ vs. a placebo group.

TABLE 8 The comparison of Nt-proBNP between two groups (pg/mL).

	Before treatment	After treatment	t-values	P-values
BG	1895.12 ± 249.34	1291.64 ± 207.04	5.94	0.01 ^a
Placebo	1861.63 ± 257.13	1536.54 ± 216.32	2.65	0.04 ^a
t-values	0.10	1.95		
P-values	0.87	0.03 ^b		

n=60 for each group. $^aP<0.05$ vs. before treatment and $^bP<0.05$ vs. a placebo group.

(**Table 8**, P > 0.05). After 6-month BG consumption, the statistical differences for Nt-proBNP concentration were significant in both BG and CG groups when compared with before treatments (**Table 8**, P < 0.05). Meanwhile, the concentration of Nt-proBNP was reduced by 18.47 \pm 2.69% in the BG group when compared with the CG group (**Table 8**, P < 0.05).

Comparison of LVEF Volume Between Two Groups

Before BG consumption, the statistical difference for LVEF volume was insignificant between BG and CG groups (**Table 9**, P > 0.05). After 6-month BG consumption, the statistical differences for LVEF volume were significant in both BG and CG groups when compared with before treatments (**Table 9**, P < 0.05). Meanwhile, the values of LVEF volume were improved by 14.29 \pm 4.38% in the BG group when compared with the CG group (**Table 9**, P < 0.05).

Adverse Reaction

No obvious adverse reactions occurred during the whole experiment, suggesting that the drug is safe in treatment.

Circulating Antioxidant Levels

Circulating antioxidant levels were investigated between two groups. The statistical difference for the biomarkers was

	Before treatment	After treatment	t-values	P-values
BG	29.36 ± 9.34	36.82 ± 10.43	5.03	0.01 ^a
Placebo	28.24 ± 8.15	32.73 ± 10.21	3.10	0.01 ^a
t-values	0.98	2.14		
P-values	0.36	0.03 ^b		

TABLE 9 | The comparison of LVEF between two groups.

n = 60 for each group. ^aP < 0.05 vs. before treatment and ^bP < 0.05 vs. a placebo group. LVEF, left-ventricular ejection fraction.

insignificant between two groups before therapy (**Figure 3**, P > 0.05). After therapy, circulating levels of NO (**Figure 3A**) and MDA (**Figure 3B**) were lower in BG than in CG group while the circulating levels of SOD (**Figure 3C**) and GSH-PX (**Figure 3D**) were higher in BG than in CG group (P < 0.05).

DISCUSSION

Recent studies have shown that BNP has a high reliability in the diagnosis of CHF and provides an important method for heart failure diagnosis (Booth et al., 2014). BNP has been listed as one of the diagnostic criteria for heart failure by the American College of Cardiology (ACC) and the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) (Fonseca et al., 2004; Emdin et al., 2007). According to an earlier

report, the measuring limits of BNP, proBNP, and NT-proBNP were 0.4, 3, and 10 pg/mL, respectively (Seferian et al., 2007). The study showed that BNP concentrations were elevated, and cardiac function indicators were highly expressed. There was a significant correlation between cardiac dysfunction and NT-proBNP concentration, suggesting that BNP concentration measurement can be used as an effective method to screen patients with CHF, and it will be effective in the early diagnosis of CHF.

The concentration of plasma BNP was positively correlated with NYHA classification. The worse of heart function, the higher the severity of heart failure and the higher concentration of plasma BNP. In the present experiment, the most patients with cardiac function III and IV and Nt-proBNP were significantly decreased after receiving BG (**Table 8**). This study showed that the plasma BNP concentration value could be used as a reliable indicator to judge the severity of heart failure, and it was easy to operate.

The determination of plasma BNP concentration has been considered as a powerful indicator in prognostic evaluation of CHF risk. High-level plasma BNP, especially before treatment, showed a poor prognosis. Comparatively, the BNP concentration decreased (average 215 pg/mL) in patients who did not have a cardiac endpoint (Cheng et al., 2001). In addition, BNP concentration was reported to be an independent risk





predictor of death in CHF patients (Richards et al., 2001). The heart failure patients with BNP >700 pg/mL and the 120-day mortality rate and readmission rate were 80%. In contrast, the patients with BNP values < 350 pg/mL had mortality and the readmission rate was <10% (Logeart et al., 2004). The level of BNP not only reflects the severity of heart failure, but also is an effective prognostic indicator of heart failure. The results of this study showed that the NtproBNP levels were significantly higher in the patients with heart failure. BNP levels were powerful indicators for the diagnosis of heart failure. The results also showed that BG consumption resulted in significant reduction in the level of Nt-proBNP compared with that before the treatment and CG group (P < 0.05), suggesting that BG consumption can reduce plasma N-terminal BNP levels in heart failure patients, antagonize neuroendocrine activation, and improve cardiac function. Meanwhile, therapeutic results of BG were approved by reducing the values of mean BUN and serum creatinine when compared with placebo groups (P < 0.05, Table 4).

Hambrecht study found that rehabilitation exercise on CHF lowered the resting heart rate during submaximal exercise, and increased maximal oxygen uptake, exercise tolerance and anaerobic threshold, physical activity, and QOL (Hambrecht et al., 2000). CHF can cause skeletal muscle mechanoreceptor activation leading to increased ventilation and chest tightness sensation, as well as fatigue and sympathetic activation, and at least one-fourth of CHF patients are caused by skeletal muscle abnormalities (Rogers, 2001). Thus, all patients received 30-min walking exercise daily.

The results of this study also showed that the levels of LVEF in both BG and CG groups were improved when compared with before treatment (P < 0.05). The scores of the diagnosis of heart failure were decreased (P < 0.05). Medicine combined with BG effectively improved heart failure patients with lower LVEF (P < 0.05).

In this study, the 6-min walk test was used as a performance evaluation indicator for CHF patients. The 6-min walk test was used as an objective indicator to evaluate the activity, physical fitness, and drug intervention effects of patients with heart failure. The 6-min walking experiment has been studied in more depth and widely used (Brehm et al., 2017; Fakhro et al., 2017; Omar and Guglin, 2017).

The results of this study showed that the QOL scores were improved after walking exercise in both groups compared with before the excise (P < 0.05); and after BG treatment, the improvement was better in the BG group than that in CG group (P < 0.05); suggesting that BG will be better than CG for improving the living ability of patients with heart failure.

After therapy, circulating levels of NO (Figure 3A) and MDA (Figure 3B) were lower in BG than in CG group while the circulating levels of SOD (Figure 3C) and GSH-PX (Figure 3D) were higher in BG than in CG group (P < 0.05). The results suggest that BG improves the antioxidant properties of CHD patients. Antioxidant levels had positive relation with QOL and LVEF values, and negative relation with Nt-proBNP values. The improvement of QOL has been demonstrated in the patients who have received antioxidant therapy (Shah et al., 2010). Nt-proBNP is an important biomarker for reflecting total oxidized stress in the patients with acute myocardial infarction (Kasap et al., 2007). On the other hand, antioxidant therapy can improve LVEF values (de Lorgeril et al., 2001). Thus, BG may improve the symptoms of CHD patients by increasing antioxidant activities. Black garlic has many healthpromoting properties (Figure 4). Considering the short time of

REFERENCES

- Abel-Salam, B. K. (2012). Immunomodulatory effects of black seeds and garlic on alloxan-induced diabetes in albino rat. *Allergol. Immunopathol.* 40, 336–340. doi: 10.1016/j.aller.2011.07.002
- Alali, F. Q., El-Elimat, T., Khalid, L., Hudaib, R., Al-Shehabi, T. S., and Eid, A. H. (2017). Garlic for cardiovascular disease: prevention or treatment? *Curr. Pharm. Des.* 23, 1028–1041. doi: 10.2174/1381612822666161010124530
- Andres, E., Talha, S., Hajjam, M., Hajjam, J., Erve, S., and Hajjam, A. (2018). Experimentation of 2.0 telemedicine in elderly patients with chronic heart failure: a study prospective in 175 patients. *Eur. J. Intern. Med.* 51, e11–e12. doi: 10.1016/j.ejim.2018.02.022
- Aslani, N., Entezari, M. H., Askari, G., Maghsoudi, Z., and Maracy, M. R. (2016). Effect of garlic and lemon juice mixture on lipid profile and some cardiovascular risk factors in people 30-60 years old with moderate hyperlipidaemia: a randomized clinical trial. *Int. J. Prev. Med.* 7:95. doi: 10.4103/2008-7802.187248
- Booth, R. A., Hill, S. A., Don-Wauchope, A., Santaguida, P. L., Oremus, M., McKelvie, R., et al. (2014). Performance of BNP and NT-proBNP for diagnosis of heart failure in primary care patients: a systematic review. *Heart Fail. Rev.* 19, 439–451. doi: 10.1007/s10741-014-9445-8
- Bredy, C., Ministeri, M., Kempny, A., Alonso-Gonzalez, R., Swan, L., Uebing, A., et al. (2018). New York heart association (nyha) classification in adults with congenital heart disease: relation to objective measures of exercise and outcome. *Eur. Heart J. Qual. Care Clin. Outcomes* 4, 51–58. doi: 10.1093/ehjqcco/qcx031
- Brehm, M. A., Verduijn, S., Bon, J., Bredt, N., and Nollet, F. (2017). Comparison of two 6-minute walk tests to assess walking capacity in polio survivors. J. Rehabil. Med. 49, 732–737. doi: 10.2340/16501977-2264
- Cheng, V., Kazanagra, R., Garcia, A., Lenert, L., Krishnaswamy, P., Gardetto, N., et al. (2001). A rapid bedside test for b-type peptide predicts treatment outcomes in patients admitted for decompensated heart failure: a pilot study. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 37, 386–391. doi: 10.1016/S0735-1097(00)01157-8
- Clark, R. A. (2018). Telehealth in the elderly with chronic heart failure: what is the evidence? *Stud. Health Technol. Inform.* 246, 18–23.
- Czompa, A., Szoke, K., Prokisch, J., Gyongyosi, A., Bak, I., Balla, G., et al. (2018). Aged (black) versus raw garlic against ischemia/reperfusion-induced cardiac complications. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 19:E1017. doi: 10.3390/ijms19041017

the present study, the small sample size and other influencing factors, further work is highly demanded to confirm the present result.

CONCLUSION

Black garlic improved blood circulation in the treatment of CHD patients. BG combined with conventional treatment improved the LVEF and heart function, and reduced the heart failure diagnosis. BG treatment improved the QOL, the patient's actual living ability, and QOL. BG consumption increased the distance of 6-min walking test in CHD patients and showed obvious advantages in the recovery of physical function. BG combined with medicine treatment reduced plasma N-terminal pro-body BNP levels and antagonized neuroendocrine activation in CHD patients.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JL and CW designed the study. JL, GZ, XC, and CW performed the experiments. GZ analyzed the data. CW wrote the manuscript. JL and XC revised and corrected the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

- de Lorgeril, M., Salen, P., Accominotti, M., Cadau, M., Steghens, J. P., Boucher, F., et al. (2001). Dietary and blood antioxidants in patients with chronic heart failure. Insights into the potential importance of selenium in heart failure. *Eur. J. Heart Fail.* 3, 661–669. doi: 10.1016/S1388-9842(01)00 179-9
- Dong, M., Yang, G., Liu, H., Liu, X., Lin, S., Sun, D., et al. (2014). Aged black garlic extract inhibits ht29 colon cancer cell growth via the pi3k/akt signaling pathway. *Biomed. Rep.* 2, 250–254. doi: 10.3892/br.2014.226
- Du, J. B., Da, C. H., Zhao, Y., Guo, Y., Guo, G., Ju, T. F., et al. (2012). The role of brain natriuretic peptide and serum triiodothyronine in the diagnosis and prognosis of chronic heart failure. *Acta Cardiol.* 67, 291–296. doi: 10.1080/AC. 67.3.2160717
- Emdin, M., Passino, C., Prontera, C., Fontana, M., Poletti, R., Gabutti, A., et al. (2007). Comparison of brain natriuretic peptide (bnp) and aminoterminal probnp for early diagnosis of heart failure. *Clin. Chem.* 53, 1289–1297. doi: 10.1373/clinchem.2006.080234
- Fakhro, M., Ingemansson, R., Algotsson, L., and Lindstedt, S. (2017). Impact of forced expiratory volume in 1 second (fev1) and 6-minute walking distance at 3, 6, and 12 months and annually on survival and occurrence of bronchiolitis obliterans syndrome (bos) after lung transplantation. *Ann. Transplant.* 22, 532–540. doi: 10.12659/AOT.904819
- Feng, S. D., Jiang, Y., Lin, Z. H., Lin, P. H., Lin, S. M., and Liu, Q. C. (2017). Diagnostic value of brain natriuretic peptide and beta-endorphin plasma concentration changes in patients with acute left heart failure and atrial fibrillation. *Medicine* 96:e7526. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000000 07526
- Fonseca, C., Sarmento, P. M., Minez, A., Goncalves, E., Covas, R., Dias, A. R., et al. (2004). Comparative value of bnp and nt-probnp in diagnosis of heart failure. *Rev. Port Cardiol.* 23, 979–991.
- Golshani, K., Esmailian, M., Valikhany, A., and Zamani, M. (2016). Bedside ultrasonography versus brain natriuretic peptide in detecting cardiogenic causes of acute dyspnea. *Emerg* 4, 140–144.
- Gorinstein, S., Jastrzebski, Z., Namiesnik, J., Leontowicz, H., Leontowicz, M., and Trakhtenberg, S. (2007). The atherosclerotic heart disease and protecting properties of garlic: contemporary data. *Mol. Nutr. Food Res.* 51, 1365–1381. doi: 10.1002/mnfr.200700064

9, 30–36. doi: 10.4162/nrp.2015.9.1.30 Hahn, R. G., Jaarsma, T., Waldreus, N., and Linssen, G. C. (2016). Urine measurement indicates the plasma brain natriuretic peptide concentration during optimization of heart failure treatment. *Scand. J. Clin. Lab. Invest.* 76, 112–117. doi: 10.3109/00365513.2015.1108454

satvium) extracts on lipid metabolism in rats fed a high fat diet. Nutr. Res. Pract.

- Hambrecht, R., Hilbrich, L., Erbs, S., Gielen, S., Fiehn, E., Schoene, N., et al. (2000). Correction of endothelial dysfunction in chronic heart failure: additional effects of exercise training and oral l-arginine supplementation. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 35, 706–713. doi: 10.1016/S0735-1097(99)00602-6
- Hammadah, M., Alkhoder, A., Al Mheid, I., Wilmot, K., Isakadze, N., Abdulhadi, N., et al. (2017). Hemodynamic, catecholamine, vasomotor and vascular responses: determinants of myocardial ischemia during mental stress. *Int. J. Cardiol.* 243, 47–53. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2017.05.093
- Jeong, Y. Y., Ryu, J. H., Shin, J. H., Kang, M. J., Kang, J. R., Han, J., et al. (2016). Comparison of anti-oxidant and anti-inflammatory effects between fresh and aged black garlic extracts. *Molecules* 21:430. doi: 10.3390/molecules21040430
- Jin, X. L., Huang, N., Shang, H., Zhou, M. C., Hong, Y., Cai, W. Z., et al. (2018). Diagnosis of chronic heart failure by the soluble suppression of tumorigenicity 2 and n-terminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide. J. Clin. Lab. Anal. 32:e22295. doi: 10.1002/jcla.22295
- Kasap, S., Gonenc, A., Sener, D. E., and Hisar, I. (2007). Serum cardiac markers in patients with acute myocardial infarction: oxidative stress, c-reactive protein and n-terminal probrain natriuretic peptide. *J. Clin. Biochem. Nutr.* 41, 50–57. doi: 10.3164/jcbn.2007007
- Kim, M. H., Kim, M. J., Lee, J. H., Han, J. I., Kim, J. H., Sok, D. E., et al. (2011). Hepatoprotective effect of aged black garlic on chronic alcohol-induced liver injury in rats. J. Med. Food 14, 732–738. doi: 10.1089/jmf.2010.1454
- Kou, H. J., Wang, X., Gao, D. F., Dong, X., Wei, J., and Ma, R. (2016). Relationships of blood pressure circadian rhythm and brain natriuretic peptide with left ventricular hypertrophy in the patients with primary hypertension. *Zhongguo Yi Xue Ke Xue Yuan Xue Bao* 38, 514–521. doi: 10.3881/j.issn.1000-503X.2016. 05.004
- Logeart, D., Thabut, G., Jourdain, P., Chavelas, C., Beyne, P., Beauvais, F., et al. (2004). Predischarge b-type natriuretic peptide assay for identifying patients at high risk of re-admission after decompensated heart failure. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 43, 635–641. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2003.09.044
- Lu, X., Li, N., Qiao, X., Qiu, Z., and Liu, P. (2017). Composition analysis and antioxidant properties of black garlic extract. J. Food Drug Anal. 25, 340–349. doi: 10.1016/j.jfda.2016.05.011
- Mogle, J., Buck, H., Zambroski, C., Alvaro, R., and Vellone, E. (2017). Crossvalidation of the minnesota living with heart failure questionnaire. J. Nurs. Scholarsh. 49, 513–520. doi: 10.1111/jnu.12318
- Mukherji, A., Ansari, U., Borggrefe, M., Akin, I., and Behnes, M. (2017). Clinically relevant biomarkers in acute heart failure: an update. *Curr. Pharm. Biotechnol.* 18, 482–490. doi: 10.2174/1389201018666170623090817
- Naar, J., Malek, F., Lang, O., Belohlavek, O., Vranova, J., Mraz, T., et al. (2014). Assessment of left ventricular diastolic function by radionuclide ventriculography in patients with chronic heart failure and reduced ejection fraction. *Vnitr. Lek.* 60, 110–113.
- Nakajima, K., Nakata, T., Yamada, T., Yamashina, S., Momose, M., Kasama, S., et al. (2014). A prediction model for 5-year cardiac mortality in patients with chronic heart failure using (1)(2)(3)i-metaiodobenzylguanidine imaging. *Eur. J. Nucl. Med. Mol. Imaging* 41, 1673–1682. doi: 10.1007/s00259-014-2759-x
- Nakasone, Y., Sato, N., Azuma, T., and Hasumi, K. (2016). Intake of blackvinegar-mash-garlic enhances salivary release of secretory iga: a randomized,

double-blind, placebo-controlled, parallel-group study. *Biomed. Rep.* 5, 63–67. doi: 10.3892/br.2016.687

- Omar, H. R., and Guglin, M. (2017). Depression significantly reduces the 6-minute walking distance in systolic heart failure: insights from the escape trial. *Eur. J. Intern. Med.* 41, e30–e32. doi: 10.1016/j.ejim.2017.01.009
- Remes, J., Reunanen, A., Aromaa, A., and Pyörälä, K. (1992). Incidence of heart failure in eastern finland: a population-based surveillance study. *Eur. Heart J.* 13, 588–593. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.eurheartj.a060220
- Richards, A. M., Doughty, R., Nicholls, M. G., MacMahon, S., Sharpe, N., Murphy, J., et al. (2001). Plasma n-terminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide and adrenomedullin: prognostic utility and prediction of benefit from carvedilol in chronic ischemic left ventricular dysfunction. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 37, 1781–1787. doi: 10.1016/S0735-1097(01)01269-4
- Ried, K., Travica, N., and Sali, A. (2016). The effect of aged garlic extract on blood pressure and other cardiovascular risk factors in uncontrolled hypertensives: the age at heart trial. *Integr. Blood Press Control* 9, 9–21. doi: 10.2147/IBPC. S93335
- Rogers, F. J. (2001). The muscle hypothesis: a model of chronic heart failure appropriate for osteopathic medicine. J. Am. Osteopath. Assoc. 101, 576–583.
- Schmid, F. A., Schlager, O., Keller, P., Seifert, B., Huang, R., Fröhlich, G. M., et al. (2017). Prognostic value of long-term blood pressure changes in patients with chronic heart failure. *Eur. J. Heart Fail.* 19, 837–842. doi: 10.1002/ejhf.805
- Seferian, K. R., Tamm, N. N., Semenov, A. G., Mukharyamova, K. S., Tolstaya, A. A., Koshkina, E. V., et al. (2007). The brain natriuretic peptide (bnp) precursor is the major immunoreactive form of bnp in patients with heart failure. *Clin. Chem.* 53, 866–873. doi: 10.1373/clinchem.2006.076141
- Shah, N. S., Makin, A. J., Sheen, A. J., and Siriwardena, A. K. (2010). Quality of life assessment in patients with chronic pancreatitis receiving antioxidant therapy. World J. Gastroenterol. 16, 4066–4071. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v16.i32. 4066
- Siddiqui, M. F., Ahmed, A., and Bano, B. (2017). Insight into the biochemical, kinetic and spectroscopic characterization of garlic (*Allium sativum*) phytocystatin: implication for cardiovascular disease. *Int. J. Biol. Macromol.* 95, 734–742. doi: 10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2016.11.107
- Sun, Y. E., and Wang, W. (2018). Changes in nutritional and bio-functional compounds and antioxidant capacity during black garlic processing. J. Food Sci. Technol. 55, 479–488. doi: 10.1007/s13197-017-2956-2
- Sun, Y. Z., Gao, Y. L., Yu, Q. X., Wang, J., Xia, Y. H., Lin, H. Y., et al. (2015). Assessment of acute lung injury/acute respiratory distress syndrome using b-type brain natriuretic peptide. *J. Int. Med. Res.* 43, 802–808. doi: 10.1177/ 0300060515586245
- Yoo, J. M., Sok, D. E., and Kim, M. R. (2014). Anti-allergic action of aged black garlic extract in rbl-2h3 cells and passive cutaneous anaphylaxis reaction in mice. J. Med. Food 17, 92–102. doi: 10.1089/jmf.2013.2927

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Liu, Zhang, Cong and Wen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Diabetic Cardiomyopathy: Current and Future Therapies. Beyond Glycemic Control

Giulia Borghetti¹, Dirk von Lewinski², Deborah M. Eaton¹, Harald Sourij³, Steven R. Houser¹ and Markus Wallner^{1,2*}

¹ Cardiovascular Research Center, Lewis Katz School of Medicine, Temple University, Philadelphia, PA, United States, ² Division of Cardiology, Department of Internal Medicine, Medical University of Graz, Graz, Austria, ³ Division of Endocrinology and Diabetology, Department of Internal Medicine, Medical University of Graz, Graz, Austria

Diabetes mellitus and the associated complications represent a global burden on human health and economics. Cardiovascular diseases are the leading cause of death in diabetic patients, who have a 2-5 times higher risk of developing heart failure than age-matched non-diabetic patients, independent of other comorbidities. Diabetic cardiomyopathy is defined as the presence of abnormal cardiac structure and performance in the absence of other cardiac risk factors, such coronary artery disease, hypertension, and significant valvular disease. Hyperglycemia, hyperinsulinemia, and insulin resistance mediate the pathological remodeling of the heart, characterized by left ventricle concentric hypertrophy and perivascular and interstitial fibrosis leading to diastolic dysfunction. A change in the metabolic status, impaired calcium homeostasis and energy production, increased inflammation and oxidative stress, as well as an accumulation of advanced glycation end products are among the mechanisms implicated in the pathogenesis of diabetic cardiomyopathy. Despite a growing interest in the pathophysiology of diabetic cardiomyopathy, there are no specific guidelines for diagnosing patients or structuring a treatment strategy in clinical practice. Antihyperglycemic drugs are crucial in the management of diabetes by effectively reducing microvascular complications, preventing renal failure, retinopathy, and nerve damage. Interestingly, several drugs currently in use can improve cardiac health beyond their ability to control glycemia. GLP-1 receptor agonists and sodium-glucose co-transporter 2 inhibitors have been shown to have a beneficial effect on the cardiovascular system through a direct effect on myocardium, beyond their ability to lower blood glucose levels. In recent years, great improvements have been made toward the possibility of modulating the expression of specific cardiac genes or non-coding RNAs in vivo for therapeutic purpose, opening up the possibility to regulate the expression of key players in the development/progression of diabetic cardiomyopathy. This review summarizes the pathogenesis of diabetic cardiomyopathy, with particular focus on structural and molecular abnormalities occurring during its progression, as well as both current and potential future therapies.

Keywords: diabetic cardiomyopathy, anti-hyperglycemic drug, SGLT-2 inhibitors, incretin-based therapy, heart failure, pathogenesis, treatment

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Celestino Sardu, Università degli Studi della Campania "Luigi Vanvitelli," Italy

Reviewed by:

Gaetano Santulli, Columbia University, United States Tong Liu, Tianjin Medical University, China

*Correspondence: Markus Wallner markus.wallner@medunigraz.at

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cardiac Electrophysiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 18 July 2018 Accepted: 09 October 2018 Published: 30 October 2018

Citation:

Borghetti G, von Lewinski D, Eaton DM, Sourij H, Houser SR and Wallner M (2018) Diabetic Cardiomyopathy: Current and Future Therapies. Beyond Glycemic Control. Front. Physiol. 9:1514. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01514

70

INTRODUCTION

Diabetes mellitus is a major public health problem and represents a huge health concern for the global population. In 2010, 285 million people were affected, and this number is estimated to increase to almost 700 million people by 2040 (Shaw et al., 2010). Type 2 diabetes (T2DM) is a chronic metabolic disorder characterized by hyperglycemia and insulin resistance, also representing one of the major risks for developing heart failure (HF) (Schocken et al., 2008). In 1974, the Framingham study showed that diabetic patients have a 2-5 times higher risk of developing HF than age-matched, non-diabetic patients, and independent of other comorbidities. This suggests a specific intrinsic mechanism that drives the pathological cardiac remodeling in this population (Kannel et al., 1974). The United Kingdom Prospective Diabetes Study (Group) indicated an association between the risk of cardiovascular complications and glycemia, observing that for every 1% decrease in HbA1c there was an 18% reduction in myocardial infarction (MI) events (Group, U. P. D. S. U., 1998).

Heart failure is a multifactorial disease in diabetic patients. Both type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM) and T2DM are associated with an increase in macrovascular and microvascular dysfunction, resulting in ischemic events and altered vascular permeability (Krentz et al., 2007; Calcutt et al., 2009). Atherosclerosis and hypertension are often present in diabetic patients and contribute to coronary artery disease (CAD) and peripheral vascular disease, both of which affect the heart. However, besides these well-known pathological triggers, diabetes contributes to the development of HF through a more disease-specific variety of mechanisms, which are mostly driven by hyperglycemia, hyperinsulinemia, metabolic changes, and oxidative stress (Davidoff et al., 2004).

The aim of this review is to summarize molecular, structural, and functional changes occurring during the pathogenesis of diabetic cardiomyopathy. We will discuss management strategies, with particular focus on the therapeutic effect of glucose lowering drugs on HF development/progression, merging basic research and clinical observations. Emerging potential new targets and future prospects to improve the cardiovascular health of diabetic patients will be discussed as well.

THE PATHOGENESIS OF DIABETIC CARDIOMYOPATHY

Diabetic cardiomyopathy is defined as the existence of abnormal cardiac structure and performance in the absence of other cardiac risk factors, such CAD, hypertension, and significant valvular disease (Jia et al., 2018). It was first described more than four decades ago (Rubler et al., 1972), with hyperglycemia and impaired cardiac insulin signaling pathway having pivotal roles in its progression/onset (Jia et al., 2018). Clinically, the diabetic heart is characterized by diastolic dysfunction with preserved ejection fraction. These alterations are caused by the pathological remodeling of the heart. Increases in interstitial and perivascular fibrosis, as well as left ventricle (LV) hypertrophy are

structural hallmarks associated with the diabetic heart (Tate et al., 2017). However, the underlying pathogenic mechanisms remain unclear; it includes but is not limited to abnormal extracellular matrix (Perge et al., 2017) deposition, an increase in oxidative stress and inflammation, in conjunction with mitochondrial dysfunction, and changes in the metabolic profile and energy production (Isfort et al., 2014; De Rosa et al., 2018; **Figure 1**).

An increase in fibrosis is the result of an increase in collagen deposition coupled with abnormalities in ECM protein structure and turnover (Tate et al., 2017). In the diabetic heart, upregulation in the expression of profibrotic factors, such as transforming growth factor beta 1 and connective tissue growth factor, can cause abnormal ECM protein deposition (Mizushige et al., 2000; Way et al., 2002; D'Souza et al., 2011). At the same time, a decrease in the activity of the ECM-degrading enzyme metalloproteinase (Westermann et al., 2007) can lead to ECM accumulation. Hyperglycemia induces advanced glycation end product (AGEs) formation, as a result of a non-enzymatic binding between amine residues of proteins or lipids and sugars (Kilhovd et al., 1999; Goh and Cooper, 2008; Yamagishi et al., 2012). AGEs damaging potential is correlated with their ability to cross-link collagen molecules, which increases their resistance to proteolysis and slows down their turnover (Aronson, 2003). AGEs may also bind to receptor for advanced glycation end products on the cardiac cell membranes, further promoting both pro-fibrotic and pro-inflammatory signaling, and increasing the expression of oxidative stress mediators (Candido et al., 2003; Haidara et al., 2006; Yamagishi et al., 2012).

Left ventricle hypertrophy is the main morphological change observed in the diabetic heart. Echocardiograms of diabetic patient's hearts have shown an increase in LV posterior and septal wall thickness (Eguchi et al., 2008). LV hypertrophy can occur as an adaptive response to elevated hemodynamic stress (Ritchie et al., 2009). However, this morphological change can also occur independent of pressure-overload in diabetic patient (Galderisi et al., 1991; Eguchi et al., 2008). LV hypertrophy develops as a result of myocyte hypertrophy, an increase in interstitial and perivascular fibrosis, and thickening of the myocardial capillary basement membrane (Voulgari et al., 2010; Velic et al., 2013).

Metabolic dysfunction, hyperinsulinemia, oxidative stress, and inflammation are among the prevalent causes of this increase in LV mass seen in diabetic patients (Huynh et al., 2014). High glucose levels have been found to induce an increase in cardiomyocyte size in vitro (Feng et al., 2008). The diabetic heart is characterized by an upregulation in hypertrophic gene expression, such as atrial natriuretic peptide (ANP), B-type natriuretic peptide (BNP), and B-myosin heavy chain (Candido et al., 2003; Chang et al., 2006; Connelly et al., 2007; Ritchie et al., 2007; Huynh et al., 2010). Hyperglycemia activates the systemic and intracardiac renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system pathway resulting in an increase of angiotensin II (Ang II) levels (Frustaci et al., 2000). Ang II stimulates proliferation of cardiac fibroblasts and cardiomyocyte hypertrophy (Kumar et al., 2012). High levels of plasma aldosterone and overexpression of the mineralocorticoid receptor, along with increased Ang II activity, can exacerbate insulin resistance, hyperlipidemia, and hypertension (Baudrand et al., 2016).


Under normal physiological conditions, the adult heart can use a variety of substrates to produce ATP, a phenomenon called "metabolic substrate flexibility". Free fatty acids (FFAs) are the preferred energy substrate of the adult heart, although other substrates, such as glucose, lactate, ketone bodies, and select amino acids can be used (Jia et al., 2016). Hyperglycemia and insulin resistance lead to a complete loss of this flexibility. A decrease in glucose transporter type 4 recruitment to the sarcolemma reduces the ability to use glucose as an energy source. At the same time, an increase in FFAs released from adipose tissue and FFAs transporter translocation to the sarcolemma leads to an internalization of this substrate in the cardiomyocytes (Harmancey et al., 2012). The loss of metabolic flexibility and the increase in fatty acid oxidation results in a loss of efficiency between substrate use and ATP production in the diabetic heart (Levelt et al., 2018). The energy source switch is accompanied by impaired oxidative phosphorylation and boosted mitochondrial ROS generation. This increase in mitochondrial uncoupling leads to increased mitochondrial O₂ consumption, but this is not accompanied by a proportional increase in ATP synthesis, leading to a decrease in cardiac energy efficiency (Bugger and Abel, 2010; Rider et al., 2013). Moreover, the inability to switch to glucose oxidation makes the heart susceptible to damage and dysfunction under hypoxic

conditions, such as in myocardial ischemia (Stanley et al., 1997).

An excessive accumulation of FFAs is detrimental to cardiomyocytes, as they are not equipped to store lipids. This highlights the concept of lipotoxicity as a mechanism for the development of diabetic cardiomyopathy through a decrease in myocyte physiological autophagy and an increase in apoptosis (Mandavia et al., 2013; Levelt et al., 2018).

Besides lipotoxicity, oxidative stress and inflammation are also mechanisms that trigger programmed cell death. An increase in the number of apoptotic cardiomyocytes was found in biopsies from diabetic patients in comparison to non-diabetic patients (Kuethe et al., 2007). In myocardial tissue of diabetic patients, metabolic and oxidative stress cause an increase in sensitivity to Ca^{2+} of mitochondrial permeability transition pore, that result in cardiomyocytes autophagy and cardiac necrosis (Anderson et al., 2011).

Maladaptive proinflammatory response furthers the progression of diabetic cardiomyopathy. Diabetes causes immune cell migration in the myocardium and an increase in macrophage pro-inflammatory M1 polarization, whereas the M2 anti-inflammatory phenotype is decreased (Jia et al., 2015). Upregulation of several proinflammatory cytokines, such as tumor necrosis factor (TNF α), interleukins 6 and 8, and

monocyte chemotactic protein 1 is characteristic of the diabetic heart. These cytokines affect several cardiac cell populations, including cardiomyocytes, endothelial cells, fibroblasts, and smooth muscle cells, which all contribute to pathological remodeling and oxidative stress (Jia et al., 2018).

Proteotoxic stress, caused by accumulation of misfolded proteins and/or proteasome inhibition, has recently been discovered as an additional pathologic trigger for the diabetic heart. The cardiac ubiquitin proteasome system (Kruk-Bachonko et al., 2017) is responsible for the maintenance of protein homeostasis by degrading the misfolded or oxidized proteins (Gilca et al., 2017). UPS dysfunction occurs early on in the onset of diabetic cardiomyopathy and promotes cardiac maladaptive remodeling, whereas increasing UPS activity through PA28 α overexpression has been shown to reduce cardiac dysfunction in a STZ-induced diabetes model (Li et al., 2017).

In addition, calcium handling machinery is directly compromised, as has been found in several animal models of both T1DM and T2DM. Hyperglycemia correlates with enhanced spontaneous calcium release from the sarcoplasmic reticulum, reduced cytoplasmic Ca^{2+} clearance, decreased SR Ca^{2+} load, and prolongation of action potential duration (Belke et al., 2004; Sorrentino et al., 2017). Some of the molecular changes responsible for the dysfunctional calcium handling have been studied in animal models and include: lower activity levels of the sarco/endoplasmatic reticulum Ca^{2+} ATPase 2 (SERCA2a) (Belke et al., 2004) and sodium (Na⁺)– Ca^{2+} exchanger (NCX) (Chattou et al., 1999), impaired ryanodine receptor (RyR2) function (Yaras et al., 2005), and reduced phospholamban phosphorylation (Gando et al., 1997). All of these abnormalities contribute to the defective excitation–contraction coupling associates with diabetes (Lebeche et al., 2008).

DIABETIC CARDIOMYOPATHY: CLINICAL MANIFESTATION AND DIAGNOSIS

Cardiac remodeling occurs in several different phases during the progression of diabetic cardiomyopathy, which is often asymptomatic during the early stages. The pathogenesis starts at a subcellular level, as described above, and the clinical manifestation of this dysfunctional remodeling is hypertrophy. Concentric LV hypertrophy is a strong predictor of adverse cardiovascular outcomes (Bluemke et al., 2008). The correlation between diabetes and hypertrophy was once reported as a result of other secondary comorbidities, such as aging, obesity, and hypertension (Kuperstein et al., 2001). However, several studies have shown a direct correlation between T2DM and an increase in LV mass, independent of hypertension and body mass (Eguchi et al., 2008). The next pathophysiological change is the development of interstitial and perivascular fibrosis, which have been identified as a more advanced stage in the disease progression. Hypertrophy and fibrosis cause impaired relaxation and passive filling of the LV and LV diastolic stiffness. As previously mentioned, diastolic dysfunction represents a major functional abnormality in diabetic patients, which can be

asymptomatic during the earlier stages. Systolic dysfunction is less frequent and develops only in a small percentage of patients in the later stages of diabetic cardiomyopathy (Palomer et al., 2018). Furthermore, diabetes-associated fibrosis, found in both T1DM and T2DM, may contribute to the development of atrial fibrillation and arrhythmic events (Russo and Frangogiannis, 2016).

Little is known about the difference in the pathogenesis of diabetic cardiomyopathy in T1DM vs. T2DM. Both types of diabetes affect cardiovascular health. A common denominator seems to be the development of diastolic dysfunction. However, clinical presentation of HF is relatively rare in T1DM in comparison to T2DM, which may be due to patients being younger and being treated with insulin (Miki et al., 2013). There are fewer studies correlating T1DM with hypertrophy and an increase in LV mass compared to T2DM. No studies have found myocardial steatosis in T1DM (Levelt et al., 2018), opposed to what has been found in the hearts of T2DM patients, where steatosis precedes the diastolic dysfunction (McGavock et al., 2007). It should be noted that the underlying mechanism of diabetic cardiomyopathy may be different between the two distinct types of diabetes. Both T1DM and T2DM are characterized by hyperglycemia and dyslipidemia, but only T2DM also have hyperinsulinemia. This could explain the difference in cardiac morphology and clinical features found in patients affected by T1DM vs. T2DM, as well as differences between animal models (Holscher et al., 2016).

Currently, there are no specific morphological changes, biochemical markers, or clinical manifestations needed to secure a diabetic cardiomyopathy diagnosis. This pathology is often asymptomatic throughout the early stages and usually overlaps with other complications in diabetic patients, making a definitive diagnosis challenging.

In the past 20 years, incredible improvements have been made in non-invasive imaging technologies, such as echocardiography and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), which provide detailed information about cardiac morphology and functions (Lee and Kim, 2017). Both transmitral Doppler and Tissue Doppler imaging are used to quantify the functional myocardial abnormalities. The ratio between early passive transmitral inflow velocity (E) and velocity of the medial mitral annulus (e') is a substitute for invasively measured left ventricular filling pressure and a reliable prognostic marker for diabetic patients (Levelt et al., 2018). Abnormalities in E/e' correlate with the development of HF and increased mortality, independent of other risk factors, such as hypertension and CAD (From et al., 2010).

Magnetic resonance imaging is capable of detecting abnormalities in cardiac morphology more accurately than echocardiography. This technique allows us to acquire precious information on myocardial fibrosis, steatosis, LV mass, and diastolic function. Positron emission tomography has been used to assess myocardial metabolic abnormalities. These new imaging techniques could be incredibly helpful for diagnosing diabetic cardiomyopathy at very early stages, but they are still only used for research purposes due to their cost, time demand, and level of expertise required to interpret results (Palomer et al., 2018).

CURRENT THERAPIES: NOVEL GLUCOSE-LOWERING DRUGS

Hyperglycemia and chronic sustained hyperinsulinemia cause microvascular complications leading to renal failure, retinopathy, and nerve damage. Thus, lowering blood glucose levels is fundamental in the treatment regimen for diabetes. However, several observational studies fail to demonstrate a reduction in HF hospitalizations in diabetic patients treated with anti-hyperglycemic therapy. Moreover, in 2007 a meta-analysis showed a potentially increased risk of MI with the glucose lowering drug rosiglitazone, highlighting the necessity of thoroughly assessing the safety of this drug on the cardiovascular system (Nissen and Wolski, 2007). For this reason, the Federal Drug Administration (Hussain et al., 2018) and European Medicine Agency now require cardiovascular outcome trials for newly developed antihyperglycemic drugs in order to gain approval. This new regulation has resulted in a high number of cardiovascular outcome trials and increased the availability of important information on the effect of these drugs on cardiovascular health. Interestingly, several drugs currently in use can improve cardiac health beyond their ability to control glycemia (von Lewinski et al., 2017). However, there is not much data available regarding the mechanisms by which these drugs exert their pleiotropic effects other than these clinical/epidemiological studies.

GLP-1 Receptor Agonists

Glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP-1) is a gut-derived peptide hormone primarily secreted after food intake. This so-called incretin has the ability to decrease glycemia by increasing the release of insulin and repressing glucagon expression in a glucose-dependent manner (Mojsov et al., 1986).

Glucagon-like peptide 1 receptor is a G-protein coupled receptor that catalyzes the conversion of ATP in cAMP upon activation. Increased cytosolic cAMP in β -pancreatic cells leads to insulin secretion (Holst, 2007). Besides this, activation of the GLP-1 receptor in different tissues leads to a broad spectrum of effects, including deceleration of gastric emptying, suppression of appetite with consequent weight loss, reduction of circulating lipoprotein, and a decrease in blood pressure. However, endogenous secreted GLP-1 [GLP-1 (7-36)] has a very short half-life, which is approximately 2–3 min in the circulation. This active isoform is rapidly degraded primarily by dipeptidyl peptidase-4 (DPP-4) to GLP-1 (9-36), a receptor antagonist. Thus, several synthetic GLP-1 receptor agonists (GLP-1RA_s) have been developed to provide prolonged in vivo action and subsequently have beneficial effects for T2DM patient (Meier, 2012). These drugs are able to increase insulin release only in the context of hyperglycemia. GLP-1RAs have, therefore, a very low risk of inducing severe hypoglycemia, which is detrimental to the health of diabetic patients subjected to glucose-lowering treatment because it has been associated with an increase in cardiovascular events and mortality in this population (Zoungas et al., 2010).

Thus, GLP-1RA_s potential cardioprotective effects are derived from their ability to attenuate established cardiovascular risk factors, such as hyperglycemia, obesity, high blood pressure, and dysfunctional lipid profile. However, a more direct effect of this drug on the myocardium cannot be excluded and represents an area of growing interest. Several studies have shown the presence of GLP-1 receptor in atrial tissue of rodents and non-human primates (Wohlfart et al., 2013; Pyke et al., 2014; Richards et al., 2014). Wallner et al. (2015) reported GLP-1 receptor expression in both human atrial and ventricular tissue, although exenatide, a GLP-1RA_s, exerts its inotropic effect only on atrial myocardium. Several studies have shown a GLP-1Rdependent activation of Epac-2, which is then able to translocate to the membrane and increase ANP secretion (Kim et al., 2013) and troponin I phosphorylation, with a consequent increase in myocyte contractility (Cazorla et al., 2009). Treatment with GLP-1RAs or infusion of exogenous GLP-1 has been shown to decrease infarct size and improve cardiac function in several animal models of ischemic heart disease (Bose et al., 2005; Timmers et al., 2009; Liu et al., 2010; DeNicola et al., 2014). Interestingly, a small pilot study involving diabetic and non-diabetic patients found that 72 h of intravenous GLP-1 infusion in patients undergoing percutaneous revascularization after MI improved cardiac function (Nikolaidis et al., 2004). GLP-1RAs have been found to be beneficial for the endothelium as well: treatment with exenatide resulted in reduction of glucose-induced ROS generation and apoptosis in endothelial cells of diabetic rats, and stimulates proliferation and NO synthase activity in human endothelia cells (Ding and Zhang, 2012). Thus, the modulation of GLP-1 signaling has exiting potential as a treatment option for diabetic patients, which goes far beyond its ability to reduce hyperglycemia.

The cardiovascular safety of GLP-1RA_s has been evaluated in several randomized clinical trials. All recent outcome trials have proven non-inferiority as requested by the authorities. However, cardiovascular outcome was heterogeneous between the trials with some neutral ones on the one side and others even proving superiority (**Table 1**).

ELIXA trail was the first study to evaluate the CV safety of lixisenatide in 6,068 diabetic patients who had recently been hospitalized for acute coronary syndrome. There were no significant differences in cardiovascular events or hospitalizations after 25 months of follow-up between the lixisenatide and placebo group. Thus, this study demonstrated that the use of this drug is safe in patients with T2DM and recent acute coronary syndrome (Pfeffer et al., 2015). The cardiovascular safety of liraglutide was evaluated in the LEADER trial, in which 9,340 diabetic patients at high risk for cardiovascular events (having established cardiovascular disease, either CAD or chronic HF, and/or cerebrovascular disease, peripheral vascular disease, and chronic kidney disease) were enrolled. This study showed not only the safety but also the beneficial cardiovascular effect of this drug. Liraglutide was associated with a significant reduction in the primary composite endpoint, which includes CV mortality, non-fatal MI, non-fatal stroke as well as in all-cause mortality. Hospitalizations for HF were not different between the liraglutide and the placebo group (Marso et al., 2016b). Interestingly,

TABLE 1 Principle characteristics of clinical trials evaluating effect of diabetes treatments on heart failure/cardiovascular outcomes (2010–207	19).
--	------

Drug class	Name of drug	NCT identifier	Study name	Results	Clinical Trial Phase (total # of patients)	Trial duration
GLP-1 eceptor	Lixisenatide vs. placebo	NCT01147250	ELIXA	CV safety	Phase III (6,068)	25 months
agonists	Exenatide vs. placebo	NCT01144338	EXSCEL	CV safety ↓All-cause mortality	Phase III (14,782)	38 months
	Liraglutide vs. placebo	NCT01179048	LEADER	↓3-MACE ↓All-cause mortality	Phase III (9,340)	45 months
	Semaglutide vs. placebo	NCT01720446	SUSTAIN 6	↓3-MACE	Phase III (3,297)	25 months
DPP-4 inhibitors	Sitagliptin vs. placebo	NCT00790205	TECOS	CV safety	Phase III (14,761)	36 months
	Alogliptin vs. placebo	NCT00968708	EXAMINE	CV safety	Phase III (5,380)	18 months
	Saxagliptin vs. placebo	NCT01107886	SAVOR-TIMI 53	CV safety ∱In HHF	Phase IV (16,492)	25 months
	Linagliptin vs. Glimepiride	NCT01243424	CAROLINA	Results expected 2019	Phase III (6,115)	Ongoing
	Linagliptin vs. placebo	NCT01897532	CARMELINA	Results expected 2018	Phase IV (8,300)	54 months
SGLT2- inhibitors	Canagliflozin vs. placebo	NCT01032629	CANVAS	↓3-MACE ↓HFF ↑Lower extremity amputations	Phase III (10,142)	43 months
	Empagliflozin vs. placebo	NCT01131676	EMPA-REG OUTCOME	, ↓3-MACE ↓All-cause mortality ↓HHF	Phase III (7,020)	37 months

CV safety = cardiovascular safety, 3-mace = 3-point major adverse cardiovascular events, HHF = hospitalized heart failure. Blue: CV safety, Red: negative results, Green: positive results, Gray: trial still in progress/results expected in future.

subgroup analysis revealed that patients with more severe kidney disease, older or with established cardiovascular disease may have greater benefit from liraglutide treatment in comparison with other patient groups (Roder, 2018).

In the much smaller SUSTAIN-6 trial, patients with T2DM and established cardiovascular and renal disease were enrolled and randomized to receive either the longer acting semaglutide or placebo. The inclusion criteria were very similar to the LEADER study and the follow-up was 25 months. This trial, designed as a non-inferiority safety study, revealed that treatment with semaglutide decreased the combined primary outcome (cardiovascular death, non-fatal MI, and non-fatal stroke), however, there was no difference in the secondary endpoint of cardiovascular death alone (Marso et al., 2016a). The results of the primary outcome were driven by a reduction in non-fatal MI and stroke. However, in light of its smaller non-inferiority design, this trial may underestimate the difference in CV mortality compared with the much larger LEADER trial (Asleh et al., 2018).

The results of the large-scale EXSCEL trial were recently presented. Treatment with exenatide failed to demonstrate a significant reduction in the primary composite including death from cardiovascular causes, non-fatal MI, and non-fatal stroke (Holman et al., 2017). However, exenatide significantly reduced the secondary outcome of all-cause mortality. The reason for this divergence in results are still not fully understood, but the diabetic population studied in EXSCEL was more heterogeneous in terms of age and CV risks with the respect of the ones analyzed in the other trials. Moreover, a shorter follow-up period, lower baseline HbA1c level, a high discontinuation rate, together with a more frequent use of SGLT-2 inhibitor in the placebo group (Roder, 2018), could at least partly explain why there was no difference in CV events among treated and placebo group. Further studies are needed to determine which population of diabetic patients may benefit most from this therapy and investigate mechanisms leading to improved CV outcomes (**Table 1**).

DPP-4 Inhibitors

Dipeptidyl peptidase-4 is expressed in most parts of cells/tissue and exhibits exopeptidase activity against GLP-1 and several other peptide hormones and chemokines. Thus its activity is not only limited to glucose metabolism but also regulates several processes, including inflammation, vascular function, cell homing, and survival (Mulvihill and Drucker, 2014).

Dipeptidyl peptidase-4 plasma activity correlates with cardiac dysfunction in humans and experimental models of HF (dos Santos et al., 2013), indicating a direct link between the DPPsystem and cardiovascular health. In various models of HF, DPP-4 inhibition has improved ventricular remodeling, severity of HF, and even survival (Shigeta et al., 2012; Takahashi et al., 2013). Interestingly, a small study conducted with non-diabetic patients affected by non-ischemic myopathy has shown that the use of a DPP-inhibitor increases myocardial glucose uptake, opening up the possibility that this compound could be potentially beneficial in the progression of diabetic cardiomyopathy as well (Witteles et al., 2012). DPP-4 inhibitors prevent cardiac diastolic dysfunction by attenuating fibrosis and oxidative stress in mouse models of insulin resistance and obesity (Bostick et al., 2014).

Therefore, it was surprising that clinical outcomes with DPP-4 inhibitors showed heterogeneous and partially negative effects (or no effect) in cardiovascular health in large outcome trials, despite several smaller studies and translational data from animal models have suggested potential beneficial effects. Three DPP-4 inhibitors have been tested in large clinical trials: sitagliptin, alogliptin, and saxagliptin (Table 1). The use of these drugs was not associated with any increase (but neither a decrease) in the composite primary outcome, including CV mortality, nonfatal MI, and non-fatal stroke with hazard ratios very close to 1.00. However, HF hospitalization was modestly yet still significantly increased by 27% in the SAVOR-TIMI trial with saxagliptin (3.5% for saxagliptin vs. 2.8% for placebo). A similar, although not statistically significant trend could be detected in EXAMINE trial with 3.1% HF hospitalizations in the alogliptin group vs. 2.9% in the placebo group, whereas no difference was observed in the TECOS trial with an incidence of 3.1% for hospitalizations for HF in the sitagliptin and placebo group, respectively (Scirica et al., 2013; White et al., 2013; Green et al., 2015). The observation of increased HF hospitalization did not result in elevated mortality, but it was even more pronounced in subgroups with impaired renal function. More extensive data will soon be available from the outcome data for linagliptin from the CARMELINA and CAROLINA trials. No large outcome trial was performed using vildagliptin, which is not marketed for sale in the United States. These controversial data have been the starting point for contradicting interpretations of recent meta-analyses, ranging from no increase in the risk for the hospitalization of HF after DPP-4 inhibitor use (Savarese et al., 2016) to an increased risk (Kongwatcharapong et al., 2016), indicating that there are considerable differences between substances within the class of DPP-4 inhibitors. Moreover, DPP-4 inhibitors could have a different effect in different populations (relatively "healthy" diabetic population vs. higher risk subjects). However, sub-group analyses failed to identify a specific population in which beneficial cardiovascular effect were evident (Luconi et al., 2017).

Dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitors have been shown to have an impact on various organ systems, including the heart, kidneys, vascular system, and the neuroendocrine system. It impacts hormones or second messengers like BNP, stromal cell-derived factor 1, neuropeptide Y (NPY), and substance P, causing partially activation of the sympathetic nervous system and stimulation of β -adrenergic receptors (Packer, 2018). However, long-term DPP-4 inhibitor treatment in a diabetic mouse model undergoing transverse aortic constriction resulted in an impairment of cardiac function due to an increase in proinflammatory and profibrotic gene expression (Mulvihill et al., 2016). Thus, upregulation of inflammatory cytokines could play a role in the potential interplay of DPP-4 inhibitors and increased hospitalization for HF (Luconi et al., 2017).

A recent study has shown that DPP-4 is absent in cardiomyocytes, but saxagliptin is internalized in these cells where it inhibits SERCA2a/Ca²⁺/Calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II/phospholamban axis and reduces Ca²⁺-extrusion *via*

NCX. This results in depleted SR Ca^{2+} -content and cytosolic Ca^{2+} -overload, as seen in HF, which consequently leads to impaired myocardial function. Moreover, saxagliptin induced prolonged action potential duration and consequently QTc interval *via* reduced protein-kinase C-mediated delayed rectifier K⁺ current (Koyani et al., 2017).

Some of the drugs used in the clinic also inhibit DPP-8 and to a lesser extent DPP-9. These two DPPs are also located in the cytosol of cardiomyocytes and might therefore directly affect myocardial function, energetics, or metabolism. DPP-8 and DPP-9 were reported to have an impact on cellular homeostasis and energy metabolism *via* cytosolic calreticulin and adenylate kinase 2 (Wilson et al., 2013). In animal models, inhibition of DPP-8 or DPP-9 has even been described to cause a variety of symptoms ranging from alopecia over gastrointestinal disorders and blunted hematopoiesis to increased mortality in rats (Lankas et al., 2005). However, these side effects were not observed in the large clinical trials with saxagliptin (SAVOR-TIMI 53) or the previously completed smaller studies using vildagliptin, although these drugs also strongly inhibit DPP-8 and DPP9.

In conclusion, underlying signal transduction mechanisms derived from animal data must be discussed with caution. The possible therapeutic role of various DPP-4 inhibitors in patients with HF, and more specifically diabetic cardiomyopathy, is not yet fully understood.

SGLT-2 Inhibitors

Since regulatory agencies began requiring cardiovascular outcome trials for newly developed anti-hyperglycemic drugs, the EMPA-REG-OUTCOME trial (Zinman et al., 2015) was the first to report remarkably improved CV outcomes including all-cause mortality in patients treated with one particular antidiabetic drug (Table 1). This double-blind, placebo-controlled trial randomized 7,020 patients with T2DM at high CV risk to either once-daily empagliflozin treatment (10 or 25 mg) or placebo treatment. The investigators reported a significant 14% reduction of the combined primary endpoint encompassing CV death, non-fatal MI, and non-fatal stroke in patients treated with empagliflozin (pooled analysis) during a mean follow-up of 3.1 years, which was mainly driven by a reduction in CV deaths (hazard ratios, 0.62; 95% CI, 0.49–0.77; *P* < 0.001). Furthermore, a 35% relative reduction in the rate of HF hospitalization was observed in the empagliflozin group (p < 0.002). The CANVAS program (Neal et al., 2017a), which analyzed data from two sister trials, CANVAS and CANVAS-R (Neal et al., 2017b), included 10,142 patients with T2DM and a high CV risk and was designed to study the CV safety and efficacy of canagliflozin (SGLT2i). Consistent with the findings from the EMPA-REG-OUTCOME trial, canagliflozin significantly reduced the rate of primary outcome events (composite of CV death, non-fatal MI, and stroke) by 14% and HF hospitalization by 33%. However, all-cause and CV mortality were not significantly reduced by canagliflozin. The cardiovascular outcome trial investigating the effects of dapagliflozin has not been reported yet, however, the CVD-REAL (comparative effectiveness of cardiovascular outcomes in new users of SGLT-2 inhibitors) although not

being a randomized controlled trial also suggests a reduction in mortality and HF hospitalization the real world setting, confirming the findings from the EMPA-REG-OUTCOME trial and the CANVAS program, suggesting a potential drug class effect at least on some of the outcome parameters (Kosiborod et al., 2017). However, the CANVAS program reported an unexpected increase in the risk of lower-extremity amputation in the canagliflozin-treated group. The mechanism of action is not understood, and furthermore it is not known if the higher amputation risk is specific to canagliflozin (Tanaka and Node, 2017). The striking and unexpected findings of SGLT2i regarding cardiovascular outcomes has initiated many discussions on how the cardiovascular benefits could be explained mechanistically, generating many hypotheses that are difficult to address with the limited data available. The described glucose lowering effect (Zinman et al., 2015), weight loss (Riggs et al., 2015), and blood pressure reduction (Baker et al., 2014), hemodynamic effects, direct vascular effects, osmotic diuresis, and natriuresis (Inzucchi et al., 2015; Butler et al., 2017) may contribute to the CV effects (Lytvyn et al., 2017). However, even a combination of these factors is unlikely to fully explain the results of EMPA-REG OUTCOME and the CANVAS program.

Recently, despite the lack of myocardial SGLT-2-expression, direct effects of the drug on heart muscle cells have even been suggested. There is evidence that the sodium hydrogen exchanger (NHE) may play an important role in the interplay of HF and diabetes since renal and cardiac isoforms of the NHE are upregulated in both conditions (Baartscheer et al., 2017; Packer, 2017). Inhibition of NHE by SGLT-2 inhibitors and modulation of intramyocardial Ca^{2+} and Na^{+} fluxes seems to have a beneficial impact on diastolic myocardial function (Baartscheer et al., 2017). Two recently published studies suggested that empagliflozin improves diastolic dysfunction in diabetic mouse models, which was linked to enhanced SERCA activity and antifibrotic effects (Habibi et al., 2017; Hammoudi et al., 2017).

Another potential explanation for the beneficial CV effects of SGLT-2 inhibition is a modulation of myocardial energy metabolism (Ferrannini et al., 2016). The myocardium of diabetic HF-patients loses the ability to properly oxidize fatty acids and metabolize glucose. It has been suggested that SGLT-2 inhibition slightly increases levels of ketone bodies independent of the presence of diabetes, which can then be oxidized in preference to fatty acids. This metabolic substrate shift might improve myocardial work efficiency and oxygen consumption (Bonner et al., 2015; Ferrannini et al., 2016; Al Jobori et al., 2017). However, the impact of SGLT-2 inhibitors on cardiac metabolism has not yet been carefully studied and it remains unclear how SGLT-2 inhibitors exert their beneficial CV effects through myocardial metabolism modulation (Ussher et al., 2016). Direct assessment of myocardial metabolism after SGLT-2 inhibition in vivo is challenging but would reveal new insights. Although there is a general consensus that SGLT-2 inhibition improves CV outcomes, several questions remain unanswered regarding the exact mechanisms of action, optimal timing, and whether or not these drugs would exert similar effects in non-diabetic patients with a high risk of CVD (Kaplan et al., 2018). Since the CV benefits of SGLT-2

inhibition seem to be independent of glucose control, SGLT-2 inhibitors might be both safe and effective in non-diabetic HF patients (Butler et al., 2017). Currently, several Phase III outcome trials with SGLT2 inhibitors in non-diabetic HF patients with preserved (HFpEF) and reduced ejection fraction (HFrEF) are planned and the field is eagerly awaiting the results.

NEW POTENTIAL TARGETS FOR FUTURE THERAPIES

Gene Therapy

In recent years, great improvements have been made toward the possibility of modulating the expression of specific cardiac genes *in vivo* for therapeutic purpose. Thus, the idea to up or down-regulate the expression of key players in the development of diabetic cardiomyopathy may not be that far from an actual therapeutic approach.

The E3 ubiquitin ligase mitsugumin 3 expression is increased in the cardiac tissue of T2DM animal models. Cardiac-specific overexpression of this molecule leads to proteasomal degradation of both insulin receptor and IRS-1 resulting in insulin resistance (Liu et al., 2015). Furthermore, an increase in fibrosis was observed in transgenic mice, suggesting that the inhibition of E3 ubiquitin ligase mitsugumin 3 could represent an overall potential therapeutic strategy for the prevention of diabetic cardiomyopathy.

Forkhead box-containing protein 1, O subfamily (FoxO1) is another molecule involved in the regulation of IRS-1/Akt signaling pathway. Metabolic stress induces constant activation of FoxO1 that results in blunted Akt signaling and insulin resistance. Cardiomyocyte-specific deletion of FoxO1 rescued cardiac dysfunction and preserved insulin responsiveness in mice fed with a high-fat diet (Battiprolu et al., 2012). Thus, FoxO1 may be a potential target for future therapeutic approach.

Reduced chamber compliance is a hallmark change in HFpEF associated with T2DM and is partly due to altered phosphorylation of the structural sarcomeric protein titin with a consequent increase of cardiomyocytes stiffness. A recent study showed how treatment with Neuregulin1 (NRG-1) was able to rescue titin-based cardiomyocyte stiffening in diabetic mouse hearts (Hopf et al., 2018), *via* increased PKG and ERK1/2 activity and reduced PKC α activity, which reversed the changes in titin-phosphorylation associated with diabetes.

As mentioned above, diabetes is strongly associated with mitochondrial dysfunction. A recent study showed that diabetes disrupts mitochondrial proteomic signature. 99% of mitochondrial protein are encoded in the nucleus and then imported in this organelle by a complex, in which mitochondrial heat shock protein 70 (mtHsp70) is a key component. Diabetes correlates with a downregulation of this protein. Interestingly, mtHsp70 overexpression is able to restore cardiac function in diabetic mice through attenuation of mitochondrial dysfunction (Shepherd et al., 2018).

Modulation of Oxidative Stress

Oxidative stress is one of the major contributors in the pathogenesis of the diabetic heart. A number of studies have evaluated different strategies to decrease ROS accumulation.

Sulforaphane, a dietary isothiocyanate compound is an activator of Nrf2, a transcription factor that regulates the expression of several antioxidant proteins. Sulforaphane treatment resulted in a decrease in ROS production in arterioles of diabetic mice (Velmurugan et al., 2013) and attenuated cardiac remodeling and dysfunction induced by high fat diet (Zhang et al., 2014).

Several studies conducted in the past 40 years have explored the efficacy of coenzyme Q_{10} in reducing oxidative stress and pathological remodeling of the heart (Huynh et al., 2014). Coenzyme Q_{10} treatment results in reduction of systolic and diastolic blood pressure in diabetic patients (Hodgson et al., 2002; Chew et al., 2008) acting as vasodilator. Moreover, supplementation with coenzyme Q_{10} decreases cardiac inflammation, fibrosis, and hypertrophy in mouse models of T1DM and T2DM (Huynh et al., 2010, 2013).

miRNA and IncRNA-Based Treatment

miRNA-based treatment is a multi-target therapy causing simultaneous regulation of crucial pathways, making it an excellent candidate to modulate complex networks, such as those involved in the pathogenesis of diabetic cardiomyopathy.

miRNAs expression undergoes changes in the diabetic heart. miRNAs modulation can be a response to several pathological insults, including hyperglycemia, hyperinsulinemia, oxidative stress, and inflammation. Interestingly, glycemic control is unable to rescue hyperglycemia-induced alterations of miRNAs in the heart of streptozotocin-induced diabetic mice, suggesting that diabetic cardiomyopathy and the miRNA alterations associated with it, can progress despite normalization of blood glucose level (Costantino et al., 2016).

miR-1, the most expressed miRNA in the heart, constantly increases from the early to later phases of diabetic cardiomyopathy. It negatively regulates the expression of Pim1 and Bcl-2, which are anti-apoptotic and cardioprotective proteins. Remarkably, transfection with anti-miR1 activates prosurvival signals in cardiomyocytes and cardiac progenitor cell exposed to high glucose (Katare et al., 2011). On the other hand, miR-133a expression was drastically decreased in hearts of streptozotocin-induced diabetic mice. This downregulation correlates with the increase of fibrotic markers, such as TGFB, fibronectin, and collagen. Interestingly, overexpression of miR-133a attenuates the development of fibrosis, suggesting that this miRNA could be a potential therapeutic target for diabetes-induced cardiac fibrosis and related cardiac dysfunction. Diabetes correlates with a decreased expression of miR-30c and miR-181a in human samples and animal models, and overexpression of these miRNAs in cardiomyocytes exposed to high glucose attenuated p53-induced apoptosis and hypertrophy (Raut et al., 2016).

Hyperglycemia reduces miR-146a expression in cardiac endothelial cells. Endothelial-specific overexpression of miR-146a attenuates the pathological remodeling in the diabetic heart and decreases the inflammatory response (Feng et al., 2017).

Finally, long non-coding RNA (lncRNAs) is a novel class of RNA that does not code for proteins and are important regulators of gene expression. Recent studies have found that diabetes correlates with an aberrant expression of these molecules (Raut and Khullar, 2018). Briefly, lncRNA-myocardial infarctionassociated transcript (MIAT) expression is upregulated in models of diabetic cardiomyopathy and when knocked down, there are improvements in cardiac function and a decrease in cardiomyocyte apoptosis (Zhang et al., 2016; Zhou et al., 2017).

Non-coding RNAs as Biomarkers

The possibility to easily detect different miRNAs in plasma and how stable they are opens up the opportunity to use these molecules as biomarkers for several pathologies, including diabetic cardiomyopathy (Marfella et al., 2013; Ono, 2015; Sardu et al., 2016a; de Lucia et al., 2017). The lack of specific biomarkers coupled with the fact that the earlier stages of this pathology are mostly asymptomatic makes detecting diabetic cardiomyopathy a challenge in clinical practice. miRNAs have been proposed as a new and very specific biomarker for several cardiovascular disease. A recent study determined that both circulating and cardiac miR-19b-3p and miR-181b-5p levels were associated with cardiac dysfunction during the development of diabetic cardiomyopathy in mice fed a high fat, suggesting that these miRNAs could be suitable biomarkers for this disease in asymptomatic diabetic patients (Copier et al., 2017). Furthermore, circulating miR-1 and miR-133a levels are associated with myocardial steatosis in T2DM patients, independent of confounding factors (de Gonzalo-Calvo et al., 2017).

A recent study conducted in patient suggested that also lncRNAs can be used as circulating biomarkers in diabetic cardiomyopathy. lncRNAs, such as long intergenic noncoding RNA predicting cardiac remodeling (LIPCAR), MIAT, and smooth muscle and endothelial cell-enriched migration/differentiation-associated (SENCR) were found to be independent predictors of diastolic dysfunction in diabetic patients (de Gonzalo-Calvo et al., 2016).

Further studies conducted in patients are needed to investigate the real potential of these molecules as biomarkers.

CONCLUSION

Diabetes mellitus represents one of the greatest burdens on the global health care system and is one of the major risks for cardiovascular disease. Interestingly, cardiovascular risk is higher in diabetic women than in diabetic men, suggesting that diabetes affects cardiovascular health to greater degree in women. This difference is probably due to sex hormones and neurohormonal diversity, coupled with gender-specific activation of molecular pathway involved in the cardiac metabolism/remodeling (Toedebusch et al., 2018). Diabetic cardiomyopathy is an important complication of diabetes and represents a distinct form of HF that is independent from other comorbidities. Its pathogenesis is not completely understood, although hyperglycemia and cardiac insulin resistance are key players. Further studies are vital for understanding the precise pathophysiological mechanism involved and to unravel the complex molecular and structural abnormalities leading to fibrosis, hypertrophy, mitochondrial dysfunction, steatosis, oxidative stress, impaired Ca^{2+} handling, inflammation, and metabolic switch observed in diabetic cardiomyopathy.

Despite a growing interest in the pathophysiology of the diabetic cardiomyopathy, there are no specific guidelines for diagnosing patients or structuring a treatment strategy in clinical practice. Currently, treatment plans are based on controlling the underlying diabetes and improving the risk factors associated with the progression of the cardiovascular disease. Several studies have found that glycemic control improved LV diastolic function in T2DM (Gaede et al., 2003; von Bibra et al., 2004). However, cardiovascular disease also occurs in diabetic patients who are well managed under treatment, highlighting the necessity for targeted therapeutic strategies for this population (Tate et al., 2017).

Changes in lifestyle favoring exercise, balanced caloric intake, anti-diabetic medications, lipid-lowering therapies, and the management of HF are the current treatment strategies available for these patients. Administration of beta-blockers, angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors (ACEi)/angiotensin receptor blockers (ARB) are currently the standard treatment for chronic HF with or without diabetes. If patients remain symptomatic with LV EF <35%, it is recommended to add a mineralocorticoid receptor antagonist. If patients are still symptomatic, the ACEi/ARB should be replaced by an angiotensin receptor neprilysin inhibitor. Furthermore, cardiac resynchronization therapy should be considered in patients with sinus rhythm and wide QRS complex (≥130 ms) (Ponikowski et al., 2016; Sardu et al., 2016b, 2017). An in-depth description of therapeutic approaches for HF was beyond the scope of this review.

REFERENCES

- Al Jobori, H., Daniele, G., Adams, J., Cersosimo, E., Triplitt, C., Defronzo, R. A., et al. (2017). Determinants of the increase in ketone concentration during SGLT2 inhibition in NGT, IFG and T2DM patients. *Diabetes Obes. Metab.* 19, 809–813. doi: 10.1111/dom.12881
- Anderson, E. J., Rodriguez, E., Anderson, C. A., Thayne, K., Chitwood, W. R., and Kypson, A. P. (2011). Increased propensity for cell death in diabetic human heart is mediated by mitochondrial-dependent pathways. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 300, H118–H124. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00932.2010
- Aronson, D. (2003). Cross-linking of glycated collagen in the pathogenesis of arterial and myocardial stiffening of aging and diabetes. J. Hypertens. 21, 3–12. doi: 10.1097/00004872-200301000-00002
- Asleh, R., Sheikh-Ahmad, M., Briasoulis, A., and Kushwaha, S. S. (2018). The influence of anti-hyperglycemic drug therapy on cardiovascular and heart failure outcomes in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Heart Fail. Rev.* 23, 445–459. doi: 10.1007/s10741-017-9666-8

In this review, we focused mainly on anti-hyperglycemic drugs and their benefit on cardiovascular outcomes. Besides modulating diabetes as a cardiovascular risk, several new glucose lowering drugs have been found to have a direct effect on myocardial tissue. Although particularly promising, a more comprehensive analysis of cardiovascular outcome data together with translational studies is necessary to elucidate the benefit/risk and the mechanism of action of these glucose-optimizing agents. Specifically, understanding the real effect of glucose lowering drugs on diabetic cardiomyopathy based on cardiovascular outcome trial data is challenging. These trials were designed for safety purpose and include a very heterogeneous population of diabetic patients from the cardiovascular prospective. However, despite the lack of information on the direct effect on diabetic cardiomyopathy, these trials provide the suggestion of possible cardiovascular protection. Novel therapeutic approaches, including gene and non-coding RNA-based therapy, are currently being investigated in models and represent an exciting and promising new direction for treating diabetic patients. These therapies can eventually regulate common factors of diabetic cardiomyopathy and HF retaining a great potential in the cardiovascular field. However, further studies are needed to investigate the real translational potential in clinical practice.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors participated in writing and revising the content of the manuscript.

FUNDING

SRH received funding from National Institute of Health (NIH) [NIH-HL033921, NIH P01-HL091799 (Project3)]. MW received funding from Medical University of Graz – Start Funding Program. DvL received funding from Boehringer Ingelheim to conduct the EMMY-Trial (Eudra-CT: 2016-004591-22). HS received unrestricted Research grants from Astra Zeneca, Böhringer Ingelheim, MSD, and NovoNordisk.

- Baartscheer, A., Schumacher, C. A., Wust, R. C., Fiolet, J. W., Stienen, G. J., Coronel, R., et al. (2017). Empagliflozin decreases myocardial cytoplasmic Na⁺ through inhibition of the cardiac Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger in rats and rabbits. *Diabetologia* 60, 568–573. doi: 10.1007/s00125-016-4134-x
- Baker, W. L., Smyth, L. R., Riche, D. M., Bourret, E. M., Chamberlin, K. W., and White, W. B. (2014). Effects of sodium-glucose co-transporter 2 inhibitors on blood pressure: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J. Am. Soc. Hypertens. 8, 262–275.e9. doi: 10.1016/j.jash.2014.01.007
- Battiprolu, P. K., Hojayev, B., Jiang, N., Wang, Z. V., Luo, X., Iglewski, M., et al. (2012). Metabolic stress-induced activation of FoxO1 triggers diabetic cardiomyopathy in mice. J. Clin. Invest. 122, 1109–1118. doi: 10.1172/JCI60329
- Baudrand, R., Gupta, N., Garza, A. E., Vaidya, A., Leopold, J. A., Hopkins, P. N., et al. (2016). Caveolin 1 modulates aldosterone-mediated pathways of glucose and lipid homeostasis. J. Am. Heart Assoc. 5:e003845. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.116. 003845
- Belke, D. D., Swanson, E. A., and Dillmann, W. H. (2004). Decreased sarcoplasmic reticulum activity and contractility in diabetic *db/db* mouse

heart. Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev. 53, 3201-3208. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.53. 12.3201

- Bluemke, D. A., Kronmal, R. A., Lima, J. A., Liu, K., Olson, J., Burke, G. L., et al. (2008). The relationship of left ventricular mass and geometry to incident cardiovascular events: the MESA (Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis) study. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 52, 2148–2155. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2008.09.014
- Bonner, C., Kerr-Conte, J., Gmyr, V., Queniat, G., Moerman, E., Thevenet, J., et al. (2015). Inhibition of the glucose transporter SGLT2 with dapagliflozin in pancreatic alpha cells triggers glucagon secretion. *Nat. Med.* 21, 512–517. doi: 10.1038/nm.3828
- Bose, A. K., Mocanu, M. M., Carr, R. D., and Yellon, D. M. (2005). Glucagon like peptide-1 is protective against myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury when given either as a preconditioning mimetic or at reperfusion in an isolated rat heart model. *Cardiovasc. Drugs Ther.* 19, 9–11. doi: 10.1007/s10557-005-6892-4
- Bostick, B., Habibi, J., Ma, L., Aroor, A., Rehmer, N., Hayden, M. R., et al. (2014). Dipeptidyl peptidase inhibition prevents diastolic dysfunction and reduces myocardial fibrosis in a mouse model of Western diet induced obesity. *Metabolism* 63, 1000–1011. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2014.04.002
- Bugger, H., and Abel, E. D. (2010). Mitochondria in the diabetic heart. Cardiovasc. Res. 88, 229–240. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvq239
- Butler, J., Hamo, C. E., Filippatos, G., Pocock, S. J., Bernstein, R. A., Brueckmann, M., et al. (2017). The potential role and rationale for treatment of heart failure with sodium-glucose co-transporter 2 inhibitors. *Eur. J. Heart Fail.* 19, 1390–1400. doi: 10.1002/ejhf.933
- Calcutt, N. A., Cooper, M. E., Kern, T. S., and Schmidt, A. M. (2009). Therapies for hyperglycaemia-induced diabetic complications: from animal models to clinical trials. *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* 8, 417–429. doi: 10.1038/nrd2476
- Candido, R., Forbes, J. M., Thomas, M. C., Thallas, V., Dean, R. G., Burns, W. C., et al. (2003). A breaker of advanced glycation end products attenuates diabetesinduced myocardial structural changes. *Circ. Res.* 92, 785–792. doi: 10.1161/01. RES.0000065620.39919.20
- Cazorla, O., Lucas, A., Poirier, F., Lacampagne, A., and Lezoualc'h, F. (2009). The cAMP binding protein Epac regulates cardiac myofilament function. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 14144–14149. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0812536106
- Chang, K. C., Tseng, C. D., Chou, T. F., Cho, Y. L., Chi, T. C., Su, M. J., et al. (2006). Arterial stiffening and cardiac hypertrophy in a new rat model of type 2 diabetes. *Eur. J. Clin. Invest.* 36, 1–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2362.2006. 01588.x
- Chattou, S., Diacono, J., and Feuvray, D. (1999). Decrease in sodium-calcium exchange and calcium currents in diabetic rat ventricular myocytes. *Acta Physiol. Scand.* 166, 137–144. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-201x.1999.00547.x
- Chew, G. T., Watts, G. F., Davis, T. M., Stuckey, B. G., Beilin, L. J., Thompson, P. L., et al. (2008). Hemodynamic effects of fenofibrate and coenzyme Q10 in type 2 diabetic subjects with left ventricular diastolic dysfunction. *Diabetes Care* 31, 1502–1509. doi: 10.2337/dc08-0118
- Connelly, K. A., Kelly, D. J., Zhang, Y., Prior, D. L., Martin, J., Cox, A. J., et al. (2007). Functional, structural and molecular aspects of diastolic heart failure in the diabetic (mRen-2)27 rat. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 76, 280–291. doi: 10.1016/j. cardiores.2007.06.022
- Copier, C. U., Leon, L., Fernandez, M., Contador, D., and Calligaris, S. D. (2017). Circulating miR-19b and miR-181b are potential biomarkers for diabetic cardiomyopathy. *Sci. Rep.* 7:13514. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-13875-2
- Costantino, S., Paneni, F., Luscher, T. F., and Cosentino, F. (2016). MicroRNA profiling unveils hyperglycaemic memory in the diabetic heart. *Eur. Heart J.* 37, 572–576. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehv599
- Davidoff, A. J., Davidson, M. B., Carmody, M. W., Davis, M. E., and Ren, J. (2004). Diabetic cardiomyocyte dysfunction and myocyte insulin resistance: role of glucose-induced PKC activity. *Mol. Cell. Biochem.* 262, 155–163. doi: 10.1023/B: MCBI.0000038231.68078.4b
- de Gonzalo-Calvo, D., Kenneweg, F., Bang, C., Toro, R., Van Der Meer, R. W., Rijzewijk, L. J., et al. (2016). Circulating long-non coding RNAs as biomarkers of left ventricular diastolic function and remodelling in patients with wellcontrolled type 2 diabetes. *Sci. Rep.* 6:37354. doi: 10.1038/srep37354
- de Gonzalo-Calvo, D., Van Der Meer, R. W., Rijzewijk, L. J., Smit, J. W., Revuelta-Lopez, E., Nasarre, L., et al. (2017). Serum microRNA-1 and microRNA-133a levels reflect myocardial steatosis in uncomplicated type 2 diabetes. *Sci. Rep.* 7:47. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-00070-6

- de Lucia, C., Komici, K., Borghetti, G., Femminella, G. D., Bencivenga, L., Cannavo, A., et al. (2017). microRNA in cardiovascular aging and age-related cardiovascular diseases. *Front. Med.* 4:74. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2017.00074
- De Rosa, S., Arcidiacono, B., Chiefari, E., Brunetti, A., Indolfi, C., and Foti, D. P. (2018). Type 2 diabetes mellitus and cardiovascular disease: genetic and epigenetic links. *Front. Endocrinol.* 9:2. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2018.00002
- DeNicola, M., Du, J., Wang, Z., Yano, N., Zhang, L., Wang, Y., et al. (2014). Stimulation of glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor through exendin-4 preserves myocardial performance and prevents cardiac remodeling in infarcted myocardium. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 307, E630–E643. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00109.2014
- Ding, L., and Zhang, J. (2012). Glucagon-like peptide-1 activates endothelial nitric oxide synthase in human umbilical vein endothelial cells. *Acta Pharmacol. Sin.* 33, 75–81. doi: 10.1038/aps.2011.149
- dos Santos, L., Salles, T. A., Arruda-Junior, D. F., Campos, L. C., Pereira, A. C., Barreto, A. L., et al. (2013). Circulating dipeptidyl peptidase IV activity correlates with cardiac dysfunction in human and experimental heart failure. *Circ. Heart Fail.* 6, 1029–1038. doi: 10.1161/CIRCHEARTFAILURE.112.000057
- D'Souza, A., Howarth, F. C., Yanni, J., Dobryznski, H., Boyett, M. R., Adeghate, E., et al. (2011). Left ventricle structural remodelling in the prediabetic Goto-Kakizaki rat. *Exp. Physiol.* 96, 875–888. doi: 10.1113/expphysiol.2011.058271
- Eguchi, K., Boden-Albala, B., Jin, Z., Rundek, T., Sacco, R. L., Homma, S., et al. (2008). Association between diabetes mellitus and left ventricular hypertrophy in a multiethnic population. *Am. J. Cardiol.* 101, 1787–1791. doi: 10.1016/j. amjcard.2008.02.082
- Feng, B., Chen, S., Chiu, J., George, B., and Chakrabarti, S. (2008). Regulation of cardiomyocyte hypertrophy in diabetes at the transcriptional level. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 294, E1119–E1126. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00029. 2008
- Feng, B., Chen, S., Gordon, A. D., and Chakrabarti, S. (2017). miR-146a mediates inflammatory changes and fibrosis in the heart in diabetes. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 105, 70–76. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2017.03.002
- Ferrannini, E., Mark, M., and Mayoux, E. (2016). CV protection in the EMPA-REG OUTCOME trial: a "Thrifty Substrate" hypothesis. *Diabetes Care* 39, 1108–1114. doi: 10.2337/dc16-0330
- From, A. M., Scott, C. G., and Chen, H. H. (2010). The development of heart failure in patients with diabetes mellitus and pre-clinical diastolic dysfunction a population-based study. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 55, 300–305. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc. 2009.12.003
- Frustaci, A., Kajstura, J., Chimenti, C., Jakoniuk, I., Leri, A., Maseri, A., et al. (2000). Myocardial cell death in human diabetes. *Circ. Res.* 87, 1123–1132. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.87.12.1123
- Gaede, P., Vedel, P., Larsen, N., Jensen, G. V., Parving, H. H., and Pedersen, O. (2003). Multifactorial intervention and cardiovascular disease in patients with type 2 diabetes. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 348, 383–393. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa021778
- Galderisi, M., Anderson, K. M., Wilson, P. W., and Levy, D. (1991). Echocardiographic evidence for the existence of a distinct diabetic cardiomyopathy (the Framingham Heart Study). Am. J. Cardiol. 68, 85–89. doi: 10.1016/0002-9149(91)90716-X
- Gando, S., Hattori, Y., Akaishi, Y., Nishihira, J., and Kanno, M. (1997). Impaired contractile response to beta adrenoceptor stimulation in diabetic rat hearts: alterations in beta adrenoceptors-G protein-adenylate cyclase system and phospholamban phosphorylation. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 282, 475–484.
- Gilca, G. E., Stefanescu, G., Badulescu, O., Tanase, D. M., Bararu, I., and Ciocoiu, M. (2017). Diabetic cardiomyopathy: current approach and potential diagnostic and therapeutic targets. J. Diabetes Res. 2017:1310265. doi: 10.1155/ 2017/1310265
- Goh, S. Y., and Cooper, M. E. (2008). Clinical review: the role of advanced glycation end products in progression and complications of diabetes. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 93, 1143–1152. doi: 10.1210/jc.2007-1817
- Green, J. B., Bethel, M. A., Armstrong, P. W., Buse, J. B., Engel, S. S., Garg, J., et al. (2015). Effect of sitagliptin on cardiovascular outcomes in type 2 diabetes. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 373, 232–242. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1501352
- Group, U. P. D. S. U. (1998). Effect of intensive blood-glucose control with metformin on complications in overweight patients with type 2 diabetes (UKPDS 34). *Lancet* 352, 854–865. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(98)07037-8
- Habibi, J., Aroor, A. R., Sowers, J. R., Jia, G., Hayden, M. R., Garro, M., et al. (2017). Sodium glucose transporter 2 (SGLT2) inhibition with empagliflozin improves

cardiac diastolic function in a female rodent model of diabetes. *Cardiovasc. Diabetol.* 16:9. doi: 10.1186/s12933-016-0489-z

- Haidara, M. A., Yassin, H. Z., Rateb, M., Ammar, H., and Zorkani, M. A. (2006). Role of oxidative stress in development of cardiovascular complications in diabetes mellitus. *Curr. Vasc. Pharmacol.* 4, 215–227. doi: 10.2174/ 157016106777698469
- Hammoudi, N., Jeong, D., Singh, R., Farhat, A., Komajda, M., Mayoux, E., et al. (2017). Empagliflozin improves left ventricular diastolic dysfunction in a genetic model of type 2 diabetes. *Cardiovasc. Drugs Ther.* 31, 233–246. doi: 10.1007/s10557-017-6734-1
- Harmancey, R., Lam, T. N., Lubrano, G. M., Guthrie, P. H., Vela, D., and Taegtmeyer, H. (2012). Insulin resistance improves metabolic and contractile efficiency in stressed rat heart. *FASEB J.* 26, 3118–3126. doi: 10.1096/fj.12-208991
- Hodgson, J. M., Watts, G. F., Playford, D. A., Burke, V., and Croft, K. D. (2002). Coenzyme Q10 improves blood pressure and glycaemic control: a controlled trial in subjects with type 2 diabetes. *Eur. J. Clin. Nutr.* 56, 1137–1142. doi: 10.1038/sj.ejcn.1601464
- Holman, R. R., Bethel, M. A., Mentz, R. J., Thompson, V. P., Lokhnygina, Y., Buse, J. B., et al. (2017). Effects of once-weekly exenatide on cardiovascular outcomes in type 2 diabetes. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 377, 1228–1239. doi: 10.1056/ NEJMoa1612917
- Holscher, M. E., Bode, C., and Bugger, H. (2016). Diabetic cardiomyopathy: does the type of diabetes matter? *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 17:2136. doi: 10.3390/ijms17122136
- Holst, J. J. (2007). The physiology of glucagon-like peptide 1. *Physiol. Rev.* 87, 1409–1439. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00034.2006
- Hopf, A. E., Andresen, C., Kotter, S., Isic, M., Ulrich, K., Sahin, S., et al. (2018). Diabetes-induced cardiomyocyte passive stiffening is caused by impaired insulin-dependent titin modification and can be modulated by neuregulin-1. *Circ. Res.* 123, 342–355. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117.312166
- Hussain, Z., Arooj, M., Malik, A., Hussain, F., Safdar, H., Khan, S., et al. (2018). Nanomedicines as emerging platform for simultaneous delivery of cancer therapeutics: new developments in overcoming drug resistance and optimizing anticancer efficacy. *Artif. Cells Nanomed. Biotechnol.* 6, 1–10. doi: 10.1080/ 21691401.2018.1478420
- Huynh, K., Bernardo, B. C., Mcmullen, J. R., and Ritchie, R. H. (2014). Diabetic cardiomyopathy: mechanisms and new treatment strategies targeting antioxidant signaling pathways. *Pharmacol. Ther.* 142, 375–415. doi: 10.1016/j. pharmthera.2014.01.003
- Huynh, K., Kiriazis, H., Du, X. J., Love, J. E., Gray, S. P., Jandeleit-Dahm, K. A., et al. (2013). Targeting the upregulation of reactive oxygen species subsequent to hyperglycemia prevents type 1 diabetic cardiomyopathy in mice. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 60, 307–317. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2013.02.021
- Huynh, K., Mcmullen, J. R., Julius, T. L., Tan, J. W., Love, J. E., Cemerlang, N., et al. (2010). Cardiac-specific IGF-1 receptor transgenic expression protects against cardiac fibrosis and diastolic dysfunction in a mouse model of diabetic cardiomyopathy. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 59, 1512–1520. doi: 10.2337/db09-1456
- Inzucchi, S. E., Zinman, B., Wanner, C., Ferrari, R., Fitchett, D., Hantel, S., et al. (2015). SGLT-2 inhibitors and cardiovascular risk: proposed pathways and review of ongoing outcome trials. *Diab. Vasc. Dis. Res.* 12, 90–100. doi: 10.1177/ 1479164114559852
- Isfort, M., Stevens, S. C., Schaffer, S., Jong, C. J., and Wold, L. E. (2014). Metabolic dysfunction in diabetic cardiomyopathy. *Heart Fail. Rev.* 19, 35–48. doi: 10. 1007/s10741-013-9377-8
- Jia, G., Demarco, V. G., and Sowers, J. R. (2016). Insulin resistance and hyperinsulinaemia in diabetic cardiomyopathy. *Nat. Rev. Endocrinol.* 12, 144– 153. doi: 10.1038/nrendo.2015.216
- Jia, G., Habibi, J., Bostick, B. P., Ma, L., Demarco, V. G., Aroor, A. R., et al. (2015). Uric acid promotes left ventricular diastolic dysfunction in mice fed a Western diet. *Hypertension* 65, 531–539. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.114.04737
- Jia, G., Hill, M. A., and Sowers, J. R. (2018). Diabetic cardiomyopathy: an update of mechanisms contributing to this clinical entity. *Circ. Res.* 122, 624–638. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117.311586
- Kannel, W. B., Hjortland, M., and Castelli, W. P. (1974). Role of diabetes in congestive heart failure: the Framingham study. Am. J. Cardiol. 34, 29–34. doi: 10.1016/0002-9149(74)90089-7

- Kaplan, A., Abidi, E., El-Yazbi, A., Eid, A., Booz, G. W., and Zouein, F. A. (2018). Direct cardiovascular impact of SGLT2 inhibitors: mechanisms and effects. *Heart Fail. Rev.* 23, 419–437. doi: 10.1007/s10741-017-9665-9
- Katare, R., Caporali, A., Zentilin, L., Avolio, E., Sala-Newby, G., Oikawa, A., et al. (2011). Intravenous gene therapy with PIM-1 via a cardiotropic viral vector halts the progression of diabetic cardiomyopathy through promotion of prosurvival signaling. *Circ. Res.* 108, 1238–1251. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA. 110.239111
- Kilhovd, B. K., Berg, T. J., Birkeland, K. I., Thorsby, P., and Hanssen, K. F. (1999). Serum levels of advanced glycation end products are increased in patients with type 2 diabetes and coronary heart disease. *Diabetes Care* 22, 1543–1548. doi: 10.2337/diacare.22.9.1543
- Kim, M., Platt, M. J., Shibasaki, T., Quaggin, S. E., Backx, P. H., Seino, S., et al. (2013). GLP-1 receptor activation and Epac2 link atrial natriuretic peptide secretion to control of blood pressure. *Nat. Med.* 19, 567–575. doi: 10.1038/nm. 3128
- Kongwatcharapong, J., Dilokthornsakul, P., Nathisuwan, S., Phrommintikul, A., and Chaiyakunapruk, N. (2016). Effect of dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitors on heart failure: a meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials. *Int. J. Cardiol.* 211, 88–95. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2016.02.146
- Kosiborod, M., Cavender, M. A., Fu, A. Z., Wilding, J. P., Khunti, K., Holl, R. W., et al. (2017). Lower risk of heart failure and death in patients initiated on sodium-glucose cotransporter-2 inhibitors versus other glucose-lowering drugs: the CVD-REAL study (comparative effectiveness of cardiovascular outcomes in new users of sodium-glucose cotransporter-2 inhibitors). *Circulation* 136, 249–259. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.117. 029190
- Koyani, C. N., Kolesnik, E., Wolkart, G., Shrestha, N., Scheruebel, S., Trummer, C., et al. (2017). Dipeptidyl peptidase-4 independent cardiac dysfunction links saxagliptin to heart failure. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 145, 64–80. doi: 10.1016/j.bcp. 2017.08.021
- Krentz, A. J., Clough, G., and Byrne, C. D. (2007). Interactions between microvascular and macrovascular disease in diabetes: pathophysiology and therapeutic implications. *Diabetes Obes. Metab.* 9, 781–791. doi: 10.1111/j.1463-1326.2007.00670.x
- Kruk-Bachonko, J., Krupski, W., Czechowski, M., Kurys-Denis, E., Madro, P., Sierocinska-Sawa, J., et al. (2017). Perfusion CT - A novel quantitative and qualitative imaging biomarker in gastric cancer. *Eur. J. Radiol.* 95, 399–408. doi: 10.1016/j.ejrad.2017.08.033
- Kuethe, F., Sigusch, H. H., Bornstein, S. R., Hilbig, K., Kamvissi, V., and Figulla, H. R. (2007). Apoptosis in patients with dilated cardiomyopathy and diabetes: a feature of diabetic cardiomyopathy? *Horm. Metab. Res.* 39, 672–676. doi: 10.1055/s-2007-985823
- Kumar, R., Yong, Q. C., Thomas, C. M., and Baker, K. M. (2012). Intracardiac intracellular angiotensin system in diabetes. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 302, R510–R517. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00512.2011
- Kuperstein, R., Hanly, P., Niroumand, M., and Sasson, Z. (2001). The importance of age and obesity on the relation between diabetes and left ventricular mass. *J. Am. Coll. Cardiol.* 37, 1957–1962. doi: 10.1016/S0735-1097(01)01242-6
- Lankas, G. R., Leiting, B., Roy, R. S., Eiermann, G. J., Beconi, M. G., Biftu, T., et al. (2005). Dipeptidyl peptidase IV inhibition for the treatment of type 2 diabetes: potential importance of selectivity over dipeptidyl peptidases 8 and 9. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 54, 2988–2994. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.54.10.2988
- Lebeche, D., Davidoff, A. J., and Hajjar, R. J. (2008). Interplay between impaired calcium regulation and insulin signaling abnormalities in diabetic cardiomyopathy. *Nat. Clin. Pract. Cardiovasc. Med.* 5, 715–724. doi: 10.1038/ ncpcardio1347
- Lee, W. S., and Kim, J. (2017). Diabetic cardiomyopathy: where we are and where we are going. *Korean J. Intern. Med.* 32, 404–421. doi: 10.3904/kjim.2016.208
- Levelt, E., Gulsin, G., Neubauer, S., and Mccann, G. P. (2018). MECHANISMS IN ENDOCRINOLOGY: diabetic cardiomyopathy: pathophysiology and potential metabolic interventions state of the art review. *Eur. J. Endocrinol.* 178, R127– R139. doi: 10.1530/EJE-17-0724
- Li, J., Ma, W., Yue, G., Tang, Y., Kim, I. M., Weintraub, N. L., et al. (2017). Cardiac proteasome functional insufficiency plays a pathogenic role in diabetic cardiomyopathy. *J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol.* 102, 53–60. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2016.11. 013

- Liu, F., Song, R., Feng, Y., Guo, J., Chen, Y., Zhang, Y., et al. (2015). Upregulation of MG53 induces diabetic cardiomyopathy through transcriptional activation of peroxisome proliferation-activated receptor alpha. *Circulation* 131, 795–804. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.114.012285
- Liu, Q., Anderson, C., Broyde, A., Polizzi, C., Fernandez, R., Baron, A., et al. (2010). Glucagon-like peptide-1 and the exenatide analogue AC3174 improve cardiac function, cardiac remodeling, and survival in rats with chronic heart failure. *Cardiovasc. Diabetol.* 9:76. doi: 10.1186/1475-2840-9-76
- Luconi, M., Cantini, G., Ceriello, A., and Mannucci, E. (2017). Perspectives on cardiovascular effects of incretin-based drugs: from bedside to bench, return trip. *Int. J. Cardiol.* 241, 302–310. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2017. 02.126
- Lytvyn, Y., Bjornstad, P., Udell, J. A., Lovshin, J. A., and Cherney, D. Z. I. (2017). Sodium glucose cotransporter-2 inhibition in heart failure: potential mechanisms, clinical applications, and summary of clinical trials. *Circulation* 136, 1643–1658. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.117.030012
- Mandavia, C. H., Aroor, A. R., Demarco, V. G., and Sowers, J. R. (2013). Molecular and metabolic mechanisms of cardiac dysfunction in diabetes. *Life Sci.* 92, 601–608. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2012.10.028
- Marfella, R., Di Filippo, C., Potenza, N., Sardu, C., Rizzo, M. R., Siniscalchi, M., et al. (2013). Circulating microRNA changes in heart failure patients treated with cardiac resynchronization therapy: responders vs. non-responders. *Eur. J. Heart Fail.* 15, 1277–1288. doi: 10.1093/eurjhf/hft088
- Marso, S. P., Bain, S. C., Consoli, A., Eliaschewitz, F. G., Jodar, E., Leiter, L. A., et al. (2016a). Semaglutide and cardiovascular outcomes in patients with type 2 diabetes. N. Engl. J. Med. 375, 1834–1844. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa 1607141
- Marso, S. P., Daniels, G. H., Brown-Frandsen, K., Kristensen, P., Mann, J. F., Nauck, M. A., et al. (2016b). Liraglutide and cardiovascular outcomes in type 2 diabetes. N. Engl. J. Med. 375, 311–322. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa16 03827
- McGavock, J. M., Lingvay, I., Zib, I., Tillery, T., Salas, N., Unger, R., et al. (2007). Cardiac steatosis in diabetes mellitus: a 1H-magnetic resonance spectroscopy study. *Circulation* 116, 1170–1175. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106. 645614
- Meier, J. J. (2012). GLP-1 receptor agonists for individualized treatment of type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Nat. Rev. Endocrinol.* 8, 728–742. doi: 10.1038/nrendo.2012. 140
- Miki, T., Yuda, S., Kouzu, H., and Miura, T. (2013). Diabetic cardiomyopathy: pathophysiology and clinical features. *Heart Fail. Rev.* 18, 149–166. doi: 10. 1007/s10741-012-9313-3
- Mizushige, K., Yao, L., Noma, T., Kiyomoto, H., Yu, Y., Hosomi, N., et al. (2000). Alteration in left ventricular diastolic filling and accumulation of myocardial collagen at insulin-resistant prediabetic stage of a type II diabetic rat model. *Circulation* 101, 899–907. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.101. 8.899
- Mojsov, S., Heinrich, G., Wilson, I. B., Ravazzola, M., Orci, L., and Habener, J. F. (1986). Preproglucagon gene expression in pancreas and intestine diversifies at the level of post-translational processing. J. Biol. Chem. 261, 11880–11889.
- Mulvihill, E. E., and Drucker, D. J. (2014). Pharmacology, physiology, and mechanisms of action of dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitors. *Endocr. Rev.* 35, 992–1019. doi: 10.1210/er.2014-1035
- Mulvihill, E. E., Varin, E. M., Ussher, J. R., Campbell, J. E., Bang, K. W., Abdullah, T., et al. (2016). Inhibition of dipeptidyl peptidase-4 impairs ventricular function and promotes cardiac fibrosis in high fat-fed diabetic mice. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 65, 742–754. doi: 10.2337/ db15-1224
- Neal, B., Perkovic, V., Mahaffey, K. W., De Zeeuw, D., Fulcher, G., Erondu, N., et al. (2017a). Canagliflozin and cardiovascular and renal events in type 2 diabetes. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 377, 644–657. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa 1611925
- Neal, B., Perkovic, V., Mahaffey, K. W., Fulcher, G., Erondu, N., Desai, M., et al. (2017b). Optimizing the analysis strategy for the CANVAS Program: a prespecified plan for the integrated analyses of the CANVAS and CANVAS-R trials. *Diabetes Obes. Metab.* 19, 926–935. doi: 10.1111/dom. 12924
- Nikolaidis, L. A., Mankad, S., Sokos, G. G., Miske, G., Shah, A., Elahi, D., et al. (2004). Effects of glucagon-like peptide-1 in patients with acute

myocardial infarction and left ventricular dysfunction after successful reperfusion. *Circulation* 109, 962–965. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000120505. 91348.58

- Nissen, S. E., and Wolski, K. (2007). Effect of rosiglitazone on the risk of myocardial infarction and death from cardiovascular causes. N. Engl. J. Med. 356, 2457– 2471. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa072761
- Ono, K. (2015). microRNAs and cardiovascular remodeling. *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.* 888, 197–213. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-22671-2_10
- Packer, M. (2017). Activation and inhibition of sodium-hydrogen exchanger is a mechanism that links the pathophysiology and treatment of diabetes mellitus with that of heart failure. *Circulation* 136, 1548–1559. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.117.030418
- Packer, M. (2018). Do DPP-4 inhibitors cause heart failure events by promoting adrenergically mediated cardiotoxicity? Clues from laboratory models and clinical trials. *Circ. Res.* 122, 928–932. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.118.31 2673
- Palomer, X., Pizarro-Delgado, J., and Vazquez-Carrera, M. (2018). Emerging actors in diabetic cardiomyopathy: heartbreaker biomarkers or therapeutic targets? *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 39, 452–467. doi: 10.1016/j.tips.2018.02.010
- Perge, P., Butz, H., Pezzani, R., Bancos, I., Nagy, Z., Paloczi, K., et al. (2017). Evaluation and diagnostic potential of circulating extracellular vesicleassociated microRNAs in adrenocortical tumors. *Sci. Rep.* 7:5474. doi: 10.1038/ s41598-017-05777-0
- Pfeffer, M. A., Claggett, B., Diaz, R., Dickstein, K., Gerstein, H. C., Kober, L. V., et al. (2015). Lixisenatide in patients with type 2 diabetes and acute coronary syndrome. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 373, 2247–2257. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1509225
- Ponikowski, P., Voors, A. A., Anker, S. D., Bueno, H., Cleland, J. G., Coats, A. J., et al. (2016). 2016 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure: the Task Force for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC)Developed with the special contribution of the Heart Failure Association (HFA) of the ESC. *Eur. Heart J.* 37, 2129–2200. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehw128
- Pyke, C., Heller, R. S., Kirk, R. K., Orskov, C., Reedtz-Runge, S., Kaastrup, P., et al. (2014). GLP-1 receptor localization in monkey and human tissue: novel distribution revealed with extensively validated monoclonal antibody. *Endocrinology* 155, 1280–1290. doi: 10.1210/en.2013-1934
- Raut, S. K., and Khullar, M. (2018). The big entity of new RNA world: long noncoding RNAs in microvascular complications of diabetes. *Front. Endocrinol.* 9:300. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2018.00300
- Raut, S. K., Singh, G. B., Rastogi, B., Saikia, U. N., Mittal, A., Dogra, N., et al. (2016). miR-30c and miR-181a synergistically modulate p53-p21 pathway in diabetes induced cardiac hypertrophy. *Mol. Cell. Biochem.* 417, 191–203. doi: 10.1007/s11010-016-2729-7
- Richards, P., Parker, H. E., Adriaenssens, A. E., Hodgson, J. M., Cork, S. C., Trapp, S., et al. (2014). Identification and characterization of GLP-1 receptorexpressing cells using a new transgenic mouse model. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 63, 1224–1233. doi: 10.2337/db13-1440
- Rider, O. J., Cox, P., Tyler, D., Clarke, K., and Neubauer, S. (2013). Myocardial substrate metabolism in obesity. *Int. J. Obes.* 37, 972–979. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2012. 170
- Riggs, K., Ali, H., Taegtmeyer, H., and Gutierrez, A. D. (2015). The use of SGLT-2 inhibitors in type 2 diabetes and heart failure. *Metab. Syndr. Relat. Disord.* 13, 292–297. doi: 10.1089/met.2015.0038
- Ritchie, R. H., Irvine, J. C., Rosenkranz, A. C., Patel, R., Wendt, I. R., Horowitz, J. D., et al. (2009). Exploiting cGMP-based therapies for the prevention of left ventricular hypertrophy: no* and beyond. *Pharmacol. Ther.* 124, 279–300. doi: 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2009.08.001
- Ritchie, R. H., Quinn, J. M., Cao, A. H., Drummond, G. R., Kaye, D. M., Favaloro, J. M., et al. (2007). The antioxidant tempol inhibits cardiac hypertrophy in the insulin-resistant GLUT4-deficient mouse in vivo. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 42, 1119–1128. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2007.03.900
- Roder, M. E. (2018). Major adverse cardiovascular event reduction with GLP-1 and SGLT2 agents: evidence and clinical potential. *Ther. Adv. Chronic Dis.* 9, 33–50. doi: 10.1177/2040622317735283
- Rubler, S., Dlugash, J., Yuceoglu, Y. Z., Kumral, T., Branwood, A. W., and Grishman, A. (1972). New type of cardiomyopathy associated with diabetic glomerulosclerosis. Am. J. Cardiol. 30, 595–602. doi: 10.1016/0002-9149(72) 90595-4

- Russo, I., and Frangogiannis, N. G. (2016). Diabetes-associated cardiac fibrosis: cellular effectors, molecular mechanisms and therapeutic opportunities. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 90, 84–93. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2015.12.011
- Sardu, C., Barbieri, M., Rizzo, M. R., Paolisso, P., Paolisso, G., and Marfella, R. (2016a). Cardiac resynchronization therapy outcomes in type 2 diabetic patients: role of MicroRNA changes. J. Diabetes Res. 2016;7292564. doi: 10.1155/ 2016/7292564
- Sardu, C., Santamaria, M., Rizzo, M. R., Barbieri, M., Di Marino, M., Paolisso, G., et al. (2016b). Telemonitoring in heart failure patients treated by cardiac resynchronisation therapy with defibrillator (CRT-D): the telecart study. *Int. J. Clin. Pract.* 70, 569–576. doi: 10.1111/ijcp. 12823
- Sardu, C., Barbieri, M., Santamaria, M., Giordano, V., Sacra, C., Paolisso, P., et al. (2017). Multipolar pacing by cardiac resynchronization therapy with a defibrillators treatment in type 2 diabetes mellitus failing heart patients: impact on responders rate, and clinical outcomes. *Cardiovasc. Diabetol.* 16:75. doi: 10.1186/s12933-017-0554-2
- Savarese, G., D'amore, C., Federici, M., De Martino, F., Dellegrottaglie, S., Marciano, C., et al. (2016). Effects of dipeptidyl peptidase 4 inhibitors and sodium-glucose linked cotransporter-2 Inhibitors on cardiovascular events in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: a meta-analysis. *Int. J. Cardiol.* 220, 595–601. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2016.06.208
- Schocken, D. D., Benjamin, E. J., Fonarow, G. C., Krumholz, H. M., Levy, D., Mensah, G. A., et al. (2008). Prevention of heart failure: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association Councils on Epidemiology and Prevention, Clinical Cardiology, Cardiovascular Nursing, and High Blood Pressure Research; Quality of Care and Outcomes Research Interdisciplinary Working Group; and Functional Genomics and Translational Biology Interdisciplinary Working Group. *Circulation* 117, 2544–2565. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.107. 188965
- Scirica, B. M., Bhatt, D. L., Braunwald, E., Steg, P. G., Davidson, J., Hirshberg, B., et al. (2013). Saxagliptin and cardiovascular outcomes in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. N. Engl. J. Med. 369, 1317–1326. doi: 10.1056/ NEJMoa1307684
- Shaw, J. E., Sicree, R. A., and Zimmet, P. Z. (2010). Global estimates of the prevalence of diabetes for 2010 and 2030. *Diabetes Res. Clin. Pract.* 87, 4–14. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2009.10.007
- Shepherd, D. L., Hathaway, Q. A., Nichols, C. E., Durr, A. J., Pinti, M. V., Hughes, K. M., et al. (2018). Mitochondrial proteome disruption in the diabetic heart through targeted epigenetic regulation at the mitochondrial heat shock protein 70 (mtHsp70) nuclear locus. *J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol.* 119, 104–115. doi: 10.1016/j. yjmcc.2018.04.016
- Shigeta, T., Aoyama, M., Bando, Y. K., Monji, A., Mitsui, T., Takatsu, M., et al. (2012). Dipeptidyl peptidase-4 modulates left ventricular dysfunction in chronic heart failure via angiogenesis-dependent and -independent actions. *Circulation* 126, 1838–1851. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.112. 096479
- Sorrentino, A., Borghetti, G., Zhou, Y., Cannata, A., Meo, M., Signore, S., et al. (2017). Hyperglycemia induces defective Ca2⁺ homeostasis in cardiomyocytes. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 312, H150–H161. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart. 00737.2016
- Stanley, W. C., Lopaschuk, G. D., and Mccormack, J. G. (1997). Regulation of energy substrate metabolism in the diabetic heart. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 34, 25–33. doi: 10.1016/S0008-6363(97)00047-3
- Takahashi, A., Asakura, M., Ito, S., Min, K. D., Shindo, K., Yan, Y., et al. (2013). Dipeptidyl-peptidase IV inhibition improves pathophysiology of heart failure and increases survival rate in pressure-overloaded mice. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 304, H1361–H1369. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00454. 2012
- Tanaka, A., and Node, K. (2017). Increased amputation risk with canagliflozin treatment: behind the large cardiovascular benefit? *Cardiovasc. Diabetol.* 16:129. doi: 10.1186/s12933-017-0611-x
- Tate, M., Grieve, D. J., and Ritchie, R. H. (2017). Are targeted therapies for diabetic cardiomyopathy on the horizon? *Clin. Sci.* 131, 897–915. doi: 10.1042/ CS20160491
- Timmers, L., Henriques, J. P., De Kleijn, D. P., Devries, J. H., Kemperman, H., Steendijk, P., et al. (2009). Exenatide reduces infarct size and improves

cardiac function in a porcine model of ischemia and reperfusion injury. *J. Am. Coll. Cardiol.* 53, 501–510. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2008. 10.033

- Toedebusch, R., Belenchia, A., and Pulakat, L. (2018). Diabetic cardiomyopathy: impact of biological sex on disease development and molecular signatures. *Front. Physiol.* 9:453. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.00453
- Ussher, J. R., Elmariah, S., Gerszten, R. E., and Dyck, J. R. (2016). The emerging role of metabolomics in the diagnosis and prognosis of cardiovascular disease. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 68, 2850–2870. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2016. 09.972
- Velic, A., Laturnus, D., Chhoun, J., Zheng, S., Epstein, P., and Carlson, E. (2013). Diabetic basement membrane thickening does not occur in myocardial capillaries of transgenic mice when metallothionein is overexpressed in cardiac myocytes. *Anat. Rec.* 296, 480–487. doi: 10.1002/ar. 22646
- Velmurugan, G. V., Sundaresan, N. R., Gupta, M. P., and White, C. (2013). Defective Nrf2-dependent redox signalling contributes to microvascular dysfunction in type 2 diabetes. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 100, 143–150. doi: 10.1093/cvr/ cvt125
- von Bibra, H., Hansen, A., Dounis, V., Bystedt, T., Malmberg, K., and Ryden, L. (2004). Augmented metabolic control improves myocardial diastolic function and perfusion in patients with non-insulin dependent diabetes. *Heart* 90, 1483–1484. doi: 10.1136/hrt.2003.020842
- von Lewinski, D., Kolesnik, E., Wallner, M., Resl, M., and Sourij, H. (2017). New antihyperglycemic drugs and heart failure: synopsis of basic and clinical data. *Biomed Res. Int.* 2017:1253425. doi: 10.1155/2017/ 1253425
- Voulgari, C., Papadogiannis, D., and Tentolouris, N. (2010). Diabetic cardiomyopathy: from the pathophysiology of the cardiac myocytes to current diagnosis and management strategies. *Vasc. Health Risk Manag.* 6, 883–903. doi: 10.2147/VHRM.S11681
- Wallner, M., Kolesnik, E., Ablasser, K., Khafaga, M., Wakula, P., Ljubojevic, S., et al. (2015). Exenatide exerts a PKA-dependent positive inotropic effect in human atrial myocardium: GLP-1R mediated effects in human myocardium. *J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol.* 89(Pt B), 365–375. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2015. 09.018
- Way, K. J., Isshiki, K., Suzuma, K., Yokota, T., Zvagelsky, D., Schoen, F. J., et al. (2002). Expression of connective tissue growth factor is increased in injured myocardium associated with protein kinase C beta2 activation and diabetes. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 51, 2709–2718.
- Westermann, D., Rutschow, S., Jager, S., Linderer, A., Anker, S., Riad, A., et al. (2007). Contributions of inflammation and cardiac matrix metalloproteinase activity to cardiac failure in diabetic cardiomyopathy: the role of angiotensin type 1 receptor antagonism. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 56, 641–646. doi: 10.2337/ db06-1163
- White, W. B., Cannon, C. P., Heller, S. R., Nissen, S. E., Bergenstal, R. M., Bakris, G. L., et al. (2013). Alogliptin after acute coronary syndrome in patients with type 2 diabetes. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 369, 1327–1335. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa 1305889
- Wilson, C. H., Indarto, D., Doucet, A., Pogson, L. D., Pitman, M. R., Mcnicholas, K., et al. (2013). Identifying natural substrates for dipeptidyl peptidases 8 and 9 using terminal amine isotopic labeling of substrates (TAILS) reveals in vivo roles in cellular homeostasis and energy metabolism. J. Biol. Chem. 288, 13936–13949. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112. 445841
- Witteles, R. M., Keu, K. V., Quon, A., Tavana, H., and Fowler, M. B. (2012). Dipeptidyl peptidase 4 inhibition increases myocardial glucose uptake in nonischemic cardiomyopathy. *J. Card. Fail.* 18, 804–809. doi: 10.1016/j.cardfail. 2012.07.009
- Wohlfart, P., Linz, W., Hubschle, T., Linz, D., Huber, J., Hess, S., et al. (2013). Cardioprotective effects of lixisenatide in rat myocardial ischemia-reperfusion injury studies. J. Transl. Med. 11:84. doi: 10.1186/1479-5876-11-84
- Yamagishi, S., Maeda, S., Matsui, T., Ueda, S., Fukami, K., and Okuda, S. (2012). Role of advanced glycation end products (AGEs) and oxidative stress in vascular complications in diabetes. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1820, 663–671. doi: 10.1016/ j.bbagen.2011.03.014
- Yaras, N., Ugur, M., Ozdemir, S., Gurdal, H., Purali, N., Lacampagne, A., et al. (2005). Effects of diabetes on ryanodine receptor Ca release channel (RyR2)

and Ca2⁺ homeostasis in rat heart. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 54, 3082–3088. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.54.11.3082

- Zhang, M., Gu, H., Chen, J., and Zhou, X. (2016). Involvement of long noncoding RNA MALAT1 in the pathogenesis of diabetic cardiomyopathy. *Int. J. Cardiol.* 202, 753–755. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2015.10.019
- Zhang, Z., Wang, S., Zhou, S., Yan, X., Wang, Y., Chen, J., et al. (2014). Sulforaphane prevents the development of cardiomyopathy in type 2 diabetic mice probably by reversing oxidative stress-induced inhibition of LKB1/AMPK pathway. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 77, 42–52. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2014. 09.022
- Zhou, X., Zhang, W., Jin, M., Chen, J., Xu, W., and Kong, X. (2017). lncRNA MIAT functions as a competing endogenous RNA to upregulate DAPK2 by sponging miR-22-3p in diabetic cardiomyopathy. *Cell Death Dis.* 8:e2929. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2017.321
- Zinman, B., Wanner, C., Lachin, J. M., Fitchett, D., Bluhmki, E., Hantel, S., et al. (2015). Empagliflozin, cardiovascular outcomes, and mortality in type 2 diabetes. N. Engl. J. Med. 373, 2117–2128. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa 1504720
- Zoungas, S., Patel, A., Chalmers, J., De Galan, B. E., Li, Q., Billot, L., et al. (2010). Severe hypoglycemia and risks of vascular events and

death. N. Engl. J. Med. 363, 1410-1418. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa100 3795

Conflict of Interest Statement: HS received speaker's honoraria from and is on the Advisory Board for Astra Zeneca, Boehringer Ingelheim, Eli Lilly, MSD, NovoNordisk, Sanofi-Aventis, and Takeda and received unrestricted Research grants from Astra Zeneca, Boehringer Ingelheim, MSD, and NovoNordisk. DvL received funding by Boehringer to conduct the EMMY-Trial.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Borghetti, von Lewinski, Eaton, Sourij, Houser and Wallner. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Melanocortin MC5R as a New Target for Treatment of High Glucose-Induced Hypertrophy of the Cardiac H9c2 Cells

Maria Consiglia Trotta¹, Rosa Maisto¹, Nicola Alessio¹, Anca Hermenean², Michele D'Amico^{1*} and Clara Di Filippo¹

¹ Department of Experimental Medicine, University of Campania "Luigi Vanvitelli", Naples, Italy, ² Institute of Life Sciences, "Vasile Goldis" Western University of Arad, Arad, Romania

The study explored the anti-hypertrophic effect of the melanocortin MC5R stimulation in H9c2 cardiac myocytes exposed to high glucose. This has been done by using α -MSH and selective MC5R agonists and assessing the expression of GLUT4 and GLUT1 transporters, miR-133 and urotensin receptor levels as a marker of cardiac hypertrophy. The study shows for the first time an up-regulation of MC5R expression levels in H9c2 cardiomyocytes exposed to high glucose medium (33 mM D-glucose) for 48 h, compared to cells grown in normal glucose medium (5.5 mM D-glucose). Moreover, H9c2 cells exposed to high glucose showed a significant reduction in cell viability (-40%), a significant increase in total protein per cell number (+109%), and an increase of the urotensin receptor expression levels as an evidence of cells hypertrophy. The pharmacological stimulation of MC5R with α -MSH (90 pM)of the high glucose exposed H9c2 cells increased the cell survival (+50,8%) and reduced the total protein per cell number (-28,2%) with respect to high glucose alone, confirming a reduction of the hypertrophic state as per cell area measurement. Similarly, PG-901 (selective agonist, 10^{-10} M) significantly increased cell viability (+61,0 %) and reduced total protein per cell number (-40,2%), compared to cells exposed to high glucose alone. Interestingly, the MC5R agonist reduced the GLUT1/GLUT4 glucose transporters ratio on the cell membranes exhibited by the hypertrophic H9c2 cells and increased the intracellular PI3K activity, mediated by a decrease of the levels of the miRNA miR-133a. The beneficial effects of MC5R agonism on the cardiac hypertrophy caused by high glucose was also observed also by echocardiographic evaluations of rats made diabetics with streptozotocin (65 mg/kg i.p.). Therefore, the melanocortin MC5R could be a new target for the treatment of high glucose-induced hypertrophy of the cardiac H9c2 cells.

Keywords: cardiac hypertrophy, melanocortin 5 receptor agonism, glucose content, PI3K, GLUT1, GLUT4

INTRODUCTION

Cardiac hypertrophy is caused by an increased glucose uptake into the cardiac myocytes that determines a high glucose-mediated oxidative stress into the cardiomyocytes (Kagaya et al., 1990; Zhang et al., 1995; Leong et al., 2002; Nascimben et al., 2004; Wang et al., 2009; Han et al., 2015; Wei et al., 2018). This increased glucose uptake is mostly due to an imbalance of the translocation

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Claudio de Lucia, Temple University, United States

Reviewed by:

Andrea Sorrentino, Harvard Medical School, United States Milan Stengl, Charles University, Czechia Peter Backx, University of Toronto, Canada

*Correspondence: Michele D'Amico michele.damico@unicampania.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cardiac Electrophysiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 14 June 2018 Accepted: 28 September 2018 Published: 26 October 2018

Citation:

Trotta MC, Maisto R, Alessio N, Hermenean A, D'Amico M and Di Filippo C (2018) The Melanocortin MC5R as a New Target for Treatment of High Glucose-Induced Hypertrophy of the Cardiac H9c2 Cells. Front. Physiol. 9:1475. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01475

85

of GLUT1 and GLUT4 glucose transporters from intracellular membranes to the cell surface of the myocytes with a GLUT1/GLUT4 ratio favoring GLUT1 (Slot et al., 1991; Abel et al., 1999; Paternostro et al., 1999; Tian et al., 2001; Kolwicz and Tian, 2011; Shao and Tian, 2015). In a normal adult heart GLUT4 is the primary glucose transporter translocating on plasma membrane after insulin stimulation, while the mediator of basal cardiac glucose uptake GLUT1 is downregulated after birth. Conversely, pathological hypertrophic condition links a GLUT4 depletion, resulting in a direct increase in GLUT1 levels (Slot et al., 1991; Abel et al., 1999; Paternostro et al., 1999; Tian et al., 2001; Kolwicz and Tian, 2011; Shao and Tian, 2015). Among these, GLUT4 expression and translocation is regulated by miR-133 both in skeletal muscle and in cardiac myocytes (Horie et al., 2009).

It is well known that regulation of the glucose homeostasis and insulin sensitivity involves the central melanocortin system, mostly through the hypothalamic proopiomelanocortin (POMC) which is well-established regulator of insulin secretion, glucose utilization, and glucose production. However, scant data exist about the role of peripheral melanocortin peptides or peptidomimetics in this regulation (Fan et al., 2000; Costa et al., 2006; Hill and Faulkner, 2017). Recently, it has been shown that peripheral *a*-melanocyte stimulating hormone (a-MSH) promotes glucose uptake in the skeletal muscle via melanocortin receptor 5 (MC5R) pathway (Enriori et al., 2016), suggesting a key role of this peptide and this receptor in the glucose transport and pathologies related to an altered glucose uptake. Interestingly, a recent human study showed that single-nucleotide polymorphism in the MC5R was associated with type 2 diabetes in obese subjects (Valli-Jaakola et al., 2008).

Therefore, in light of these evidences the aim of this study was to assess the anti-hypertrophic potential of the melanocortin MC5 receptor in H9c2 cardiomyocytes exposed to high glucose. Particularly, it has been investigated the phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PIK3) activity as a possible intracellular target of the MC5R stimulation. PI3K is a major player for mediating cardiac glucose since it is a regulator of glucose transporters (Egert et al., 1997; Vlavcheski et al., 2018), it is involved in reduction of cardiac hypertrophy (Weeks et al., 2017), and it is stimulated by the MC5R after α -MSH activation in HEK293 cells (Rodrigues et al., 2009).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Cell Culture and Treatments

Embryonic rat cardiac H9c2 (2-1)cells (ECACC, United Kingdom) were cultured in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM; AU-L0101Aurogene, Italy), containing 5.5 mM D-glucose and supplemented with 10% Heat Inactivated Fetal Bovine Serum (AU-S181H Aurogene, Italy), 5% L-Glutamine (AU-X0550 Aurogene, Italy) and 5% Penicillin-Streptomycin Solution (AU-L0022 Aurogene, Italy), at 37°C under an atmosphere of 5% CO₂ (Trotta et al., 2017). Then, H9c2 (2-1) cells were exposed to 5.5 mM D-glucose (Normal control group, NG); 5.5 mM D-glucose + Angiotensin

II (1 µM; A9525 Sigma, Italy; Ang II group, positive control for cardiomyocytes hypertrophy) (Stuck et al., 2008); 33 mM D-glucose (A24940-01 Life Technologies, Italy; High glucose group, HG) (Wei et al., 2018); 33 mM D-glucose + α -MSH (90 pM; M4135 Sigma, Italy; HG + α -MSH group) (Enriori et al., 2016); 33 mM D-glucose + MC5R agonist PG-901 (10⁻¹⁰ M), dissolved in PBS (HG + PG-901 group) (Maisto et al., 2017); 33 mM D-glucose + MC5R antagonist PG-20N (130 nM), dissolved in PBS (HG + PG-20N group) (Rossi et al., 2016). H9c2 cardiomyocytes were stimulated with high glucose medium, with or without α-MSH,PG-901, and PG-20N treatment, for 48 h, being the 33 mM high glucose concentration reported to induce cardiac hypertrophy in H9c2 cardiomyocvtes after 2 days of exposure (Han et al., 2015; Zhong et al., 2015; Wei et al., 2018). Different cell numbers were used in the different experiments: for the viability assay, cells were seeded at 5×10^3 cells/cm² (Wei et al., 2018); the cells used for total RNA and protein detection were seeded at 1×10^6 cells/cm² (Han et al., 2015); for immunofluorescence assay, cells were seeded at 1×10^4 cells/cm² (Suhaeri et al., 2015); for isolation of membrane fractions cells were seeded at 4.1×10^3 cells/cm² (Yu et al., 2000). Three independent experiments were performed, each done in triplicate. H9c2 cell morphology was daily observed with optic microscope (Leica DMi1, Germany) and cell area was quantified using Image J software, by determining the average area per cell following a treatment and counting over 250 cells per well examined across triplicate wells (Wang et al., 2009).

Anti-miR-133a Transfection

H9c2 cells were transfected with Anti-rno-miR-133a (MIN0000839 Qiagen, Italy) or negative control (1027271 Qiagen, Italy) using Lipofectamine 2000 reagent (11668-027 Life Technologies, Italy), according to the manufacturer's protocol.

Cell Viability Assay

H9c2 viability was measured by 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol2-yl)-2,5diphenyltetrazolium bromide (MTT)assay. 5×10^3 cells/well were seeded in 96-well plates and treated as previously described. Briefly, MTT solution (1:10 in culture medium) was added to each well, incubated for 4 h and then removed. Each well was then washed for 20 min with isopropanol-HCl 0.2 N. Optical density (OD) values were measured at 570 nm using a 96-well plate reader (iMark, Bio-Rad Laboratories, Italy).

MC5R mRNAs and miR-133a Levels Determination

For MC5R mRNAs determination levels, total RNA isolation was performed according the RNeasy Mini kit (74134 Qiagen, Italy), following the Purification of Total RNA from Animal Cells RNA concentration and purity were determined using a NanoDrop 2000c Spectrophotometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Italy). According to Siniscalco et al. (2013), 1 μ g of RNA was reverse transcripted following the manufacturer's protocol by using Superscript III reverse transcriptase system (4367659 Invitrogen, Italy) and oligo(dT)15. Real-time PCR was performed with Reddy Mix PCR Master Mix (AB-0575/DC/LD/B ThermoScientific, Italy), each reaction consisting in 1 µl of diluted cDNA, 22.5 µl of 1.19 ReddyMix PCR MasterMix, 1 µl of ddH₂O and 1 µl of rat MC5R primer assay (QT01701920 Qiagen, Italy). The amplification profile used was the following: 95°C for 2 min; 35 cycles 94°C for 30 s, 55°C for 35 s, and 72°C for 65 s, followed by final elongation step at 72°C for 5 min. MC5R data were normalized relative to GAPDH and then used to calculate expression levels, according the $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$ method.

For miR-133a determination levels, miRNAs isolation was performed according to the miRNeasy Mini kit (217004 Qiagen, Italy), following the supplementary protocol Purification of Total RNA, including Small RNAs, from Animal Cells. 5 µl of Syn-cel-miRNA-39 miScript miRNA Mimic 5 nM (MSY0000010 Qiagen, Italy) was spiked into each sample, before nucleic acid preparation, in order to monitor the miRNA recovery efficiency and to normalize miRNA expression in the Real-time PCR analysis. NanoDrop 2000c Spectrophotometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Italy) was used to determine RNA concentration and purity. Mature miRNA reverse transcription was performed according to the miScript II RT kit (218161 Qiagen, Italy). Then miR-133a expression levels were detected using the CFX96 TouchTM Real-Time PCR Detection System (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Italy). Each reaction, carried out in triplicate, was set according the SYBR Green PCR Kit (218073 Qiagen, Italy) and by using specific miScript Primer Assays for miR-133a (MS00033208 Qiagen, Italy) and Syn-cel-miR-39 (MS00080247 Qiagen, Italy). ΔCt value for each miRNAas Ct miRNA-Ct Syn-cel-miR-39 was calculate to perform the relative quantization of miRNA expression; fold change was then obtained as $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$. P-values are calculated with a Student's t-test of the replicate $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$ values for each miRNA in the different groups. A *P*-value less than 0.05 was considered significant.

Immunocytochemistry

H9c2 cells were fixated with 4% paraformaldehyde, washed with PBS (AU-L0615 Aurogene, Italy) and then incubated for 30 min in blocking solution (1% BSA in PBS), in order to inhibit non-specific antibody binding. The primary antibodies, diluted in PBS blocking buffer and incubated overnight at 4°C, were: anti-GPR14 for Urotensin II receptor detection (sc-28998 Santa Cruz, United States) (Johns et al., 2004; Wang et al., 2009; Wei et al., 2018) and anti-actin (a-5441 Sigma, Italy). Specific antigens in each side were located using a Fluorescein Isothiocyanate (FITC) - conjugated anti-rabbit (GTXRB-003-D488N Immunoreagents, United States) and Tetramethylrhodamine (TRITC) - conjugated anti-mouse (GTXMU-003-D594N Immunoreagents, United States) secondary antibodies. H9c2 cells were counterstained with pentahydrate bisbenzimide (Hoechst 33258 Sigma, Italy) and then mounted with mounting medium (90% glycerol in PBS). Immunofluorescence images, obtained from the observation at a fluorescence microscope (Leica, Germany) and at a fluorescence confocal microscope (LSM 710 Zeiss, Germany), were analyzed with Leica FW4000 (Leica, Germany) and with Zen Zeiss (Zeiss, Germany) softwares. An observer blind to the treatment performed the labeling quantization for each microscope field, the percentage of positive cells was calculated by the number of

labeled positive cells of 300 cells in four different microscope fields. In order to avoid overcounting cells, only bisbenzimide counterstained cells were considered as positive profiles, performing on each digitized image the cell positive profile quantization. Data are reported as the intensity means \pm SEM of the percentages of positive cells / total cells counted in each analyzed field for each treatment. Three independent experiments were performed, each done in triplicate.

Cell Lysate Preparation for Protein Quantization

Cells were washed with cold phosphate-buffered saline (PBS; AU-L0615 Aurogene, Italy); then 150 μ l of cold RIPA lysis buffer (R0278 Sigma-Aldrich, United States) supplemented with a complete protease inhibitor cocktail (11873580001 Roche, United States) was added to each well. Lysates were collected and then centrifugated at 12,000 rpm for 10 min at 4°C. Total protein concentration in supernatants was measured using the Bio-Rad Protein Assay (500-0006 Bio-Rad Laboratories, Italy) and used for the determination of hypertrophy marker as total protein/viable cell number at direct cell counting (Wang et al., 2009), as well as for Western Blotting and ELISA assays.

MC5R, Urotensin II Receptor and K_{IR}6.1 Protein Levels Assessment

Western Blotting assay was performed in a 12% PAGE separation gel, electro-transferring 30 μ g of protein sample onto a PVDF membrane (IPFL10100 Merck Millipore, Italy), blocked for 1 h at room temperature with 5% non-fat dry milk (EMR180500 Euroclone, Italy). Then blots were incubated over-night with the following specific primary antibodies: anti-MC5R (sc-28994 Santa Cruz, United States), anti-GPR14 for Urotensin II receptor detection (sc-288998 Santa Cruz, United States), anti-actin (sc-8432 Santa Cruz, United States). This step was followed by incubation for 1 h at room temperature with horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary anti-rabbit (sc-2004 Santa Cruz, United States) or anti-mouse (sc-2005, Santa Cruz, United States) antibodies. The signal was expressed as Densitometric Units (D.U.).

PI3K Activity Determination

PI3K activity measurement was performed by using the PI3K Activity ELISA (K-1000s Echelon, Italy). The activity assay was performed following the immunoprecipitation of PI3K from cells, as suggested by the manufacturer's instructions.

Plasma Membrane GLUT1 and GLUT4 Levels Determination

H9c2 plasma membrane-enriched fractions were obtained by subcellular fractionation according to Yu et al. (2000). GLUT1 and GLUT4 levels from these fractions were measured using ELISA assays, according to the manufacturer's instructions (MBS720405 and MBS451402 My BioSource, United Kingdom).

Adenosine Triphosphate (ATP) Levels Determination

Rat ATP levels as marker of intracellular glucose content (Kuznetsov et al., 2015) were assayed in cell lysates by using Rat ATP Elisa kit (E02A0038BlueGene Biotech, China) according to the manufacturer's protocol.

Statistical Analysis

The results are presented as mean \pm S.E.M. of three independent experiments, performing the triplicate of all the treatments in a single experiment. Statistical significance was determined using ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's test. A *P*-value less than 0,05 was considered significant to reject the null hypothesis.

In vivo Proof of Concept

To confirm the role of MC5R agonism in modulating cardiac hypertrophy induced by high-glucose exposure, we translated the *in vitro* experiments in a setting of *in vivo* ones, by investigating the effects of α -MSH and PG-901 in diabetic Sprague-Dawley rats. Male Sprague-Dawley rats (8 weeks of

age), housed in a 12-h light/dark cycle animal room and fed with a standard chow diet and tap water ad libitum, were randomly divided into the following four groups (n = 5 for)each group): (i) non-diabetic rats (CTRL); (ii) STZ-diabetic rats (STZ); (iii) STZ treated with α -MSH (STZ + α -MSH); and (iv) STZ treated with PG-901 (STZ + PG-901). Diabetes was induced in animals by a single intraperitoneal injection of 70 mg/kg STZ in 10 mM citrate buffer (pH 4.5; Sigma Chemical Co., United States) and 15 h later, human regular insulin (1.5 \pm 0.5 units/day) was administered intraperitoneally vielding blood glucose levels of \sim 22 mmol/l for 8 days (Di Filippo et al., 2005). Blood glucose greater than 300 mg/dL were verified 1 week after the STZ injection (Glucometer Elite XL; Bayer Co., Elkhart, IN, United States), in order to confirm diabetes development (Di Filippo et al., 2016). Then, diabetic rats received weekly intraperitoneal injections of 500 µg/kg α-MSH (Forslin Aronsson et al., 2007) (M4135 Sigma, Italy) or 50 - 500 - 5000 µg/kg PG-901. Animals were treated for 3 weeks after diabetes confirmation, and blood glucose levels were checked intermittently throughout the study to confirm diabetes maintenance. After the 3-week



treatments, transthoracic echocardiography (Visualsonics Vevo 2100, Canada) was performed according to Di Filippo et al. (2014), using a 10–14 MHz linear transducer to obtain the images for the measurement of morphometric parameters, based on the average of three consecutive cardiac cycles for each rat. This study was carried out in accordance with to the guidelines of the Ethic Committee for animal experiments at the University of the Studies of Campania "Luigi Vanvitelli."

RESULTS

High Glucose Exposure Increases MC5R Levels in H9c2 Cells

RT-PCR analysis showed that in H9c2 cells exposed to high glucose stimulus MC5R gene expression was significantly increased (P < 0.01 vs. NG) compared to control cells

(Figure 1A). This was confirmed also by Western Blot Assay, showing a significant elevation of MC5R protein expression in H9c2 exposed to high glucose (P < 0.01 vs. NG), compared to control cells (Figure 1B).

MC5R Agonism Reduces H9c2 Hypertrophy Induced by High Glucose, Increasing Cell Survival

H9c2 cell area quantization showed an evident increase in cell area in cardiomyocytes exposed to high glucose (HG) compared to cells exposed to normal glucose (NG; +58,2%, P < 0,01 vs. NG), indicating a hypertrophic condition (**Figure 2**). Agonism at MC5R with α -MSH (90 pM) and PG-901 (10^{-10} M) significantly reduced cell area in cells exposed to high glucose. This reduction was absent in H9c2 cells grown in high glucose and treated with MC5R antagonist (-28,8 and -29,6%, respectively, P < 0,01 vs. HG) PG-20N (130 nM) (**Figure 2**). GPR-14 immunofluorescence



labeling confirmed the hypertrophy shown by H9c2 cells grown in HG compared to cells exposed to NG, showing a significant increase in GPR14levels (+111,1%, P < 0,01 vs. NG) (Figure 3). The high Urotensin II receptor levels in H9c2 cells exposed to high glucose were decreased by α-MSH (90 pM; -37,9%, P < 0.01 vs. HG) and PG-901 (10⁻¹⁰ M; -40.0%, P < 0.01vs. HG), while they were not modified by PG-20N treatment (Figure 3A). Also GPR-14 Western Blotting Assav evidenced the same Urotensin II protein expression pattern in the different experimental settings (Figure 3B). These results were confirmed also by total protein/ cell number ratio, a sensible marker of hypertrophy (Figure 4): H9c2 cells exposed to high glucose showed a significant increase in total protein per cell number (+109%, P < 0.05 vs. NG), a significant reduction in cell viability (-40%, P < 0.01 vs. NG). α -MSH treatment reduced the total protein per cell number (-28,2%, P < 0,01 vs. HG) and increased cell survival (+50,8%, P < 0,01 vs. HG),

confirming the reduction of hypertrophic state. Also PG-901 treatment reduced total protein per cell number (-40,2%, P < 0,01 vs. HG) and significantly increased cell viability (+61,0 %,P < 0,01 vs. HG) compared to cells exposed to high glucose. In contrast, an antagonism at MC5R with PG-20N did not produce effect on the parameters recorded in HG (**Figure 4**).

Activation of MC5R Reduces Glucose Uptake and Increases K_{IR}6.1 Expression in H9c2 Cells Exposed to High Glucose

In order to confirm the increase in glucose uptake, a feature of pathological cardiac hypertrophy, ATP levels were determined as marker of intracellular glucose content. As expected, H9c2 cells exposed to high glucose showed a significant increase in ATP level compared to cells exposed to normal glucose



FIGURE 3 Urotensin II receptor immunocytochemistry and Western Blotting Assay. (A) Representative immunofluorescence images (20X; in blue Hoechst for nucleus and in green GRP14 for Urotensin II receptor labeling) show that H9c2 cells exposed to high glucose (33 mM D-glucose) exhibited an evident increase Urotensin II levels, highly expressed in hypertrophic cardiomyocytes compared to cells exposed to normal glucose (5.5 mM D-glucose). MC5R agonism with α -MSH (90 pM) and PG-901 (10⁻¹⁰ M) treatment significantly decreased Urotensin II labeling in H9c2 cells exposed to high glucose. MC5R antagonist PG-20N treatment in H9c2 cells exposed to high glucose of bigh glucose showed high Urotensin II levels. The percentage of positive cells was calculated by the number of labeled positive cells of 300 cells in four different microscope fields. (B) Western Blots analysis detecting GPR-14 protein levels confirmed the elevated protein expression of Urotensin II receptor in hypertrophic H9c2 cells; this was significantly reduced in H9c2 cells exposed to high glucose; Ang II, angiotensin II; HG, high glucose; D.U., Densitometric Units; **P* < 0,01 vs. NG; °*P* < 0,01 vs. HG.



exhibited a significant decrease in cell viability and higher total protein / viable cell number ratio, as a marker of cardiac hypertrophy, compared to cell exposed to normal glucose (5.5 mM D-glucose). Agonism at MC5R with a-MSH (90 pM) and selectively with PG-901 (10^{-10} M) increased cell viability and decreased total protein / viable cell number ratio in cells exposed to high glucose. Cell viability values and total protein / cell number ratio exhibited by H9c2 cells exposed to high glucose were not affected by PG-20N MC5R antagonist (130 nM). Values are expressed as mean \pm S.E.M. of *n* = 9 values, obtained from the triplicates of three independent experiments. NG, normal glucose; Ang II, angiotensin II; HG, high glucose; **P* < 0,01 vs. NG; °*P* < 0,01 vs. HG.

(+123,4%, P < 0,01 vs. NG). The agonism at MC5R with α-MSH and PG-901 significantly reduced cellular glucose uptake, as measured from ATP levels compared to HG cells (-40,5 and 45,2%, respectively, P < 0,01 vs. HG). The PG-20N antagonist did not lead to any change of cellular glucose content (**Figure 5A**). H9c2 cells exposed to high glucose were also characterized by a significant reduction in K_{IR}6.1 protein levels (-56,0%, P < 0,01 vs. NG) compared to control cells, probably due to the high ATP intracellular levels. In contrast, the reduction in intracellular ATP content due to α-MSH and PG-901 MC5R agonism was paralleled by a significant increase in K_{IR}6.1 protein expression (+90,9 and

+100,0%, respectively, P < 0,01 vs. HG), compared to HG cells (Figure 5B).

Reduction of miR-133a Levels by MC5R Agonists in H9c2 Cells Exposed to High Glucose Stimulus and Consequent PI3K Activation

qRT-PCR analysis showed an overexpression of miR-133a in H9c2 exposed to high glucose stimuli and transfected with negative control mina inhibitor, compared to control cells (+95,4%, P < 0,01 vs. NG) (Figure 6A). As expected, this was



paralleled by a decreased PI3K activity in H9c2 cells exposed to HG (-57,0%, P < 0,01 vs. NG), being PI3K targeted by miR-133a (**Figure 6B**). Interestingly, α -MSH significantly reduced the miR-133a expression over by -47.0%, (P < 0,01vs. HG) and consequently recovering PI3K activity (+82,1%, P < 0,01 vs. HG). These evidences on miR-133a and PI3K by α -MSH were copied by MC5R agonist PG-901 (-45,8 and +67,4%, respectively, P < 0,01 vs. HG). No sign of significative change was seen with PG-20N on the parameters recorded in HG (**Figures 6A,B**). H9c2 cells exposed to all experimental conditions and transfected with anti-miR-133a evidenced reduced miR-133a levels, as expected. These were paralleled by increased PI3Kactivity showed by H9c2 cells exposed to high glucose with or without MC5R agonists and antagonist (**Figures 6A,B**).

MC5R Agonism Reduces the Elevated GLUT1/GLUT4 Ratio Induced by High Glucose in H9c2 Hypertrophy

An elevated GLUT1/GLUT4 ratio, a characteristic feature of cardiac hypertrophy, was found to be significant in cells exposed to high glucose (+137,2%, P < 0.01 vs. NG). Interestingly,

GLUT1/GLUT4 ratio was significantly reduced in H9c2 exposed to high glucose treated with α -MSH (-55,6%, P < 0,01 vs. HG) and with MC5R agonist PG-901 (-56,7, P < 0,01 vs. HG). PG-20N, a selective MC5R antagonist, did not change the GLUT1/GLT4 ratio observed in HG cells (**Figure 7**).

MC5R Agonism Modulates *in vivo* High Glucose-Induced Cardiac Alterations

As shown in **Table 1** by M-mode measurements, diabetic rats (STZ) had a significantly greater left ventricular mass per body weight, compared to non-diabetic rats (+82,6%, P < 0,05 vs. CTRL). This was significantly reduced by α -MSH (-30,9%, P < 0,05 vs. STZ) and by the doses of 500 and 5000 µg/kg PG-901 (-33,3 and -35,7%, respectively, P < 0,05 vs. STZ). While systolic, diastolic and relative wall thicknesses were similar between non-diabetic and diabetic rats, systolic and diastolic left ventricular cavity dimensions were significantly increased in STZ animals, compared to CTRL group (+23,6%, P < 0,05 vs. CTRL and +21,6%, P < 0,01 vs. CTRL, respectively). Left ventricular internal dimensions in diastole were significantly reduced by MC5R agonists (-13,3% by α -MSH, -13,8% by PG-901 500 µg/kg and -15,1% by PG-901 5000 µg/kg, P < 0,05



vs. STZ), as well as the left ventricular internal dimensions in systole (-8,1% by α -MSH, -9,7% by PG-901 500 μ g/kg and -12,9% by PG-901 5000 μ g/kg, P < 0,01 vs. STZ). Diabetic rats showed a significant reduction in left ventricular fractional shortening (LVFS; -26,3%, P < 0,01 vs. CTRL), ejection fraction (LVEF; -11,1%, P < 0,01 vs. CTRL) and circumferential fiber shortening values (VCF; -28,9%, P < 0,01 vs. CTRL), compared to CTRL animals. These values were increased by α -MSH (+22,2% in LVFS,+6,9% in LVEF and +21,9% in VCF, *P* < 0,05 vs. STZ), PG-901 500 µg/kg (+23,8% in LVFS,+7,8% in LVEF and +25,0% in VCF, P < 0.05 vs. STZ) and PG-901 5000 μ g/kg (+29,2% in LVFS and +28,1% in VCF, P < 0,05 vs. STZ;+8,8 in LVEF, P < 0.01 vs. STZ). Isovolumetric relaxation time (IVRT) and the ratio of maximal early diastolic peak velocity / late peak velocity of mitral flow (E/A ratio) were significantly decreased in STZ group compared to non-diabetic rats (-26.7)and -20%, respectively, P < 0.01 vs. CTRL) and significantly increased by treatment with MC5R agonists (-24,5% in IVRT and -17,4% in E/A with α -MSH, P < 0.05 vs. STZ; -26.5%in IVRT and -18,9% in E/A with PG-901 500 µg/kg, P < 0,05vs. STZ; -31,7% in IVRT, P < 0,01 vs. STZ and -20,4% in E/A, P < 0.05 vs. STZ with PG-901 5000 µg/kg). Myocardial performance index was greater in the diabetic group compared to the non-diabetic animals (+53,6%, P < 0,01 vs. CTRL), and it was reduced both by α -MSH administration (-18,6%,

P < 0,05 vs. STZ) that by PG-901 at the doses of 500 µg/kg (-20,9%, P < 0,05 vs. STZ) and of 5000 µg/kg (-23,2%, P < 0,01 vs. STZ). These improved echocardiographic parameters exhibited by diabetic rats treated with MC5R agonists were paralleled also by significantly reduced blood glucose levels (**Table 1**).

DISCUSSION

Melanocortin receptor 5, (MC5R) predominantly activated by α -MSH and then equally by ACTH, β -MSH, and γ -MSH, is highly expressed in skeletal muscles, exocrine and sebaceous glands, while at a lower level MC5R mRNA is been detected in rodent adipocytes (Chen et al., 1997; Abdel-Malek, 2001; Getting, 2006). Although MC5R functions and signaling are still poorly understood, they are speculated to regulate aldosterone secretion and to mediate neuro-myotrophic, gastric, and anti-inflammatory effects (Gantz et al., 1994; Griffon et al., 1994; Fathi et al., 1995). Interestingly, these G-protein receptors functionally coupled to adenylate cyclase have been recently showed to mediate the skeletal muscle glucose uptake through protein kinase A regulation: the authors demonstrated for the first time that peripheral α -MSH significantly increases glucose uptake via the activation of MC5R and PKA on soleus and



GLUT4 levels and increased GLUT1 levels in plasma membrane, resulting in a higher GLUT1/GLUT4 levels compared to cells exposed to normal glucose (5.5 mM D-glucose). a-MSH (90 pM) and PG-901 (10⁻¹⁰ M) significantly restored GLUT1/GLUT4 ratio, by increasing GLUT4 and consequently decreasing GLUT1 plasma membrane levels. PG-20N MC5R antagonist (130 nM) did not lead to any modification of the high GLUT1/GLUT4 ratio induced by high glucose. Values are expressed as mean \pm S.E.M. of *n* = 9 values, obtained from the triplicates of three independent experiments. NG, normal glucose; Ang II, angiotensin II; HG, high glucose; **P* < 0,01 vs. NG; °*P* < 0,01 vs. HG.

TABLE 1 | In vivo cardiac parameters evaluated by echocardiography.

	CTRL	STZ	STZ + α-MSH	STZ + PG-901			
	-	65 mg/kg	500 μg/Kg	50 μg/Kg	500 μg/Kg	5000 μg/Kg	
Blood glucose (mg/dl)	90 ± 8	$351 \pm 12^{*}$	$284 \pm 9^{\circ}$	331 ± 11	290 ± 13°	274 ± 9°	
LV mass/BW (mg/g)	$2, 3 \pm 0, 4$	$4, 2 \pm 0, 5^{**}$	$2,9\pm0,5^{\circ\circ}$	$3, 1 \pm 0, 4$	$2,8\pm0,6^{\circ\circ}$	$2,7\pm0,5^{\circ\circ}$	
AWTd/TB (cm/cm)	$0,42 \pm 0,12$	$0,46 \pm 0,11$	$0, 41 \pm 0, 15$	$0,43 \pm 0,14$	$0,40 \pm 0,10$	$0,44 \pm 0,12$	
AWTs/TB (cm/cm)	$0,76 \pm 0,15$	$0,74 \pm 0,12$	$0,72 \pm 0,14$	$0,75 \pm 0,11$	$0,78 \pm 0,14$	$0,71 \pm 0,21$	
PWTd/TB (cm/cm)	$0,41 \pm 0,15$	$0,45 \pm 0,18$	$0,44 \pm 0,13$	$0,42 \pm 0,16$	$0,44 \pm 12$	$0,46 \pm 0,11$	
PWTs/TB (cm/cm)	$0,74 \pm 0,12$	$0,71 \pm 0,16$	$0,75 \pm 0,22$	$0,73 \pm 0,14$	$0,75 \pm 0,19$	$0,74 \pm 0,18$	
LVd/TB (cm/cm)	$1,82 \pm 0,1$	$2,25 \pm 0,1^{**}$	$1,95 \pm 0,1^{\circ \circ}$	$1,99 \pm 0,2$	$1,94 \pm 0,1^{\circ \circ}$	$1,91 \pm 0,1^{\circ\circ}$	
LVs/TB (cm/cm)	$0,51 \pm 0,008$	$0,62 \pm 0,007^{*}$	$0,57 \pm 0,009^{\circ}$	$0, 61 \pm 0, 01$	$0,56 \pm 0,01^{\circ}$	$0,54 \pm 0,008^{\circ}$	
RWT	$0,41 \pm 0,11$	$0, 39 \pm 0, 09$	$0, 40 \pm 0, 10$	$0,42 \pm 0,08$	$0,38 \pm 0,11$	$0,41 \pm 0,12$	
LVFS (%)	$44, 5 \pm 2, 5$	$32,8 \pm 2,1^{*}$	$40, 1 \pm 2, 4^{\circ \circ}$	$37, 2 \pm 2, 8$	$40, 6 \pm 2, 2^{\circ \circ}$	$42, 4 \pm 2, 5^{\circ \circ}$	
LVEF (%)	$76, 3 \pm 1, 6$	$67,8 \pm 1,1^{*}$	$72,5 \pm 1,8^{\circ \circ}$	$70, 7 \pm 1, 6$	$73, 1 \pm 1, 4^{\circ \circ}$	$73,8 \pm 1,2^{\circ}$	
VCF (circ/sec)	$0,0045 \pm 0.0002$	$0,0032 \pm 0,0003^{*}$	$0,0039 \pm 0,0002^{\circ\circ}$	$0,0037 \pm 0,0004$	$0,0040 \pm 0,0002^{\circ\circ}$	$0,0041 \pm 0,0002^{\circ\circ}$	
IVRT (msec)	$41, 2 \pm 1, 52$	$30,2 \pm 1,68^{*}$	$37,6 \pm 1,56^{\circ\circ}$	$33,8 \pm 1,55$	$38,2 \pm 1,62^{\circ}$	$39,8 \pm 1,50^{\circ}$	
E/A ratio (msec)	$1,65 \pm 0,05$	$1,32 \pm 0,08^{*}$	$1,55 \pm 0,09^{\circ\circ}$	$1,50 \pm 0,09$	$1,57 \pm 0,07^{\circ\circ}$	$1,59 \pm 0,08^{\circ \circ}$	
MPI	$0,28 \pm 0,028$	$0,43 \pm 0,016^{*}$	$0,35 \pm 0,026^{\circ\circ}$	$0,039 \pm 0,028$	$0,34 \pm 0,024^{\circ\circ}$	$0,33 \pm 0,019^{\circ}$	

LV mass, left ventricular mass; BW, body weight; AWTd, anterior wall thickness in diastole; TB, tibial length; AWTs, anterior wall thickness in systole; PWTd, posterior wall thickness in diastole; TB, tibial length; AWTs, anterior wall thickness in systole; PWTd, posterior wall thickness in diastole; PWTs, posterior wall thickness in systole; LVd, left ventricular internal dimensions in diastole; LVs, left ventricular internal dimensions in systole; RWT, relative wall thickness; LVFS, left ventricular fractional shortening; LVEF, left ventricular ejection fraction; VCF, left ventricular circumferential fiber shortening; IRVT, isovolumetric relaxation time; E/A ratio, ratio of maximal early diastolic peak velocity / late peak velocity of mitral flow; MPI, myocardial performance index. Values are expressed as mean \pm S.E.M. of n = 5 animals; for each rat the average was obtained from three consecutive cardiac cycles. CTRL, non-diabetic rats; STZ, diabetic rats; **P < 0,05 and *P < 0,01 vs. CTRL; °°P < 0,01 and °P < 0,05 vs. STZ.



gastrocnemius muscles (Abdel-Malek, 2001; Enriori et al., 2016; Hill and Faulkner, 2017).

Although glucose is a primary substrate for heart metabolism and alterations of glucose uptake are tightly associated with cardiovascular diseases, particularly cardiac hypertrophy induced by hyperglycemia, the role of melanocortin receptors in mediating cardiac glucose uptake has been never explored before (Fathi et al., 1995; Wang et al., 2013; Han et al., 2015; Szablewski, 2017). Considering these evidences, we investigated the role of MC5R in mediating cardiac glucose-uptake in H9c2 exposed to high glucose and the role played by MC5R in the glucose-induced hypertrophy. Recent evidences showed that the exposure of rat H9c2 cardiac myocytes to high glucose can be considered an useful in vitro model of myocardial hypertrophy, since high glucose levels rapidly induce connective tissue growth factor (CTGF) mRNA that mediates hypertrophy on H9c2 cells (Wang et al., 2009; Han et al., 2015; Li et al., 2017; Wei et al., 2018). Interestingly, H9c2 cells showed a significant up-regulation of MC5R mRNA and protein content following high glucose exposure compared to cells exposed to normal glucose. This increased MC5R expression probably being a defensive and anti-hypertrophic response to the high-glucose induced damage, since by activating MC5Rwith α -MSH or with PG-901 the cell viability was increased and the cardiac hypertrophy markers, including the high intracellular glucose content (detected by ATP levels determination), were decreased compared to cells exposed to high glucose only. Interestingly, the modulation of intracellular glucose content was paralleled by changes in KATP Inward Rectifier K⁺ Channel 4 (K_{IR}6.1 or KCJN8) expression. The KCNJ8-encoded Kir6.1 (KATP) channel is an important regulator of vascular tone and cardiac adaptive response to metabolic stress (Tester et al., 2011), activated by low intracellular ATP levels (Takano and Noma, 1993). In our setting, KIR6.1 protein levels were significantly decreased by H9c2 exposure

to high glucose, in line with previous works (Liang et al., 2016, 2017; Trotta et al., 2017), and were restored by a-MSH and PG-901 treatments. This may be due to the modulation of ATP intracellular levels exerted by MC5R agonists: while the high ATP intracellular content in H9c2 cells exposed to high glucose was paralleled by a decreased $K_{IR}6.1$ protein expression, a reduction in ATP levels was paralleled by an increase in $K_{IR}6.1$ protein levels. Therefore, MC5R stands as a receptor to target in order to modulate the high glucose-induced hypertrophy.

From the molecular point of view and in order to ascertain the intracellular MC5R signaling, our study focused on phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K). This lipid kinase, activated by G protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs) through the direct binding of G $\beta\gamma$ subunits and the small GTPase Ras to PI3K, is a major player for mediating insulin-induced glucose uptake in skeletal and cardiac muscle (Le Marchand-Brustel et al., 1995; Schwindinger and Robishaw, 2001; Riley et al., 2006). Here, we show that both the α -MSH and PG-901 increase the PI3K activity within the H9c2 cells exposed to high glucose, on HEK293 cells (Rodrigues et al., 2009). Moreover, being PI3K also involved in the regulation of H9c2 survival through Akt phosphorylation, leading to a reduction of cell death (Wang et al., 2015; Liu et al., 2017), the protective action of MC5R agonism on cell viability could be just linked to PI3K activation.

PI3K activity is usually modulated by miR-133a, a miRNA involved in regulation of cardiac hypertrophy: increased levels of miR-133aare paralleled by PI3K inactivation (Horie et al., 2009; Abdellatif, 2010; Josse et al., 2014) or viceversa low levels of miR-133a link to PI3K activation. Fitting with this, the high glucose exposure markedly increased miR-133a levels in our setting and reduced PI3K activity. In contrast, the MC5R activation by α -MSH and more selectively with the PG-901 agonist, significantly reduced miR-133a levels, consequently

increasing PI3K activity. Moreover, miR-133a knockdown in H9c2 cells exposed to high glucose alone or with MC5R agonists reverted PI3K activity to the levels exposed by normal cells. This confirmed also MC5R modulation of miR-133a levels and consequently, of PI3K activity, evidenced in our experimental setting. However, the molecular mechanisms by which MC5R activation regulates miR-133a levels have to be further investigated.

PI3K inactivation leads to increase of plasma membrane GLUT1/GLUT4 ratio, a feature of pathological cardiac hypertrophy. In a normal adult heart GLUT4 is the primary glucose transporter translocating on plasma membrane after insulin stimulation, while the mediator of basal cardiac glucose uptake GLUT1 is downregulated after birth. Conversely, a pathological hypertrophic condition links a GLUT4 depletion, resulting in a direct increase in GLUT1 levels (Slot et al., 1991; Abel et al., 1999; Paternostro et al., 1999; Tian et al., 2001; Kolwicz and Tian, 2011; Shao and Tian, 2015). PI3K activation appears to be necessary for GLUT4 translocation in the heart, being insulin stimulated GLUT4 translocation blocked by PI3K inhibitor (Egert et al., 1997; Vlavcheski et al., 2018). In line with these evidences, our results furtherly showed that PI3K inactivation induced by high glucose exposure in H9c2 cells lead to a significant increased plasma membrane GLUT1/GLUT4 ratio compared to cells exposed to high glucose. This was reverted by the PI3K activation induced by the stimulation of MC5R with α-MSH and PG-901, thus significantly decreasing GLUT1/GLUT4 ratio.

Therefore, the MC5R is pivotal for cardiac hypertrophy. However, the role exerted by MC5R could have limitations due to the nature of the cells used: H9c2 cells are still physiologically far from being primary cardiomyocytes. On another note, however, these cells presents advantages linked to the fact that they can be easily manipulated and exhibit longer survival and growth with respect to adult cardiomyocytes, that can only be maintained for a short time in culture after a technically challenging isolation (Peter et al., 2016). Moreover, cultures of rat neonatal cardiomyocytes have recently become the standard experimental in vitro system used to investigate the aberrant molecular processes occurring during cardiac hypertrophy (Watkins et al., 2011). However, the role of MC5R agonism in modulating cardiac alterations induced by high-glucose was here confirmed also by echocardiographic evaluations in STZ-diabetic Sprague Dawley rats treated with α-MSH and PG-901. The increase shown by STZ-diabetic rats in left ventricular mass per body weight and myocardial performance index, in line with previous evidences

REFERENCES

- Abdellatif, M. (2010). The role of miR-133 in cardiac hypertrophy uncovered. *Circ. Res.* 106, 16–18. doi: 10.1016/j.cellsig.2014.11.001
- Abdel-Malek, Z. A. (2001). Melanocortin receptors: their functions and regulation by physiological agonists and antagonists. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 58, 434–441. doi: 10.1007/PL0000868
- Abel, E. D., Kaulbach, H. C., Tian, R., Hopkins, J. C., Duffy, J., Doetschman, T., et al. (1999). Cardiac hypertrophy with preserved contractile function after selective deletion of GLUT4 from the heart. J. Clin. Invest. 104, 1703–1714. doi: 10.1172/JCI7605

(Wichi et al., 2007; Di Filippo et al., 2014), was significantly reduced by α-MSH and PG-901 treatment. Although the increase in LV mass can be interpreted as a consequence of increased myocyte volume and thus hypertrophy it cannot be ruled out that this parameter has changed as a consequence of edema or alterations in the homeostasis of different cell types. Noteworthy, cardiac hypertrophy is the abnormal enlargement, or thickening, of the heart muscle, resulting from increases in cardiomyocyte size and changes in other heart muscle components, such as extracellular matrix. Moreover, the reduced values of left ventricular internal dimensions, fractional shortening, ejection fraction, and circumferential fiber shortening evidenced by STZ-diabetic rats and confirmed by previous works (Joffe et al., 1999; Wichi et al., 2007) clearly evidence a sort of dilated cardiomyopathy, together with a probable fibrosis not measured here, that occurred in these animals, in line with many recent studies in STZ models (Chengji and Xianjin, 2018). These parameters were significantly improved by α -MSH and PG-901, as well as the isovolumetric relaxation time and E/A ratio values.

CONCLUSION

The MC5R seems to be a new target in high glucose-induced cardiac myocytes derangements, and an agonism at this receptor can be a strategic tool to reduce these conditions. *In vitro*, the selective MC5R agonism seems to reduce GLUT1/GLUT4 ratio through PI3K activation, mediated by a decrease in miR-133a levels (**Figure 8**). These evidences open new possibilities for therapeutic interventions through peripheral melanocortin pathways.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MT, RM, and AH performed the research. NA contributed to immunofluorescence analysis and results interpretation. MD analyzed the data. CT and CD designed and wrote the research study.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank Prof. Paolo Grieco for supplying PG-901 and PG-20N compounds.

- Chen, W., Kelly, M. A., Opitz-Araya, X., Thomas, R. E., Low, M. J., and Cone, R. D. (1997). Exocrine gland dysfunction in MC5- R-deficient mice: evidence for coordinated regulation of exocrine gland function by melanocortin peptides. *Cell* 91, 789–798. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80467-5
- Chengji, W., and Xianjin, F. (2018). Exercise protects against diabetic cardiomyopathy by the inhibition of the endoplasmic reticulum stress pathway in rats. J. Cell. Physiol. doi: 10.1002/jcp.27038 [Epub ahead of print].
- Costa, J. L., Hochgeschwender, U., and Brennan, M. (2006). The role of melanocyte- stimulating hormone in insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Treat. Endocrinol.* 5, 7–13. doi: 10.2165/00024677-200605010-00002

- Di Filippo, C., Marfella, R., Cuzzocrea, S., Piegari, E., Petronella, P., Giugliano, D., et al. (2005). Hyperglycemia in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rat increases infarct size associated with low levels of myocardial HO-1 during ischemia/reperfusion. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 54, 803–810.
- Di Filippo, C., Rossi, C., Ferraro, B., Maisto, R., De Angelis, A., Ferraraccio, F., et al. (2014). Involvement of proteasome and macrophages m2 in the protection afforded by telmisartan against the acute myocardial infarction in zucker diabetic fatty rats with metabolic syndrome. *Mediators Inflamm.* 2014:972761. doi: 10.1155/2014/972761
- Di Filippo, C., Trotta, M. C., Maisto, R., Gaudino, G., Accardo, M., Ferrraraccio, F., et al. (2016). Beneficial effect of ursodeoxycholic acid on high glucose induced long QT interval arrhythmia in isolated rat heart. *Diabetes Obes. Int. J.* 1:000136.
- Egert, S., Nguyen, N., Brosius, F. C., and Schwaiger, M. (1997). Effects of wortmannin on insulin- and ischemia-induced stimulation of GLUT4 translocation and FDG uptake in perfused rat hearts. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 35, 283–293. doi: 10.1016/S0008-6363(97)00133-8
- Enriori, P. J., Chen, W., Garcia-Rudaz, M. C., Grayson, B. E., Evans, A. E., Comstock, S. M., et al. (2016). α-Melanocyte stimulating hormone promotes muscle glucose uptake via melanocortin 5 receptors. *Mol. Metab.* 5, 807–822. doi: 10.1016/j.molmet.2016.07.009
- Fan, W., Dinulescu, D. M., Butler, A. A., Zhou, J., Marks, D. L., and Cone, R. D. (2000). The central melanocortin system can directly regulate serum insulin levels. *Endocrinology* 141, 3072–3079. doi: 10.1210/endo.141.9.7665
- Fathi, Z., Iben, L. G., and Parker, E. M. (1995). Cloning, expression, and tissue distribution of a fifth melanocortin receptor subtype. *Neurochem. Res.* 20, 107–113. doi: 10.1007/BF00995160
- Forslin Aronsson, A., Spulber, S., Oprica, M., Winblad, B., Post, C., and Schultzberg, M. (2007). Alpha-MSH rescues neurons from excitotoxic cell death. J. Mol. Neurosci. 33, 239–251. doi: 10.1007/s12031-007-0019-2
- Gantz, I., Shimoto, Y., Konda, Y., Miwa, H., Dickinson, C. J., and Yamada, T. (1994). Molecular cloning, expression, and characterization of a fifth melanocortin receptor. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 200, 1214–1220. doi: 10.1006/bbrc.1994.1580
- Getting, S. J. (2006). Targeting melanocortin receptors as pothential novel therapeutics. *Pharmacol. Ther.* 111, 1–15. doi: 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2005. 06.022
- Griffon, N., Mignon, V., Facchinetti, P., Diaz, J., Schwartz, J. C., and Sokoloff, P. (1994). Molecular cloning and characterization of the rat fifth melanocortin receptor. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 200, 1007–1014. doi: 10.1006/bbrc. 1994.1550
- Han, S. S., Wang, G., Jin, Y., Ma, Z. L., Jia, W. J., Wu, X., et al. (2015). Investigating the mechanism of hyperglycemia-induced fetal cardiac hypertrophy. *PLoS One* 10:e0139141. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0139141
- Hill, J. W., and Faulkner, L. D. (2017). The role of the melanocortin system in metabolic disease: new developments and advances. *Neuroendocrinology* 104, 330–346. doi: 10.1159/000450649
- Horie, T., Ono, K., Nishi, H., Iwanaga, Y., Nagao, K., Kinoshita, M., et al. (2009). MicroRNA-133 regulates the expression of GLUT4 by targeting KLF15 and is involved in metabolic control in cardiac myocytes. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 389, 315–320. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2009.08.136
- Joffe, I. I., Travers, K. E., Perreault-Micale, C. L., Hampton, T., Katz, S. E., Morganm, J. P., et al. (1999). Abnormal cardiac function in the streptozotocininduced, non-insulin-dependent diabetic rat. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 34, 2111–2119. doi: 10.1016/S0735-1097(99)00436-2
- Johns, D. G., Ao, Z., Naselsky, D., Herold, C. L., Maniscalco, K., Sarov-Blat, L., et al. (2004). Urotensin-II-mediated cardiomyocyte hypertrophy: effect of receptor antagonism and role of inflammatory mediators. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch. Pharmacol.* 370, 238–250.
- Josse, C., Bouznad, N., Geurts, P., Irrthum, A., Huynh-Thu, V. A., Servais, L., et al. (2014). Identification of a microRNA landscape targeting the PI3K/Akt signaling pathway in inflammation-induced colorectal carcinogenesis. *Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol.* 306, G229–G243. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.00484. 2012
- Kagaya, Y., Kanno, Y., Takeyama, D., Ishide, N., Maruyama, Y., Takahashi, T., et al. (1990). Effects of long-term pressure overload on regional myocardial glucose and free fatty acid uptake in rats. A quantitative autoradiographic study. *Circulation* 81, 1353–1361. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.81.4. 1353

- Kolwicz, S. C., and Tian, R. (2011). Glucose metabolism and cardiac hypertrophy. Cardiovasc. Res. 90, 194–201. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvr071
- Kuznetsov, A. V., Javadov, S., Sickinger, S., Frotschnig, S., and Grimm, M. (2015). H9c2 and HL-1 cells demonstrate distinct features of energy metabolism, mitochondrial function and sensitivity to hypoxia-reoxygenation. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1853, 276–284. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2014.11.015
- Le Marchand-Brustel, Y., Gautier, N., Cormont, M., and Van Obberghen, E. (1995). Wortmannin inhibits the action of insulin but not that of okadaic acid in skeletal muscle: comparison with fat cells. *Endocrinology* 136, 3564–3570. doi: 10.1210/endo.136.8.7628394
- Leong, H. S., Grist, M., Parsons, H., Wambolt, R. B., Lopaschuk, G. D., Brownsey, R., et al. (2002). Accelerated rates of glycolysis in the hypertrophied heart: are they a methodological artifact? *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* 282, E1039–E1045. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00507.2001
- Li, H., Xu, C., Li, Q., Gao, X., Sugano, E., Tomita, H., et al. (2017). Thioredoxin 2 offers protection against mitochondrial oxidative stress in H9c2 cells and against myocardial hypertrophy induced by hyperglycemia. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 18:E1958. doi: 10.3390/ijms18091958
- Liang, W., Chen, J., Mo, L., Ke, X., Zhang, W., and Zheng, D. (2016). ATP-sensitive K⁺ channels contribute to the protective effects of exogenous hydrogen sulfide against high-glucose-induced injury in H9c2 cardiac cells. *Int. J. Mol. Med.* 37, 763–772. doi: 10.3892/ijmm.2016.2467
- Liang, W., Chen, M., Zheng, D., Li, J., Song, M., Zhang, W., et al. (2017). The opening of ATP-sensitive K⁺ channels protects H9c2 cardiac cells against the high glucose-induced injury and inflammation by inhibiting the ROS-TLR4-necroptosis pathway. *Cell. Physiol. Biochem.* 41, 1020–1034. doi: 10.1159/ 000461391
- Liu, J., Sui, H., Zhao, J., and Wang, Y. (2017). Osmotin protects H9c2 cells from simulated ischemia-reperfusion injury through AdipoR1/PI3K/AKT signaling pathway. *Front. Physiol.* 8:611. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2017.00611
- Maisto, R., Gesualdo, C., Trotta, M. C., Grieco, P., Testa, F., Simonelli, F., et al. (2017). Melanocortin receptor agonists MCR 1-5 protect photoreceptors from high-glucose damage and restore antioxidant enzymes in primary retinal cell culture. J. Cell. Mol. Med. 21, 968–974. doi: 10.1111/jcmm.13036
- Nascimben, L., Ingwall, J. S., Lorell, B. H., Pinz, I., Schultz, V., Tornheim, K., et al. (2004). Mechanisms for increased glycolysis in the hypertrophied rat heart. *Hypertension* 44, 662–667. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.0000144292.69599.0c
- Paternostro, G., Pagano, D., Gnecchi-Ruscone, T., Bonser, R. S., and Camici, P. G. (1999). Insulin resistance in patients with cardiac hypertrophy. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 42, 246–253. doi: 10.1016/S0008-6363(98)00233-8
- Peter, A. K., Bjerke, M. A., and Leinwand, L. A. (2016). Biology of the cardiac myocyte in heart disease. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 15, 2149–2160. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E16-01-0038
- Riley, J. K., Carayannopoulos, M. O., Wyman, A. H., Chi, M., and Moley, K. H. (2006). Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase activity is critical for glucose metabolism and embryo survival in murine blastocysts. J. Biol. Chem. 218, 6010–6019. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M506982200
- Rodrigues, A. R., Pignatelli, D., Almeida, H., and Gouveia, A. M. (2009). Melanocortin 5 receptor activates ERK1/2 through a PI3K-regulated signaling mechanism. *Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.* 303, 74–81. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2009.01.014
- Rossi, S., Maisto, R., Gesualdo, C., Trotta, M. C., Ferraraccio, F., Kaneva, M. K., et al. (2016). Activation of melanocortin receptors MC 1 and MC 5 attenuates retinal damage in experimental diabetic retinopathy. *Mediators Inflamm*. 2016:7368389. doi: 10.1155/2016/7368389
- Schwindinger, W. F., and Robishaw, J. D. (2001). Heterotrimeric G-protein βγ-dimers in growth and differentiation. Oncogene 20, 1653–1660. doi: 10.1038/ sj.onc.1204181
- Shao, D., and Tian, R. (2015). Glucose transporters in cardiac metabolism and hypertrophy. *Compr. Physiol.* 6, 331–351. doi: 10.1002/cphy.c150016
- Siniscalco, D., Sapone, A., Giordano, C., Cirillo, A., de Magistris, L., Rossi, F., et al. (2013). Cannabinoid receptor type 2, but not type 1, is up-regulated in peripheral blood mononuclear cells of children affected by autistic disorders. *J. Autism Dev. Disord.* 43, 2686–2695. doi: 10.1007/s10803-013-1824-9
- Slot, J. W., Geuze, H. J., Gigengack, S., James, D. E., and Lienhard, G. E. (1991). Translocation of the glucose transporter GLUT4 in cardiac myocytes of the rat. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 88, 7815–7819. doi: 10.1073/pnas.88.17.7815
- Stuck, B. J., Lenski, M., Böhm, M., and Laufs, U. (2008). Metabolic switch and hypertrophy of cardiomyocytes following treatment with angiotensin II are

prevented by AMP-activated protein kinase. J. Biol. Chem. 283, 32562–32569. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M801904200

- Suhaeri, M., Subbiah, R., Van, S. Y., Du, P., Kim, I. G., Lee, K., et al. (2015). Cardiomyoblast (H9c2) differentiation on tunable extracellular matrix microenvironment. *Tissue Eng. A* 21, 1940–1951. doi: 10.1089/ten.TEA.2014. 0591
- Szablewski, L. (2017). Distribution of glucose transporters in renal diseases. *J. Biomed. Sci.* 24:64. doi: 10.1186/s12929-017-0371-7
- Takano, M., and Noma, A. (1993). The ATP-sensitive K⁺ channel. *Prog. Neurobiol.* 41, 21–30. doi: 10.1016/0301-0082(93)90039-U
- Tester, D. J., Tan, B. H., Medeiros-Domingo, A., Song, C., Makielski, J. C., and Ackerman, M. J. (2011). Loss-of-function mutations in the KCNJ8-encoded Kir6.1 KATP channel and sudden infant death syndrome. *Circ. Cardiovasc. Genet.* 4, 510–515. doi: 10.1161/CIRCGENETICS.111.960195
- Tian, R., Musi, N., D'Agostino, J., Hirshman, M. F., and Goodyear, L. J. (2001). Increased adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase activity in rat hearts with pressure-overload hypertrophy. *Circulation* 104, 1664–1669. doi: 10.1161/hc4001.097183
- Trotta, M. C., Salerno, M., Brigida, A. L., Monda, V., Messina, A., Fiore, C., et al. (2017). Inhibition of aldose-reductase-2 by a benzofuroxane derivative bf-5m increases the expression of kcne1, kcnq1 in high glucose cultured H9c2 cardiac cells and sudden cardiac death. Oncotarget 9, 17257–17269. doi: 10.18632/ oncotarget.23270
- Valli-Jaakola, K., Suviolahti, E., Schalin-Jäntti, C., Ripatti, S., Silander, K., Oksanen, L., et al. (2008). Further evidence for the role of ENPP1 in obesity: association with morbidobesity in Finns. *Obesity* 16, 2113–2119. doi: 10.1038/ oby.2008.313
- Vlavcheski, F., Baron, D., Vlachogiannis, I. A., MacPherson, R. E. K., and Tsiani, E. (2018). Carnosol increases skeletal muscle cell glucose uptake via AMPKdependent GLUT4 glucose transporter translocation. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 19:E1321. doi: 10.3390/ijms19051321
- Wang, J., Ji, S. Y., Liu, S. Z., Jing, R., and Lou, W. J. (2015). Cardioprotective effect of breviscapine: inhibition of apoptosis in H9c2 cardiomyocytes via the PI3K/Akt/eNOS pathway following simulated ischemia/reperfusion injury. *Pharmazie* 70, 593–597.
- Wang, K. C., Lim, C. H., McMillen, I. C., Duffield, J. A., Brooks, D. A., and Morrison, J. L. (2013). Alteration of cardiac glucose metabolism in association to low birth weight: experimental evidence in lambs with left ventricular hypertrophy. *Metabolism* 62, 1662–1672. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2013.06.013
- Wang, X., McLennan, S. V., Allen, T. J., Tsoutsman, T., Semsarian, C., and Twigg, S. M. (2009). Adverse effects of high glucose and free fatty acid on

cardiomyocytesare mediated by connective tissue growth factor. Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. 297, C1490–C1500. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.00049.2009

- Watkins, S. J., Borthwick, G. M., and Arthur, H. M. (2011). The H9C2 cell line and primary neonatal cardiomyocyte cells show similar hypertrophic responses in vitro. *In Vitro Cell. Dev. Biol. Anim.* 47, 125–131. doi: 10.1007/s11626-010-9368-1
- Weeks, K. L., Bernardo, B. C., Ooi, J. Y. Y., Patterson, N. L., and McMullen, J. R. (2017). The IGF1-PI3K-Akt signaling pathway in mediating exercise-induced cardiac hypertrophy and protection. *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.* 1000, 187–210. doi: 10.1007/978-981-10-4304-8_12
- Wei, X., Yang, Y., Jiang, Y. J., Lei, J. M., Guo, J. W., and Xiao, H. (2018). Relaxin ameliorates high glucose-induced cardiomyocyte hypertrophy and apoptosis via the Notch1 pathway. *Exp. Ther. Med.* 15, 691–698. doi: 10.3892/etm.2017. 5448
- Wichi, R., Malfitano, C., Rosa, K., De Souza, S. B., Salemi, V., Mostarda, C., et al. (2007). Non invasive and invasive evaluation of cardiac dysfunction in experimental diabetes in rodents. *Cardiovasc. Diabetol.* 6:14.
- Yu, B., Schroeder, A., and Nagy, L. E. (2000). Ethanol stimulates glucose uptake and translocation of GLUT-4 in H9c2 myotubes via a Ca21-dependent mechanism. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* 279, E1358–E1365. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo. 2000.279.6.E1358
- Zhang, J., Duncker, D. J., Ya, X., Zhang, Y., Pavek, T., Wei, H., et al. (1995). Effect of left ventricular hypertrophy secondary to chronic pressure overload on transmural myocardial 2deoxyglucose uptake. A 31P NMR spectroscopic study. *Circulation* 92, 1274–1283. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.92.5.1274
- Zhong, P., Wu, L., Qian, Y., Fang, Q., Liang, D., Wang, J., et al. (2015). Blockage of ROS and NF-κB-mediated inflammation by a new chalcone L6H9 protects cardiomyocytes from hyperglycemia-induced injuries. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1852, 1230–1241. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2015.02.011

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Trotta, Maisto, Alessio, Hermenean, D'Amico and Di Filippo. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Role of Sodium in Diabetic Cardiomyopathy

Nicolai M. Doliba¹, Andriy M. Babsky² and Mary D. Osbakken^{3*}

¹ Department of Biochemistry and Biophysics, Institute for Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism, School of Medicine, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, United States, ² Department of Biophysics and Bioinformatics, Ivan Franko National University of Lviv, Lviv, Ukraine, ³ School of Biomedical Engineering, Science and Health Systems, Drexel University, Philadelphia, PA, United States

Cardiovascular complications are the major cause of mortality and morbidity in diabetic patients. The changes in myocardial structure and function associated with diabetes are collectively called diabetic cardiomyopathy. Numerous molecular mechanisms have been proposed that could contribute to the development of diabetic cardiomyopathy and have been studied in various animal models of type 1 or type 2 diabetes. The current review focuses on the role of sodium (Na⁺) in diabetic cardiomyopathy and provides unique data on the linkage between Na⁺ flux and energy metabolism, studied with non-invasive ²³Na, and ³¹P-NMR spectroscopy, polarography, and mass spectroscopy. ²³Na NMR studies allow determination of the intracellular and extracellular Na⁺ pools by splitting the total Na⁺ peak into two resonances after the addition of a shift reagent to the perfusate. Using this technology, we found that intracellular Na⁺ is approximately two times higher in diabetic cardiomyocytes than in control possibly due to combined changes in the activity of Na^+-K^+ pump, Na^+/H^+ exchanger 1 (NHE1) and Na⁺-glucose cotransporter. We hypothesized that the increase in Na⁺ activates the mitochondrial membrane Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger, which leads to a loss of intramitochondrial Ca^{2+} , with a subsequent alteration in mitochondrial bioenergetics and function. Using isolated mitochondria, we showed that the addition of Na⁺ (1-10 mM) led to a dose-dependent decrease in oxidative phosphorylation and that this effect was reversed by providing extramitochondrial Ca2+ or by inhibiting the mitochondrial Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger with diltiazem. Similar experiments with ³¹P-NMR in isolated superfused mitochondria embedded in agarose beads showed that Na+ (3-30 mM) led to significantly decreased ATP levels and that this effect was stronger in diabetic rats. These data suggest that in diabetic cardiomyocytes, increased Na⁺ leads to abnormalities in oxidative phosphorylation and a subsequent decrease in ATP levels. In support of these data, using ³¹P-NMR, we showed that the baseline β -ATP and phosphocreatine (PCr) were lower in diabetic cardiomyocytes than in control, suggesting that diabetic cardiomyocytes have depressed bioenergetic function. Thus, both altered intracellular Na⁺ levels and bioenergetics and their interactions may significantly contribute to the pathology of diabetic cardiomyopathy.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Coert J. Zuurbier, Academic Medical Center (AMC), Netherlands

Reviewed by:

Kanigula Mubagwa, KU Leuven, Belgium Wayne Rodney Giles, University of Calgary, Canada

> *Correspondence: Mary D. Osbakken mosbakken@verizon.net

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cardiac Electrophysiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 19 June 2018 Accepted: 28 September 2018 Published: 24 October 2018

Citation:

Doliba NM, Babsky AM and Osbakken MD (2018) The Role of Sodium in Diabetic Cardiomyopathy. Front. Physiol. 9:1473. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01473

Keywords: sodium, calcium-sodium exchanger, NMRS, oxygen consumption, mitochondrial bioenergetics

DIABETIC CARDIOMYOPATHY

Diabetic cardiomyopathy is a multi-faceted disease. Diabetes is associated with an increased incidence of atherosclerotic heart disease, which results in ischemic cardiomyopathy. In addition to ischemic – heart – disease associated cardiomyopathy, there are other metabolic changes in the heart that are not necessarily related to myocardial ischemia. There is altered substrate utilization and mitochondrial dysfunction; insulin resistance; decreased flexibility in substrate use; changes in oxidative phosphorylation and the citric acid cycle; abnormalities in ketogenesis and glucose free fatty acid (FFA) cycling; and altered Ca^{2+} handling (Boudina and Abel, 2010; Veeranki et al., 2016; Jia et al., 2018).

Changes in mitochondrial morphology are associated with remodeling of the mitochondrial proteome and decreased respiratory capacity. There are changes in mitochondrial bioenergetics with decreased phosphocreatine (PCr)/ATP (shown with ³¹P NMR); decreased oxygen consumption and increased H₂O₂ production; defects in the ATP sensitive K⁺ channel (K_{ATP}); mitochondrial uncoupling resulting in increased state 4 respiration and decreased ATP synthesis and increased oxygen consumption without increased ATP production; and mitochondrial generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and lipid peroxides that may activate uncoupling proteins (Boudina and Abel, 2010; Veeranki et al., 2016; Jia et al., 2018).

The combination of these various insults results in left ventricular hypertrophy, interstitial fibrosis, left ventricular diastolic and systolic dysfunction, right ventricular dysfunction, and impaired contractile reserve. The purpose of this paper is to show the importance of maintaining intracellular sodium $([Na^+])$ homeostasis in the heart and to review some of our early work of the effects of diabetes on metabolism (and vice versa) that are related to ion fluxes (Na^+, H^+, Ca^{2+}) .

SODIUM TRANSPORT SYSTEMS IN CARDIOMYOCYTES

Sodium transport processes and [Na⁺] concentration play important roles in cellular function. $[Na^+]_i$ concentration regulates Ca²⁺ cycling, contractility, metabolism, and electrical stability of the heart (Lambert et al., 2015). In the normal cell, there is a large steady-state electrochemical gradient favoring Na⁺ influx. This potential energy is used by numerous transport mechanisms, including Na⁺ channels and transporters which couple Na⁺ influx to either co- or counter-transport of other ions and solutes (Bers et al., 2003). Myocardial $[Na^+]_i$ is determined by the balance between Na^+ influx down a trans-sarcolemmal electrochemical gradient, via Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger, Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger 1 (NHE1), Na⁺/Mg²⁺ exchange, Na⁺/HCO₃⁻ cotransport, Na⁺/K⁺/2Cl⁻ cotransport and Na⁺ channels, and Na⁺ efflux against an electrochemical gradient, mediated by Na⁺/K⁺ pump (Ottolia et al., 2013; Shattock et al., 2015). Under normal conditions, Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchange and Na⁺ channels are the dominant Na⁺ influx pathway; however,

other transporters may become important during pathological conditions. The Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger transports three Na⁺ ions into the cytoplasm in exchange for one Ca^{2+} ion using the energy generated from the Na⁺ gradient as a driving force, and it is one of the main mechanisms for Na⁺ influx in cardiomyocytes (Shattock et al., 2015). The eukaryotic Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger protein, as exemplified by the mammalian cardiac isoform NCX1.1, is organized into 10 transmembrane segments (TMSs; Liao et al., 2012; Ren and Philipson, 2013) and contains a large cytoplasmic loop between TMS 5 and 6 which play a regulatory role (Philipson et al., 2002). Regulation of the mammalian Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger has been clearly shown both at the functional and structural levels. Allosteric regulation of the Na^+/Ca^{2+} exchanger, by cytoplasmic Na^+ and Ca^{2+} ions, occurs from within the large cytoplasmic loop that separates TMS 5 from TMS 6 (Philipson et al., 2002). The structures of the two regulatory domains within this region of the eukaryotic exchanger have been described (Hilge et al., 2006; Nicoll et al., 2006; Besserer et al., 2007; Wu et al., 2010). These two contiguous stretches of residues bind cytoplasmic Ca^{2+} , leading to an increase in exchanger activity (Hilgemann et al., 1992; Matsuoka et al., 1995; Chaptal et al., 2009; Ottolia et al., 2009), and are identified as Ca^{2+} binding domains 1 and 2. Na⁺ ion regulation of the Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger is less well studied; however, it is known that high cytoplasmic Na⁺ inactivates the exchanger (Hilgemann et al., 1992). Whether Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger modulation by cytoplasmic Na⁺ is relevant to cardiac physiology remains to be established since relatively high intracellular Na⁺ concentrations (≥ 20 mM) are required to significantly inactivate the exchanger experimentally (Hilgemann et al., 1992; Matsuoka et al., 1995). Recently, Liu and O'Rourke (2013) revealed a novel mechanism of Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger regulation by cytosolic NADH/NAD+ redox potential through a ROS-generating NADH-driven flavoprotein oxidase. The authors proposed that this mechanism may play key roles in Ca²⁺ homeostasis and the response to the alteration of protein kinase C (PKC) in the cytosolic pyrine nucleotide redox state during cardiovascular diseases, including ischemia-reperfusion (Liu and O'Rourke, 2013). Acting in the opposite direction, the Na⁺/K⁺ pump moves Na⁺ ions from the cytoplasm to the extracellular space against their gradient by utilizing the energy released from ATP hydrolysis. One of the strongest drivers for the activation of the Na⁺/K⁺ pump is the elevation of $[Na^+]_i$ (Shattock et al., 2015). A fine balance between the Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger and the Na⁺/K⁺ pump controls the net amount of $[Na^+]_{i}$ and aberrations in either of these two systems can have a large impact on cardiac function (Shattock et al., 2015). While the relevance of Ca²⁺ homeostasis in cardiac function has been extensively investigated (Ottolia et al., 2013), the role of Na⁺ regulation in heart function and metabolism is often overlooked. Small changes in the cytoplasmic Na⁺ content have multiple effects on the heart by influencing intracellular Ca2+ and pH levels thereby modulating heart contractility and function. Therefore, it is essential for heart cells to maintain Na⁺ homeostasis. Despite the large amount of work done in the evaluation of Na⁺ transport, there is little data that defines the metabolic support (oxidative phosphorylation, glycolysis, and ATPase

activity) of Na⁺ transport under normal and pathophysiological conditions.

[Na⁺]_i and Na⁺ transport are altered in several diseases, including diabetes mellitus (DM) (Kjeldsen et al., 1987; Makino et al., 1987; Warley, 1991; Regan et al., 1992; Schaffer et al., 1997; Devereux et al., 2000; Hattori et al., 2000; Taegtmeyer et al., 2002; Villa-Abrille et al., 2008; Young et al., 2009; Boudina and Abel, 2010). It has been shown in heart failure myocytes, that resting $[Na^+]_i$ was increased from 5.2 \pm 1.4 to 16.8 \pm 3.1 mmol/L (Liu and O'Rourke, 2008). Decreased activity of the Na⁺/K⁺ pump (Greene, 1986; Kjeldsen et al., 1987; Hansen et al., 2007) and Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger (Chattou et al., 1999; Hattori et al., 2000) were reported in hearts from animals with type 1 diabetes (T1DM). Many studies have also shown that the function and/ or expression of the Na^+/K^+ pump is reduced in cardiac hypertrophy (Pogwizd et al., 2003; Boguslavskyi et al., 2014). Previously shown, the Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger protein and mRNA expression levels were significantly depressed in diabetic animal models (Makino et al., 1987; Hattori et al., 2000) and Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger activity, but not mRNA, was decreased in streptozotocin-treated neonatal rats (Schaffer et al., 1997). Because the Na^+/Ca^{2+} exchanger is the main mechanism for systolic Ca²⁺ removal, the significant reduction in exchanger activity could increase intracellular Ca²⁺ and may contribute to diabetic cardiomyopathy as a result of altered diastolic Ca²⁺ removal (Dhalla et al., 1985; Villa-Abrille et al., 2008). It has been shown that the Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger activity can be restored by insulin (Villa-Abrille et al., 2008). The myocardial NHE1 was found to be enhanced in the hypertrophied Goto-Kakizaki diabetic rat heart (Darmellah et al., 2007) and led to higher [Na⁺]_i gain during ischemia-reperfusion (Kuo et al., 1983; Pieper et al., 1984; Pierce and Dhalla, 1985; Tanaka et al., 1992; Williams and Howard, 1994; Doliba et al., 1997; Avkiran, 1999; Xiao and Allen, 1999; Babsky et al., 2002; Anzawa et al., 2006, 2012; Williams et al., 2007). It has been suggested that elevated glucose concentrations in DM significantly influence vascular NHE1 activity via glucose induced PKC-dependent mechanisms, thereby providing a biochemical basis for increased NHE1 activity in the vascular tissues of patients with hypertension and DM (Williams and Howard, 1994). In work done by David Allen's group, it was demonstrated that the major pathway for Na⁺ entry during ischemia appears to be the so-called persistent Na⁺ channel and the major pathway for Na⁺ entry on reperfusion is NHE1 (Xiao and Allen, 1999; Williams et al., 2007). These changes in $[Na^+]_i$ affect the Na^+/Ca^{2+} exchanger and contribute to Ca²⁺ influx and to ROS generation, which are the major causes of ischemia/reperfusion damage (Avkiran, 1999). It has been also shown that Na⁺-glucose cotransport is enhanced in type 2 diabetes (T2DM), which increases Na⁺ influx and causes [Na⁺]_i overload (Lambert et al., 2015).

One of the causes of altered Na^+ transport and increased $[Na^+]_i$ concentration can be related to the downregulation of bioenergetics. For example, in diabetes, alterations in oxidative phosphorylation may compromise ion transport (Kuo et al., 1983; Pieper et al., 1984; Pierce and Dhalla, 1985; Tanaka et al., 1992; Doliba et al., 1997). Sarcolemmal Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase function may also be depressed or down-regulated due to increased serum and

intracellular fatty acids (Pieper et al., 1984). Resultant changes in intracellular cation concentrations, specifically Na⁺ and Ca²⁺, may in turn cause changes in cellular metabolism (Makino et al., 1987; Allo et al., 1991). In addition, changes in local (autocrine and paracrine) and circulating neurohormones, such as ouabain (OUA)-like (Blaustein, 1993) and natriuretic factors (Kramer et al., 1991), can exacerbate the initial changes in ion transport and result in functional abnormalities found in diabetes.

This review discusses the interdependence of Na⁺ transport and bioenergetics in the cardiac myocyte. While an energy deficit effects Na⁺ transport, on other hand, $[Na^+]_i$ has a strong effect on bioenergetics as evidenced by decreased free concentration of ATP and PCr and reduced mitochondrial respiration and oxidative phosphorylation related to changes in $[Na^+]_i$.

CARDIOMYOCYTE STUDIES IN DIABETIC HEARTS

Dr. Osbakken's laboratory employed unique non-invasive nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy (NMRS) methods for the simultaneous assessment of [Na⁺]_i by ²³Na NMRS and adenine nucleotides by ³¹phosphorus (³¹P) NMRS in cardiomyocytes embedded in agarose beads (Ivanics et al., 1994; Doliba et al., 1998, 2000). ²³Na NMRS allows for the determination of total Na⁺ signal, and [Na⁺]_i and extracellular Na^+ ($[Na^+]_e$) pools by splitting into two resonances after the addition of a shift reagent to the perfusate (Doliba et al., 1998; Doliba et al., 2000; Holloway et al., 2011). This method allowed evaluation of changes in [Na⁺]_i in a rat model of streptozotocininduced DM. Streptozotocin was injected intraperitoneally (60 mg/kg body wt, dissolved in citrate buffer). Myocytes were harvested four weeks after streptozotocin injection. It was found that the baseline [Na⁺]_i in DM cardiomyocytes increased to 0.076 ± 0.01 mmoles/mg protein (or 16.37 mmol/L) from control (Con) levels of 0.04 \pm 0.01 mmoles/mg protein (or 9.3 mmol/L); P < 0.05 (Doliba et al., 2000). This observation is similarly reported for heart failure myocytes (Liu and O'Rourke, 2008). Of note, in DM, baseline ATP and PCr were lower compared to Con (peak area/methylene diphosphonate standard area; Doliba et al., 2000): ATP-Con: 0.67 ± 0.08, ATP-DM: 0.31 ± 0.06 , P < 0.003; PCr-Con: 0.92 ± 0.08 ; PCr-DM: 0.46 ± 0.12 , P < 0.009. This suggests that DM cardiomyocytes have depressed bioenergetics function, which may contribute to abnormal Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase function and thus result in increased $[Na^+]_i$.

To further explore these findings, we measured ²³Na and ³¹P spectra from superfused cardiomyocytes subjected to three metabolic inhibitors: 2-deoxyglucose (2DG), 2, 4-dinitrophenol (DNP), and OUA (**Figures 1A,B**; Doliba et al., 2000).

Inhibition of glycolysis with 2-DG was associated with minimal or no change in $[Na^+]_i$ in DM cardiomyocytes compared to an increase in $[Na^+]_i$ in Con cardiomyocytes (DM 2DG: $-4.6 \pm 6\%$, Con 2-DG: $32.9 \pm 8.1\% p < 0.05$). The Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase inhibitor, OUA, produced a smaller change from baseline in $[Na^+]_i$ in DM cardiomyocytes compared to Con (DM OUA 21.2 \pm 9.2%; vs Con OUA: $50.5 \pm 8.8\% p < 0.05$;



FIGURE 1 | (A) A typical 23Na spectra obtained from control rat cardiomyocytes showing intra- and extra-cellular sodium during baseline conditions and during administration of 2-deoxyglucose (2-DG, 10 mM); 2,4-dinitrophenol (DNP, 10-4 M); and ouabain (OUA, 100 μ M). **(B)** Effects of 2-DG, DNP, and OUA on ³¹P spectra obtained from control rat cardiomyocytes (typical spectra presented). MDP, methylene diphosphonate standard; PME, phosphomonoester; Pi, inorganic phosphate; PCr, phosphocreatine; ATP, adenosine triphosphate (α , γ , β); Na_i, intracellular sodium; Na₀, extracellular sodium. Data reprinted with permission from Doliba et al. (2000) Translated from Biokhimiya. 2000:65(4) 590-97. Copyright 2000 by MAIK "Nauka/Interperiodica"; DOI 0006-2979/00/6504-0502\$25.00; Copyright permission granted by Pleiades Publishing, LLC.

Doliba et al., 2000). However, despite this apparent lower effect of OUA on DM cardiomyocytes, the absolute $[Na^+]_i$ after treatment with OUA was still 41% higher in DM cardiomyocytes compared to control due to the higher baseline $[Na^+]_i$.

In both animal models, uncoupling of oxidative phosphorylation with DNP was associated with similar large increases in $[Na^+]_i$; Con, 119.0 \pm 26.9%; DM, 138.2 \pm 12.6 (Figure 1A).

Figure 1B presents examples of ³¹P-NMR spectra for control cardiomyocytes obtained during baseline and 2-DG, OUA, and DNP interventions. In control cardiomyocytes, 2-DG caused a 26.4 \pm 4.8% decrease of β -ATP and 35.4 \pm 4.9% decrease of PCr compared to baseline. In diabetic cardiomyocytes, 2-DG caused slightly smaller decreases in β -ATP (16.2 \pm 5.9%) and PCr (27.96 \pm 1.7%) when compared to control. Uncoupling of oxidative phosphorylation with DNP caused apparent complete depletion (i.e., to total NMR invisibility) of both β -ATP and PCr (-100%) in both control and diabetic cardiomyocytes. The large [Na⁺]_i increase due to DNP intervention suggests that both groups of cardiomyocytes require oxidative ATP synthesis to support the cell membrane ion gradient.

Unexpectedly, inhibition of Na, K-ATPase with OUA produced minimal change in bioenergetic parameters in cardiomyocytes from both animal models.

In diabetic cardiomyocytes, the decreased response of $[Na^+]_i$ to OUA and 2-DG can be related to prior inhibition of Na^+/K^+ pump (Greene, 1986; Kjeldsen et al., 1987; Hansen et al., 2007) and glycolysis (Boden et al., 1996; Boden, 1997).

ISOLATED MITOCHONDRIAL STUDIES IN DIABETIC HEARTS

The [Na⁺]_i is tightly coupled to Ca²⁺ homeostasis and is increasingly recognized as a modulating force of cellular excitability, frequency adaptation, and cardiac contractility (Faber and Rudy, 2000; Grandi et al., 2010; Despa and Bers, 2013; Clancy et al., 2015). Mitochondrial ATP production is continually adjusted to energy demand through increases in oxidative phosphorylation and NADH production mediated by mitochondrial Ca²⁺ (Liu and O'Rourke, 2008). Mitochondria in cardiac myocytes have been recognized as a Ca²⁺ storage site, as well as functioning as energy providers that synthesize a large proportion of ATP required for maintaining heart function. In cardiac mitochondria, Ca²⁺ uptake and removal are mainly mediated via the mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uniporter and the mitochondrial Na^+/Ca^{2+} exchanger (mNa⁺/Ca²⁺) (Gunter and Pfeiffer, 1990; Bernardi, 1999; Brookes et al., 2004; Liu and O'Rourke, 2008; Palty et al., 2010), respectively. The Ca²⁺ concentration for half-Vmax of the Ca²⁺ uniporter was estimated as \sim 10-20 mM in studies of isolated mitochondria, which far exceeds cytosolic Ca²⁺ (1-3 mM; Liu and O'Rourke, 2009). By catalyzing Na⁺-dependent Ca²⁺ efflux, the putative electrogenic mNa⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger plays a fundamental role in regulating mitochondrial Ca²⁺ homeostasis (Gunter and Gunter, 2001; Liu and O'Rourke, 2008), oxidative phosphorylation (Cox and Matlib, 1993a,b; Cox et al., 1993; Liu and O'Rourke, 2008), and Ca²⁺ crosstalk among mitochondria, cytoplasm, and the endoplasmic reticulum (ER; Szabadkai et al., 2006). The dependence of the mNa⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger on [Na⁺]_i is sigmoidal with half-maximal velocity (K_{0.5}) at \sim 5–10 mM, which covers the range of physiological $[Na^+]_i$ in the heart (Bers et al., 2003; Saotome et al., 2005). Mitochondrial Ca²⁺ activates matrix dehydrogenases (pyruvate dehydrogenase, α -ketoglutarate dehydrogenase, and the NAD⁺-linked isocitrate dehydrogenase) (Hansford and Castro, 1985; McCormack et al., 1990; Balaban, 2002; Gunter et al., 2004) and may also activate F₀/F₁-ATPase (Yamada and Huzel, 1988; Territo et al., 2000, 2001), and the adenine nucleotide translocase (ANT; Moreno-Sanchez, 1985). The $K_{0.5}$ for Ca^{2+} activation of these three dehydrogenases is in the range of 0.7-1 mM (McCormack et al., 1990; Hansford, 1991). The overall effect of elevated mitochondrial Ca²⁺ may be the upregulation of oxidative phosphorylation and the acceleration of ATP synthesis (McCormack et al., 1990; Balaban, 2002; Matsuoka et al., 2004; Jo et al., 2006). Activation of Ca^{2+} -dependent dehydrogenases by Ca²⁺ increases NADH production, which is the primary electron donor of the electron transport chain. NADH/NAD⁺ potential is the driving force of oxidative phosphorylation and an increase in NADH/NAD⁺ potential leads to a linear increase of maximal respiration rate in isolated heart mitochondria (Moreno-Sanchez, 1985; Mootha et al., 1997). On the other hand, the excessive rise in mitochondrial Ca²⁺ triggers the mitochondrial permeability transition pore (PTP), resulting in pathological cell injury and death (Hajnoczky et al., 2006). Insufficient mitochondrial Ca²⁺ accumulation, secondary to cytoplasmic Na⁺ overload, decreases NAD(P)H/NAD(P)⁺ redox potential, resulting in compromised NADH supply for oxidative phosphorylation (Liu and O'Rourke, 2008). Since NADPH is required to maintain matrix antioxidant pathway flux, its oxidation causes a cellular overload of ROS (Kohlhaas and Maack, 2010; Kohlhaas et al., 2010; Liu et al., 2010; Clancy et al., 2015). ROS accumulation then contributes to oxidative modification of Ca²⁺ handling and ion channel targets to promote arrhythmias. This cascade of failures, stemming from [Na⁺]_i overload, is thus hypothesized to provoke triggered arrhythmias (Liu et al., 2010), which, in the context of the altered electrophysiological substrate in HF,

may induce sudden cardiac death (SCD). Interestingly, chronic inhibition of the mNa⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger during the induction of HF prevents these mitochondrial defects and abrogates cardiac decompensation and sudden death in a guinea pig model of HF/SCD (Liu et al., 2014). Therefore, the mitochondrial Ca²⁺ concentration must be kept within the proper range to maintain physiological mitochondrial function.

To further evaluate the pathophysiology of DM, our group studied mitochondrial respiratory function [state 3 and state 4 respiration, respiratory control index (RCI), ADP/O ratio, and rate of oxidative phosphorylation (ROP), using different substrates, and ion transport (calcium uptake)] in DM hearts compared to Con hearts. State 3 and RCI and ROP of DM rat heart were decreased when using pyruvate plus malate as substrates (Table 1; Doliba et al., 1997; Babsky et al., 2001). State 3 and ROP were also decreased when α -ketoglutarate was used as substrate (Table 1). The phosphorylation capacity, expressed as ADP/O ratio, appeared to be normal with both sets of substrates. The greatest decrease in substrate oxidation was observed with pyruvate, suggesting that pyruvate dehydrogenase activity is depressed in DM. It should be pointed out that in DM mitochondria, the decrease in state 3 was dependent on the concentration of pyruvate; and that the Km for pyruvate was higher in DM (0.058 \pm 0.01 mM) compared to Con (0.0185 ± 0.0014) , with no significant difference in V_{max} (Doliba et al., 1997). RCI was decreased approximately 35% at all pyruvate concentrations.

To determine whether changes in Ca^{2+} transport might be the cause of change in oxidative function presented above, state 3 respiration was initially stimulated by ADP, and then by CaCl₂ in Con and DM mitochondria during pyruvate plus malate oxidation; Ca^{2+} uptake was recorded using the change in H⁺ flux (i.e., $Ca^{2+}/2H^+$ exchange; **Figure 2**; Doliba et al., 1997). Stimulation of oxygen consumption by ADP or Ca²⁺ was approximately 50% lower in DM mitochondria compared to Con. In order to measure Ca^{2+} capacity, 100 mM CaCl₂ was added to the incubation medium and Ca²⁺ uptake was followed by changes in pH. In contrast to Con mitochondria, mitochondria from DM animals did not completely consume even the first

	Rate of respiration (ng-atoms of O/min/mg protein)		Respiratory control		Rate of oxidative phosphorylation,	
	State 3	State 4	(State 3/State 4)	ADP/O ratio	(nmoles ADP/s/mg protein)	
Pyruvate						
Con	192.50+16.09	29.36+4.68	6.70+1.20	2.79+0.18	9.10+1.57	
DM	115.29+18.15*	26.44+5.01	4.40+0.54*	2.74+0.24	5.07+1.42*	
α-Ketoglutarate						
Con	174.26+4.59	16.11+2.68	11.76+1.63	2.86+0.26	8.09+0.65	
DM	156.81+3.45*	14.28+2.83	11.58+1.86	2.71+0.18	6.58+0.20*	

Mitochondria (1.2 mg of protein in mL) were prepared as described earlier (Doliba et al., 1998); respiration in state 3 was measured in the presence of 0.3 mM-ADP, and respiration in state 4 was measured after ADP was completely phosphorylated. Data reprinted by permission from Nature/Springer/Palgrave: (Doliba et al., 1997). *Significantly different from control $P \leq 0.01$. Copyright 1997 by Springer Nature; License Number 4385511236859. Originally published by Plenum Press, New York 1997 (DOI 10987654321).



FIGURE 2 [ADP and Ca²⁺-stimulated respiration of mitochondria from control and diabetic rats. Mitochondria (2 mg) were added to assay medium supplemented with 3 mM pyruvate plus 2.5 mM malate. ADP (0.3 mM) or CaCl₂ (50 μ M) was used to initiate state 3 respiration and Ca-uptake. Ca²⁺ uptake by mitochondria was monitored by using the change in H⁺ flux. Stimulation of oxygen consumption by ADP or Ca²⁺ was approximately 50% lower in DM mitochondria compared to Con. Data reprinted by permission from Nature/Springer/Palgrave: Doliba et al. (1997). Copyright 1997 by Springer Nature; License Number 4385511236859. Originally published by Plenum Press, New York 1997 (DOI 10987654321).

addition of CaCl₂. These data suggest that the Ca^{2+} capacity in heart in DM rats is greatly decreased compared to Con.

RESPIRATORY FUNCTION AND SUBSTRATE USE STUDIED BY MASS SPECTROSCOPY

Previous studies in our laboratory and laboratories of other investigators have shown abnormalities in pyruvate oxidation in animal models of DM, possibly related to effects of abnormal Ca^{2+} content on enzymes such as pyruvate dehydrogenase. To evaluate the possible role of abnormal pyruvate dehydrogenase function on respiratory function of heart mitochondria from diabetic rats, mass spectroscopy determination of O₂ consumption and ${}^{13}C^{16}O_2$ production from $[1-{}^{13}]$ pyruvate were measured in heart mitochondria from Con (n = 8) and DM (4 weeks after streptozotocin injection; n = 8) rats (Doliba et al., 1997). **Figure 3** presents the time course of ${}^{13}C^{16}O_2$ production (curve 1) and oxygen consumption (MVO₂) (curve 2) during oxidation of $[1-{}^{13}C]$ pyruvate by heart mitochondria from Con and DM rats (Doliba et al., 1997). Both the ${}^{13}C^{16}O_2$ production and MVO₂ stimulated by ADP (**Figure 3A**) or carbonilcyanide p-triflouromethoxyphenylhydrazone (FCCP), an uncoupler of respiration and oxidative phosphorylation (**Figure 3B**), were much less in DM mitochondria compared to Con (with ADP, 35–50% less; FCCP, 20–30% less). Addition of Ca²⁺ caused minimal changes in ${}^{13}C^{16}O_2$ production in DM; whereas Ca²⁺ increased ${}^{13}C^{16}O_2$ production by 33–40% in Con (**Figure 4**; Doliba et al., 1997). This lack of stimulation of a key enzyme by Ca²⁺ may be a factor in the development and progression of pathophysiological sequelae in DM and may be related to abnormal Ca²⁺ transport function. The data presented in the next two paragraphs suggest that abnormal mitochondrial Ca²⁺ transport and bioenergetics in DM cardiac mitochondria can be related to abnormalities in Na⁺ flux.

Na⁺ Regulation of Mitochondrial Energetics: DM Modeling Effort

Previous data reported above, and by others suggest that the etiology of DM end organ damage may be related to abnormalities in Na^+ transport. We and others (Cox and



FIGURE 3 | ¹³C¹⁶O₂ production (Boudina and Abel, 2010) and O₂ consumption (MVO₂) (Veeranki et al., 2016) during oxidation of [1-¹³C] pyruvate by heart mitochondria from control and diabetic rats. (A) ¹³C¹⁶O₂ production and MVO₂ after addition of ADP. (B) ¹³C¹⁶O₂ production and MVO₂ after addition of FCCP to uncouple oxidative phosphorylation. Both the ¹³C¹⁶O₂ production and MVO₂ stimulated by ADP FCCP were much less in DM mitochondria compared to Con. Data reprinted by permission from Nature/Springer/Palgrave: Doliba et al. (1997). Copyright 1997 by Springer Nature; License Number 4385511236859. Originally published by Plenum Press, New York 1997 (DOI 10987654321).



FIGURE 4 The effect of Ca²⁺ on CO₂ production in Con (black squares) and DM mitochondria (open squares). Addition of Ca²⁺ caused minimal changes in ¹³C¹⁶O₂ production in DM; whereas Ca²⁺ increased ¹³C¹⁶O₂ production by 33–40% in Con. Data reprinted by permission from Nature/Springer/ Palgrave: Doliba et al. (1997). Copyright 1997 by Springer Nature; License Number 4385511236859. Originally published by Plenum Press, New York 1997 (DOI 10987654321).

Matlib, 1993b; Cox et al., 1993; Maack et al., 2006; Liu and O'Rourke, 2008) proposed that increased $[Na^+]_i$ is involved in the regulation of mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation through the Ca²⁺ metabolism. Mitochondrial Ca²⁺ ($[Ca^{2+}]_m$) plays a key role in linking ATP production to ATP demand

(i.e., mechanical activity) and as Ca^{2+} rises in the cell, so does $[Ca^{2+}]_m$; this activates mitochondrial enzymes to stepup ATP production (Liu and O'Rourke, 2008; Kohlhaas and Maack, 2010). This relationship, which crucially matches ATP supply to demand, is blocked when $[Na^+]_i$ is elevated (Liu et al., 2010). The rise in $[Na^+]_i$ activates Na^+/Ca^{2+} exchange in the inner mitochondrial membrane and keeps $[Ca^{2+}]_m$ low preventing ATP supply from meeting demand, leaving the heart metabolically compromised. Not only might this contribute to the known metabolic insufficiency in failing hearts but Kohlhaas et al. (2010) have shown that this mechanism increases mitochondrial free radical formation in failing hearts, further exacerbating injury.

To test this hypothesis, different concentrations of NaCl (in mM: 0.05; 0.1; 0.5; 1; 3; 10) were added to Con and DM mitochondria while respiratory function was monitored (Babsky et al., 2001); 1 mM a-ketoglutarate was used as substrate and mitochondrial respiration was stimulated by 200 mM ADP. Ruthenium red (1 mM), a blocker of Ca^{2+} uptake, was added to the polarographic cell before Na⁺ was added. Na⁺ in concentrations higher than 0.5–1 mM significantly decreased ADP-stimulated mitochondria oxygen consumption (**Figure 5**; Babsky et al., 2001). Mitochondria from DM rats were more sensitive to increasing extramitochondrial Na⁺ as demonstrated by more rapid and larger decrease in state 3 respiration (Babsky et al., 2001). The decrease in state 3 in both Con and DM mitochondria was abolished by addition of 10 mM CaCl₂ to the



polarographic cell before adding NaCl (Babsky et al., 2001). Our data agree with the studies of O'Rourke and colleagues who have shown that the elevation of $[Na^+]_i$ can impair mitochondrial energetics (Liu and O'Rourke, 2008, 2013; Kohlhaas et al., 2010; Liu et al., 2010).

Effect of Na⁺ on Adenine Nucleotides and Pi in Con and DM Mitochondria

In support of polarographic data, we used ³¹P NMRS to study the influence of different concentrations of NaCl on ATP synthesis in mitochondria isolated from Con and DM (Babsky et al., 2001). Exposure of DM mitochondria superfused at a rate of 2.7 cc/min with buffer containing Na⁺ (5–30 mM) led to greater decreases of β -ATP/Pi ratio than that found in Con (**Figure 6A**; Babsky et al., 2001). Diltiazem (DLTZ), an inhibitor of mitochondrial Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchange, abolished the Na⁺ (5–30 mM) initiated decrease of β -ATP in DM mitochondria and

reduced the increase of Pi with resultant values of β -ATP/Pi similar in both Con and DM mitochondria (**Figure 6B**; Babsky et al., 2001).

ISCHEMIA, PRECONDITIONING (IPC), AND THE DIABETIC HEART

One of most important factors of diabetic cardiomyopathy is post-ischemic myocardial injury that is associated with oxygen free radical generation, intracellular acidosis, bioenergetic depletion, as well as with abnormalities in Na⁺, H⁺, and Ca^{2+} -transport in cardiomyocytes. Ca^{2+} overload and ischemic acidosis are also important intracellular alterations that could cause damage to ischemic cardiomyocytes (Bouchard et al., 2000). Sodium ions are involved in regulating both H⁺ and Ca^{2+} levels in cardiomyocytes through NHE1, Na⁺/Ca²⁺, Na⁺-K⁺-2Cl⁻, and Cl⁻/HCO₃⁻ ion transporters. Furthermore, Na⁺ is an important regulator of bioenergetic processes in healthy and diseased cardiomyocytes (Babsky et al., 2001).

Ischemic preconditioning (IPC) is a powerful protective mechanism by which exposure to prior episodes of ischemia protects the myocardium against longer and more severe ischemic insults (Murry et al., 1986). The relationship between DM and myocardial IPC is not yet clear (Miki et al., 2012). Some studies have demonstrated that diabetes may impair IPC by producing changes in both sarcolemmal and mitochondrial K-ATP channels, which then alters mitochondrial function (Hassouna et al., 2006). These changes may lead to an elevated superoxide production which produces cellular injuries.

Ishihara et al. (2001) show in 611 patients (including 121 patients with non-insulin treated diabetes) that DM prevents the IPC effect in patients with an acute myocardial infarction. However, a study of Rezende et al. (2015) showed that T2DM was not associated with impairment in IPC in coronary artery disease patients. In fact, there is some evidence that prior short episodes of ischemia that can often occur in the diabetic heart





are the substrate for IPC, whereby the heart is protected during longer episode of ischemia.

Tsang et al. (2005) hypothesized that in diabetic hearts, IPC depends on intact signaling through the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K)-Akt pro-survival pathway. The authors concluded that diabetic hearts are less sensitive to the IPC protective effects related to defective components in the PI3k-Akt pathway. For example, in animal models of diabetes, exposure to more prior episodes of IPC were needed to activate PI3K-Akt to a critical level and thus provide cardioprotection during exposure to longer episodes of ischemia-reperfusion than in Con.

Our group studied the effect of IPC on [Na⁺]_i levels in isolated perfused rat hearts (Figure 7; Babsky et al., 2002). We have shown that 20 min ischemia increased the [Na⁺]_i in Con hearts by \sim 50% compared to baseline. During 10-20 min of post-ischemic reperfusion the [Na⁺]_i significantly decreased, but was still ~20% higher compared to baseline levels. Even though IPC significantly improved the post-ischemic recovery of cardiac function (LVDP and heart rate), unexpectedly the [Na⁺]_i levels were higher than Con at end IPC, and during ischemia, and were similar to Con during reperfusion. These results are in agreement with the data reported by Ramasamy et al. (1995). While our studies did not include a DM model, Ramasamy's studies did; and showed that the % change in [Na⁺]_i from baseline was lower during ischemia in DM than in Con, and that the effect of the NHE1 inhibitor EIPA (similar to preconditioning ischemia) was less in DM than in Con. This suggests that the NHE1 activity was impaired in DM. The topic of NHE1 and ischemia is discussed further below.

Although diabetes mostly poses higher cardiovascular risk, the pathophysiology underlying this condition is uncertain. Moreover, though diabetes is believed to alter intracellular pathways related to myocardial protective mechanisms, it is still controversial whether diabetes may interfere with IPC, and whether this might influence clinical outcomes. We believe that ischemia developed in diabetic heart does not produce the same conditions that are developed in animal models when twothree 5-min ischemic episodes are each followed by 5–10 min of reperfusion. This difference may be a reason for the many controversies concerning relationship of IPC and the diabetic heart.

To conclude this discussion, it is likely that the changes in $[Na^+]_i$ may contribute to ischemic and reperfusion damage, possibly through their effects on Ca^{2+} overload (Allen and Xiao, 2003; Xiao and Allen, 2003; Williams et al., 2007).

ISCHEMIA AND NHE1

Ischemic conditions may activate the NHE1. There are data that show that hyperactivity of NHE1 results of the increase in $[Na^+]_i$ that leads to Ca^{2+} overload through the Na^+/Ca^{2+} exchanger, myocardial dysfunction, hypertrophy, apoptosis, and heart failure (Cingolani and Ennis, 2007). David Allen's group showed that two inhibitors of NHE1, amiloride and zoniporide, cause cardioprotection which was judged by the recovery of LVDP and by the magnitude of the reperfusion contracture (Williams et al., 2007). The authors also showed that there were two different mechanisms for Na⁺ entry during ischemia and



1535-3702/02/2277-0520\$15.00.
reperfusion: a major pathway for Na⁺ entry during ischemia is the persistent Na⁺ channels (I_{Na,P}) and the major pathway for Na⁺ entry on reperfusion is NHE1 (Williams et al., 2007). The optimal therapy may require blocking both pathways. Pisarenko et al. (2005) show that inhibition of NHE1, similar to IPC, protects rat heart. In rabbit hearts, inhibition of NHE1 has been shown to be associated with significant protection during ischemia/reperfusion injury in immature myocardium, mostly by reducing myocardial calcium overload (Cun et al., 2007; Zhou et al., 2008). Furthermore, NHE1 inhibition leads to a decrease of infarct size after coronary artery thrombosis and thrombolysis and provides a comparable to preconditioning degree of cardioprotection against 60 min of regional ischemia (Hennan et al., 2006). NHE1 inhibition attenuates the cardiac hypertrophic response and heart failure in various experimental models. For example, early and transient administration of a NHE1 inhibitor inhibits cardiomyocyte hypertrophy in cultured cells, as well as in vivo cardiac hypertrophy and heart failure, suggesting a critical early NHE1-dependent initiation of hypertrophy (Kilic et al., 2014). However, in a dog model, one NHE1 inhibitor such as EMD 87580 did not protect against ischemia-reperfusion injury, and no additive protection beyond preconditioning was obtained (Kingma, 2018). It appears that NHE1 activity has a biphasic effect on myocardial function. Total blockage of activity provides a beneficial effect, but overexpression also provides cardioprotection. It is important to point out that the mitochondrial KATP channel also plays an important role during ischemia and reperfusion damage (Garlid et al., 1997; Sato and Marban, 2000). The mitochondrial damage, which is in part a consequence of closure of KATP channels, can be partially reversed by mitochondrial KATP channel openers (Xiao and Allen, 2003). Combined treatment of NHE1 by Cariporide and KATP channels by diazoxide provide the most beneficial effect (Xiao and Allen, 2003).

It is interesting to note that the cardioprotective effects of the NHE1 inhibitor, Cariporide, were tested in several clinical trials to protect the heart from ischemia during coronary artery bypass surgery (CABG; Boyce et al., 2003; Mentzer et al., 2008). While Cariporide (at its highest dose of 120 mg) provided protection against all-cause mortality and myocardial infarction at day 36 and 6 months after CABG compared to placebo, there was an increased mortality in the form of cerebrovascular events. Thus, Cariporide was not further developed for clinical use as a cardioprotection agent.

SODIUM TRANSPORT INHIBITORS IN TREATMENT OF DIABETIC CARDIOMYOPATHY

The NHE1 are integral membrane proteins that may have multiple activities in the heart. Nine different NHEs have been identified. NHE1 is the major isoform found in the heart, and plays an integral role in regulation if intracellular pH, Na^+ and Ca^{2+} . Aberrant regulation and over-activation of NHE1 can

contribute to heart disease and appears to be involved in acute ischemia–reperfusion damage and cardiac hypertrophy. Changes in intracellular pH related to changes in NHE1 function can stimulate the Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger to eliminate intracellular Na⁺ and increase intracellular Ca²⁺ (Levitsky et al., 1998; Odunewu-Aderibigbe and Fliegel, 2014).

Pharmacological overload caused by angiotensin II, endothelin-1, and a1-adrenergic agonists can enhance the activity of the NHE1, which leads to an extrusion of H^+ and an increase in intracellular Na⁺. Inhibition of NHE1 can reverse these effects and lead to regression of myocardial hypertrophy that can produce a beneficial effect in heart failure, and can protect against ischemic injury in genetic diabetic rat and non-diabetic rat hearts. However, at present, there are no NHE1 inhibitors that have been found to be therapeutically useful in the treatment of heart disease (Ramasamy and Schaefer, 1999; Cingolani and Ennis, 2007).

More recently, during studies of newer anti-diabetic drugs on cardiac function, it was found that Na⁺-glucose exchangers used in the treatment of diabetes provided significant cardiac protection. Further investigation into the potential etiology of this protection suggests that at least one of these drugs, Empagliflozin (EMPA) may produce this affect via inhibition of NHE1. This protective effect is apparently unrelated to EMPA effect on HbA1C. In two animal models (rabbit and rat), the effect appears to be related to decreases in cytoplasmic Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ and an increase in mitochondrial Ca²⁺. It is unclear what the effects are due to in humans, but some evidence suggests that they may be similar (Baartscheer et al., 2017; Lytvyn et al., 2017; Packer, 2017; Packer et al., 2017; Bertero et al., 2018; Inzucchi et al., 2018).

SUMMARY

The data presented in this review paper suggest that while changes in bioenergetic function may be a cause of ion transport abnormalities, it is as likely that abnormalities of ion content and transport may contribute to metabolic (bioenergetics and respiratory function) abnormalities. The results also suggest that increased $[Na^+]_i$ concentration in DM cardiomyocytes may be a factor, leading to chronically decreased myocardial bioenergetics. Further studies in this area may provide insight into some possible cellular and mitochondrial mechanisms which contribute to progressive pathophysiological processes as disease progresses and may set the stage for better therapies in future.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

ND contributed to five sections related to sodium transport and cellular and mitochondrial bioenergetics, AB to "Effect of Sodium on Adenine Nucleotides and Pi", AB and MO to "Ischemia and NHE1" and "Ischemia, Preconditioning and the Diabetic Heart", MO to "Diabetes Cardiomyopathy" and "Sodium Transport Inhibitors in Treatment of Diabetic Cardiomyopathy."

REFERENCES

- Allen, D. G., and Xiao, X. H. (2003). Role of the cardiac Na + /H + exchanger during ischemia and reperfusion. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 57, 934–941. doi: 10.1016/ S0008-6363(02)00836-2
- Allo, S. N., Lincoln, T. M., Wilson, G. L., Green, F. J., Watanabe, A. M., and Schaffer, S. W. (1991). Non-insulin-dependent diabetes-induced defects in cardiac cellular calcium regulation. *Am. J. Physiol.* 260(6 Pt 1), C1165–C1171. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.1991.260.6.C1165
- Anzawa, R., Bernard, M., Tamareille, S., Baetz, D., Confort-Gouny, S., Gascard, J. P., et al. (2006). Intracellular sodium increase and susceptibility to ischaemia in hearts from type 2 diabetic db/db mice. *Diabetologia* 49, 598–606. doi: 10. 1007/s00125-005-0091-5
- Anzawa, R., Seki, S., Nagoshi, T., Taniguchi, I., Feuvray, D., and Yoshimura, M. (2012). The role of Na + /H + exchanger in Ca2 + overload and ischemic myocardial damage in hearts from type 2 diabetic db/db mice. *Cardiovasc. Diabetol.* 11:33. doi: 10.1186/1475-2840-11-33
- Avkiran, M. (1999). Rational basis for use of sodium-hydrogen exchange inhibitors in myocardial ischemia. Am. J. Cardiol. 83, 10G–17G; discussion 17G–18G.
- Baartscheer, A., Schumacher, C. A., Wust, R. C., Fiolet, J. W., Stienen, G. J., Coronel, R., et al. (2017). Empagliflozin decreases myocardial cytoplasmic Na(+) through inhibition of the cardiac Na(+)/H(+) exchanger in rats and rabbits. *Diabetologia* 60, 568–573. doi: 10.1007/s00125-016-4134-x
- Babsky, A., Doliba, N., Doliba, N., Savchenko, A., Wehrli, S., and Osbakken, M. (2001). Na + effects on mitochondrial respiration and oxidative phosphorylation in diabetic hearts. *Exp. Biol. Med.* 226, 543–551. doi: 10.1177/153537020122600606
- Babsky, A., Hekmatyar, S., Wehrli, S., Doliba, N., Osbakken, M., and Bansal, N. (2002). Influence of ischemic preconditioning on intracellular sodium, pH, and cellular energy status in isolated perfused heart. *Exp. Biol. Med.* 227, 520–528. doi: 10.1177/153537020222700717
- Balaban, R. S. (2002). Cardiac energy metabolism homeostasis: role of cytosolic calcium. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 34, 1259–1271. doi: 10.1006/jmcc.2002.2082
- Bernardi, P. (1999). Mitochondrial transport of cations: channels, exchangers, and permeability transition. *Physiol. Rev.* 79, 1127–1155. doi: 10.1152/physrev.1999. 79.4.1127
- Bers, D. M., Barry, W. H., and Despa, S. (2003). Intracellular Na + regulation in cardiac myocytes. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 57, 897–912. doi: 10.1016/S0008-6363(02) 00656-9
- Bertero, E., Prates Roma, L., Ameri, P., and Maack, C. (2018). Cardiac effects of SGLT2 inhibitors: the sodium hypothesis. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 114, 12–18. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvx149
- Besserer, G. M., Ottolia, M., Nicoll, D. A., Chaptal, V., Cascio, D., Philipson, K. D., et al. (2007). The second Ca2 + -binding domain of the Na + Ca2 + exchanger is essential for regulation: crystal structures and mutational analysis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 18467–18472. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0707417104
- Blaustein, M. P. (1993). Physiological effects of endogenous ouabain: control of intracellular Ca2 + stores and cell responsiveness. Am. J. Physiol. 264(6 Pt 1), C1367–C1387. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.1993.264.6.C1367
- Boden, G. (1997). Role of fatty acids in the pathogenesis of insulin resistance and NIDDM. *Diabetes* 46, 3–10. doi: 10.2337/diab.46.1.3
- Boden, G., Chen, X., Mozzoli, M., and Ryan, I. (1996). Effect of fasting on serum leptin in normal human subjects. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 81, 3419–3423.
- Boguslavskyi, A., Pavlovic, D., Aughton, K., Clark, J. E., Howie, J., Fuller, W., et al. (2014). Cardiac hypertrophy in mice expressing unphosphorylatable phospholemman. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 104, 72–82. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvu182
- Bouchard, J. F., Chouinard, J., and Lamontagne, D. (2000). Participation of prostaglandin E2 in the endothelial protective effect of ischaemic preconditioning in isolated rat heart. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 45, 418–427. doi: 10.1016/ S0008-6363(99)00343-0
- Boudina, S., and Abel, E. D. (2010). Diabetic cardiomyopathy, causes and effects. *Rev. Endocr. Metab. Disord.* 11, 31–39. doi: 10.1007/s11154-010-9131-7
- Boyce, S. W., Bartels, C., Bolli, R., Chaitman, B., Chen, J. C., Chi, E., et al. (2003). Impact of sodium-hydrogen exchange inhibition by cariporide on death or myocardial infarction in high-risk CABG surgery patients: results of the CABG

surgery cohort of the GUARDIAN study. J. Thorac. Cardiovasc. Surg. 126, 420-427. doi: 10.1016/S0022-5223(03)00209-5

- Brookes, P. S., Yoon, Y., Robotham, J. L., Anders, M. W., and Sheu, S. S. (2004). Calcium, ATP, and ROS: a mitochondrial love-hate triangle. Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. 287, C817–C833. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.00139.2004
- Chaptal, V., Ottolia, M., Mercado-Besserer, G., Nicoll, D. A., Philipson, K. D., and Abramson, J. (2009). Structure and functional analysis of a Ca2 + sensor mutant of the Na + /Ca2 + exchanger. J. Biol. Chem. 284, 14688–14692. doi: 10.1074/jbc.C900037200
- Chattou, S., Diacono, J., and Feuvray, D. (1999). Decrease in sodium-calcium exchange and calcium currents in diabetic rat ventricular myocytes. *Acta Physiol. Scand.* 166, 137–144. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-201x.1999.00547.x
- Cingolani, H. E., and Ennis, I. L. (2007). Sodium-hydrogen exchanger, cardiac overload, and myocardial hypertrophy. *Circulation* 115, 1090–1100. doi: 10. 1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106.626929
- Clancy, C. E., Chen-Izu, Y., Bers, D. M., Belardinelli, L., Boyden, P. A., Csernoch, L., et al. (2015). Deranged sodium to sudden death. J. Physiol. 593, 1331–1345. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2014.281204
- Cox, D. A., Conforti, L., Sperelakis, N., and Matlib, M. A. (1993). Selectivity of inhibition of Na(+)-Ca2 + exchange of heart mitochondria by benzothiazepine CGP-37157. J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol. 21, 595–599. doi: 10. 1097/00005344-199304000-00013
- Cox, D. A., and Matlib, M. A. (1993a). A role for the mitochondrial Na(+)-Ca2 + exchanger in the regulation of oxidative phosphorylation in isolated heart mitochondria. J. Biol. Chem. 268, 938–947.
- Cox, D. A., and Matlib, M. A. (1993b). Modulation of intramitochondrial free Ca2 + concentration by antagonists of Na(+)-Ca2 + exchange. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 14, 408–413.
- Cun, L., Ronghua, Z., Bin, L., Jin, L., and Shuyi, L. (2007). Preconditioning with Na + /H + exchange inhibitor HOE642 reduces calcium overload and exhibits marked protection on immature rabbit hearts. ASAIO J. 53, 762–765. doi: 10.1097/MAT.0b013e31815766e3
- Darmellah, A., Baetz, D., Prunier, F., Tamareille, S., Rucker-Martin, C., and Feuvray, D. (2007). Enhanced activity of the myocardial Na + /H + exchanger contributes to left ventricular hypertrophy in the Goto-Kakizaki rat model of type 2 diabetes: critical role of Akt. *Diabetologia* 50, 1335–1344. doi: 10.1007/ s00125-007-0628-x
- Despa, S., and Bers, D. M. (2013). Na(+) transport in the normal and failing heart - remember the balance. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 61, 2–10. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc. 2013.04.011
- Devereux, R. B., Roman, M. J., Paranicas, M., O'Grady, M. J., Lee, E. T., Welty, T. K., et al. (2000). Impact of diabetes on cardiac structure and function: the strong heart study. *Circulation* 101, 2271–2276. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.101. 19.2271
- Dhalla, N. S., Pierce, G. N., Innes, I. R., and Beamish, R. E. (1985). Pathogenesis of cardiac dysfunction in diabetes mellitus. *Can. J. Cardiol.* 1, 263–281.
- Doliba, N. M., Babsky, A. M., Wehrli, S. L., Ivanics, T. M., Friedman, M. F., and Osbakken, M. D. (2000). Metabolic control of sodium transport in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rat hearts. *Biochemistry* 65, 502–508.
- Doliba, N. M., Sweet, I. R., Babsky, A., Doliba, N., Forster, R. E., and Osbakken, M. (1997). Simultaneous measurement of oxygen consumption and 13C16O2 production from 13C-pyruvate in diabetic rat heart mitochondria. *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.* 428, 269–275. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4615-5399-1_37
- Doliba, N. M., Wehrli, S. L., Babsky, A. M., Doliba, N. M., and Osbakken, M. D. (1998). Encapsulation and perfusion of mitochondria in agarose beads for functional studies with 31P-NMR spectroscopy. *Magn. Reson. Med.* 39, 679–684. doi: 10.1002/mrm.1910390502
- Faber, G. M., and Rudy, Y. (2000). Action potential and contractility changes in [Na(+)](i) overloaded cardiac myocytes: a simulation study. *Biophys. J.* 78, 2392–2404. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3495(00)76783-X
- Garlid, K. D., Paucek, P., Yarov-Yarovoy, V., Murray, H. N., Darbenzio, R. B., D'Alonzo, A. J., et al. (1997). Cardioprotective effect of diazoxide and its interaction with mitochondrial ATP-sensitive K + channels. Possible mechanism of cardioprotection. *Circ. Res.* 81, 1072–1082. doi: 10.1161/01.RES. 81.6.1072

- Grandi, E., Pasqualini, F. S., and Bers, D. M. (2010). A novel computational model of the human ventricular action potential and Ca transient. J. Mol. Cell Cardiol. 48, 112–121. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2009.09.019
- Greene, D. A. (1986). A sodium-pump defect in diabetic peripheral nerve corrected by sorbinil administration: relationship to myo-inositol metabolism and nerve conduction slowing. *Metabolism* 35(4 Suppl. 1), 60–65.
- Gunter, T. E., and Gunter, K. K. (2001). Uptake of calcium by mitochondria: transport and possible function. *IUBMB Life* 52, 197–204. doi: 10.1080/ 15216540152846000
- Gunter, T. E., and Pfeiffer, D. R. (1990). Mechanisms by which mitochondria transport calcium. Am. J. Physiol. 258(5 Pt 1), C755–C786. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell. 1990.258.5.C755
- Gunter, T. E., Yule, D. I., Gunter, K. K., Eliseev, R. A., and Salter, J. D. (2004). Calcium and mitochondria. *FEBS Lett.* 567, 96–102. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2004. 03.071
- Hajnoczky, G., Csordas, G., Das, S., Garcia-Perez, C., Saotome, M., Sinha Roy, S., et al. (2006). Mitochondrial calcium signalling and cell death: approaches for assessing the role of mitochondrial Ca2 + uptake in apoptosis. *Cell Calcium* 40, 553–560. doi: 10.1016/j.ceca.2006.08.016
- Hansen, P. S., Clarke, R. J., Buhagiar, K. A., Hamilton, E., Garcia, A., White, C., et al. (2007). Alloxan-induced diabetes reduces sarcolemmal Na + -K + pump function in rabbit ventricular myocytes. *Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol.* 292, C1070–C1077. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.00288.2006
- Hansford, R. G. (1991). Dehydrogenase activation by Ca2 + in cells and tissues. J Bioenerg. Biomembr. 23, 823–854. doi: 10.1007/BF007 86004
- Hansford, R. G., and Castro, F. (1985). Role of Ca2 + in pyruvate dehydrogenase interconversion in brain mitochondria and synaptosomes. *Biochem. J.* 227, 129–136. doi: 10.1042/bj2270129
- Hassouna, A., Loubani, M., Matata, B. M., Fowler, A., Standen, N. B., and Galinanes, M. (2006). Mitochondrial dysfunction as the cause of the failure to precondition the diabetic human myocardium. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 69, 450–458. doi: 10.1016/j.cardiores.2005.11.004
- Hattori, Y., Matsuda, N., Kimura, J., Ishitani, T., Tamada, A., Gando, S., et al. (2000). Diminished function and expression of the cardiac Na + -Ca2 + exchanger in diabetic rats: implication in Ca2 + overload. *J. Physiol.* 527(Pt 1), 85–94.
- Hennan, J. K., Driscoll, E. M., Barrett, T. D., Fischbach, P. S., and Lucchesi, B. R. (2006). Effect of sodium/hydrogen exchange inhibition on myocardial infarct size after coronary artery thrombosis and thrombolysis. *Pharmacology* 78, 27–37. doi: 10.1159/000094874
- Hilge, M., Aelen, J., and Vuister, G. W. (2006). Ca2 + regulation in the Na + /Ca2 + exchanger involves two markedly different Ca2 + sensors. *Mol. Cell* 22, 15–25. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2006.03.008
- Hilgemann, D. W., Collins, A., and Matsuoka, S. (1992). Steady-state and dynamic properties of cardiac sodium-calcium exchange. Secondary modulation by cytoplasmic calcium and ATP. J. Gen. Physiol. 100, 933–961. doi: 10.1085/jgp. 100.6.933
- Holloway, C. J., Suttie, J., Dass, S., and Neubauer, S. (2011). Clinical cardiac magnetic resonance spectroscopy. *Prog. Cardiovasc. Dis.* 54, 320–327. doi: 10. 1016/j.pcad.2011.08.002
- Inzucchi, S. E., Zinman, B., Fitchett, D., Wanner, C., Ferrannini, E., Schumacher, M., et al. (2018). How does empagliflozin reduce cardiovascular mortality? Insights from a mediation analysis of the EMPA-REG OUTCOME trial. *Diabetes Care* 41, 356–363. doi: 10.2337/dc17-1096
- Ishihara, M., Inoue, I., Kawagoe, T., Shimatani, Y., Kurisu, S., Nishioka, K., et al. (2001). Diabetes mellitus prevents ischemic preconditioning in patients with a first acute anterior wall myocardial infarction. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 38, 1007–1011. doi: 10.1016/S0735-1097(01)01477-2
- Ivanics, T., Blum, H., Wroblewski, K., Wang, D. J., and Osbakken, M. (1994). Intracellular sodium in cardiomyocytes using 23Na nuclear magnetic resonance. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1221, 133–144. doi: 10.1016/0167-4889(94) 90005-1
- Jia, G., Hill, M. A., and Sowers, J. R. (2018). Diabetic cardiomyopathy: an update of mechanisms contributing to this clinical entity. *Circ. Res.* 122, 624–638. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117.311586
- Jo, H., Noma, A., and Matsuoka, S. (2006). Calcium-mediated coupling between mitochondrial substrate dehydrogenation and cardiac workload in single

guinea-pig ventricular myocytes. J. Mol. Cell Cardiol. 40, 394-404. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2005.12.012

- Kilic, A., Huang, C. X., Rajapurohitam, V., Madwed, J. B., and Karmazyn, M. (2014). Early and transient sodium-hydrogen exchanger isoform 1 inhibition attenuates subsequent cardiac hypertrophy and heart failure following coronary artery ligation. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 351, 492–499. doi: 10.1124/jpet.114. 217091
- Kingma, J. G. (2018). Inhibition of Na(+)/H(+) exchanger with EMD 87580 does not confer greater cardioprotection beyond preconditioning on ischemiareperfusion injury in normal dogs. J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol. Ther. 23, 254–269. doi: 10.1177/1074248418755120
- Kjeldsen, K., Braendgaard, H., Sidenius, P., Larsen, J. S., and Norgaard, A. (1987). Diabetes decreases Na + -K + pump concentration in skeletal muscles, heart ventricular muscle, and peripheral nerves of rat. *Diabetes* 36, 842–848. doi: 10.2337/diab.36.7.842
- Kohlhaas, M., Liu, T., Knopp, A., Zeller, T., Ong, M. F., Bohm, M., et al. (2010). Elevated cytosolic Na + increases mitochondrial formation of reactive oxygen species in failing cardiac myocytes. *Circulation* 121, 1606–1613. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.109.914911
- Kohlhaas, M., and Maack, C. (2010). Adverse bioenergetic consequences of Na + -Ca2 + exchanger-mediated Ca2 + influx in cardiac myocytes. *Circulation* 122, 2273–2280. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.110.968057
- Kramer, H. J., Meyer-Lehnert, H., Michel, H., and Predel, H. G. (1991). Endogenous natriuretic and ouabain-like factors. Their roles in body fluid volume and blood pressure regulation. Am. J. Hypertens. 4(1 Pt 1), 81–89.
- Kuo, T. H., Moore, K. H., Giacomelli, F., and Wiener, J. (1983). Defective oxidative metabolism of heart mitochondria from genetically diabetic mice. *Diabetes* 32, 781–787. doi: 10.2337/diab.32.9.781
- Lambert, R., Srodulski, S., Peng, X., Margulies, K. B., Despa, F., and Despa, S. (2015). Intracellular Na + concentration ([Na +]i) is elevated in diabetic hearts due to enhanced Na + -Glucose cotransport. J. Am. Heart Assoc. 4:e002183. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.115.002183
- Levitsky, J., Gurell, D., and Frishman, W. H. (1998). Sodium ion/hydrogen ion exchange inhibition: a new pharmacologic approach to myocardial ischemia and reperfusion injury. *J. Clin. Pharmacol.* 38, 887–897. doi: 10.1002/j.1552-4604.1998.tb04383.x
- Liao, J., Li, H., Zeng, W., Sauer, D. B., Belmares, R., and Jiang, Y. (2012). Structural insight into the ion-exchange mechanism of the sodium/calcium exchanger. *Science* 335, 686–690. doi: 10.1126/science.1215759
- Liu, T., Brown, D. A., and O'Rourke, B. (2010). Role of mitochondrial dysfunction in cardiac glycoside toxicity. J. Mol. Cell Cardiol. 49, 728–736. doi: 10.1016/j. yjmcc.2010.06.012
- Liu, T., and O'Rourke, B. (2008). Enhancing mitochondrial Ca2 + uptake in myocytes from failing hearts restores energy supply and demand matching. *Circ. Res.* 103, 279–288. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.108.175919
- Liu, T., and O'Rourke, B. (2009). Regulation of mitochondrial Ca2 + and its effects on energetics and redox balance in normal and failing heart. *J. Bioenerg. Biomembr.* 41, 127–132. doi: 10.1007/s10863-009-9216-8
- Liu, T., and O'Rourke, B. (2013). Regulation of the Na + /Ca2 + exchanger by pyridine nucleotide redox potential in ventricular myocytes. J. Biol. Chem. 288, 31984–31992. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M113.496588
- Liu, T., Takimoto, E., Dimaano, V. L., DeMazumder, D., Kettlewell, S., Smith, G., et al. (2014). Inhibiting mitochondrial Na + /Ca2 + exchange prevents sudden death in a Guinea pig model of heart failure. *Circ. Res.* 115, 44–54. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCRESAHA.115.303062
- Lytvyn, Y., Bjornstad, P., Udell, J. A., Lovshin, J. A., and Cherney, D. Z. I. (2017). Sodium glucose cotransporter-2 inhibition in heart failure: potential mechanisms, clinical applications, and summary of clinical trials. *Circulation* 136, 1643–1658. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.117. 030012
- Maack, C., Cortassa, S., Aon, M. A., Ganesan, A. N., Liu, T., and O'Rourke, B. (2006). Elevated cytosolic Na + decreases mitochondrial Ca2 + uptake during excitation-contraction coupling and impairs energetic adaptation in cardiac myocytes. *Circ. Res.* 99, 172–182. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.0000232546.92 777.05
- Makino, N., Dhalla, K. S., Elimban, V., and Dhalla, N. S. (1987). Sarcolemmal Ca2 + transport in streptozotocin-induced diabetic cardiomyopathy in rats. Am. J. Physiol. 253(2 Pt 1), E202–E207.

- Matsuoka, S., Jo, H., Sarai, N., and Noma, A. (2004). An in silico study of energy metabolism in cardiac excitation-contraction coupling. *Jpn. J. Physiol.* 54, 517–522. doi: 10.2170/jjphysiol.54.517
- Matsuoka, S., Nicoll, D. A., Hryshko, L. V., Levitsky, D. O., Weiss, J. N., and Philipson, K. D. (1995). Regulation of the cardiac Na(+)-Ca2 + exchanger by Ca2 + . Mutational analysis of the Ca(2 +)-binding domain. J. Gen. Physiol. 105, 403–420. doi: 10.1085/jgp.105.3.403
- McCormack, J. G., Halestrap, A. P., and Denton, R. M. (1990). Role of calcium ions in regulation of mammalian intramitochondrial metabolism. *Physiol. Rev.* 70, 391–425. doi: 10.1152/physrev.1990.70.2.391
- Mentzer, R. M. Jr., Bartels, C., Bolli, R., Boyce, S., Buckberg, G. D., Chaitman, B., et al. (2008). Sodium-hydrogen exchange inhibition by cariporide to reduce the risk of ischemic cardiac events in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass grafting: results of the EXPEDITION study. Ann. Thorac. Surg. 85, 1261–1270. doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2007.10.054
- Miki, T., Itoh, T., Sunaga, D., and Miura, T. (2012). Effects of diabetes on myocardial infarct size and cardioprotection by preconditioning and postconditioning. *Cardiovasc. Diabetol.* 11:67. doi: 10.1186/1475-2840-11-67
- Mootha, V. K., Arai, A. E., and Balaban, R. S. (1997). Maximum oxidative phosphorylation capacity of the mammalian heart. *Am. J. Physiol.* 272(2 Pt 2), H769–H775.
- Moreno-Sanchez, R. (1985). Contribution of the translocator of adenine nucleotides and the ATP synthase to the control of oxidative phosphorylation and arsenylation in liver mitochondria. *J. Biol. Chem.* 260, 12554–12560.
- Murry, C. E., Jennings, R. B., and Reimer, K. A. (1986). Preconditioning with ischemia: a delay of lethal cell injury in ischemic myocardium. *Circulation* 74, 1124–1136. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.74.5.1124
- Nicoll, D. A., Sawaya, M. R., Kwon, S., Cascio, D., Philipson, K. D., and Abramson, J. (2006). The crystal structure of the primary Ca2 + sensor of the Na + /Ca2 + exchanger reveals a novel Ca2 + binding motif. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 21577–21581. doi: 10.1074/jbc.C600117200
- Odunewu-Aderibigbe, A., and Fliegel, L. (2014). The Na(+) /H(+) exchanger and pH regulation in the heart. *IUBMB Life* 66, 679–685. doi: 10.1002/iub.1323
- Ottolia, M., Nicoll, D. A., and Philipson, K. D. (2009). Roles of two Ca2 + -binding domains in regulation of the cardiac Na + -Ca2 + exchanger. J. Biol. Chem. 284, 32735–32741. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.055434
- Ottolia, M., Torres, N., Bridge, J. H., Philipson, K. D., and Goldhaber, J. I. (2013). Na/Ca exchange and contraction of the heart. J. Mol. Cell Cardiol. 61, 28–33. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2013.06.001
- Packer, M. (2017). Activation and inhibition of sodium-hydrogen exchanger is a mechanism that links the pathophysiology and treatment of diabetes mellitus with that of heart failure. *Circulation* 136, 1548–1559. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.117.030418
- Packer, M., Anker, S. D., Butler, J., Filippatos, G., and Zannad, F. (2017). Effects of sodium-glucose cotransporter 2 inhibitors for the treatment of patients with heart failure: proposal of a novel mechanism of action. *JAMA Cardiol.* 2, 1025–1029. doi: 10.1001/jamacardio.2017.2275
- Palty, R., Silverman, W. F., Hershfinkel, M., Caporale, T., Sensi, S. L., Parnis, J., et al. (2010). NCLX is an essential component of mitochondrial Na + /Ca2 + exchange. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 436–441. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 0908099107
- Philipson, K. D., Nicoll, D. A., Ottolia, M., Quednau, B. D., Reuter, H., John, S., et al. (2002). The Na + /Ca2 + exchange molecule: an overview. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* 976, 1–10. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2002.tb04708.x
- Pieper, G. M., Salhany, J. M., Murray, W. J., Wu, S. T., and Eliot, R. S. (1984). Lipidmediated impairment of normal energy metabolism in the isolated perfused diabetic rat heart studied by phosphorus-31 NMR and chemical extraction. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 803, 229–240. doi: 10.1016/0167-4889(84)90112-5
- Pierce, G. N., and Dhalla, N. S. (1985). Heart mitochondrial function in chronic experimental diabetes in rats. *Can. J. Cardiol.* 1, 48–54.
- Pisarenko, O. I., Studneva, I. M., Serebriakova, L. I., Tskitishvili, O. V., and Timoshin, A. A. (2005). [Protection of rat heart myocardium with a selective Na(+)/H(+) exchange inhibitor and ischemic preconditioning]. *Kardiologiia* 45, 37–44.
- Pogwizd, S. M., Sipido, K. R., Verdonck, F., and Bers, D. M. (2003). Intracellular Na in animal models of hypertrophy and heart failure: contractile function and arrhythmogenesis. *Cardiovasc Res* 57, 887–896. doi: 10.1016/S0008-6363(02) 00735-6

- Ramasamy, R., Liu, H., Anderson, S., Lundmark, J., and Schaefer, S. (1995). Ischemic preconditioning stimulates sodium and proton transport in isolated rat hearts. J. Clin. Invest. 96, 1464–1472. doi: 10.1172/JCI118183
- Ramasamy, R., and Schaefer, S. (1999). Inhibition of Na + -H + exchanger protects diabetic and non-diabetic hearts from ischemic injury: insight into altered susceptibility of diabetic hearts to ischemic injury. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 31, 785–797. doi: 10.1006/jmcc.1998.0908
- Regan, T. J., Beyer-Mears, A., Torres, R., and Fusilli, L. D. (1992). Myocardial inositol and sodium in diabetes. *Int. J. Cardiol.* 37, 309–316. doi: 10.1016/0167-5273(92)90260-A
- Ren, X., and Philipson, K. D. (2013). The topology of the cardiac Na(+)/Ca(2) (+) exchanger, NCX1. J. Mol. Cell Cardiol. 57, 68–71. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc. 2013.01.010
- Rezende, P. C., Rahmi, R. M., Uchida, A. H., da Costa, L. M., Scudeler, T. L., Garzillo, C. L., et al. (2015). Type 2 diabetes mellitus and myocardial ischemic preconditioning in symptomatic coronary artery disease patients. *Cardiovasc. Diabetol.* 14:66. doi: 10.1186/s12933-015-0228-x
- Saotome, M., Katoh, H., Satoh, H., Nagasaka, S., Yoshihara, S., Terada, H., et al. (2005). Mitochondrial membrane potential modulates regulation of mitochondrial Ca2 + in rat ventricular myocytes. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 288, H1820–H1828. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00589.2004
- Sato, T., and Marban, E. (2000). The role of mitochondrial K(ATP) channels in cardioprotection. *Basic. Res. Cardiol.* 95, 285–289. doi: 10.1007/s003950070047
- Schaffer, S. W., Ballard-Croft, C., Boerth, S., and Allo, S. N. (1997). Mechanisms underlying depressed Na + /Ca2 + exchanger activity in the diabetic heart. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 34, 129–136. doi: 10.1016/S0008-6363(97)00020-5
- Shattock, M. J., Ottolia, M., Bers, D. M., Blaustein, M. P., Boguslavskyi, A., Bossuyt, J., et al. (2015). Na + /Ca2 + exchange and Na + /K + -ATPase in the heart. J. Physiol. 593, 1361–1382. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2014.282319
- Szabadkai, G., Simoni, A. M., Bianchi, K., De Stefani, D., Leo, S., Wieckowski, M. R., et al. (2006). Mitochondrial dynamics and Ca2 + signaling. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1763, 442–449. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2006.04.002
- Taegtmeyer, H., McNulty, P., and Young, M. E. (2002). Adaptation and maladaptation of the heart in diabetes: part I: general concepts. *Circulation* 105, 1727–1733. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000012466.50373.E8
- Tanaka, Y., Konno, N., and Kako, K. J. (1992). Mitochondrial dysfunction observed in situ in cardiomyocytes of rats in experimental diabetes. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 26, 409–414. doi: 10.1093/cvr/26.4.409
- Territo, P. R., French, S. A., Dunleavy, M. C., Evans, F. J., and Balaban, R. S. (2001). Calcium activation of heart mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation: rapid kinetics of mVO2, NADH, AND light scattering. *J. Biol. Chem.* 276, 2586–2599. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M002923200
- Territo, P. R., Mootha, V. K., French, S. A., and Balaban, R. S. (2000). Ca(2 +) activation of heart mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation: role of the F(0)/F(1)-ATPase. *Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol.* 278, C423–C435. doi: 10.1152/ ajpcell.2000.278.2.C423
- Tsang, A., Hausenloy, D. J., Mocanu, M. M., Carr, R. D., and Yellon, D. M. (2005). Preconditioning the diabetic heart: the importance of Akt phosphorylation. *Diabetes* 54, 2360–2364. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.54.8. 2360
- Veeranki, S., Givvimani, S., Kundu, S., Metreveli, N., Pushpakumar, S., and Tyagi, S. C. (2016). Moderate intensity exercise prevents diabetic cardiomyopathy associated contractile dysfunction through restoration of mitochondrial function and connexin 43 levels in db/db mice. J. Mol. Cell Cardiol. 92, 163–173. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2016.01.023
- Villa-Abrille, M. C., Sidor, A., and O'Rourke, B. (2008). Insulin effects on cardiac Na + /Ca2 + exchanger activity: role of the cytoplasmic regulatory loop. J. Biol. Chem. 283, 16505–16513. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M801424200
- Warley, A. (1991). Changes in sodium concentration in cardiac myocytes from diabetic rats. *Scanning Microsc.* 5, 239–244; discussion 244–245.
- Williams, B., and Howard, R. L. (1994). Glucose-induced changes in Na + /H + antiport activity and gene expression in cultured vascular smooth muscle cells. *Role of protein kinase C. J Clin Invest* 93, 2623–2631. doi: 10.1172/JCI11 7275
- Williams, I. A., Xiao, X. H., Ju, Y. K., and Allen, D. G. (2007). The rise of [Na(+)]
 (i) during ischemia and reperfusion in the rat heart-underlying mechanisms. *Pflugers Arch.* 454, 903–912. doi: 10.1007/s00424-007-0241-3

- Wu, M., Le, H. D., Wang, M., Yurkov, V., Omelchenko, A., Hnatowich, M., et al. (2010). Crystal structures of progressive Ca2 + binding states of the Ca2 + sensor Ca2 + binding domain 1 (CBD1) from the CALX Na + /Ca2 + exchanger reveal incremental conformational transitions. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 2554–2561. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.059162
- Xiao, X. H., and Allen, D. G. (1999). Role of Na(+)/H(+) exchanger during ischemia and preconditioning in the isolated rat heart. *Circ. Res.* 85, 723–730. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.85.8.723
- Xiao, X. H., and Allen, D. G. (2003). The cardioprotective effects of Na + /H + exchange inhibition and mitochondrial KATP channel activation are additive in the isolated rat heart. *Pflugers Arch.* 447, 272–279. doi: 10.1007/s00424-003-1183-z
- Yamada, E. W., and Huzel, N. J. (1988). The calcium-binding ATPase inhibitor protein from bovine heart mitochondria. Purification and properties. J. Biol. Chem. 263, 11498–11503.
- Young, L. H., Wackers, F. J., Chyun, D. A., Davey, J. A., Barrett, E. J., Taillefer, R., et al. (2009). Cardiac outcomes after screening for asymptomatic coronary artery disease in patients with type 2 diabetes: the DIAD study:

a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 301, 1547-1555. doi: 10.1001/jama. 2009.476

Zhou, R. H., Long, C., Liu, J., and Liu, B. (2008). Inhibition of the Na + /H + exchanger protects the immature rabbit myocardium from ischemia and reperfusion injury. *Pediatr. Cardiol.* 29, 113–120. doi: 10.1007/s00246-007-9072-4

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Doliba, Babsky and Osbakken. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Myocyte [Na⁺]_i Dysregulation in Heart Failure and Diabetic Cardiomyopathy

Sanda Despa*

Department of Pharmacology and Nutritional Sciences, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY, United States

By controlling the function of various sarcolemmal and mitochondrial ion transporters, intracellular Na⁺ concentration ([Na⁺]_i) regulates Ca²⁺ cycling, electrical activity, the matching of energy supply and demand, and oxidative stress in cardiac myocytes. Thus, maintenance of myocyte Na⁺ homeostasis is vital for preserving the electrical and contractile activity of the heart. [Na⁺]_i is set by the balance between the passive Na⁺ entry through numerous pathways and the pumping of Na⁺ out of the cell by the Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase. This equilibrium is perturbed in heart failure, resulting in higher [Na⁺]_i. More recent studies have revealed that [Na⁺]_i is also increased in myocytes from diabetic hearts. Elevated [Na⁺]_i causes oxidative stress and augments the sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca²⁺ leak, thus amplifying the risk for arrhythmias and promoting heart dysfunction. This mini-review compares and contrasts the alterations in Na⁺ extrusion and/or Na⁺ uptake that underlie the [Na⁺]_i increase in heart failure and diabetes, with a particular emphasis on the emerging role of Na⁺ - glucose cotransporters in the diabetic heart.

Keywords: heart failure, type-2 diabetes, Na⁺-glucose cotransporter, Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger, Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase, Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger

MAINTENANCE OF MYOCYTE Na⁺ HOMEOSTASIS IS VITAL FOR PRESERVING HEART FUNCTION

All mammalian cells maintain a low intracellular Na⁺ concentration ([Na⁺]_i) by actively extruding Na⁺ through the Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase (NKA) at the expense of metabolic energy. The energy stored in the electrochemical Na⁺ gradient is then used for the transmembrane transport of other ions (e.g., Ca²⁺ through the Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger, NCX, H⁺ via the Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger, NHE, etc.), uptake of energy substrates (glucose through the family of Na⁺-glucose cotransporters, SGLTs, and aminoacids through Na⁺-aminoacid cotransporter) and, in the case of excitable cells, generation of action potentials (via voltage-gated Na⁺ channels). Changes in [Na⁺]_i critically affect the function of these transporters, therefore [Na⁺]_i homeostasis is essential for numerous cellular processes.

In cardiac myocytes, NCX is the main route for Ca^{2+} extrusion from the cells (Bers, 2001), which intimately links Ca^{2+} cycling to $[Na^+]_i$. Even a small (few mM) increase in $[Na^+]_i$ alters Ca^{2+} fluxes through NCX, resulting in higher Ca^{2+} levels in the cytosol and sarcoplasmic reticulum (SR) and consequently larger contractions (**Figure 1**). This mechanism is responsible for the inotropic effect of cardiac glycosides such as digoxin. However, as demonstrated clinically with digoxin, the beneficial effect of enhanced contractility is counteracted by a higher risk for

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Coert J. Zuurbier, Academic Medical Center (AMC), Netherlands

Reviewed by:

Thomas Hund, The Ohio State University, United States Dunja Aksentijevic, Queen Mary University of London, United Kingdom

*Correspondence:

Sanda Despa s.despa@uky.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cardiac Electrophysiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 13 July 2018 Accepted: 29 August 2018 Published: 12 September 2018

Citation:

Despa S (2018) Myocyte [Na⁺]_i Dysregulation in Heart Failure and Diabetic Cardiomyopathy. Front. Physiol. 9:1303. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01303

113

ectopic arrhythmias, as larger SR Ca^{2+} load increases the incidence of spontaneous Ca^{2+} waves and delayed afterdepolarizations (Bers, 2014).

 $[Na^+]_i$ also controls the level of Ca^{2+} in the mitochondria $([Ca^{2+}]_m)$ through the mitochondrial Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger (mitoNCX), which is the main route for mitochondrial Ca²⁺ extrusion in the heart (Griffiths, 2009). MitoNCX is halfmaximally activated at [Na⁺]; in the physiological range (5-10 mM) (Boyman et al., 2013). Therefore, mitoNCX is very sensitive to changes in [Na⁺]_i. An increase in [Na⁺]_i accelerates mitochondrial Ca^{2+} efflux and thus reduces $[Ca^{2+}]_m$ (Cox and Matlib, 1993; Maack et al., 2006). Because [Ca²⁺]_m stimulates several dehydrogenases involved in the tricarboxylic acid cycle (McCormack et al., 1990), regeneration of NADH and NADPH from their oxidized forms slows down at lower [Ca²⁺]_m. Slower restoration of the NADH pool limits the rate of electron transport and thus diminishes mitochondrial ATP production. Notably however, glycolytic ATP also drives cellular processes in the heart, particularly NKA (Glitsch and Tappe, 1993). NADPH is utilized to neutralize the H₂O₂ produced by the electron transport chain and lower NADPH levels may result in oxidative stress (Bertero and Maack, 2018). Abnormally low [Na⁺]_i is likely to have the opposite effect and cause mitochondrial Ca²⁺ overload, which also has detrimental effects on myocyte function. This notion is supported by the recent finding that elimination of mitochondrial Ca²⁺ efflux through deletion of the gene encoding mitoNCX results in increased generation of superoxide and necrotic cell death leading to heart failure (Luongo et al., 2017).

In summary, $[Na^+]_i$ regulates Ca^{2+} cycling, electrical activity, and oxidative stress in cardiac myocytes. Thus, maintenance of myocyte Na^+ homeostasis is vital for preserving heart function.

MYOCYTE [Na⁺]_i IS ELEVATED IN HEART FAILURE AND TYPE-2 DIABETES

 $[Na^+]_i$ is in the 4–8 mM range in resting ventricular myocytes from healthy rabbit, guinea-pig, dog and human hearts (Harrison et al., 1992; Yao et al., 1998b; Gray et al., 2001; Despa et al., 2002a; Pieske et al., 2002; Gao et al., 2005) and somewhat higher (10–15 mM) in rat and mouse myocytes (Donoso et al., 1992; Yao et al., 1998a; Despa et al., 2002a, 2005). $[Na^+]_i$ increases in a frequency dependent manner when myocytes are excited electrically. This $[Na^+]_i$ rise is caused by enhanced Na⁺ entry due to the regular opening of the voltage-gated Na⁺ channels and activation of NCX during Ca^{2+} transients. As $[Na^+]_i$ rises, NKA is activated to extrude more Na⁺ and a new steady-state is reached when the higher Na⁺ influx is balanced by an elevated Na⁺ efflux.

The balance between the passive Na⁺ entry and Na⁺ pumping out of the cell is perturbed in both humans and animal models with heart failure (HF), resulting in elevated $[Na^+]_i$. Pieske et al. (2002) found that $[Na^+]_i$ is ~4 mM higher in myocytes from failing human myocardium compared to non-failing hearts. A comparable $[Na^+]_i$ increase was reported in myocytes from rabbits with heart failure induced by volume and pressure overload (Despa et al., 2002b; Baartscheer et al., 2003) or by rapid pacing (Schillinger et al., 2006). $[Na^+]_i$ is also elevated in myocytes from mice with heart failure caused by conditional, cardiomyocyte-specific deletion of SERCA gene (Louch et al., 2010). These studies found that $[Na^+]_i$ was elevated at all stimulation rates in the 0–3 Hz range. While a few mM rise in $[Na^+]_i$ may seem modest, Despa et al. (2002b) showed that, compared to other HF-induced alterations such as smaller Ca^{2+} transients and longer action potentials, it has the greatest impact on NCX function, and thus on cellular and SR Ca^{2+} load.

Diabetes is a systemic disease that leads to structural, contractile and electrical abnormalities of the heart, even in the absence of coronary artery disease or hypertension (Taegtmeyer et al., 2002; Young et al., 2002, 2009; Guha et al., 2008; Boudina and Abel, 2010). Diabetic cardiomyopathy is characterized by diastolic dysfunction (>50% prevalence) that progresses to systolic dysfunction and heart failure at more advanced diabetic stages (Ingelsson et al., 2005; Kostis and Sanders, 2005; Masoudi and Inzucchi, 2007; Pataky et al., 2011; Chaudhary et al., 2015). Some studies reported alterations in myocyte Na⁺ transport consistent with elevated [Na⁺]_i in animal models of both type-1 and type-2 diabetes (see below). However, whether or not [Na⁺]_i is altered in diabetic hearts was largely unknown until we recently found higher [Na⁺]_i in resting and contracting myocytes from rats with late-onset type-2 diabetes that display a cardiac phenotype that closely resembles the diabetic cardiomyopathy in humans (HIP rats) (Lambert et al., 2015). Interestingly, the [Na⁺]_i rise that we measured in diabetic HIP rat hearts is comparable to the increase in $[Na^+]_i$ that occurs in HF.

As discussed above, high [Na⁺]_i may amplify the risk for arrhythmias and cause oxidative stress. Indeed, elevated [Na⁺]_i was shown to cause oxidation of NAD(P)H and to increase the H₂O₂ level in myocytes from guinea-pigs with heart failure induced by aortic constriction (Liu and O'Rourke, 2008). These effects were prevented by pharmacological inhibition of mitoNCX (Liu and O'Rourke, 2008). In a guinea pig model of heart failure and sudden cardiac death (aortic constriction + daily β-adrenergic receptor stimulation), mitoNCX inhibition attenuated cardiac hypertrophic remodeling and prevented cardiac dysfunction and sudden cardiac death, likely through normalizing $[Ca^{2+}]_m$ (Liu et al., 2014). Therefore, the increase in [Na⁺]_i is an active contributor to heart dysfunction in HF. Similar mechanisms are likely also in play in diabetic cardiomyopathy. In support of this assertion, Babsky et al. (2001) found that higher [Na⁺] had a larger negative effect on state 3 respiration, rate of oxidative phosphorylation and ATP production in mitochondria isolated from rats with streptozotocin-induced diabetes compared to control.

MECHANISMS UNDERLYING THE [Na⁺]_i RISE IN HEART FAILURE AND DIABETES

Since $[Na^+]_i$ is at steady-state when the active Na^+ efflux through the Na^+/K^+ -ATPase and the total Na^+ influx through various pathways (**Figure 1**) are at equilibrium, the $[Na^+]_i$ rise in HF and



FIGURE 1 [Na⁺ transport pathways and consequences of elevated [Na⁺]_i in cardiac myocytes. Several pathways, including the Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger (NCX), Na⁺ channels, Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger (NHE), Na⁺-glucose cotransporter (SGLT), and Na⁺-aminoacid cotransporter, contribute to the entry of Na⁺ into cardiac myocytes, while the Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase (NKA) is the essential route for Na⁺ efflux. Either enhanced Na⁺ influx or impaired Na⁺ extrusion result in higher [Na⁺]_i. Elevated [Na⁺]_i leads to (i) increased cellular and SR Ca²⁺ load, which augments the risk for the occurrence of delayed afterdepolarizations (DADs), and (ii) reduced mitochondrial Ca²⁺ levels, which leads to lower ATP production and causes oxidative stress. ETC – electron transport chain.

diabetic cardiomy opathy could be caused by both reduced $\rm Na^+$ extrusion and enhanced $\rm Na^+$ entry.

Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase Expression and Function in Heart Failure and Diabetes

Numerous studies in human myocardium and animal models reported lower protein expression of various NKA subunits in HF. Schwinger et al. (1999) found reduced expression of NKA α_1 -, α_3 -, and β_1 -subunits in failing human hearts. Protein expression of all three α -subunit isoforms is decreased in hearts from rabbits with pressure and volume overload-induced HF (Bossuyt et al., 2005). In contrast, expression of α_1 isoform is unchanged while α_2 is reduced and α_3 is increased in most rat HF models (Verdonck et al., 2003a). These data suggest that NKA activity might be reduced in HF. However, NKA function depends strongly on regulation by various modulators, including the endogenous inhibitor phospholemman. Indeed, Boguslavskyi et al. (2014) reported hypophosphorylation of phospholemman with no change in NKA expression following aortic constriction in mice, which resulted in a progressive decline in NKA current and elevation of [Na⁺]_i. Thus, functional measurements in live cells and intact beating hearts are needed in order to compare NKA activity in failing and control hearts. By measuring the rate of [Na⁺]_i decline as a function of [Na⁺]_i in live myocytes, we found no changes in either the maximal Na⁺ transport rate or the apparent affinity for internal Na⁺ in myocytes from failing rabbit hearts compared to controls (Despa et al., 2002b).

Decreased maximal Na⁺ extrusion rate (mainly through NKA- $\alpha 2$ isoform) but unchanged [Na⁺]_i-affinity were reported in myocytes from rats with HF following myocardial infarction (Semb et al., 1998; Swift et al., 2008) as well as in mice with end-stage HF following genetic deletion of SERCA2 (Louch et al., 2010). In contrast, myocytes from dogs with chronic atrioventricular block and hypertrophy have unaltered maximal NKA current but reduced NKA [Na⁺]_i-affinity (Verdonck et al., 2003b). Overall, NKA activity is decreased in some but not all HF models investigated, which may contribute to the rise in [Na⁺]_i.

There are significantly fewer studies of NKA expression and function in diabetic cardiomyopathy. NKA activity is reduced by 21% in the myocardium of rats with streptozocin-induced type-1 diabetes (Kjeldsen et al., 1987). Hansen et al. (2007) found decreased NKA current measured with 10 mM Na⁺ but not with 80 mM Na⁺ in the pipette solutions in myocytes from rabbits with alloxan-induced type-1 diabetes, which indicates a reduction in the affinity of NKA for internal Na⁺ but no change in the maximal NKA activity. Myocytes from type-2 diabetic HIP rats showed no change in NKA-mediated Na⁺ extrusion for [Na⁺]_i in the physiological range (0-20 mM) compared to their control littermates (Lambert et al., 2015). In agreement with this result, we also found that NKA- α 1 expression is unaltered, while there is ~50% decrease in NKA- α 2 (Lambert et al., 2015). Since NKAa2 represents less than 25% of the total NKA in rat myocytes (Despa and Bers, 2007; Swift et al., 2007), a ~50% reduction in its expression has only a minor effect on total NKA function. However, NKA-a2 has a preferential localization in the t-tubules

(Despa and Bers, 2007; Swift et al., 2007, 2010; Despa et al., 2012a) and therefore reduced NKA- α 2 expression might affect Ca²⁺ cycling and contractility through local, subcellular, effects.

Na⁺ Influx Pathways in Heart Failure and Diabetes

We (Despa et al., 2002b) and others (Baartscheer et al., 2003) found that higher $[Na^+]_i$ is caused by enhanced Na^+ influx rather than reduced NKA activity in hearts from rabbits with pressure and volume-overload induced HF. This is also the case in myocytes from type-2 diabetic HIP rats, where Na^+ influx is increased by ~40% compared to myocytes from control rats (Lambert et al., 2015). While not directly measuring the rate of Na^+ entry, several other studies reported upregulation of membrane transporters that facilitate Na^+ import in HF and diabetic cardiomyopathy (see below), supporting an essential role for Na^+ influx in the $[Na^+]_i$ rise that occurs in these pathological conditions.

Na⁺ Current in Heart Failure and Diabetes

We found that the excess Na⁺ influx in myocytes from rabbits with HF is TTX-sensitive, which suggests that it is carried by Na⁺ channels (Despa et al., 2002b). There are numerous reports of increased late Na⁺ current in HF (Maltsev et al., 1998; Valdivia et al., 2005; Mishra et al., 2015; Hegyi et al., 2018), a slowly inactivating current that may be carried by both cardiac and neuronal Na⁺ channels present in myocytes. While the amplitude of late Na⁺ current is small (\sim 0.1–0.5% of the amplitude of the peak Na⁺ current), the current is long lasting (hundreds of milliseconds) and thus may contribute to myocyte Na⁺ homeostasis. However, the role of late Na⁺ current in elevating Na⁺ influx and [Na⁺]_i in HF is controversial. On one hand, ranolazine, a late Na⁺ current inhibitor, reduced [Na⁺]_i, and diastolic Ca²⁺ overload in failing human hearts (Sossalla et al., 2008). Moreover, the CaMKII-dependent increase in late Na⁺ current produced by exogenous reactive oxygen species was associated with a TTX and ranolazine-dependent rise in [Na⁺]_i (Wagner et al., 2011). On the other hand, computational modeling predicts that higher late Na⁺ current measured in myocytes from failing hearts generates only a modest increase in [Na⁺]_i, smaller than measured experimentally (Wagner et al., 2011; Cardona et al., 2016). Alternatively, HF may also enhance a background Na⁺ channel conductance that is responsible for the higher rate of Na⁺ entry.

Independent of a potential effect on $[Na^+]_i$, increased late Na^+ current contributes to the prolongation of the action potential in HF, which may result in early afterdepolarizations. Moreover, via NCX, longer action potentials favor Ca^{2+} loading of the myocyte, which increases the propensity for delayed afterdepolarizations. Indeed, ranolazine significantly abbreviated the action potential and prevented the occurrence of delayed afterdepolarizations in myocytes from mice with HF induced by aortic constriction (Toischer et al., 2013). Ranolazine prevented ventricular fibrillation in rabbits with pacing-induced HF (Frommeyer et al., 2012) Thus, while the contribution of increased late Na^+ current to the rise in $[Na^+]_i$ is not fully

elucidated, late Na⁺ current inhibition has proven beneficial effects in HF.

Na⁺/Ca²⁺ Exchanger in Heart Failure and Diabetes

NCX, which exchanges three Na⁺ ions for one Ca²⁺, is the main route for Ca²⁺ extrusion (Bers, 2001) and the most prominent contributor to Na⁺ influx (Despa et al., 2002a) in cardiac myocytes. Cardiac NCX expression is generally increased in both animal models of HF (O'Rourke et al., 1999; Pogwizd et al., 1999; Louch et al., 2010) and failing human hearts (Hasenfuss et al., 1999). However, higher NCX expression does not necessarily translate into higher rate of NCX-mediated Na⁺ entry. This is because the higher [Na⁺]_i and smaller Ca²⁺ transients typically seen in HF shift the balance of fluxes through NCX to disfavor the Ca²⁺ out/Na⁺ in mode of function and may even cause the reversal of the exchanger during an action potential. In agreement with this reasoning, we found no change in the NCX-mediated Na⁺ influx in failing rabbit myocytes (Despa et al., 2002b) despite a 100% increase in NCX expression (Pogwizd et al., 1999).

In contrast to HF, NCX expression and function is decreased in rats with streptozotocin-induced type-1 diabetes (Chattou et al., 1999; Hattori et al., 2000) and in type-2 diabetic HIP rats (Despa et al., 2012b). It is thus unlikely that NCX contributes to the enhanced myocyte Na⁺ entry in diabetes.

Na⁺/H⁺ Exchanger in Heart Failure and Diabetes

NHE is markedly upregulated in HF (Yokoyama et al., 2000; Leineweber et al., 2007; Fliegel, 2009; Packer, 2017) and its inhibition improved heart function in various animal models of HF (Kusumoto et al., 2001; Engelhardt et al., 2002; Aker et al., 2004; Kilić et al., 2014). Baartscheer et al. (Baartscheer et al., 2003) reported that increased Na^+/H^+ -exchange activity is responsible for elevated [Na⁺]_i in myocytes from failing rabbit hearts. Moreover, chronic treatment with cariporide, an NHE inhibitor, prevented the onset of HF in rabbits with pressure and volume overload (Baartscheer et al., 2005). The activity of myocardial Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger (NHE) is enhanced and contributes to left ventricular hypertrophy in the Goto-Kakizaki rat model of T2D (Darmellah et al., 2007). Increased NHE activity leads to higher [Na⁺]_i gain during ischemia-reperfusion in hearts from T2D db/db mice (Anzawa et al., 2006). Moreover, reducing [Na⁺]_i gain during ischemia-reperfusion by NHE inhibition was associated with a lower incidence of ventricular tachycardia and fibrillation in db/db hearts (Anzawa et al., 2006). These data point to an important contribution of NHE to the excess cardiac Na⁺ influx in HF and diabetic cardiomyopathy.

Na⁺-GLUCOSE COTRANSPORTER AND [Na⁺]_i DYSREGULATION IN DIABETIC HEARTS

One transporter known to be present in the heart but rarely discussed in the context of myocyte Na^+ homeostasis is the Na^+ -glucose cotransporter (SGLT), which couples Na^+ transport to glucose uptake and thus to energy substrate metabolism. The major SGLT isoforms, SGLT1, and SGLT2, have distinct tissue

distribution and systemic role. SGLT1 is found predominantly in epithelial cells from the intestine, where it participates in dietary glucose absorption, whereas SGLT2 is the major isoform expressed in renal epithelial cells and is essential for glucose reabsorption from the forming urine. Highly specific SGLT2 inhibitors are the latest class of blood glucose lowering drugs. Recently, SGLT2 inhibitors were demonstrated to have beneficial cardiac effects in patients with type-2 diabetes and HF (Zinman et al., 2015). However, reports from several labs (Nishimura and Naito, 2005; Wright and Loo, 2011; Van Steenbergen et al., 2017) indicate that SGLT2 is not expressed in the heart. This suggests that the cardioprotection conferred by SGLT2 inhibitors is mediated by interaction with a different cardiac target and/or by effects in extracardiac tissues. Intriguingly, two recent studies (Baartscheer et al., 2017; Uthman et al., 2018) found that SGLT2 inhibitors (empagliflozin, dapagliglozin, and canagliflozin) block the Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger, possibly by binding to the Na⁺-binding site of NHE, and thus lower myocyte $[Na^+]_i$ in multiple species. Furthermore, empagliflozin and canagliflozin also induced vasodilation (Uthman et al., 2018). While these measurements were performed in healthy hearts/myocytes, the effects uncovered are likely to play a part in the improvement of heart function by SGLT2 inhibitors that was observed clinically in patients with HF and type-2 diabetes.

In contrast to SGLT2, SGLT1 is highly expressed in the heart (Zhou et al., 2003; Banerjee et al., 2009, 2010; Wright and Loo, 2011). Recently, SGLT1 upregulation was causally linked to PRKAG2 cardiomyopathy that is caused by mutations in the gene encoding the γ 2 subunit of AMP-activated protein kinase (Banerjee et al., 2010) and cardiac-specific SGLT1 deletion attenuated the cardiomyopathy (Ramratnam et al., 2014). Moreover, cardiac-specific overexpression of SGLT1 in mice causes hypertrophy and left-ventricular dysfunction (Ramratnam et al., 2014). Thus, there is increasing evidence that enhanced SGLT1 activity harms the heart.

Banerjee et al. (2009) reported that the mRNA level of SGLT1 is increased in hearts from humans and mice with type-2 diabetes and ischemic cardiomyopathy. In agreement with this result, we found higher SGLT1 protein expression in failing hearts from T2D patients compared to failing hearts from lean, non-diabetic individuals and in hearts from type-2 diabetic HIP rats vs. control rats (Lambert et al., 2015). Obesity, in the absence of type-2 diabetes, was also associated with elevated levels of cardiac

REFERENCES

- Aker, S., Snabaitis, A. K., Konietzka, I., Van De Sand, A., Böngler, K., Avkiran, M., et al. (2004). Inhibition of the Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger attenuates the deterioration of ventricular function during pacing-induced heart failure in rabbits. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 63, 273–282. doi: 10.1016/j.cardiores.2004. 04.014
- Anzawa, R., Bernard, M., Tamareille, S., Baetz, D., Confort-Gouny, S., Gascard, J. P., et al. (2006). Intracellular sodium increase and susceptibility to ischaemia in hearts from type 2 diabetic db/db mice. *Diabetologia* 49, 598–606. doi: 10. 1007/s00125-005-0091-5
- Baartscheer, A., Schumacher, C. A., van Borren, M. M., Belterman, C. N., Coronel, R., and Fiolet, J. W. (2003). Increased Na^+/H^+ -exchange activity is the cause of increased $[Na^+]i$ and underlies disturbed calcium handling in the

SGLT1 in human hearts (Lambert et al., 2015). Moreover, the presence of HF alone resulted in higher cardiac SGLT1 protein expression in both lean and obese individuals (Lambert et al., 2015). Consistent with augmented SGLT1 expression, we found that the SGLT-mediated glucose uptake is significantly increased in hearts from diabetic vs. control rats (Lambert et al., 2015). Moreover, SGLT inhibition (both pharmacological and through omission of glucose from external solution) greatly reduced the rate of Na⁺ entry in myocytes from diabetic rats while it had no significant effect in myocytes from control rats. SGLT-mediated Na⁺ influx was \approx 7 times higher in diabetic vs. control hearts (Lambert et al., 2015). Together, these results indicate that SGLT1 is upregulated in diabetic rat hearts and its activation is largely responsible for the excess Na⁺ influx that accounts for the increase in [Na⁺]_i.

Other members of the Na⁺-glucose cotransporter family may also play a role in the development of diabetic cardiomyopathy. Van Steenbergen et al. (2017) found that hyperglycemia stimulates the production of reactive oxygen species in the heart through activation of NADPH oxidase and this mechanism is prevented in myocytes from mice with genetic deletion of the sodium-myoinositol cotransporter-1 (SMIT1). This finding suggests that SMIT1 is activated by high glucose, which may also contribute to the $[Na⁺]_i$ rise in diabetic hearts.

In summary, $[Na^+]_i$ is augmented in both HF and diabetic cardiomyopathy and higher $[Na^+]_i$ further exacerbates heart dysfunction. An enhancement of Na⁺ influx is at least partially responsible for the $[Na^+]_i$ rise in both conditions. However, the Na⁺ entry pathways that mediate the excess Na⁺ entry may be distinct in the two pathologies, with Na⁺ channels and NHE being activated in HF and SGLT isoforms and NHE having the main contribution in diabetic cardiomyopathy.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SD reviewed the literature in the field, and wrote and edited the manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by NIH (Grant R01HL135000).

rabbit pressure and volume overload heart failure model. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 57, 1015–1024. doi: 10.1016/S0008-6363(02)00809-X

- Baartscheer, A., Schumacher, C. A., van Borren, M. M., Belterman, C. N., Coronel, R., Opthof, T., et al. (2005). Chronic inhibition of Na⁺/H⁺-exchanger attenuates cardiac hypertrophy and prevents cellular remodeling in heart failure. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 65, 83–92. doi: 10.1016/j.cardiores.2004.09.024
- Baartscheer, A., Schumacher, C. A., Wüst, R. C., Fiolet, J. W., Stienen, G. J., Coronel, R., et al. (2017). Empagliflozin decreases myocardial cytoplasmic Na⁺ through inhibition of the cardiac Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger in rats and rabbits. *Diabetologia* 60, 568–573. doi: 10.1007/s00125-016-4134-x
- Babsky, A., Doliba, N., Doliba, N., Savchenko, A., Wehrli, S., and Osbakken, M. (2001). Na⁺ effects on mitochondrial respiration and oxidative phosphorylation in diabetic hearts. *Exp. Biol. Med.* 226, 543–551. doi: 10.1177/153537020122600606

- Banerjee, S. K., McGaffin, K. R., Pastor-Soler, N. M., and Ahmad, F. (2009). SGLT1 is a novel cardiac glucose transporter that is perturbed in disease states. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 84, 111–118. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvp190
- Banerjee, S. K., Wang, D. W., Alzamora, R., Huang, X. N., Pastor-Soler, N. M., Hallows, K. R., et al. (2010). SGLT1, a novel cardiac glucose transporter, mediates increased glucose uptake in PRKAG2 cardiomyopathy. *J. Mol. Cell Cardiol.* 49, 683–692. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2010.06.003
- Bers, D. M. (2001). Excitation-Contraction Coupling and Cardiac Contractile Force, 2nd Edn. Dordrecht: Kluwer Academic. doi: 10.1007/978-94-010-0658-3
- Bers, D. M. (2014). Cardiac sarcoplasmic reticulum calcium leak: basis and roles in cardiac dysfunction. Annu. Rev. Physiol. 76, 107–127. doi: 10.1146/annurevphysiol-020911-153308
- Bertero, E., and Maack, C. (2018). Calcium signaling and reactive oxygen species in mitochondria. *Circ. Res.* 122, 1460–1478. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.118. 310082
- Boguslavskyi, A., Pavlovic, D., Aughton, K., Clark, J. E., Howie, J., Fuller, W., et al. (2014). Cardiac hypertrophy in mice expressing unphosphorylatable phospholemman. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 104, 72–82. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvu182
- Bossuyt, J., Ai, X., Moorman, R. J., Pogwizd, S. M., and Bers, D. M. (2005). Expression and phosphorylation of the Na⁺-pump regulatory subunit phospholemman in heart failure. *Circ. Res.* 97, 558–565. doi: 10.1161/01.RES. 0000181172.27931.c3
- Boudina, S., and Abel, E. D. (2010). Diabetic cardiomyopathy, causes and effects. *Rev. Endocr. Metab. Disord.* 11, 31–39. doi: 10.1007/s11154-010-9131-7
- Boyman, L., Williams, G. S., Khananshvili, D., Sekler, I., and Lederer, W. J. (2013). NCLX: the mitochondrial sodium calcium exchanger. J. Mol. Cell Cardiol. 59, 205–213. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2013.03.012
- Cardona, K., Trenor, B., and Giles, W. R. (2016). Changes in intracellular Na⁺ following enhancement of late Na⁺ current in virtual human ventricular myocytes. *PLoS One* 11:e0167060. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.01 67060
- Chattou, S., Diacono, J., and Feuvray, D. (1999). Decrease in sodium-calcium exchange and calcium currents in diabetic rat ventricular myocytes. *Acta Physiol. Scand.* 166, 137–144. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-201x.1999.00547.x
- Chaudhary, A. K., Aneja, G. K., Shukla, S., and Razi, S. M. (2015). Study on diastolic dysfunction in newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes mellitus and its correlation with glycosylated haemoglobin (HbA1C). *J. Clin. Diagn. Res.* 9, OC20–OC22. doi: 10.7860/JCDR/2015/13348.6376
- Cox, D. A., and Matlib, M. A. (1993). A role for the mitochondrial Na⁺-Ca²⁺ exchanger in the regulation of oxidative phosphorylation in isolated heart mitochondria. J. Biol. Chem. 268, 938–947.
- Darmellah, A., Baetz, D., Prunier, F., Tamareille, S., Rücker-Martin, C., and Feuvray, D. (2007). Enhanced activity of the myocardial Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger contributes to left ventricular hypertrophy in the Goto-Kakizaki rat model of type 2 diabetes: critical role of Akt. *Diabetologia* 50, 1335–1344. doi: 10.1007/ s00125-007-0628-x
- Despa, S., and Bers, D. M. (2007). Functional analysis of Na/K-ATPase isoform distribution in rat ventricular myocytes. Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. 293, C321–C327. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.00597.2006
- Despa, S., Bossuyt, J., Han, F., Ginsburg, K. S., Jia, L. G., Kutchai, H., et al. (2005). Phospholemman -phosphorylation mediates the β-adrenergic effects on Na/K pump function in cardiac myocytes. *Circ. Res.* 97, 252–259. doi: 10.1161/01.RES. 0000176532.97731.e5
- Despa, S., Islam, M. A., Pogwizd, S. M., and Bers, D. M. (2002a). Intracellular [Na⁺]i and Na⁺-pump rate in rat and rabbit ventricular myocytes. *J. Physiol.* 539, 133–143. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2001.012940
- Despa, S., Islam, M. A., Weber, C. R., Pogwizd, S. M., and Bers, D. M. (2002b). Intracellular Na⁺ concentration is elevated in heart failure, but Na/K-pump function is unchanged. *Circulation* 105, 2543–2548.
- Despa, S., Lingrel, J. B., and Bers, D. M. (2012a). Na/K-ATPase (2-subunit preferentially affects sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca release in mouse cardiac myocytes. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 95, 480–486.
- Despa, S., Margulies, K. B., Chen, L., Knowlton, A. A., Havel, P. J., Taegtmeyer, H., et al. (2012b). Hyperamylinemia contributes to heart dysfunction in obesity and diabetes, a study in humans and rats. *Circ. Res.* 110, 598–608. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCRESAHA.111.258285
- Donoso, P., Mill, J. G., O'Neil, S. C., and Eisner, D. A. (1992). Fluorescence measurements of cytoplasmic and mitochondrial sodium concentration in

rat ventricular myocytes. J. Physiol. 448, 493–509. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.1992. sp019053

- Engelhardt, S., Hein, L., Keller, U., Klämbt, K., and Lohse, M. J. (2002). Inhibition of Na⁺/H⁺ exchange prevents hypertrophy, fibrosis, and heart failure in β 1-adrenergic receptor transgenic mice. *Circ. Res.* 90, 814–819. doi: 10.1161/01. RES.0000014966.97486.C0
- Fliegel, L. (2009). Regulation of the Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger in the healthy and diseased myocardium. *Expert Opin. Ther. Targets* 13, 55–68. doi: 10.1517/ 14728220802600707
- Frommeyer, G., Rajamani, S., Grundmann, F., Stypmann, J., Osada, N., Breithardt, G., et al. (2012). New insights into the beneficial electrophysiologic profile of ranolazine in heart failure: prevention of ventricular fibrillation with increased postrepolarization refractoriness and without drug-induced proarrhythmia. *J. Card. Fail.* 18, 939–949. doi: 10.1016/j.cardfail.2012. 10.017
- Gao, J., Wang, W., Cohen, I. S., and Mathias, R. T. (2005). Transmural gradients in Na/K pump activity and [Na⁺]i in canine ventricle. *Biophys. J.* 89, 1700–1709. doi: 10.1529/biophysj.105.062406
- Glitsch, H. G., and Tappe, A. (1993). The Na⁺/K⁺ pump of cardiac Purkinje cells is preferentially fuelled by glycolytic ATP production. *Pflugers Arch.* 422, 380–385. doi: 10.1007/BF00374294
- Gray, R. P., McIntyre, H., Sheridan, D. S., and Fry, C. H. (2001). Intracellular sodium and contractile function in hypertrophied human and guinea-pig myocardium. *Pflugers Arch.* 442, 117–123. doi: 10.1007/s004240000512
- Griffiths, E. J. (2009). Mitochondrial calcium transport in the heart: physiological and pathological roles. J. Mol. Cell Cardiol. 46, 789–803. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc. 2009.03.001
- Guha, A., Harmancey, R., and Taegtmeyer, H. (2008). Nonischemic heart failure in diabetes mellitus. *Curr. Opin. Cardiol.* 23, 241–248. doi: 10.1097/HCO. 0b013e3282fcc2fa
- Hansen, P. S., Clarke, R. J., Buhagiar, K. A., Hamilton, E., Garcia, A., White, C., et al. (2007). Alloxan-induced diabetes reduces sarcolemmal Na⁺-K⁺ pump function in rabbit ventricular myocytes. *Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol.* 292, C1070–C1077. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.00288.2006
- Harrison, S. M., McCall, E., and Boyet, M. R. (1992). The relationship between contraction and intracellular sodium in rat and guinea-pig ventricular myocytes. J. Physiol. 449, 517–550. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.1992.sp019100
- Hasenfuss, G., Schillinger, W., Lehnart, S. E., Preuss, M., Pieske, B., Maier, L. S., et al. (1999). Relationship between Na⁺-Ca²⁺-exchanger protein levels and diastolic function of failing human myocardium. *Circulation* 99, 641–648. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.99.5.641
- Hattori, Y., Matsuda, N., Kimura, J., Ishitani, T., Tamada, A., Gando, S., et al. (2000). Diminished function and expression of the cardiac Na⁺-Ca²⁺ exchanger in diabetic rats: implication in Ca²⁺ overload. *J. Physiol.* 527, 85–94. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7793.2000.00085.x
- Hegyi, B., Bossuyt, J., Griffiths, L. G., Shimkunas, R., Coulibaly, Z., Jian, Z., et al. (2018). Complex electrophysiological remodeling in postinfarction ischemic heart failure. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 115, E3036–E3044. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 1718211115
- Ingelsson, E., Sundstrom, J., Arnlov, J., Zethelius, B., and Lind, L. (2005). Insulin resistance and risk of congestive heart failure. J. Am. Med. Assoc. 294, 334–341. doi: 10.1001/jama.294.3.334
- Kilić, A., Huang, C. X., Rajapurohitam, V., Madwed, J. B., and Karmazyn, M. (2014). Early and transient sodium-hydrogen exchanger isoform 1 inhibition attenuates subsequent cardiac hypertrophy and heart failure following coronary artery ligation. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 351, 492–499. doi: 10.1124/jpet.114. 217091
- Kjeldsen, K., Braendgaard, H., Sidenius, P., Larsen, J. S., and Nørgaard, A. (1987). Diabetes decreases Na⁺-K⁺ pump concentration in skeletal muscles, heart ventricular muscle, and peripheral nerves of rat. *Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev.* 36, 842–848.
- Kostis, J. B., and Sanders, M. (2005). The association of heart failure with insulin resistance and the development of type 2 diabetes. Am. J. Hypertens. 18, 731–737. doi: 10.1016/j.amjhyper.2004.11.038
- Kusumoto, K., Haist, J. V., and Karmazyn, M. (2001). Na⁺/H⁺ exchange inhibition reduces hypertrophy and heart failure after myocardial infarction in rats. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* 280, H738–H745. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.2001.280.2. H738

- Lambert, R., Srodulski, S., Peng, X., Margulies, K. B., Despa, F., and Despa, S. (2015). Intracellular Na+ concentration ([Na⁺]i) is elevated in diabetic hearts due to enhanced Na⁺-glucose cotransport. J. Am. Heart Assoc. 4:e002183. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.115.002183
- Leineweber, K., Heusch, G., and Schulz, R. (2007). Regulation and role of the presynaptic and myocardial Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger NHE1: effects on the sympathetic nervous system in heart failure. *Cardiovasc. Drug Rev.* 25, 123–131. doi: 10.1111/j.1527-3466.2007.00010.x
- Liu, T., and O'Rourke, B. (2008). Enhancing mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uptake in myocytes from failing hearts restores energy supply, and demand matching. *Circ. Res.* 103, 279–288. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.108.175919
- Liu, T., Takimoto, E., Dimaano, V. L., DeMazumder, D., Kettlewell, S., Smith, G., et al. (2014). Inhibiting mitochondrial Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchange prevents sudden death in a Guinea pig model of heart failure. *Circ. Res.* 115, 44–54. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCRESAHA.115.303062
- Louch, W. E., Hougen, K., Mørk, H. K., Swift, F., Aronsen, J. M., Sjaastad, I., et al. (2010). Sodium accumulation promotes diastolic dysfunction in endstage heart failure following Serca2 knockout. J. Physiol. 588, 465–478. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2009.183517
- Luongo, T. S., Lambert, J. P., Gross, P., Nwokedi, M., Lombardi, A. A., Shanmughapriya, S., et al. (2017). The mitochondrial Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger is essential for Ca²⁺ homeostasis and viability. *Nature* 545, 93–97. doi: 10.1038/ nature22082
- Maack, C., Cortassa, S., Aon, M. A., Ganesan, A. N., Liu, T., and O'Rourke, B. (2006). Elevated cytosolic Na⁺ decreases mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uptake during excitation-contraction coupling and impairs energetic adaptation in cardiac myocytes. *Circ. Res.* 99, 172–182. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.0000232546.92 777.05
- Maltsev, V. A., Sabbah, H. N., Higgins, R. S., Silverman, N., Lesch, M., and Undrovinas, A. I. (1998). Novel, ultraslow inactivating sodium current in human ventricular cardiomyocytes. *Circulation* 98, 2545–2552. doi: 10.1161/01. CIR.98.23.2545
- Masoudi, F. A., and Inzucchi, S. E. (2007). Diabetes mellitus and heart failure: epidemiology, mechanisms, and pharmacotherapy. Am. J. Cardiol. 99, 113B–132B. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2006.11.013
- McCormack, J. G., Halestrap, A. P., and Denton, R. M. (1990). Role of calcium ions in regulation of mammalian intramitochondrial metabolism. *Physiol. Rev.* 70, 391–425. doi: 10.1152/physrev.1990.70.2.391
- Mishra, S., Reznikov, V., Maltsev, V. A., Undrovinas, N. A., Sabbah, H. N., and Undrovinas, A. (2015). Contribution of sodium channel neuronal isoform Nav1.1 to late sodium current in ventricular myocytes from failing hearts. *J. Physiol.* 593, 1409–1427. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2014.278259
- Nishimura, M., and Naito, S. (2005). Tissue-specific mRNA expression profiles of human ATP-binding cassette and solute carrier transporter superfamilies. *Drug Metab. Pharmacokinet.* 20, 452–477. doi: 10.2133/dmpk.20.452
- O'Rourke, B., Kass, D. A., Tomaselli, G. F., Kääb, S., Tunin, R., and Marbán, E. (1999). Mechanisms of altered excitation-contraction coupling in canine tachycardia-induced heart failure. *Circ. Res.* 84, 562–570. doi: 10.1161/01.RES. 84.5.562
- Packer, M. (2017). Activation and inhibition of sodium-hydrogen exchanger is a mechanism that links the pathophysiology and treatment of diabetes mellitus with that of heart failure. *Circulation* 136, 1548–1559. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.117.030418
- Pataky, Z., Makoundou, V., Nilsson, P., Gabriel, R. S., Lalic, K., Muscelli, E., et al. (2011). Metabolic normality in overweight and obese subjects. Which parameters? Which risks? *Int. J. Obes.* 35, 1208–1215. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2010.264
- Pieske, B., Maier, L. S., Piacentino, V. I. I. I., Weisser, J., Hasenfuss, G., and Houser, S. (2002). Rate dependence of [Na⁺]i and contractility in nonfailing and failing human myocardium. *Circulation* 106, 447–453. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR. 0000023042.50192.F4
- Pogwizd, S. M., Qi, M., Yuan, W., Samarel, A. M., and Bers, D. M. (1999). Upregulation of Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger expression and function in an arrh ythmogenic rabbit model of heart failure. *Circ. Res.* 85, 1009–1019. doi: 10.1161/ 01.RES.85.11.1009
- Ramratnam, M., Sharma, R. K., D'Auria, S., Lee, S. J., Wang, D., Huang, X. Y., et al. (2014). Transgenic Knockdown of Cardiac Sodium/Glucose Cotransporter 1 (SGLT1) Attenuates PRKAG2 Cardiomyopathy, Whereas Transgenic Overexpression of Cardiac SGLT1 Causes Pathologic Hypertrophy

and Dysfunction in Mice. J. Am. Heart Assoc. 3:e000899. doi: 10.1161/JAHA. 114.000899

- Schillinger, W., Teucher, N., Christians, C., Kohlhaas, M., Sossalla, S., Van Nguyen, P., et al. (2006). High intracellular Na⁺ preserves myocardial function at low heart rates in isolated myocardium from failing hearts. *Eur. J. Heart Fail.* 8, 673–680. doi: 10.1016/j.ejheart.2006.01.013
- Schwinger, R. H., Wang, J., Frank, K., Müller-Ehmsen, J., Brixus, K., McDonough, A. A., et al. (1999). Reduced sodium pump (1, (3 and β1-isoform protein levels and Na⁺,K⁺-ATPase activity but unchanged Na⁺-Ca²⁺ exchanger protein levels in human heart failure. *Circulation* 99, 2105–2112. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR. 99.16.2105
- Semb, S. O., Lunde, P. K., Holt, E., Tonnessen, T., Christensen, G., and Sejersted, O. M. (1998). Reduced myocardial Na-K pump capacity in congestive heart failure following myocardial infarction in rats. *J. Mol. Cell Cardiol.* 30, 1311– 1328. doi: 10.1006/jmcc.1998.0696
- Sossalla, S., Wagner, S., Rasenack, E. C. L., Ruff, H., Weber, S. L., Schondube, F. A., et al. (2008). Ranolazine improves diastolic dysfunction in isolated myocardium from failing human hearts - Role of late sodium current and intracellular ion accumulation. J. Mol. Cell Cardiol. 45, 32–43. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2008. 03.006
- Swift, F., Birkeland, J. A., Tovsrud, N., Enger, U. H., Aronsen, J. M., Louch, W. E., et al. (2008). Altered Na⁺/Ca²⁺-exchanger activity due to downregulation of Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase α 2-isoform in heart failure. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 78, 71–78. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvn013
- Swift, F., Tovsrud, N., Enger, U. H., Sjaastad, I., and Sejersted, O. M. (2007). The Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase (2-isoform regulates cardiac contractility in rat cardiomyocytes. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 75, 109–117. doi: 10.1016/j.cardiores.2007. 03.017
- Swift, F., Tovsrud, N., Sjaastad, I., Sejersted, O. M., Niggli, E., and Egger, M. (2010). Functional coupling of (2-isoform Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase and Ca²⁺ extrusion through the Na⁺/Ca²⁺-exchanger in cardiomyocytes. *Cell Calcium* 48, 54–60. doi: 10.1016/j.ceca.2010.06.006
- Taegtmeyer, H., McNulty, P., and Young, M. E. (2002). Adaptation and maladaptation of the heart in diabetes: part I: general concepts. *Circulation* 105, 1727–1733. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000012466.50373.E8
- Toischer, K., Hartmann, N., Wagner, S., Fischer, T. H., Herting, J., Danner, B. C., et al. (2013). Role of late sodium current as a potential arrhythmogenic mechanism in the progression of pressure-induced heart disease. *J. Mol. Cell Cardiol.* 61, 111–122. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2013.03.021
- Uthman, L., Baartscheer, A., Bleijlevens, B., Schumacher, C. A., Fiolet, J. W. T., Koeman, A., et al. (2018). Class effects of SGLT2 inhibitors in mouse cardiomyocytes and hearts: inhibition of Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger, lowering of cytosolic Na⁺ and vasodilation. *Diabetologia* 61, 722–726. doi: 10.1007/s00125-017-4509-7
- Valdivia, C. R., Chu, W. W., Pu, J., Foell, J. D., Haworth, R. A., Wolff, M. R., et al. (2005). Increased late sodium current in myocytes from a canine heart failure model and from failing human heart. J. Mol. Cell Cardiol. 38, 475–483. doi: 10.1016/j.yjmcc.2004.12.012
- Van Steenbergen, A., Balteau, M., Ginion, A., Ferté, L., Battault, S., Ravenstein, C. M., et al. (2017). Sodium-myoinositol cotransporter-1, SMIT1, mediates the production of reactive oxygen species induced by hyperglycemia in the heart. *Sci. Rep.* 7:41166. doi: 10.1038/srep41166
- Verdonck, F., Volders, P. G. A., Vos, M. A., and Sipido, K. R. (2003a). Intracellular Na⁺ and altered Na⁺ transport mechanisms in cardiac hyperhtrophy and failure. J. Mol. Cell Cardiol. 35, 5–25.
- Verdonck, F., Volders, P. G., Vos, M. A., and Sipido, K. R. (2003b). Increased Na⁺ concentration and altered Na⁺/K⁺ pump activity in hypertrophied canine ventricular cells. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 57, 1035–1043.
- Wagner, S., Ruff, H. M., Weber, S. L., Bellmann, S., Sowa, T., Schulte, T., et al. (2011). Reactive oxygen species-activated Ca/calmodulin kinase IIδ is required for late I(Na) augmentation leading to cellular Na and Ca overload. *Circ. Res.* 108, 555–565. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.110.221911
- Wright, E. M., and Loo, D. D. (2011). Hirayama BA. Biology of human sodium glucose transporters. *Physiol. Rev.* 91, 733–794. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00055. 2009
- Yao, A., Su, Z., Nonaka, A., Zubair, I., Lu, L., Philipson, K. D., et al. (1998a). Effects of overexpression of the Na⁺-Ca²⁺ exchanger on [Ca²⁺] transients in murine ventricular myocytes. *Circ. Res.* 82, 657–665.

- Yao, A., Su, Z., Nonaka, A., Zubair, I., Spitzer, K. W., Bridge, J. H., et al. (1998b). Abnormal myocyte Ca²⁺ homeostasis in rabbits with pacing-induced heart failure. *Am. J. Physiol.* 275, H1441–H1448.
- Yokoyama, H., Gunasegaram, S., Harding, S. E., and Avkiran, M. (2000). Sarcolemmal Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger activity and expression in human ventricular myocardium. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 36, 534–540. doi: 10.1016/S0735-1097(00) 00730-0
- Young, L. H., Wackers, F. J., Chyun, D. A., Davey, J. A., Barrett, E. J., Taillefer, R., et al. (2009). DIAD Investigators. Cardiac outcomes after screening for asymptomatic coronary artery disease in patients with type 2 diabetes: the DIAD study: a randomized controlled trial. *JAMA* 301, 1547–1555. doi: 10.1001/jama.2009.476
- Young, M. E., McNulty, P., and Taegtmeyer, H. (2002). Adaptation and maladaptation of the heart in diabetes: Part II: potential mechanisms. *Circulation* 105, 1861–1870. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000012467.61045.87
- Zhou, L., Cryan, E. V., D'Andrea, M. R., Belkowski, S., Conway, B. R., and Demarest, K. T. (2003). Human cardiomyocytes express high level

of Na $^+/glucose$ cotransporter 1 (SGLT1). J. Cell. Biochem. 90, 339–346. doi: 10.1002/jcb.10631

Zinman, B., Wanner, C., Lachin, J. M., Fitchett, D., Bluhmki, E., Hantel, S., et al. (2015). EMPA-REG OUTCOME Investigators. Empagliflozin, Cardiovascular Outcomes, and Mortality in Type 2 Diabetes. N. Engl. J. Med. 373, 2117–2128. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1504720

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Despa. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

